Anticipated acquisition by Hitachi Rail, Ltd of Thales SA's Ground Transportation Systems Business

Provisional findings report

8 June 2023



© Crown copyright 2023

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.

To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-governmentlicence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

The Competition and Markets Authority has excluded from this published version of the provisional findings report information which the inquiry group considers should be excluded having regard to the three considerations set out in section 244 of the Enterprise Act 2002 (specified information: considerations relevant to disclosure). The omissions are indicated by [≫]. Some numbers have been replaced by a range. These are shown in square brackets. Non-sensitive wording is also indicated in square brackets.

Contents

Page

	mmary	
	ovisional findings	
1.	The reference	
2.	The Parties and the Merger	
	The Parties	
	Hitachi	
	Thales	21
	The Merger	21
	The Merger transaction	21
	The Parties' rationale for the Merger	21
3.	Relevant merger situation	23
	Enterprises ceasing to be distinct	23
	Turnover test	24
	Provisional conclusion on the RMS	24
4.	Industry background	25
	Mainline signalling	25
	Signalling subsystems	25
	Conventional versus digital mainline signalling systems	
	Interoperability between conventional and digital mainline signalling system	
	Customers of mainline signalling in the UK	29
	Urban signalling	
	Interoperability	31
	Customers of CBTC in the UK	31
5.		
	Introduction	32
	Framework for assessment of the counterfactual	32
	The Parties' views	33
	Our assessment	34
6.	Structure of our assessment of the theories of harm and approach to the	
	evidence	35
7.	Digital mainline signalling systems: Nature of competition and approach to	
	competition assessment	38
	Overview of mainline signalling in GB	38
	Network Rail's historic approach to procurement	39
	ORR market study Competition for Network Rail's TCSF	44
	Design and scope of the TCSF	
	Network Rail's objectives	
	Uncertainty of future Network Rail demand	
	Economic framework for competition assessment	
	Tender structure	
	Framework for assessing the impact of the Merger on competition for place	s
	on the TCSF	
	Framework for assessing the impact of the Merger on mini-competitions	
	Provisional view on the appropriate economic framework	
	Parameters of competition	
	Parties' views	60

	Network Rail's views	61
	Competitor views	65
	Our assessment	67
	Approach to the competition assessment	69
	Approach to evidence and the focus of our assessment	69
	Timeframe of our assessment	
8.	Supply of digital mainline signalling systems	72
	Market definition	
	Product market	73
	Geographic market	76
	Provisional conclusion on market definition	78
	Competition assessment	
	Suppliers' bidding incentives	
	Shares of supply	
	Competition in previous digital mainline signalling tenders in GB	
	Suppliers' characteristics	
	Internal documents about the TCSF	147
	Third-party evidence	
	Provisional competition assessment	
	Entry and expansion	
	Parties' views	
	Network Rail's views	
	ORR market study	
	Our assessment	
	Provisional conclusion	
9.	CBTC systems: Nature of competition and approach to competition assess	mont
9.	CDTC systems. Nature of competition and approach to competition assess	
9.	165	
9.	165	
9.		165
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK	165 166
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders	165 166 167
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground	165 166 167 169
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure	165 166 167 169 170
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground	165 166 167 169 170 170
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views	165 166 167 169 170 170 171
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views Third-party views	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 172
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 172 173
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views Third-party views DTUP criteria Our assessment	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 172 173 174
9.	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views Third-party views DTUP criteria Our assessment Approach to the competition assessment 	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 172 173 174 175
9.	165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views Third-party views DTUP criteria Our assessment	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 172 173 174 175 175
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 173 174 175 175 176
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 170 171 172 173 175 176 179
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views Third-party views DTUP criteria Our assessment Approach to the competition assessment Approach to evidence and the focus of our assessment Supply of CBTC systems Market definition 	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 172 173 175 175 176 179 179
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 172 173 174 175 175 176 179 179 179
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 170 171 172 173 175 175 175 176 179 179 179 182
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 172 173 174 175 175 176 179 179 182 184
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 172 173 174 175 175 176 179 179 182 184 184
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 170 171 172 173 174 175 175 175 179 179 179 182 184 184 185
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems Previous TfL tenders Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground Tender structure Parameters of competition Parties' views DTUP criteria	165 166 167 169 170 170 170 171 172 173 174 175 175 176 179 179 182 184 185 202
	 165 Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK Competition for London Underground CBTC systems	165 166 167 169 170 170 171 171 172 173 174 175 175 176 179 179 179 182 184 184 185 202 214

Third-party evidence	
Provisional competition assessment	
Entry and expansion	
Parties' views	
Our assessment	
Provisional conclusion	
11. Countervailing factors: efficiencies	
Introduction	
Merger efficiencies	
Digital mainline signalling	
CBTC systems	
Overarching efficiency submissions	
12. Provisional conclusions.	

Appendices

- A: Terms of reference
- B: Conduct of the inquiryC: Summary of third-party evidence

Glossary

Summary

General overview of our findings

- The Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) has provisionally found that the anticipated acquisition (the Merger) by Hitachi Rail, Ltd. (Hitachi) of Thales SA's Ground Transportation Systems business (Thales) (together the Parties) may be expected to result in a substantial lessening of competition (SLC) in:
 - *(a)* the supply of digital mainline signalling systems and related services (digital mainline signalling systems) in Great Britain (**GB**); and
 - (b) the supply of communications-based train control signalling systems and related services (CBTC systems) in the United Kingdom (UK) (ie the type of signalling used on metro systems like on some lines of the London Underground).
- 2. The report and its appendices, which will be published shortly after this summary, constitute the CMA's Provisional Findings. We invite any interested parties to make representations on these provisional findings by no later than by 17:00 (UK time) on **29 June 2023**.
- 3. We will take all submissions received by this date into account in reaching our final decision. Interested parties should refer to the notice of provisional findings for details of how to do this.
- 4. In our Notice of possible remedies, published alongside our Provisional Findings, we have set out possible options to remedy the provisional SLC: prohibition of the merger, full or partial divestiture of one of the Parties' signalling businesses, or behavioural commitments by the Parties. We also invite submissions from interested parties on these initial views by 17:00 (UK time) on 22 June 2023.

Why and how are we reviewing this Merger?

- 5. Hitachi announced in August 2021 that it had agreed to acquire Thales for a purchase price of €1.66 billion. The Merger was conditional on receiving merger control clearance from different competition agencies, including the CMA.
- Hitachi is a provider of transport solutions, including rail signalling systems, worldwide. Thales (ie the ground transportation systems business of Thales SA) is active in the supply of rail signalling solutions and ancillary activities,

worldwide. The Parties have competed in the past for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB and for the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK.

- 7. While Hitachi and Thales are not headquartered in the UK, the question for the CMA is whether the Merger may have an impact on competition in the UK. This link to the UK can be established based on the turnover of the business being acquired in the UK (ie whether the UK turnover of that business is more than £70 million). In this case, we concluded that the CMA had jurisdiction to review this Merger because Thales significantly exceeded the turnover threshold in the 2021 financial year.
- 8. In deciding whether a merger may be expected to result in an SLC, the question we are required to answer is whether there is an expectation, ie it is more likely than not, that the Merger will result in an SLC within any market or markets in the UK.
- 9. Railway signalling is a significant market in GB. A recent report by the British rail regulator, the Office of Rail and Road (**ORR**), estimated that the market for signalling systems in GB for mainline railways alone is worth £800-900 million annually.
- 10. We have focused on two ways, or 'theories of harm', in which the Merger could give rise to an SLC.
 - (a) The first considers whether the Merger may be expected to substantially lessen competition by eliminating the rivalry between the Parties in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB (see paragraph 29 about the effects of the Merger in Northern Ireland).
 - (b) The second considers whether the Merger may be expected to substantially lessen competition by eliminating the rivalry between the Parties in the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK.
- 11. As part of our investigation, we have gathered information from a wide variety of sources, including: (i) the Parties' submissions and evidence voluntarily provided by the Parties; (ii) a large number of internal business documents from the Parties gathered using our statutory powers; (iii) evidence from third parties, including other suppliers of mainline and urban signalling, Network Rail, Transport for London and other customers who procure and use mainline and urban signalling in the UK and outside the UK; and (iv) evidence from ORR.
- 12. To determine the impact that the Merger is likely to have on competition, we have considered what is likely to happen absent the Merger. This is known as

the counterfactual. In this case, we have provisionally found that the most appropriate counterfactual against which to assess the Merger is the prevailing conditions of competition.

13. Our assessment of the effects of the Merger is forward-looking. We took into account the future evolution of competitive conditions when assessing each of the theories of harm set out above. This includes developments in the Parties' competitive offerings and the competitive offerings of third parties.

Supply of digital mainline systems in GB

Overview

- 14. Mainline signalling projects involve the installation of mainline signalling systems on a railway network. Mainline signalling systems are fundamental to the safe and efficient operation of modern railways, directing traffic and keeping trains apart to prevent collisions. Conventional and digital signalling systems use different technologies, are subject to different standards and have different functionalities.
- 15. There are two types of suppliers involved in the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects (i) original equipment manufacturers (**OEMs**), which own the signalling technology used for a particular project, and (ii) integrators, which can play a variety of roles in relation to integrating that technology into a signalling renewal project. OEMs collaborate in different ways and to different extents with integrators in the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects, for example by forming a joint venture or partnership, or by using integrators as subcontractors in carrying out mainline signalling projects. Integrators may also sometimes license relevant signalling technology from OEMs in order to deliver signalling projects themselves.
- 16. While there is some convergence and standardisation at European level, mainline signalling systems require adaptation to national standards and suppliers would need to obtain approval before deploying their technologies in GB (ie homologation). The process of adaptation and homologation for a new national market requires significant investment and time. There are operational and technical requirements with which all signalling systems installed on GB mainline railways must comply.
- 17. While we have focused on competition in the national market for mainline signalling in GB, we recognise that there is also an important global element to competition in mainline signalling. The main competitors operate and compete on a global basis using the same core systems. Suppliers can use

digital mainline signalling projects outside GB as references and their effectiveness as competitors in GB may be influenced by their experience both inside and outside GB. In addition, suppliers may invest in innovation for the benefit of their global businesses and in response to global competition.

Focus of our investigation

- 18. There are plans to deploy digital signalling systems across significant parts of the GB rail network in the next few years.
- 19. The shift from conventional to digital mainline signalling systems has the potential to increase capacity, lower unit costs, reduce disruption and, overall, lead to improvements in the way the railway operates.
- 20. Historically, two suppliers, Siemens and Alstom, have been the primary suppliers of mainline signalling in GB. A market study carried out by ORR in 2021 made recommendations aimed at widening the pool of signalling suppliers in the UK and reducing Network Rail's dependency on incumbent suppliers. ORR found that the digitalisation of the mainline network will provide an opportunity to broaden the current supplier base. A number of ORR's recommendations in the same study were reflected in the design of Network Rail's ongoing tender for a major signalling framework agreement, the Train Control Systems Framework (the **TCSF**), which seeks to select four suppliers for future digital mainline signalling projects.
- 21. The pre-qualification stage (PQQ) of the TCSF was launched on 17 March 2023 and the invitation to tender stage (ITT) is expected to start in early July 2023. Responses to the ITT will be due around the end of September and the final TCSF award is expected to take place around January 2024.
- 22. In the Phase 1 Decision, the CMA found that, given Siemens' and Alstom's significant incumbency advantages with respect to the supply of conventional mainline signalling and the transition towards digitalisation of the signalling infrastructure, there was no realistic prospect of an SLC within that market. We have not received any evidence to justify reopening this theory of harm during our investigation. We have, therefore, focused our investigation on the supply of digital mainline signalling systems to Network Rail, as it is the largest procurer of mainline signalling in GB. We have also considered the TCSF in some detail since the outcome of the ongoing tender for the TCSF will likely influence the conditions of competition for future digital mainline signalling procured by Network Rail and other GB customers as it will provide an opportunity for new suppliers to enter GB. However, while the immediate context for our investigation is the TCSF, our competition assessment is

relevant to the supply of digital mainline signalling more widely than the competition for the TCSF.

- 23. The TCSF consists of two lots: Lot 1 for the supply of conventional mainline signalling projects (with an expected value of £1 billion), and Lot 2 for the supply of digital mainline signalling projects (with an expected value of £3 billion) (Lot 2). While some uncertainty remains around the timing, implementation, and value of Lot 2 of the TCSF, the most recent tender documentation set out that the tender will include an initial award of a guaranteed workbank that will be split into portions of declining size to be allocated to first, second, third and fourth place, respectively. In addition, the suppliers selected through this tender will have the opportunity to bid for additional projects that will be allocated through mini-competitions. Successful bidders will receive funding from Network Rail towards the product development and adaptation costs of digital mainline signalling technology.
- 24. We have assessed how closely the Parties compete with each other and whether the removal of the constraint that they would have placed on each other, absent the Merger, may be expected to lead to an SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in the GB market. We have also assessed the competitive constraints likely to be placed on the Parties by other suppliers that may bid for digital mainline signalling projects. We have taken into account the evidence on the Parties' plans, and the plans of other suppliers, to bid for Network Rail's TCSF.
- 25. Suppliers can flex their offer when bidding depending on the degree of competitive constraint they anticipate they will face from other bidders. In our competitive assessment, therefore, we seek to analyse the closeness of competition between the Parties and the other suppliers which are likely to be perceived as potential competitors for the TCSF.
- 26. The evidence we gathered consistently indicates that competition for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB will likely reflect several aspects of suppliers' offerings: (a) *technological capabilities*, including their capability to homologate their signalling products to GB standards and achieve open interfaces; (b) *experience and expertise in successfully undertaking digital signalling projects* to the required standard and needs of the customer, either in GB or in Europe, including experience in homologation of digital mainline signalling technology; (c) *experience in GB mainline signalling*, including suppliers' capabilities to deliver the volume of signalling infrastructure under the TCSF (eg deploying the necessary workforce) and experience of working with Network Rail; (d) ability to *drive down costs and introduce innovations* over time to meet Network Rail's cost reduction targets;

(e) *financial standing and size* to handle the associated commercial and financial risks of the contract; and (f) *price* (considered at ITT stage).

- 27. We note that our Merger assessment is independent from Network Rail's tender evaluation process and is in no way determinative of the outcome of that process and we have not sought to reproduce or anticipate Network Rail's assessment in our Merger assessment.
- 28. We also note that we are limited in what we can disclose publicly in this document, given the confidential nature of the TCSF tender, including in this summary.
- 29. The Parties have not competed in the past for the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects in Northern Ireland and there are currently no plans for a future digital tender in Northern Ireland.¹ Therefore, we currently propose to focus our investigation on the impact of the Merger in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

Are the Parties likely to be close competitors in the supply of digital mainline signalling in GB?

- 30. The evidence we gathered indicates that the Parties, absent the Merger, would likely be two of the few OEMs who are well placed to bid for of Lot 2 of the TCSF, and to win a place on that framework (on their own or in partnership with integrators), notwithstanding some level of uncertainty around the timing, implementation, and value of the TCSF.
- 31. We consider that the Parties are credible competitors. The Parties are the second and fourth largest suppliers by value of digital mainline signalling contracts won in Europe, with a combined share of supply of [40–50%], with a significant increment of [10–20%] resulting from the Merger. The Merger would create the largest digital mainline signalling supplier in Europe. The Parties' shares of supply are significant in a highly concentrated market, in which the top four suppliers account for [90–100%] of supply. Siemens ([30–40%]) and Alstom ([20–30%]) are the only other suppliers with a share of supply of over 5%. We consider that the Parties' shares of supply in Europe are indicative of their strength and technical capabilities as digital mainline signalling providers. Given Network Rail's TCSF is designed to bring new suppliers into GB mainline signalling, we consider that suppliers that have demonstrated their competitive strengths in supplying digital mainline

¹ Railway network regulations differ between GB and Northern Ireland and authorisation is required by the Department of Transport in Northern Ireland to place mainline signalling products into service in Northern Ireland.

signalling systems in other markets are also likely to be the most credible options for Network Rail.

- 32. The Parties' competitive strengths with respect to management and technical expertise in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects are demonstrated by each of their track records in Europe. Taken overall, Thales has more experience than Hitachi and is matched only by Siemens and Alstom. Only the Parties, Siemens and Alstom have experience in delivering large digital projects (with a value over £100 million). Assessed on the number of countries in which this experience has been gained (markets entered and technologies homologated, ie approved for deployment in the local market), the position is similar, albeit Siemens and Alstom appear to have stronger track records than Hitachi.
- 33. Both Parties are able to provide a full suite of digital mainline signalling technology and have experience deploying their technology solutions in numerous digital mainline signalling projects. Given their strong technological solutions and extensive experience and track record of delivering mainline signalling projects, including adapting their systems to multiple national markets, both Thales and Hitachi are at a very substantial advantage to the other OEMs that are not currently active in GB mainline digital signalling in seeking to enter and expand in the GB markets.
- 34. The Parties have less local experience in GB mainline signalling than the incumbent OEM suppliers, Siemens and Alstom. Hitachi, having won a place on the most recent procurement framework for signalling, has had more success and more experience than Thales. Hitachi also won the first ever digital mainline signalling project tendered in the UK (the Cambrian Line project). Thales has been active in GB mainline signalling as a supplier of axle counters and as a provider of traffic management systems. Thales and Hitachi may choose to partner with or subcontract to one or more integrators in order to reduce any differences in their respective levels of experience in mainline signalling in GB.
- 35. With respect to local capacity, we currently understand that all OEMs, apart from Siemens and Alstom, would likely need to increase their UK labour capacity and aspects of their local capabilities to be able to meet the TCSF requirements. The Parties, like other OEMs (see below), can use integrators to address gaps in local capabilities, which they have done in previous tenders.
- 36. Overall, our provisional view is that, taking all of the evidence in the round, the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the TCSF. While the two differ in terms of their strengths and experience, both can provide a complete suite of

signalling technology and can draw on a strong portfolio of management experience from digital projects across a range of countries. This differentiates them substantially from those other OEMs that are not currently active in the GB mainline signalling market.

Are the remaining rivals likely to be sufficient to offset the loss of competition resulting from the Merger?

- 37. We have found that there are a limited number of credible competitors that would be likely to constrain the Parties following the Merger.
- 38. The evidence we gathered shows that Siemens and Alstom are stronger than, or at least as strong as, the Parties against each of the assessed competition parameters. Both Siemens and Alstom benefit from strong incumbency advantages and both will likely be strong competitors for the TCSF and exercise a competitive constraint on the Parties. The Parties' internal documents reviewed to date indicate that they considered each other, Siemens, and Alstom as their main potential competitors for past signalling digital tenders in the UK and for the TCSF.
- 39. The evidence we have considered, including in relation to shares of supply, indicates that the other OEMs present in Europe are CAF, AZD Praha, Indra, Mermec and Progress Rail. CAF is the supplier with the higher share among these OEMs, but none of these players has a share of supply higher than 5%.
- 40. The evidence indicates that of these potential competitors, apart from Alstom and Siemens, only CAF is likely to exercise a relevant constraint on the Parties (even if a weaker constraint than the Parties pose on each other).
- 41. CAF is able to provide a full suite of technology, given that it has experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects, although more limited when compared to Thales and, to a lesser but still significant extent, Hitachi. Although CAF is not active in signalling in GB and does not have previous experience collaborating with Network Rail, it can (as can other OEMs) bid in partnership with and/or subcontract UK-based integrators. This would allow CAF to benefit from the integrators' capabilities and experience of operating in the UK and with Network Rail.
- 42. Other OEMs have significantly less experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects and in homologating their technology in different countries. The evidence we have received to date also indicates that other OEMs may have to rely on multi-supplier technological solutions in which different subsystems of a digital mainline signalling system are provided by different suppliers. Such a solution is likely to increase interfacing and delivery risks.

- 43. The evidence we gathered also consistently shows that, while some integrators do have material experience in delivering mainline rail projects, their only feasible option to compete for digital mainline signalling projects is to partner with an OEM that holds the necessary technology.
- 44. Only Siemens, Alstom and to lesser extent CAF match the Parties' strengths across all of the parameters of competition considered in our assessment and would likely exercise a constraint on the Parties. We have provisionally found that these rivals, together or in isolation, are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss of constraint that will result from the Merger.
- 45. In a bidding process with up to four winners and a limited number of potential suppliers, the loss of a credible supplier would have a material impact on the intensity of competition for the TCSF tender.
- 46. Based on our provisional assessment, we consider that the Merger is likely to result in the removal of a direct and significant constraint on each of the Parties. We consider that overall, the remaining constraints post-Merger from Siemens, Alstom and CAF are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss of competition brought about by the Merger. Therefore, we have provisionally found that the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

The harm resulting from the Merger

- 47. The substantial loss of competition resulting from the Merger is likely to lead to a worse outcome in the initial TCSF tender and future mainline signalling tenders in GB. The Merger could result in reduced choice for Network Rail in terms of the strength and number of bidders and could lead to fewer than four suppliers being appointed in the current tender process and thus available to bid, should they so choose, in future mini-competitions within the TCSF.
- 48. Overall, we currently consider that the Merger could lead to adverse effects in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems to infrastructure managers in GB through higher prices, reduced innovation, worse terms and/or worse performance levels relative to the situation absent the Merger.

Supply of CBTC systems in the UK

Overview

49. Urban signalling systems are railway signalling systems used for local passenger rail transit, such as metro networks, of which the largest in the UK

is the London Underground, and are designed to ensure safety on urban rail networks by preventing collisions and excessive speeds, as well as to improve and increase network capacity. Urban signalling systems typically support much higher train frequencies than mainline signalling systems and, as a result, are generally more complex and more costly.

- 50. Urban signalling systems are based on either conventional or CBTC technologies. Unlike conventional systems, CBTC systems rely on continuous radio-based communication between the train and the tracks to precisely identify, at all times, the location of a train on the tracks. CBTC signalling works can be either 'greenfield' or 'brownfield', depending on whether the works are on an active railway.
- 51. As for the supply of digital mainline systems, the supply of CBTC systems is also characterised by both national and global elements of competition.

Focus of our investigation

- 52. There is a limited number of CBTC projects expected in the UK in the next 10–15 years; however, the size of each individual project is expected to be substantial. TfL is expected to tender for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines on the London Underground with CBTC by around 2035. We have not taken into account in our current assessment potential CBTC tenders for other lines that may occur well after 2035 because of the uncertainty of predicting competitive conditions in this market so far into the future. In addition, we have not identified other projects that are planned in the UK in this time period. We have, therefore, focused our assessment on the competition for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines. We assessed whether the Merger is likely to result in the removal of competition between the Parties in these future CBTC tenders and whether that loss of competition would likely lead to an SLC.
- 53. While there are uncertainties in relation to the design of TfL's future CBTC tenders for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines and the capabilities of suppliers at the time of these tenders, we do not have to predict the specific tender outcomes but rather assess the likely applicable conditions of competition on the basis of all the available evidence.
- 54. Based on an assessment of competition for past projects, we currently consider that competition for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines with CBTC is likely to take place across several aspects of suppliers' offerings: (a) *CBTC signalling solutions* and ability to meet the technological requirements set out by TfL; (b) *experience in undertaking CBTC projects* on metro systems that have at least some comparable characteristics to the

upcoming projects on the London Underground and in particular complex projects involving the resignalling of existing networks; (c) *local knowledge and capacity*, including experience and knowledge of London Underground systems as well as existing capacity in the UK; and (d) *price*, although safety critical factors are expected to be more important.

55. In our competition assessment, we consider how closely the Parties and their competitors will compete against these parameters.

Is the supply of CBTC systems to the London Underground contestable by new entrants?

- 56. One of the defining features of competition for the future London Underground tenders is the specialised nature of CBTC projects. Metro systems that are more complex bring greater delivery risks and experienced suppliers are generally better placed for such an undertaking. Complexity in this context ranges from low to high. The London Underground is regarded as being towards the more complex end of this spectrum, owing to the sprawling nature of an aged network that has been in existence for over a century with its multiple lines, intersections, junctions, and narrow deep tube tunnels. The network is used by hundreds of millions of passengers each year with trains operating at speed and high frequency matched by few other networks.
- 57. Given this complexity, existing suppliers are expected to benefit from a competitive advantage, potentially a significant one, when the future London Underground CBTC contracts come up for tender. They have deployed their technology on the network and have well established relationships with the customer, TfL. They may also have the benefit of being able to draw on a existing workforce and facilities for future projects without the need for considerable further investment. Overall, incumbents' previous experience would likely lower the costs of familiarisation with the network, the customer and the technologies and, potentially, provide those suppliers with the ability to deploy their solutions more rapidly (compared to new entrants). All of these factors indicate that barriers to entry on the London Underground are high. At present, there are only two suppliers that have delivered CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground: Thales and Siemens.
- 58. However, the fact that there are only two suppliers currently operating on the London Underground does not necessarily imply that competition is not important or necessary in this market. Although there have been very few tenders for the supply of CBTC systems, the past competitive interactions indicate that TfL has considered suppliers other than its current providers. TfL

told us that previous London Underground experience was neither 'essential nor preferred' for future tenders.

59. While there are material incumbency advantages, overall, we consider that the evidence received to date indicates that future London Underground major resignalling projects will be open to competitive tender and that new entrants appear likely be able to compete and act as a constraint on incumbent suppliers, depending on their global experience and overall capabilities as a CBTC supplier.

Is Hitachi likely to bid for complex brownfield CBTC projects in the future?

- 60. We cannot predict with certainty whether Hitachi will bid for future CBTC tenders for the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines, absent the Merger. Such uncertainty is an inherent part of the forward-looking assessment that we must conduct. While Hitachi has less experience in delivering complex brownfield CBTC projects than Thales, Hitachi is currently delivering several brownfield projects globally. Hitachi has strong capabilities and increasing experience in brownfield CBTC projects (see below). Therefore, our starting point (subject to evidence to the contrary) is that Hitachi would likely continue to bid for brownfield CBTC projects on a case-by-case basis and be perceived as a potential, and credible, competitor for future CBTC tenders in the London Underground, absent the Merger.
- 61. We currently consider that the evidence we have received to date is not sufficient to provisionally conclude that, in the absence of the Merger, and despite Hitachi's capabilities and the experience acquired from previous complex brownfield CBTC projects, Hitachi would not bid for future CBTC systems in the London Underground.

Are the Parties likely to be close competitors in future CBTC tenders for the London Underground?

- 62. According to the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines, when competition mainly takes place among few firms, any of these firms would normally be sufficiently close competitors that the elimination of competition between them would raise competition concerns, subject to evidence to the contrary.
- 63. Thales is the supplier of CBTC systems in around 60–70% of the London Underground. Hitachi and Thales are two of only four other major suppliers of CBTC systems that operate in Europe and across the world (Thales, Siemens, Alstom and Hitachi). We currently consider that the Parties' shares of supply

across Europe and in the rest of the world are a good indicator of their strength and technical capabilities as CBTC suppliers and show that the Parties have vast experience in delivering CBTC projects across the world.

- 64. The Parties' tender data shows that Hitachi and Thales bid against each other relatively frequently and have won CBTC contracts when in direct competition with each other, but on a smaller number of occasions than they bid and lost contracts to Siemens and Alstom.
- 65. From a technological perspective, both Parties have access to a core CBTC system and have deployed it across a wide portfolio of projects. Thales is likely to benefit from a competitive advantage over Hitachi when competing for London Underground CBTC contracts, given its experience in deploying its technology and having developed a certified solution on the London Underground.
- 66. Our assessment of Hitachi's management experience and technical expertise indicates that Hitachi is an experienced supplier that is undertaking a number of high-value CBTC brownfield projects, including BART in San Francisco, which Hitachi has described as the second largest brownfield CBTC project in the world. Our analysis also shows that Hitachi has expanded its portfolio of brownfield projects and pool of CBTC brownfield references since TfL's last tender for CBTC systems in 2016. By the time of the next London Underground tender, Hitachi is expected to have completed (or near completed) brownfield projects in Ankara, Philadelphia, Glasgow, Brussels, Baltimore, Paris and San Francisco.
- 67. Taking all of the evidence in the round, we consider that Hitachi is likely to have the relevant management experience and technical expertise to undertake complex brownfield projects and to compete for future London Underground contracts.
- 68. Overall, our provisional view is that the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the supply of CBTC systems on the London Underground. Hitachi's lack of previous experience on the London Underground means that it may not be the closest competitor to Thales but nonetheless it could exercise a credible constraint on Thales in the next London Underground tenders, given the limited number of rivals for these tenders.

Are the remaining rivals likely to be sufficient to offset the potential loss of competition resulting from the Merger

69. The evidence shows that Siemens is at least as strong as Thales against each of the assessed competition parameters, and stronger than Hitachi.

Alstom, although it does not have previous experience on the London Underground, is a strong global CBTC supplier with considerable experience and technical capabilities. Siemens and Alstom will likely be strong competitors for future London Underground tenders and exercise a competitive constraint on the Parties.

70. Other CBTC suppliers such as Stadler and Mitsubishi have only recently developed or are developing the full functionality for their CBTC technologies and are significantly further behind than the Parties. These suppliers also have limited track record or experience in undertaking brownfield projects and are likely to exercise only a weak or very weak constraint on the Parties.

The harm resulting from the Merger

- 71. Based on our provisional assessment, we consider that the Merger is likely to result in the removal of a constraint on Thales as the CBTC market leader in the London Underground and that overall, the remaining constraints post-Merger from Siemens and Alstom are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss brought about by the Merger. Therefore, we have provisionally found that the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC in relation to the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK.
- 72. We consider that the Merger could lead to adverse effects in the supply of CBTC in the UK through higher prices, reduced innovation, worse terms and/or worse performance levels relative to the situation absent the Merger.

Are there any factors that might prevent or mitigate against the SLCs arising?

- 73. Once we have decided that a Merger could give rise to an SLC, we also consider whether there are any factors that might prevent or mitigate against that SLC from arising.
- 74. We currently consider that it is not likely that entry or expansion of sufficient scale would occur in a timely manner in order to prevent or reduce the impact of the SLCs we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB and in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.
- 75. The Parties claimed that efficiencies arising from the Merger would create a stronger competitor to Siemens and Alstom globally and in the UK. The evidence submitted by the Parties to date does not indicate that these efficiencies could only be achieved through the Merger. We do not consider that these efficiencies would be timely, likely and sufficient to prevent the

SLCs we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling in GB and in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.

Provisional findings

1. The reference

- 1.1 On 23 December 2022, the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) in exercise of its duty under section 33(1) of the Enterprise Act 2002 (the Act), referred the anticipated acquisition by Hitachi Rail, Ltd (Hitachi) of Thales SA's Ground Transportation Systems Business (Thales) (the Merger) for further investigation and report by a group of CMA panel members (the Inquiry Group). Hitachi and Thales are referred to collectively as the Parties or, for statements referring to the future, the Merged Entity.
- 1.2 In exercise of its duty under section 36(1) of the Act, the CMA must decide:
 - *(a)* whether arrangements are in process or contemplation which, if carried into effect, will result in the creation of a relevant merger situation (**RMS**); and
 - (b) if so, whether the creation of that RMS may be expected to result in a substantial lessening of competition (SLC) within any market or markets in the United Kingdom (UK) for goods or services.
- 1.3 In assessing the competitive effects of the Merger, we must decide whether the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC (ie whether it is more likely than not that an SLC will result).
- 1.4 We are required to publish our final report by 11 August 2023.
- 1.5 Our terms of reference, along with information on the conduct of the inquiry, are set out in Appendix A and Appendix B respectively.
- 1.6 This document, together with its appendices, constitutes the CMA's provisional findings published and notified to the Parties in line with the CMA's rules of procedure.² Further information relevant to this inquiry can be found on the CMA case page.³

² CMA rules of procedure for merger, market and special reference groups (CMA 17), Rule 11.

³ Hitachi / Thales case page.

2. The Parties and the Merger

- 2.1 This chapter sets out:
 - (a) an overview of the Parties; and
 - (b) the background to the Merger, including the Parties' stated rationale for the Merger.

The Parties

Hitachi

- 2.2 Hitachi is a provider of transport solutions, such as rolling stock, rail signalling systems and related services and maintenance, globally (including the UK).⁴
- 2.3 Hitachi is a wholly owned subsidiary of Hitachi, Ltd (Hitachi Group), the ultimate parent entity of a multi-national conglomerate headquartered in Tokyo and listed on the Tokyo and Nagoya Stock Exchanges.⁵
- 2.4 Hitachi Group's total worldwide turnover in the 2021 financial year was approximately £[%] billion, of which £[%] million was generated in the UK.⁶ Hitachi's turnover for the 2021 financial year was £528 million.⁷
- 2.5 In the Hitachi's financial year ending on 31 March 2023, Hitachi's revenue generated in rail control amounted to approximately $\in [\gg]$ billion worldwide. This revenue was generated by Hitachi's activities in signalling, traffic management and their associated servicing and maintenance, accounting for approximately [%]% of its revenue derived from its overall activities in the rail sector worldwide.8
- 2.6 In 2015, Hitachi acquired a 40% stake in Ansaldo Signalling and Transportation Systems (**Ansaldo**), a supplier of signalling systems.⁹ Hitachi acquired the outstanding shares in Ansaldo over time, concluding in 2019 when it gained full ownership of the business.¹⁰

⁴ Final Merger Notice, 13 October 2022 (FMN), Sections 1-10, paragraph 3.

⁵ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraph 2.11.

 ⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, Table 2.
 ⁷ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, Table 2.

⁸ Hitachi site visit presentation, 9 February 2023, slide 6, updated based on Hitachi's internal figures for its 2022/23 financial year. The remaining [1]% of Hitachi's revenue for the 2022/23 financial year was derived from its activities in the manufacture of rolling stock and its associated servicing and maintenance.

⁹ 'Sale of Ansaldo Breda and Ansaldo STS to Hitachi completed', last accessed on 7 June 2023. Hitachi acquired a 40% stake for €761 million, valuing the entire Ansaldo business at approximately €1.9 billion.

¹⁰ 'Ansaldo STS to become fully owned by Hitachi and delisted', last accessed on 7 June 2023.

Thales

- 2.7 Thales (ie the ground transportation systems (**GTS**) business of Thales SA) is active in the supply of rail signalling solutions and ancillary activities, globally (including the UK) across four business lines: (i) mainline signalling (see paragraph 4.2); (ii) urban rail signalling (see paragraph 4.21); (iii) integrated communications and supervision solutions (ie solutions which aim to provide operational efficiency and to ensure passenger safety and comfort in stations and on-board trains; and (iv) revenue collection systems in the transport sector.¹¹
- 2.8 In addition to its ground transportation systems business, Thales' parent company, Thales, is also active in: defence and security, aerospace and space, and digital identity and security.¹² Thales SA is headquartered in Paris and listed on the Euronext Paris.¹³
- 2.9 Thales' total worldwide turnover in the 2021 financial year was approximately $\pounds[\%]$ billion of which $\pounds[\%]$ million was generated in the UK.¹⁴

The Merger

The Merger transaction

- 2.10 On 3 August 2021, Hitachi entered into an option agreement with Thales SA to acquire Thales for €1.66 billion. Hitachi and Thales SA subsequently executed a Sale and Purchase Agreement (SPA) on 10 February 2022.¹⁵ Pursuant to the SPA, Hitachi has irrevocably committed to acquire, at a purchase price of €1.66 billion, [≫].¹⁶
- 2.11 The Parties informed the CMA that the Merger, in addition to the CMA, is subject to review by various competition authorities, including the European Commission.¹⁷

The Parties' rationale for the Merger

2.12 Hitachi submitted that the rationale for the Merger is to:

¹¹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraph 5.

¹² 'About Thales | Thales Group', last accessed on 7 June 2023.

¹³ FMN, 13 October 2023, Sections 1-10, paragraph 2.27.

¹⁴ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, Table 2.

¹⁵ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraph 2.1; and FMN Annex Q2.001.

¹⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraphs 2.1 and 2.29.

¹⁷ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraph 2.31-2.32.

- (a) Provide Hitachi with additional resources to position itself as a more credible supplier, offering a broader and deeper portfolio of signalling solutions, and expanding its customer base and credentials;
- (b) enable Hitachi to benefit from economies of scale, improved procurement processes, optimised engineering capabilities and enhanced production process, for the benefit of its customers;
- *(c)* [≫]; and
- *(d)* provide Hitachi with an opportunity to expand its signalling portfolio into growing markets and technologies through digital solutions (Mobility as a Service), thereby creating new opportunities for customers.¹⁸
- 2.13 Hitachi further submitted that Thales would become part of an 'integrated rail player' (with both signalling and rolling stock capability), which would foster its value delivery for customers.¹⁹
- 2.14 Hitachi's public statements and internal documents are broadly consistent with its stated rationale. These submissions are considered in our assessment of countervailing factors, in paragraphs 11.5 to 11.65, where we assess the efficiencies resulting from the Merger.
- 2.15 Thales told us that $[\aleph]^{20}$ Thales' internal documents show that $[\aleph]^{21}$ and allowing it to focus on the digital identity, defence and aerospace industries, as the more profitable parts of its business.²² $[\aleph]^{23}$

¹⁸ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraphs 2.33-2.39.

¹⁹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Part II, paragraph 2.40.

²⁰ Thales' response to Phase 2 RFI 2, Q 3.

²¹ FMN Annex T.Q9.014, slide 9; and FMN Annex T.Q9.023, slide 18.

²² FMN Annex T.Q9.018, slide 4. In the context of the wider Thales Group, had historically been the smallest business segment, contributing 10% of global revenues in 2020. In addition, Thales' profitability had been below the Thales Group average for a number of years: Thales Group earned an average EBIT margin (excluding Thales) of 8% in 2020 and 12% in 2019. By contrast, Thales earned an EBIT margin of 5% in 2020 and 3% in 2019. See, 'Thales Group Integrated Report 2020', page 6, last accessed on 10 May 2023; and 'Thales Group consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2020', page 12, last accessed on 10 May 2023.
²³ [%].

3. Relevant merger situation

- 3.1 Section 36(1) of the Act and our terms of reference require that we investigate and report on two statutory questions:
 - *(a)* whether arrangements are in progress or in contemplation which, if carried into effect, will result in the creation of an RMS; and
 - (b) if so, whether the creation of the RMS may be expected to result in an SLC within any market or markets in the UK for goods or services.
- 3.2 We address the first of the statutory questions in this section.

Enterprises ceasing to be distinct

- 3.3 Section 23 of the Act provides that an RMS will be created if, as a result of the Merger, two or more enterprises cease to be distinct and the turnover test and/or share of supply test is satisfied.
- 3.4 Section 26 of the Act provides that any two enterprises cease to be distinct if they are brought under common ownership or common control.
- 3.5 Hitachi and Thales are 'businesses' within the meaning of the Act²⁴ and their activities, which include the delivery of digital mainline signalling and urban signalling systems (see paragraphs 4.2 and 4.22 below), constitute 'enterprises' in accordance with the Act.²⁵
- 3.6 Hitachi will acquire full control of Thales pursuant to the SPA (see paragraph 2.10). Therefore, on completion of the Merger, Thales will be under the common ownership and control of Hitachi and the two enterprises will cease to be distinct.
- 3.7 We have therefore provisionally found that arrangements are in progress or contemplation which, if carried into effect, would result in Hitachi and Thales ceasing to be distinct enterprises under the Act.

 $^{^{24}}$ Section 129(1) of the Act.

 $^{^{25}}$ Section 129(1) of the Act.

Turnover test

- 3.8 The second element of the RMS test seeks to establish whether the Merger has sufficient connection with the UK on a turnover and/or share of supply basis to give the CMA jurisdiction to investigate.²⁶
- 3.9 The turnover test in section 23 of the Act is satisfied where the value of the turnover in the UK of the enterprise being taken over exceeds £70 million.²⁷ As noted in paragraph 2.9 above, Thales' revenue in the UK exceeds £70 million and therefore the turnover test is met. As such, we are not required to consider whether the share of supply test is met.²⁸

Provisional conclusion on the RMS

3.10 In light of the above, we have provisionally found that the Merger constitutes arrangements in progress or in contemplation which, if carried into effect, will result in creation of a RMS. This means that the CMA has jurisdiction to review the Merger. As a result, we must consider whether the creation of that situation may be expected to result in an SLC within any market or markets in the UK for goods or services.²⁹

²⁶ Section 23 of the Act.

 $^{^{27}}$ Section 23(1)(b) of the Act.

²⁸ We also note that the Merger has not yet completed and as, such, the four-month time limit for a RMS in the Act is not engaged in the present circumstances (see section 24 of the Act). Furthermore, we currently consider that applicable statutory time limits in relation to this reference have been complied with by the CMA (see sections 34ZA and 73A(1) of the Act).

²⁹ Section 36(1)(b) of the Act.

4. Industry background

4.1 As set out in Chapter 2, the Parties are active in the supply of mainline and urban signalling projects.

Mainline signalling

Signalling subsystems

- 4.2 Mainline signalling projects involve the installation of mainline signalling systems in a railway network, which in turn comprise multiple subsystems.³⁰ Mainline signalling systems are fundamental to the safe and efficient operation of modern railways, directing traffic and keeping trains apart to prevent collisions. These systems are deployed on all the UK's major train routes, such as the East Coast Mainline and West Coast Mainline, as well as smaller local routes. The purpose of a signalling system is to determine the position of trains on the track, control their direction and signal to the driver when it is safe to proceed to the next section of track. Signalling systems also have a role to play in increasing capacity on the network, by allowing more trains to run safely.³¹
- 4.3 Mainline signalling comprises several subsystems. These are set out below.
- 4.4 Train protection systems (TPS) consist of both trackside and on-board components (installed on the rolling stock) that interface with the interlockings.³² The automatic train protection (ATP) is one of the various types of TPS³³ used in the UK which continuously ensures that the train does not exceed the safe speed and provides relevant information to support the train driver, by displaying movement authorities and speed limits on an in-cab display.³⁴ There has been standardisation of ATP at European level as a result of the European Rail Traffic Management System (ERTMS), outlined in paragraph 4.13. An ATP using the European Train Control System (ETCS), Level 2 and in the future Level 3 (see paragraph 4.14) has a radio block centre (RBC), which is a device used as a centralised safety unit, which uses radio connection via GSM-R to receive train position information and send movement authority and further information required by the train for its

³⁰ In general, the delivery of signalling projects involves project-specific engineering, development and project management, procurement of the necessary equipment, installation, testing, commissioning and, in most cases, maintenance. See, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 13.7.1.

³¹ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', last accessed on 10 May 2023, paragraph 3.3.

³² FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 12.14-12.15.

³³ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 12.14.1-12.14.2.

³⁴ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.12.

movement. The RBC interacts with the interlocking (see below) to obtain signalling-related information, route status, etc. An RBC is also able to manage the transmission of selected trackside data and communicate with adjacent RBCs.³⁵

- 4.5 **Interlockings** are the principal safety critical component of mainline rail signalling systems. Interlockings are lineside systems (ie installed adjacent to the tracks)³⁶ which prevent trains from carrying out unsafe movements by permitting them to proceed past a signal only once routes are set, locked and detected in safe combinations.³⁷ Interlockings can be divided into two categories, conventional and digital.
- 4.6 Conventional interlockings are a type of computer-based interlocking³⁸ that generally predate and are not designed to be compatible with ETCS.³⁹
- 4.7 British Rail developed a computer-based interlocking the Solid State Interlocking (SSI) – for use in mainline railways in Great Britain (GB) in the mid-1980s.⁴⁰ Following the privatisation of British Rail, the rights to develop and deploy the SSI passed to Siemens, Alstom and their predecessor companies.⁴¹ Other companies have independently developed computerbased interlockings, derived from solutions in other countries.⁴²
- 4.8 Digital interlockings are modern computer-based interlockings that have been designed to work with the RBC (see paragraph 4.4). A digital interlocking must be provided with a communications link, protocol and software capability to communicate with an RBC.⁴³ While the hardware used in both digital and conventional interlockings is very similar,⁴⁴ digital interlockings generally utilise a more streamlined and less complex application logic than conventional interlockings and are less reliant on the signals delivered to train

³⁹ Parties' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q 5.

³⁵ 'Subsystems and Constituents of the ERTMS (europa.eu)', last accessed on 17 May 2023.

 ³⁶ Lineside, trackside, and wayside relate to the area adjacent to a railway track and are used interchangeably.
 ³⁷ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.5.

³⁸ Computer-based interlockings are a type of electronic interlocking that have been in use for over 30 years. Non-electronic interlockings, such as mechanical-based interlockings using analogue levers or relay-based interlockings that use electromagnetic relays to control sections of the railway pre-date the development of SSI in the mid-1980s. Such non-electronic interlocking technologies are outdated and being phased out in the UK. For the purpose of these Provisional Findings, any references to interlockings refer exclusively to computer-based interlockings. See, Parties' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q 5.

⁴⁰ See paragraph 4.20 for the difference between the operational and technical requirements in GB and Northern Ireland.

⁴¹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 12.43.

⁴² Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.7.

⁴³ 'What is Digital Ready? - Rail Engineer', last accessed on 17 May 2023.

⁴⁴ Parties' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q 5.

drivers, as information and movement authorities are transmitted wirelessly directly to the train.45

- 4.9 The European Initiative Linking Interlocking Systems (EULYNX) is aimed at standardising the interfaces in relation to interlockings (see paragraph 4.5 and 4.8).
- 4.10 Operation and Control Systems (OCS) are IT solutions that aid signallers in setting routes and assist in the overall management of railway networks. OCS comprise monitoring and command components for signalling subsystems. The OCS receive information across a network of interlockings and relay this to a central control centre.46

Conventional versus digital mainline signalling systems

- 4.11 Conventional mainline signalling systems are mainline signalling systems developed to conform to national operating rules and technical requirements.⁴⁷ In the UK, the relevant conventional interlocking is the SSI technology.
- 4.12 Digital mainline signalling refers to the signalling element of what Network Rail calls 'Digital Railway', an umbrella term that describes the modern signalling systems and train control technologies that lessen the need for fixed lineside infrastructure.⁴⁸ Unlike conventional mainline signalling systems, digital mainline signalling systems are designed to be interoperable across national borders. The key standardisation initiatives in this regard are: (i) the ERTMS and (ii) the EULYNX.

ERTMS

- 4.13 In 1996, the European Union introduced changes to standardise the safety components for all high-speed lines in Europe through the introduction of ERTMS.⁴⁹ The aim of ERTMS is to replace the different national train control and command systems in Europe. ERTMS has two basic components:
 - (a) The ETCS, an ATP system to replace the existing national ATP systems; and

⁴⁵ Parties' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q5.

⁴⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 12.19-12.20.

 ⁴⁷ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.6.
 ⁴⁸ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', page 7.

⁴⁹ 'History of ERTMS', last accessed on 17 May 2023.

- (b) GSM-R, a radio system for providing voice and data communication between the track and the train, based on standard GSM using frequencies specifically reserved for rail application with certain specific and advanced functions.50
- 4.14 The replacement of legacy ATP systems with ETCS (Level 2 and above)⁵¹ removes the need for colour light signals to issue movement authority to train drivers.⁵² Instead, the interlockings communicate with an on-board European Vital Computer (EVC) via an RBC using GSM-R radio signals to relay signal and speed information to the driver.⁵³ Interlockings remain the critical safety component of the mainline signalling system.⁵⁴

EULYNX

4.15 EULYNX is a European initiative aiming to reduce the cost and installation time of signalling equipment by virtue of standardisation, encompassing 14 European infrastructure managers, including Network Rail in GB.⁵⁵ The EULYNX project seeks to standardise the interfaces in relation to interlockings and their components.⁵⁶ This initiative is still ongoing and interlocking interfaces are not yet fully standardised.

GB railway standards

4.16 The standardisation initiatives described above in paragraphs 4.13 to 4.15 relate to the interface between trains and trackside equipment. It remains the

⁵⁰ ETCS is used throughout these Provisional Findings to refer to refer to both systems of the ERTMS, unless specified to the contrary.

⁵¹ ETCS has three levels that are defined based on the wayside equipment and the way the information is transmitted to the train. There are currently two levels of ETCS in operation, both working with the same on-board equipment. A new ETCS level is under development. See, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 12.33. ETCS Level 1 involves continuous supervision of train movement (ie the onboard computer is continuously supervising the maximum permitted speed and calculating the braking curve to the end of movement authority) while non-continuous communication occurs between train and trackside, generally through Eurobalises. Lineside signals are necessary. Train detection and train integrity checks (ie the train is complete and has not been accidentally split) are performed by the trackside equipment beyond the scope of ERTMS. ETCS Level 2 involves continuous supervision of train movement with constant communication via GSM-R between the train and trackside. Lineside signals are optional in this case, and train detection and train integrity checks are performed by the trackside equipment beyond the scope of ERTMS. ETCS Level 3 involves continuous train supervision with continuous communication between the train and trackside. The main difference with Level 2 is that train location and integrity are managed within the scope of the ERTMS system, ie there is no need for lineside signals or train detection systems on the trackside other than Eurobalises. Train integrity is supervised by the train. See also, 'ETCS Levels and Modes', last accessed on 10 May 2023.

⁵² Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.14.

 ⁵³ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.14.
 ⁵⁴ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.14.
 ⁵⁵ 'EULYNX Landing Page'; Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report'; and Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling Market Study update Annex A - Glossary', last accessed on 16 May 2023. Network Rail together with nine other infrastructure managers across Europe launched EULYNX in Spring 2014. The aim of EULYNX is to standardise interfaces, including by agreeing a common programme for interface definition. This should also include the standardisation work itself, and the related test and approval phases and tool development.

⁵⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 12.39.

case that GB has operational and technical requirements with which all signalling systems installed on GB mainline railways must comply. Each signalling subsystem requires certification and authorisation in GB.

Interoperability between conventional and digital mainline signalling systems

- 4.17 Subsystems of either digital or conventional mainline signalling must interface with each other. Importantly, interlockings must interface with both trackside components and control systems.⁵⁷
- 4.18 In addition to the interfaces between signalling subsystems, there will also be projects where the (new) digital signalling assets will need to interface with the installed base, ie mainlines where there will be both conventional and digital signalling.⁵⁸ We consider the interfacing risks between conventional and digital signalling systems, and between the different subsystems, in particular with interlockings which are the key component of a subsystem, in Chapter 8.

Customers of mainline signalling in the UK

- 4.19 Network Rail, as the main customer and infrastructure manager of the rail network in GB, is the organisation responsible for overseeing the approval. installation and maintenance of mainline signalling systems in GB. The other customers of mainline signalling systems in the UK are: High Speed One (HS1) Limited (HS1), High Speed Two (HS2) Ltd (HS2) and the Tyne and Wear Passenger Transport Executive (Nexus) (see paragraphs 8.40 to 8.43).
- 4.20 We understand that GB and Northern Ireland have different regulations, operational and technical requirements for mainline signalling systems (see paragraphs 8.27 and 8.31). The Northern Irish rail network is integrated with the railway network in the Republic of Ireland. The infrastructure manager for Northern Ireland is Translink.

Urban signalling

4.21 Urban signalling systems are railway signalling systems used for local passenger rail transit, encompassing metro networks, of which the largest in the UK is the London Underground, and Light Rail and Tram (LRT) networks. Like mainline signalling systems, these are designed to ensure safety on urban rail networks by preventing collisions and excessive speeds, as well as to improve and increase network capacity. Urban signalling systems typically

 ⁵⁷ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.15.
 ⁵⁸ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', paragraph 3.16.

support much higher train frequencies than mainline signalling systems and, as a result, are generally more complex and more costly.⁵⁹

- 4.22 In a similar manner to mainline signalling, interlockings are a critical safety component. Interlockings work by dividing up tracks into blocks or sections, which vary from a few hundred metres to several kilometres. Interlockings are designed to prevent more than one train occupying the same block at the same time.⁶⁰
- 4.23 Urban signalling systems are based on either conventional or 'communication-based train control' (CBTC) technologies, which differentiate how this system of blocks operates:
 - (a) Conventional urban rail signalling systems were developed and deployed based on a 'fixed block' system. The track is divided into consecutive blocks and sensors detect whether a block is occupied by a train. A block may be occupied by only one vehicle at any given time and the system recognises that a block is occupied but does not know where the vehicle is within the block. A train will only be authorised to move once the blocks ahead of it are clear. This system creates a safety buffer between trains to avoid them colliding by ensuring that a train cannot enter a block occupied by another train. Devices such as axle counters or track circuits are used to detect where trains are located on the network.⁶¹
 - *(b)* CBTC systems are based on so-called 'moving blocks', which are determined based on the actual position of the trains and the required braking distance, plus a safety buffer. Unlike conventional systems, CBTC systems rely on continuous radio-based communication between the train and the tracks to precisely identify, at all times, the location of a train on the tracks.⁶² CBTC systems create a safety buffer between trains to avoid them colliding by ensuring that there is always sufficient distance between trains to allow for safe stopping. In the UK, CBTC systems are used only for metros.⁶³
- 4.24 CBTC is a technological evolution of transmission-based train control (**TBTC**), using more modern communications technology in place of cabling to improve reliability and performance, as well as reduce maintenance costs. Most large signalling suppliers can provide radio based CBTC, moving away from TBTC technologies. The CBTC system of 'moving blocks' allows for a reduction of

⁵⁹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraphs 12.2-12.3, and paragraph 15.25.

⁶⁰ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 12.9.

⁶¹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 12.10.

⁶² FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraphs 12.11, and 12.16.

⁶³ TfL response to RFI dated 30 September 2022, paragraphs 10-11.

the distance or 'headway' between trains on the network, thereby increasing network capacity.⁶⁴

Interoperability

4.25 Unlike mainline signalling, many urban signalling systems do not have interoperability requirements with the other metro systems in a specified country. For example, the signalling used on the London Underground differs from the signalling used for the Glasgow Metro. Furthermore, within metro networks, many trains run on self-contained lines that maintain specific signalling standards for that line (eg the Northern Line of the London Underground). Interoperability may, however, be required when different lines within the same metro network interface with each other.

Customers of CBTC in the UK

- 4.26 In the UK there are two metro systems that use urban signalling systems:
 - (a) one in London (encompassing the London Underground, London Overground, DLR and Elizabeth line) which is managed by Transport for London (TfL), and
 - *(b)* one in Glasgow, which is managed by the Strathclyde Partnership for Transport (**SPT**)
- 4.27 Across these metro networks, a mixture of CBTC and conventional and are used, but conventional systems are expected to be upgraded to CBTC.
 - *(a)* In London, all lines already use CBTC or are expected to be upgraded to CBTC when funding allows.⁶⁵
 - *(b)* In Glasgow, signalling is currently being upgraded to CBTC (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.7).

⁶⁴ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 12.11.

⁶⁵ The Bakerloo, Central, Waterloo & City and Piccadilly Lines have yet to be upgraded. See, 'DEEP TUBE PROGRAMME IN DOUBT', last accessed on 10 May 2023.

5. Counterfactual

Introduction

5.1 The counterfactual is an analytical tool used to help answer the question of whether a merger gives rise to an SLC.⁶⁶ Applying the SLC test involves a comparison of the prospects for competition with the merger against the competitive situation without the merger. The latter is called the counterfactual.⁶⁷

Framework for assessment of the counterfactual

- 5.2 The counterfactual is not intended to be a detailed description of the conditions of competition that would have prevailed absent the merger.⁶⁸ The assessment of those conditions is better considered in the competitive assessment.⁶⁹ We also seek to avoid predicting the precise details or circumstances that would have arisen absent the merger.⁷⁰
- 5.3 At phase 2, we select the most likely conditions of competition as the counterfactual against which to assess the merger.⁷¹ For anticipated mergers, the counterfactual may consist of the prevailing conditions of competition, or conditions of competition that involve stronger or weaker competition between the merger firms than under the prevailing conditions of competition.⁷²
- 5.4 In our assessment of the counterfactual, we may need to consider multiple possible scenarios, before identifying the relevant counterfactual.⁷³ As part of this assessment, we will take into account whether any of the possible scenarios makes a significant difference to the conditions of competition,⁷⁴ and if they do, we will ultimately select the most likely conditions of competition absent the merger as the relevant counterfactual.⁷⁵ Counterfactual assessments will often focus on significant changes affecting competition between merger firms, such as entry into new markets in

⁶⁶ CMA129, paragraph 3.1.

⁶⁷ CMA129, paragraph 3.1.

⁶⁸ CMA129, paragraph 3.7.

⁶⁹ CMA129, paragraph 3.7.

⁷⁰ CMA129, paragraph 3.11.

⁷¹ CMA129, paragraph 3.13.

⁷² CMA129, paragraph 3.2.

⁷³ CMA129, paragraph 3.13.

⁷⁴ CMA129, paragraph 3.13.

⁷⁵ CMA129, paragraph 3.13.

competition with each other, significant expansion by the merger firms in markets where they are both present, or exit by one of the merger firms.⁷⁶

- 5.5 We may examine several possible scenarios to determine the appropriate counterfactual, one of which may be the continuation of the prevailing conditions of competition. An example of a situation where we may select a counterfactual different from the prevailing conditions of competition is where the target is likely to exit the market absent the transaction under review. Another scenario in which we may consider an alternative counterfactual to the prevailing conditions of competition is where one of the merging parties would have entered or materially expanded its presence in a market absent the transaction.⁷⁷
- 5.6 Further, the time horizon we consider in our assessment of the counterfactual will depend on the context and will be consistent with the time horizon used in the competitive assessment.⁷⁸

The Parties' views

- 5.7 The Parties submitted that the relevant counterfactual is the prevailing conditions of competition, and that 'there is no evidence to suggest that the CMA should depart from its default counterfactual of prevailing conditions of competition in this case'.⁷⁹
- 5.8 However, the Parties submitted that, in considering the prevailing conditions of competition, the CMA must have regard to alternative plausible scenarios for the counterfactual, other than the adoption and implementation of the Train Control Systems Framework (**TCSF**) as currently envisaged by Network Rail (see paragraphs 7.19 to 7.21).⁸⁰
- 5.9 The Parties told us that the ultimate form and implementation of the TCSF was uncertain, and that Network Rail's proposed specifications should not be treated as a 'de facto counterfactual representing the prevailing conditions of competition', nor the only context in which the Merger is assessed,⁸¹ for the following reasons:
 - *(a)* The structure of the TCSF is highly uncertain, due to the current uncertainty around the nature of its implementation, scope, the size of the

⁷⁶ CMA129, paragraph 3.8.

⁷⁷ CMA129, paragraph 3.16.

⁷⁸ CMA129, paragraph 3.15.

⁷⁹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 11.1.

⁸⁰ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, dated 17 March 2023 (Submission on Competitive Conditions), paragraph 1.9.

⁸¹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 1.8.

guaranteed work and the split between digital and conventional works. The Parties told us that the design of the TCSF is expected to change prior to the awarding of contracts to suppliers.

- (b) [≫] was first presented to potential suppliers in July 2022, which may lead to insufficient incentives for new entrants to compete for the TCSF.
- *(c)* The timing of digital signalling procurement within the TCSF will favour the incumbent UK suppliers of digital signalling in the UK, Siemens and Alstom.
- (d) [%].⁸²

Our assessment

- 5.10 In making our counterfactual assessment, we do not seek to describe in detail the conditions of competition that would prevail absent the merger nor to ossify the market at a particular point in time. Our counterfactual assessment can reflect that, absent the Merger, each of the Parties would have continued making investments to improve their products and services, innovate and/or introduce new products and services.⁸³
- 5.11 We agree with the Parties that, as regards mainline signalling, any uncertainty around the design and implementation of the TCSF is part of the prevailing conditions of competition. We are of the view, however, that the assessment of any uncertainties relating to the TCSF is best carried out as part of our competitive assessment (see paragraphs 7.28 to 7.42).
- 5.12 Further, while we understand that [[≫]].⁸⁴ [[≫]].⁸⁵ Given the uncertainty around the eventual purchaser(s) of the Thales' business, there is no basis on which to assess whether the sale of Thales to an alternative buyer would make a material difference to our competitive assessment, relative to the prevailing conditions of competition.
- 5.13 Therefore, our provisional conclusion is consistent with the Parties' view that the most appropriate counterfactual to assess the merger is the prevailing conditions of competition.

⁸² Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 1.7.

⁸³ CMA129, paragraph 3.3.

⁸⁴ [\gg]. We also note that [\gg]. [\gg].

⁸⁵ FMN Annex T.Q9.025, slide 3. [%].

6. Structure of our assessment of the theories of harm and approach to the evidence

- 6.1 Theories of harm describe the possible ways in which an SLC may be expected to result from a merger and provide the framework for analysis of the competitive effects of a merger.
- 6.2 We focused our competition assessment on the unilateral horizontal effects of the Merger in the supply of: (i) digital mainline signalling systems and related services (digital mainline signalling systems) in GB; and (ii) CBTC signalling systems and related services (CBTC systems) in the UK.
- 6.3 No evidence has been submitted to justify investigate further the theories of harm that the CMA found would not give rise to a realistic prospect of an SLC following its phase 1 investigation.⁸⁶
- 6.4 Unilateral effects can arise in a horizontal merger when one firm merges with a competitor that would otherwise have provided a competitive constraint, allowing the merged entity profitably to raise prices or degrade non-price aspects of its competitive offering (such as quality, range, service and innovation) on its own and without needing to coordinate with its rivals.⁸⁷
- 6.5 Our assessment of mergers is generally forward-looking and we will seek to account for the future evolution of competitive conditions when assessing this theory of harm.⁸⁸ This includes developments in the Parties' competitive offerings and the competitive offerings of third parties, taking into account a range of evidence (and not just evidence of historical market performance, such as shares of supply and tender data, which in this case primarily relates to the supply of conventional mainline signalling systems in GB).
- 6.6 We gathered evidence from a wide range of different sources as part of our inquiry. In considering the weight to be placed on each piece of evidence, we have taken into account factors such as the robustness of the data/methodology adopted, the interests of the party that provided the information or view, the age of the information or document, the context, author and recipient of a document, and the purpose for which it was produced.

⁸⁶ In the Phase 1 Decision, the CMA found that, given Siemens' and Alstom's significant incumbency advantages with respect to the supply of conventional mainline signalling and the transition towards digitalisation of the signalling infrastructure, there was no realistic prospect of an SLC within that market. We have not received any evidence to justify reopening this theory of harm during our investigation.
⁸⁷ CMA129, paragraph 4.1.

⁸⁸ CMA129, paragraph 4.16.

- 6.7 We have not relied on any one specific piece of evidence in isolation to inform our decisions as to whether the Merger may be expected to result in one or more SLCs; rather, we have assessed all of the evidence in the round in order to reach our decisions.⁸⁹ As part of this, we have given due regard to the extent to which our view on the interpretation of a piece of evidence is corroborated (or not) by other evidence available to us. There is no set hierarchy between different types of evidence, and the CMA may attach greater weight to one type of evidence or another based on its relative quality.90
- 6.8 When considering the weight to attach to submissions from third parties we have taken into account the extent to which they may have an interest in the outcome of our Merger investigation, and whether the submissions are consistent with other evidence we have received.⁹¹ In particular, we note that the assessment of a merger's impact on competition is not driven solely by customer views but instead takes into account the (typically wider) range of evidence that is available to the CMA in a given case.
- 6.9 Where internal documents support claims being made by the Parties, the CMA may be likely to attach more evidentiary weight to such documents if they were generated prior to the period in which those firms were contemplating or aware of the merger, or if they are consistent with other evidence.92
- 6.10 Our assessment of the theories of harm set out in paragraph 6.2, is organised as follows:
 - (a) In relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB, we consider in turn:
 - (i) the nature of competition and our approach to the competition assessment; and
 - (ii) our competition assessment of the effects of the Merger.

⁸⁹ The approach followed by the CMA in relation to the assessment and weighting of the evidence is consistent with the framework for the CMA's assessment of the evidence set out in the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines (CMA129, paragraphs 2.19-2.25). In particular, paragraph 2.23 states: 'The CMA does not normally consider specific pieces of evidence in isolation when considering the question of an SLC, although it is common for the CMA to weight pieces of evidence differently'.

⁹⁰ CMA129, paragraph 2.25. See also, Aberdeen Journals v OFT [2003] CAT 11, at paragraph 128 ('there is in our view no rule of law which requires the Director to base his case on consumer surveys and market studies if he considers that his case is sufficiently proved by other evidence' and 'In deciding whether the evidence is sufficient, the Tribunal will pay attention to evidence about the attitudes of consumers or users, or the absence thereof, but that is only one element of the Tribunal's assessment of the evidence as a whole'). ⁹¹ CMA129, paragraph 2.29(a).

- (b) In relation to the supply of CBTC systems in the UK, we consider in turn:
 - (i) the nature of competition and our approach to the competition assessment; and
 - (ii) our competition assessment of the effects of the Merger.
- *(c)* We then assess whether efficiencies arising from the Merger are likely to enhance rivalry with the result that the merger does not give rise to an SLC.

7. Digital mainline signalling systems: Nature of competition and approach to competition assessment

- 7.1 This chapter sets out our assessment of the nature of competition between the Parties and their competitors in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB. In particular, we have set out and considered:
 - (a) an overview of mainline signalling projects in GB;
 - *(b)* what opportunities exist for competition between the Parties and their competitors for future mainline signalling contracts;
 - *(c)* the economic framework for assessing competition between the Parties and their rivals;
 - (d) the parameters of competition for future contracts; and
 - (e) the approach to the competition assessment.
- 7.2 This chapter provides important context for our competitive assessment of whether the Merger has resulted, or may be expected to result, in an SLC in the delivery of mainline signalling projects in GB.

Overview of mainline signalling in GB

- 7.3 Mainline signalling projects are procured by several customers in the UK, including Network Rail, HS1, HS2, Nexus and Translink (see paragraphs 8.40 to 8.43). As explained in the Background section, Translink is the infrastructure manager responsible for railway signalling in Northern Ireland. For the reasons explained in the market definition section, we consider that the Merger is not likely to impact competition for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in Northern Ireland.
- 7.4 Railway signalling is a significant market in the UK. The market for signalling systems in GB for mainline railways alone is worth £800–900 million annually.⁹³
- 7.5 Network Rail is the largest procurer of mainline signalling projects in GB and the competition for future Network Rail mainline signalling contracts is the focus of our competition assessment.⁹⁴ We explain below in paragraphs 7.108

⁹³ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', page 1.

⁹⁴ We explain in paragraphs 8.37 to 8.43 why the focus of our investigation is on the opportunities for competition for the supply of mainline signalling projects procured by Network Rail.

and 8.37 why the focus of our investigation was on the supply of digital mainline signalling to Network Rail.

- 7.6 The Parties are two signalling suppliers that are active and experienced in both conventional and digital signalling systems. There are two types of suppliers involved in the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects (i) original equipment manufacturers (**OEMs**), which own the signalling technology used for a particular project, and (ii) integrators, which can play a variety of roles in relation to integrating that technology into a signalling renewal project. OEMs collaborate in different ways and to different extents with integrators in the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects, for example by forming a joint venture or partnership, or by using integrators as subcontractors to carry out mainline signalling projects. Integrators may also sometimes license relevant signalling technology from OEMs in order to deliver signalling projects themselves (see further explanation in paragraphs 8.219 to 8.222).⁹⁵ The Parties have previously bid for digital and conventional mainline signalling projects in GB and have partnered with integrators or subcontracted services to integrators.
- 7.7 We have assessed whether the Parties and their competitors (ie OEMs and integrators) will compete for the digital projects that will be procured through the TCSF in more detail in Chapter 9. We have also investigated the role of integrators in more depth, including the extent to which they can act as independent competitors in relation to the TCSF and the extent to which they provide complementary services to support the bids of OEMs, in our competitive assessment.

Network Rail's historic approach to procurement

- 7.8 Since 2004 (ie CP3 onwards), most of Network Rail's signalling projects have been conventional and have been procured through framework agreements. Suppliers are generally only eligible to supply mainline signalling projects to Network Rail if they first win a place on a framework agreement, with the most important being Network Rail's major signalling frameworks.
- 7.9 Table 1 provides a summary of Network Rail's last three major signalling framework agreements.

⁹⁵ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 15.20.

Table 1: Summary of Network Rail's major mainline signalling frameworks

Framework	Period	Geographic	Framework value	Signalling system	Bidders	Winners
CP5 – Major Signalling Renewals and Enhancements Framework (MaSREF)	2014- 2019	9 lots	£1.4 billion	Conventional	Atkins	Invensys Rail (now owned by Siemens)
					Invensys Rail (now owned by Siemens)	
					Signalling Solutions (now owned by Alstom)	Signalling Solutions Limited (now owned by Alstom)
					[%]	Atkins
CP6 – Major Signalling Framework (CP6)	2019- 2024	5 lots	£1.3 billion	Conventional	Alstom	Alstom
					Siemens	Siemens
					Hitachi	Hitachi/ Linbrooke
					[%]	
East Coast Development Programme – Train Control Partner (TCP) framework (ECDP)	2019 onwards	East Coast Main Line§	£0.9 billion	Digital	Alstom/Jacobs	Siemens
					Hitachi/Ove Arup/Amey	
					Atkins/Thales	
					Siemens	

Source: CMA analysis.

For CP5, Siemens bid as Invensys and won four lots as a primary supplier and three as a secondary; Alstom bid as Signalling Solutions Limited (now wholly owned by Alstom) and won three lots as a primary supplier and five as a secondary supplier; and Atkins was awarded two lots as a primary supplier. The lot value by geographic region is as follows: Lot Value: Scotland £167 million; Central (West) £391 million; Central (East) £150 million; Wales & West £93 million; Great Western (Inner) £56 million; Great Western (Outer) £197 million; Anglia & Kent £147 million; Sussex & Wessex £206 million; and Thameslink fnil

For CP6, Alstom and Siemens won two lots each (which were also the most valuable lots), while Hitachi in partnership with Linbrooke won the fifth (and least valuable) lot. The lot value by geographic region is as follows: Lot Value: Eastern £542 million: North West & Central £63 million: Scotland £348 million: Southern £312 million: and Wales & Western £nil.

* Carillion was liquidated in 2018 and 2019. See, 'Carillion Group', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

† ORR response to RFI dated 11 May 2023, 'CMA - CP5 MASREF edits'. The major signalling framework was divided in eight geographic lots during CP5 and not all of these suppliers bid for each of them.

‡ Network Rail Internal Document, 'Major Framework GW4 CP6', page 3.

§ Digital signalling will be introduced on the Northern City Line, between Finsbury Park and Moorgate. It will then be rolled out on the southern section of the East Coast Main Line (between London King's Cross and the Stoke Tunnels, near Grantham. See, 'East Coast Digital Programme - Network Rail', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

¶ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', footnote 61.

- Previously, Network Rail has attempted to encourage competition by capping 7.10 the number of lots that a supplier can win within a framework to two lots per supplier. Despite these restrictions, Siemens and Alstom have established themselves as the two main suppliers of conventional mainline signalling in GB and have approximately 97% of the conventional installed base.⁹⁶ We consider the potential impact of Siemens' and Alstom's strengths in conventional mainline signalling, along with the strengths of integrators with GB experience such as Atkins, on competition for digital mainline signalling systems in our competitive assessment.
- 7.11 Network Rail has procured four main digital mainline signalling projects to date: (a) the East Coast Mainline; (b) a pilot ETCS Level 2 project on the

⁹⁶ Office of Rail and Road, 'Signalling market study - Final Report', page 7.

Cambrian Line in 2006, which was awarded to Hitachi;⁹⁷ (c) the installation of ETCS Level 2 technology on the Thameslink line which was awarded to Siemens; and (d) the installation of ETCS Level 2 on Crossrail West, which was awarded to Alstom.⁹⁸ We consider these tenders in more detail below in paragraphs 8.153 to 8.194.

7.12 Before considering the details of Network Rail's TCSF tender, the next section provides a short summary of the key findings from the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) market study into the supply of rail signalling systems in GB (ORR market study).⁹⁹

ORR market study

- 7.13 ORR is the economic regulator for railway infrastructure in GB and its responsibilities include, among other things, regulation of mainline railway signalling in GB.¹⁰⁰ In November 2020, ORR opened a market study into the supply of rail signalling systems in GB to ensure the signalling supply chain is 'fair and competitive'. The study focused on: (i) the 'supply chain for the delivery of significant 'major' signalling projects'; (ii) the 'strength of competition for tenders and incentives to compete in the market'; (iii) whether there are any 'barriers to innovation, or market entry and the introduction of new technology'; and (iv) 'the ability of the supply chain to build up capacity for the rollout of the digital railway'.¹⁰¹
- 7.14 In November 2021, the final report of the ORR market study found that there were reasonable grounds to suspect that features of the mainline signalling markets in GB prevent, restrict, or distort competition. ORR considered that the statutory test to make a reference to the CMA for an in-depth investigation was met. ORR's findings are summarised below:
 - (a) Duopoly in signalling in GB: There are essentially two main players in the GB market for major signalling projects, namely Siemens and Alstom. In recent years these two companies have accounted for an increasing share of Network Rail's major signalling spend. The combined share of Siemens and Alstom has increased from c. 70% in 1999-2004 to a projected c. 90% in 2019-2024'. The rights to SSI are now owned by

⁹⁷ Network Rail also designed and commissioned an ETCS National Integration Facility, in order to carry out testing of suppliers' technology and develop operational scenarios without the need for access to the operational railway, reducing project risk and cost.

⁹⁸ This was awarded to Alstom.

⁹⁹ ORR, ORR Market Study.

¹⁰⁰ ORR's strategy and duties involve regulating the rail industry's health and safety performance, holding Network Rail and other rail infrastructure networks to account and ensuring that the rail industry is competitive and fair. See, 'About ORR | Office of Rail and Road', last accessed on 6 June 2023; and 'Market study into rail signalling systems opened | Office of Rail and Road', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

¹⁰¹ 'Market study into rail signalling systems opened | Office of Rail and Road', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

Siemens and Alstom (see paragraph 4.7) and 'suppliers' shares of the installed base of interlockings show that no alternatives to SSI have gained significant traction'.

- (b) High entry barriers: ORR found that 'lack of a sufficiently visible pipeline with committed funding, the use of frameworks with no guaranteed work banks, and any significant increases to the size and scope of frameworks could inhibit potential competitors from entering the market and growing organically'. Competitors to Siemens and Alstom told ORR 'that it is difficult to establish a business case to compete for GB frameworks or develop technology without a long term/certain pipeline of work in which to recoup investment'. ORR also found that '[of] the modest number of renewal projects that have been carried out involving new technologies, a noticeable proportion appear to have encountered at least some interface issues, which, while technically resolvable, usually lead to higher costs'. ORR found that 'while the time and cost involved in developing a product for the GB market is significant, alternative suppliers have told us that they would be willing to develop products for the GB market, as long as there was the chance of recovering investment through future signalling work'.
- (c) **Uncompetitive prices:** Based on an analysis of Network Rail's spend on signalling, ORR found that 'average prices were lower when projects were competitively tendered as opposed to directly awarded to framework holders'. In ORR's view, 'healthy pressure to compete on cost, quality and innovation, can make a key contribution towards meeting the value for money challenge'.
- (*d*) **Digitalisation as a way forward to reduce entry barriers**: The Digital Railway (see paragraph 4.12) and the introduction of new signalling technologies, has the 'potential to address some of the barriers' ORR identified but not 'in isolation', with the 'key risk' to the rollout being 'the need for suppliers to develop capability in the GB market'.¹⁰²
- 7.15 ORR set out several demand-side remedies and recommendations predominantly for Network Rail, with the aim of reducing the barriers to entry and expansion that it had identified in its study. The primary recommendations were for Network Rail to:

¹⁰² ORR, ORR Market Study, Summary, page 10.

- (a) take a 'pro-competitive approach to procurement' which would encourage entry, for example by engaging 'with the largest possible pool of suppliers for top tier work';
- (b) encourage 'open interfaces', by 'requiring cooperation and compelling suppliers to work with each other';
- (c) work to achieve a 'balance between long term competition and reliance on existing technology', for instance, by developing 'proposals to reform its performance monitoring regime of the regions to encourage the cultivation of new suppliers and technologies'; and
- *(d)* make alterations to the funding of mainline signalling projects, to provide 'greater certainty to suppliers' regarding 'future signalling volumes'. In particular, ORR recommended that Network Rail consider implementing a 'minimum value of work for each winning supplier' and 'establish a centralised research and development fund [...] from which new entrants and suppliers working on innovative projects may draw'.¹⁰³
- 7.16 In February 2022, Network Rail responded to the ORR market study by committing to making changes to its procurement processes. These changes are aimed at improving incentives for Network Rail's suppliers by sharing the costs of bidding and technology development and by providing contractors with more certainty over their future workbank.¹⁰⁴
- 7.17 ORR reviewed progress against its proposed remedies and published its conclusions on Network Rail's progress in April 2023 (the **Remedies Monitoring Report**).¹⁰⁵ Overall, ORR considered the majority of its recommendations were addressed either to completion or to an extent that there was no need for continued close regulatory oversight.¹⁰⁶ In particular, ORR considered that:
 - *(a)* the TCSF addressed 'the underlying issue of an overly narrow supply base by committing to engage a minimum number of suppliers for both conventional and digital signalling renewals'.¹⁰⁷

¹⁰³ ORR, ORR Market Study, paragraph 10.66.

¹⁰⁴ 'Network Rail response to the ORR market study into the supply of signalling systems - Letter dated 10 February 2022', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

¹⁰⁵ The Remedies Monitoring Report was published on 21 April 2023. ORR also published an update describing the progress that has been made following the publication of its signalling market study final report in November 2021 on 26 July 2022. ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, dated 21 April 2023; and ORR, Signalling Market Study July 2022 update, dated 26 July 2022.

¹⁰⁶ ORR considered that close monitoring was still required in relation to (i) education and cultural change; and (ii) performance measurement.

¹⁰⁷ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraphs 3.4-3.7.

- *(b)* the TCSF's 'contract project allocation mechanisms' which reduce 'the extent of tendering "from scratch" and Network Rail's 'contribution to the costs of developing digital signalling products' mitigate ORR's concerns in relation to barriers to entry.¹⁰⁸
- *(c)* open interfaces were more straightforward in relation to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects because, based on the TCSF documentation, 'all suppliers have to comply with [ETCS] specifications'.¹⁰⁹ ORR noted that under the TCSF 'suppliers will be contractually obliged to cooperate with other suppliers particularly in regard to technology interfaces'.¹¹⁰ In addition, the TCSF evaluation criteria 'will reward suppliers showing commitment to, and making proposals for, the strengthening of cooperation in particular around interfacing'.¹¹¹
- *(d)* it would monitor the 'trajectory' of Network Rail's 'unit costs', including 'cost trends', which would become visible after a number of mainline signalling projects have been completed.¹¹²

Competition for Network Rail's TCSF

- 7.18 Network Rail is subject to the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 (UCR), as well as its network licence and the obligations and requirements which result from being a non-departmental public body, including Managing Public Money. Network Rail is regulated on its delivery, financial and competitive behaviour by ORR.¹¹³ The UCR require that (subject to very limited exceptions) Network Rail conducts a formal competitive tender process for the award of contracts.¹¹⁴
- 7.19 Network Rail's TCSF is the major mainline framework agreement through which the Parties and their competitors will be able to compete for major mainline signalling projects in GB, for the period 2024–2033.¹¹⁵ Framework suppliers will be appointed through a competitive tender process, which was

¹⁰⁸ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraphs 3.8-3.11.

¹⁰⁹ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraphs 3.26-3.27.

¹¹⁰ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraphs 3.28-3.29. The Remedies Monitoring Report also notes the introduction of 'alliance contracting' which encourages suppliers to 'work together by requiring them to participate in an incentivisation regime where suppliers share equal responsibility for the delivery of the project such that, for example, any penalties for under-performance will be borne equally by all parties in the contract'. See, ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 3.30.

¹¹¹ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 3.19.

¹¹² ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 4.6.

¹¹³ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 1.

¹¹⁴ The Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 (UCR).

¹¹⁵ That is, for the next two control periods: CP7 (2024–2029) and CP8 (2029–2034).

launched on 17 March 2023 and is expected to conclude through an award of contracts in January 2024.¹¹⁶

Design and scope of the TCSF

- 7.20 Network Rail published its pre-qualification (PQQ) documentation in March 2023. The main features of the design and scope of the TCSF, as defined in the tender documents published on 17 March 2023, are as follows:¹¹⁷
 - (a) Two separate lots within the TCSF for conventional mainline signalling
 (Lot 1) and digital mainline signalling works (Lot 2). Network Rail will appoint 'up to' four suppliers for each lot.
 - (b) For Lot 2, there will be a guaranteed workbank accounting for 55% of Lot 2's value, split into portions of declining size to be allocated to first, second, third and fourth place, respectively. The percentage of the awarded workbank (ie of the 55%) that each supplier receives will depend on their ranking in the tender: the highest-ranking bidder will receive 39.5%, the second 30%, the third 19.5%, the fourth 11%.
 - *(c)* The remaining 45% of the digital mainline projects under the TCSF will be 'awarded through mini-competition'.
 - (d) Funding towards the product development and adaptation costs of digital mainline signalling technology will be available to the framework suppliers (50% of development costs, up to a total of £4 million per supplier).
 Financial support is not available for conventional signalling technology.
 - *(e)* Network Rail will be subject to a penalty (of up to £5 million per supplier), if it fails to award the proportions committed in the TCSF.
- 7.21 Network Rail currently expects to contract £3 billion of digital works through the TCSF over the next two control periods. [≫].¹¹⁸ Network Rail submitted that [≫].¹¹⁹

¹¹⁶ The current expected timetable for the TCSF procurement, after the launch of PQQ on 17 March 2023 is the following: (i) notification of the outcome of pre-qualification, 26th June 2023; (ii) invitation to tender (**ITT**) launch event and publication of ITT, 3rd July 2023; (iii) tender response deadline, 22nd September 2023; and (iv) framework award, January 2024. See Network Rail, Instructions to Participants, 17 March 2023, paragraph 5.11.

¹¹⁷ 'Train Control Systems Framework [Tender Notice] (bidstats.uk)' last accessed on 7 June 2023; and Network Rail, Instructions to Participants, 17 March 2023, page 11.

¹¹⁸ [≫].

¹¹⁹ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 7.

Network Rail's objectives

- 7.22 From Network Rail's submissions to us, we understand its objectives for the tender process to be three-fold:
 - *(a)* Increase capacity. Network Rail told us that 'there is insufficient capacity to deliver future volumes of [digital] activity' in the long run.¹²⁰ While Network Rail said that it 'could deliver at CP7 volumes of activity without expanding the supplier base', it would need to start 'investing and developing [suppliers] now' to be able to deliver the volumes of projected work in CP8.¹²¹
 - *(b)* Reduce its reliance on the current two main suppliers. Network Rail submitted that the 'UK signalling supplier market is widely known to be dominated by two main suppliers; one of the objectives of the TCSF is to increase the number of suppliers willing and able to operate within the UK to supply digital signalling'.¹²²
 - *(c)* Reduce cost of signalling. Network Rail submitted that the 'target rate' it is 'aspiring to achieve' in relation to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects is £190k per signalling equivalent unit (**SEU**) 'or better'.¹²³
- 7.23 Network Rail has sought to achieve these objectives through the design of the TCSF by:
 - (a) Increasing the number of framework suppliers to up to four per lot. Network Rail told us, however, that the choice of four framework suppliers for Lot 2 was 'driven by the volume of work' it would have available to 'support' the development of ETCS suppliers during CP7.¹²⁴
 - (b) Awarding a longer framework agreement (ten years) to support the development of suppliers' products and capabilities and by providing financial support for product development. Suppliers would develop their technology and capabilities during the first few years of CP7 before taking on a higher volume of work in CP8.¹²⁵
 - *(c)* Facilitating entry from outside GB. Network Rail submitted that it was seeking to appoint suppliers who have 'relevant experience and capability from both within the UK and outside of the UK'.¹²⁶ Relevant UK

¹²⁰ Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, page 18.

¹²¹ Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, pages 17-18.

¹²² Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 13.

¹²³ Network Rail Internal Document, 'TCSF Supplier Launch Event March - Transcript', page 17.

¹²⁴ Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, page 20.

¹²⁵ Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, pages 17-19.

¹²⁶ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 13.

experience is neither mandatory nor required to compete for the TCSF (see paragraph 7.84 below).

Uncertainty of future Network Rail demand

Parties' views

- 7.24 The Parties told us that there was considerable uncertainty surrounding the TCSF and the procurement of digital signalling works by Network Rail and that this 'will impact the entry decision of any possible challenger of the current UK duopoly'.¹²⁷ They submitted that, as a result of the uncertainty, industry participants may 'lack confidence' in Network Rail's ability to deliver sufficient digital projects to provide 'enough revenue in the next ten years' (especially early on), which reduces the incentives for the Parties and other new entrants to enter the UK.¹²⁸ In particular, the Parties submitted that [≫].¹²⁹
- 7.25 The Parties identified a number of related concerns, including what they described as the 'very significant risk' that the scope of digital signalling works within the TCSF would be reduced further.¹³⁰ The Parties referred to the ORR market study which indicated there has historically been a significant shortfall between Network Rail's signalling forecast volumes and outturn volumes, with around 55% of the planned signalling work not being released to the market between 2006 and 2021.¹³¹ As supporting evidence, the Parties noted that Network Rail has already reduced the value of digital works within the TCSF by around 10%, since Network Rail's July 2022 procurement launch.¹³²
- 7.26 The Parties also submitted that the funding for CP8 was not confirmed and that the large majority of digital signalling projects within the scope of the TCSF would be procured during CP8.¹³³ The Parties argued that Network Rail was 'severely resource-constrained' and was subject to 'important competing priorities' that would divert resources from the TCSF.¹³⁴

¹²⁷ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, 24 March 2023 (Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects), paragraph 1.3. The Parties also made the following submissions regarding uncertainty: Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions; Thales' email to the CMA, dated 23 May 2023; and Hitachi's email to the CMA, dated 24 May 2023.

¹²⁸ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.10.

¹²⁹ Parties' response to the Annotated Issues Statement (**AIS**) and Working Papers (**WP**) (**Parties' response to the AIS and WP**), 2 May 2023, paragraph 6.13.

¹³⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.13; and Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.9.

¹³¹ ORR, ORR Market Study, paragraph 7.13; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 6.13(b)-(c). ¹³² Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.8.2; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.9.

¹³³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.13(c).

¹³⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.13(d).

- 7.27 The Parties submitted that Network Rail's previous attempts to digitalise have failed. In the Parties' view, there was a material risk that Network Rail would 'reduce the workbank of digital projects for the TCSF still further in favour of conventional projects'.¹³⁵
- 7.28 The Parties submitted that, as set out in the ORR's Remedies Monitoring Report, Network Rail was considering the introduction of a second framework to give suppliers that were not successful in winning a place on the TCSF another opportunity to enter the GB mainline sector. The Parties submitted that, given Network Rail's budget was fixed, the introduction of a second framework would reduce the value of works that would be allocated under the first framework and thereby create further uncertainty.¹³⁶
- 7.29 Following the publication of Network Rail's strategic business plan for CP7,¹³⁷ Thales submitted that [≫].¹³⁸ Hitachi submitted that the Network Rail's strategic business plan for CP7 supports statements made in previous submissions from the Parties that a 'significant proportion of the procurement of digital projects will be <u>beyond</u> the timeframe of CP7 and CP8 within the TCSF, and may be more likely in CP9 and CP10 (ie, <u>from 2034 onwards</u>, well beyond any reasonable period of assessment)'.¹³⁹

Our assessment

- 7.30 As set out in paragraph 7.23, Network Rail's decision to appoint up to four suppliers was taken on the basis of the volume of work that would be available during CP7. Network Rail reiterated this point at the 10 March 2023 TCSF launch event and re-emphasised its commitment to deliver the digital works to the expected timing and volume of the workbank. Network Rail told suppliers that it had the 'strategic funding, stability and directional ability' to deliver the ETCS plan.¹⁴⁰
- 7.31 Network Rail told us that the digitalisation of the GB railway was on 'the big picture of priorities for DfT' and was identified explicitly in the Secretary of State's 2022 'Railways high level output specification'.¹⁴¹ Network Rail's commitment to digital technology was also set out in Network Rail's CP7 business plan, which noted that 'by committing to and supporting a long term

¹³⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.13(c); Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.7; and Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 2.8.

¹³⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 2.1(c).

¹³⁷ Network Rail, England & Wales Strategic Business Plan Control Period 7 (**Network Rail's business plan for CP7**), dated 19 March 2023, page 119.

¹³⁸ Thales' email to the CMA, dated 23 May 2023.

¹³⁹ Hitachi's email to the CMA, dated 24 May 2023.

¹⁴⁰ Network Rail Internal Document, 'TCSF Supplier Launch Event March – Q&A', page 3.

¹⁴¹ Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, pages 18-19.

plan to deploy ETCS, we can provide continuity to our supply chain, enabling our suppliers to invest in developing a digital skills pipeline improving capability in the UK workforce'.¹⁴² It also noted that 'replacing conventional signalling with digital signalling, is the most cost-efficient option in CP7 and beyond'.¹⁴³

- 7.32 Network Rail told us it would receive funding for between £800 million and £1 billion for CP7. While funding could not be confirmed for CP8, Network Rail told us that it could predict asset deterioration reliably and would 'within a relatively tight bandwidth' estimate the expenditure required to maintain the asset condition. Network Rail told us that it was 'confident' that it would receive funding from the government to meet its licence obligations.¹⁴⁴
- 7.33 In response to the challenge about previous shortfalls between expectations during procurement and eventual digital signalling spend, Network Rail noted that the lower spend was generally due to changes in prioritisation of projects, not reductions in funding.¹⁴⁵
- 7.34 To the concerns on whether digital works would be substituted for conventional signalling, Network Rail told us that, while this was not impossible, it was not 'likely' either, because the TCSF workbank commitments reflect the published level of funding available to Network Rail; and there was an overriding government commitment to digital signalling.¹⁴⁶ Network Rail's business plan for CP7 set out that '[w]ith around a third of the network likely to need some level of intervention in the next 12 years (another half in the ten years after that) the need to migrate to ETCS in CP7 is becoming even more critical'.¹⁴⁷ Based on the business plan, the volume of ETCS projects is expected to double in CP8 as compared to CP7.¹⁴⁸ The business plan also noted that, 'life extensions' for 'aging signalling assets' into CP8 may increase 'the risk to performance and safety [...] across the network as a larger proportion of assets reach the end of their design life, as well as create a larger bow wave of signalling renewals in the future'.¹⁴⁹ Given the importance of signalling performance and safety, we consider that it is very unlikely that Network Rail will be able to significantly delay replacing these signalling assets.

¹⁴² Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, page 11.

¹⁴³ Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, page 119.

¹⁴⁴ Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, pages 18-19; page 21; and page 22.

¹⁴⁵ Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, page 20.

¹⁴⁶ 'Railways Act 2005 statement: high level output specification 2022 – GOV.UK', last accessed on 6 June 2023, paragraph 34; and Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, pages 18-19.

¹⁴⁷ Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, page 119.

¹⁴⁸ Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, figure 10.7.

¹⁴⁹ Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, page 120.

- 7.35 We also note that ORR in its Market Study recommended that Network Rail should aim to build confidence by providing suppliers with a guaranteed pipeline of work and to make funding available for R&D.¹⁵⁰ In its Remedies Monitoring Report, ORR stated that while it remained the case that the proportion of the workbank that would be awarded by Network Rail was not contractually guaranteed, it was satisfied that Network Rail's proposed approach was a reasonable response to ORR's recommendation. In this light, ORR closed its monitoring of this recommendation.¹⁵¹
- 7.36 We note that Network Rail has made some changes to the design and scope of the TCSF since its initial presentation in July 2022, partly as a result of feedback from suppliers, and there has been a delay in starting the TCSF procurement.¹⁵² Network Rail has, however, as set out in paragraphs 7.19 to 7.22, has introduced several measures aimed at building confidence and reducing uncertainty, including by introducing a longer ten-year framework agreement and penalties for Network Rail if it fails to meet the committed workbank targets. We consider in the competitive assessment the extent to which any uncertainty may affect suppliers' incentives to bid for the TCSF (see 'Suppliers' incentives').
- 7.37 Regarding Hitachi's submission that a significant proportion of the procurement of digital projects will be in CP9 and CP10, this may not add significant uncertainty for the TCSF as the ongoing digitalisation of GB signalling was always intended to continue beyond the TCSF.
- 7.38 In relation to the likelihood and impact of a second framework, as raised by the Parties, remain very unclear at this time. Network Rail submitted that '[h]aving a second framework is always a possibility, but we cannot say now, today, whether that is something we will look to do or not it is something that is open to us to do in the future if necessary, if and when the circumstances exist to need it'.¹⁵³
- 7.39 ORR told us that it was not aware of any Network Rail plans to launch a second framework at this stage, and it did not believe there would be an intention to divert work from the existing framework (TCSF) to any second framework. ORR noted that it was unlikely that there would be more signalling projects and that a second framework does remains a possibility, and could

¹⁵⁰ ORR, ORR market study, pages 95-97.

¹⁵¹ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 3.47.

¹⁵² ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 2.10.

¹⁵³ Network Rail response to RFI dated 19 May 2023.

be triggered by significant changes to, for example, the competitive landscape or funding situation (probably in CP8).¹⁵⁴

- 7.40 Evidence from ORR and Network Rail does not suggest that the implementation of any second framework would mean a reduction in the TCSF workbank for digital mainline signalling.
- 7.41 We currently consider that the possibility that there might be an additional framework would not materially reduce the incentives for suppliers to bid for a place on the TCSF. Should an additional framework be implemented, incumbents in the GB market may be better placed to bid for it and, again, this would make bidding for the TCSF attractive for anyone wishing to enter the GB market.
- 7.42 Although the immediate context for our investigation is the TCSF, we consider that our analysis of the evidence in Chapter 8 and approach to assessing closeness of competition between the Parties (and other potential suppliers) is relevant and applies in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling more widely than the competition for the TCSF.¹⁵⁵ We note that the conditions of competition for any future tenders for digital mainline signalling systems may be affected by any incumbency advantages that the suppliers that win a place in the TCSF may develop.

Economic framework for competition assessment

- 7.43 Network Rail will select its framework suppliers through a formal competitive tender. In this section, we consider the nature of this competitive process and how that impacts on the economic principles underpinning our assessment. Our framework for the assessment considers the evidence in relation to the TCSF in some detail as it is a current and significant tender. For the reasons set out in paragraph 7.42, however, our approach to assessing closeness applies more widely than the competition for the TCSF.
- 7.44 With this context in mind, we first consider the tender structure and the rules of the bidding process. We then consider the framework by which to assess the closeness of competition in this bidding market taking into account the Parties' submissions.¹⁵⁶

¹⁵⁴ ORR, call note, 2 May 2023.

¹⁵⁵ We note that shares of supply and bidding analysis demonstrate that the conditions of competition in Europe and globally have been fairly consistent between 2012 and 2021, with four main suppliers accounting for the vast majority of digital mainline signalling projects.

¹⁵⁶ The Parties submitted an economic analysis of the competitive effects of the Merger prepared by the Parties' economic advisers. We refer to this analysis as the Parties' submissions. See Parties, Submission on competitive effects of the Merger on the TCSF, 4 April 2023 (Submission on Competitive Effects).

Tender structure

- 7.45 Network Rail submitted that the TCSF procurement process was a single stage sealed bid process.¹⁵⁷ Network Rail confirmed that bidders' identities would not be revealed to other bidders through the procurement process but Network Rail indicated that the identity of suppliers that have passed PQQ informally becomes public knowledge.¹⁵⁸ Network Rail noted that suppliers would not have the opportunity to change their final bids¹⁵⁹ but indicated that there would be rounds of clarification in which questions and answers would be generally shared with all suppliers, which would enable bidders to develop their approaches over a period of time before submitting final bids.¹⁶⁰
- 7.46 At the time of this report, the PQQ phase of the procurement has begun but the ITT criteria has not been finalised. The ITT stage is expected to start in July 2023. Based on the draft ITT criteria, Network Rail will evaluate suppliers on their technical and commercial offerings, with a weighting of 70% and 30% respectively for each criterion (see 'Parameters of competition' for more detail).
- 7.47 As set out in paragraph 7.20, Network Rail will award 55% of the digital mainline projects directly to the four framework suppliers, with higher placed suppliers receiving a greater volume of work. The remaining 45% would be subject to further competition between the framework suppliers, and these competitions would likely take place in the latter part of the framework once new entrants have developed their products and capabilities.¹⁶¹

Our assessment

7.48 Predictions about the effect of a merger on suppliers' optimal bidding behaviour differ depending on the structure of the auction. The above evidence indicates other bidders may be able to identify which of their competitors may bid for the ITT stage of the TCSF tender based on their market intelligence. However, the structure of the tender means that they are unlikely to know the nature of competitors' bids and will have to form expectations of how others have bid. Suppliers face the threat of elimination at the PQQ/ITT stage and in competing for different slots. The 'best' (up to four) bids will win and the bidders that win a place in the TCSF must deliver

¹⁵⁷ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 4.

¹⁵⁸ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 5(a). ORR submitted after Network Rail provides supplier feedback on PQQ submissions, the outcomes of the PQQ stage tends to informally become public knowledge. See ORR response to RFI dated 23 May 2023. (ORR RFI response dated 23 May 2023).

¹⁵⁹ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 5(d).

¹⁶⁰ Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, pages 11-12.

¹⁶¹ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 3(c).

based on the cost and other terms submitted at ITT. In auctions of this type, all credible competitors may be important in exercising a competitive constraint (and the extent of their importance depends on their relative strength and the number of other strong competitors).

- 7.49 The Parties make a similar point in their submission that 'in any auction/tender, having more credible bidders would generally equate to more competitive bids (and better outcomes for the auctioneer)'; and 'conversely, having fewer credible bidders would equate to less competitive bids (and worse outcomes)'.¹⁶² However, the Parties contended that it was wrong to focus solely on the number of bidders and instead highlighted the importance of closeness (or lack thereof) between the Parties and the potential for the Merged Entity to compete more strongly with the incumbent suppliers as a result of the Merger.
- 7.50 For the reasons explained above and in the context of there being only a few players likely to contest the TCSF, we currently consider that the number of credible competitors is likely to influence the degree of competition to some extent. We agree with the Parties that closeness is important in understanding the likely extent of the impact of the Merger on competition for the TCSF and we will conduct our own assessment of closeness between the Parties and other suppliers in the competitive assessment. We evaluate the potential for the Merger to lead to efficiencies in the Chapter 11.
- 7.51 When discussing how to model the potential for increased rivalry for higher placed slots as a result of the Merger, the Parties made a further submission about the nature of the TCSF and its implications for the relevant economic framework. They submitted that '[m]ost standard economic models assume common knowledge of the economic environment, such as the auction/tender rules and the probability distribution over the capabilities of rival bidders. In such models, bidders are assumed to have correct beliefs on average'. They highlighted some potential differences of the TCSF to this scenario, specifically that 'the TCSF was a new framework for the introduction of new technology' and that there would be 'no prospect of learning from repeated bidding, that could justify use of a framework in which bidders were assumed to know one another's costs and bidding functions'. The Parties submitted that 'in such circumstances, neck-and-neck competition' between suppliers would be a 'realistic possibility' and would drive bids down to 'highly competitive levels'.163

¹⁶² Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.49.

¹⁶³ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.57.

We agree with the Parties that the TCSF has some differences from previous 7.52 tender processes run by Network Rail and is intended to induce entry by new suppliers. As discussed above, however, we also consider that suppliers are likely to have a common understanding of the relevant tender rules and that they would likely have considerable information about each other's technical capabilities and historic bidding behaviour, including from a small number of digital tenders in GB (see paragraph 8.160) as well as a larger number of digital tenders in Europe. In addition, while they may lack detailed information on other suppliers' costs of supplying the TCSF, the evidence set out in our competitive assessment suggests that suppliers have a good understanding of the investment and homologation costs required to enter the GB market.¹⁶⁴ As such, we currently consider that suppliers will be in a position to form realistic expectations of other suppliers' bids and that this will inform their own bidding strategies. In this regard, in our view the TCSF is unlikely to meet the specific criteria put forward by the Parties for 'neck-and-neck' competition.

Framework for assessing the impact of the Merger on competition for places on the TCSF

- 7.53 We have also considered whether the fact that there are four places available on the TCSF, of varying size, has an impact on the nature of competition and the framework discussed above.
- 7.54 In principle, the varying slot size should preserve the incentives of suppliers to compete vigorously, ie bidders would have an incentive to try to win the highest slot possible. We acknowledge, however, that there is likely to be some differentiation between suppliers, and that the constraint that each supplier places on each of the others will likely vary depending on suppliers' respective capabilities and strengths and how other bidders perceive those strengths. In practice, there may be limitations to the size of slot that bidders target, either because:
 - (a) they form an expectation that they are not sufficiently likely to win a higher slot to make it worthwhile to make a competitive bid for that slot. If they judge their competitors' bids are likely to be significantly stronger than even their most competitive bid, they may be better off making a less competitive (more profitable) bid to target a smaller slot; or
 - (b) they do not want to win a higher slot because of capacity constraints.

¹⁶⁴ See *Access to technology* section. Suppliers estimated the average cost of homologation was around £14.6 million.

- 7.55 In this case, given Network Rail's evaluation criteria (as set out in paragraphs 7.82 to 7.95), bidders would likely have to form expectations about other bidders' technical and commercial offerings. As discussed above, suppliers would likely have some (albeit not perfect) information about other bidders' cost and bid functions for the competition for a place on the TCSF. Suppliers could flex their submissions on either the technical or price parameters when bidding depending on the degree of competitive constraint they will (or anticipate they will) face from other bidders. In our competitive assessment, therefore, we seek to analyse the closeness of competition between the Parties and the other suppliers likely to compete for the TCSF based on these parameters (see 'Parameters of competition' for more detail).
- 7.56 The Parties' submissions on the framework for assessing the effects of the Merger on competition also focused on the closeness of competition between the Parties and other suppliers. However, there are three areas of divergence with our approach.
- 7.57 First, the Parties focus on the places within the TCSF which suppliers may target and present their views on which suppliers are likely to be strong competitors for which slots. For example, they consider that some suppliers are more likely to target first and second place; and others are likely to target third and fourth place. The Parties submitted that the closeness between the Parties would be determined by the difference in bidder strengths for these competitions.¹⁶⁵ The Parties further submitted that if the CMA's phase 1 approach was correct and that the Parties were likely to target third and fourth place, the potential anti-competitive effect resulting from the Merger would be determined by:¹⁶⁶
 - (a) the smaller the difference in bidding strength between the third and fourth placed bidders (ie the closer the competition for third place), the closer competitors the Parties will be for the TCSF;
 - (b) the larger the difference between the second and third strongest bidders (ie the less likely the third strongest bidder would attempt to target second place), the closer competitors the Parties will be (assuming they are targeting third and fourth places); and
 - *(c)* the larger the difference between the fourth strongest bidder and the fifth strongest (ie the first unsuccessful) bidder (ie the lower the competition for

¹⁶⁵ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.32.

¹⁶⁶ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraphs 3.30 and 3.32.

fourth place), the closer competitors the Parties will be and the less likely other competitors will pose a constraint on the Parties.¹⁶⁷

- 7.58 As noted above, we agree with the Parties that closeness matters for competition in the auction framework described above and that some suppliers may not target first place but may target a lower slot (or slots) based on their perception of their likely prospects of winning, and the likely profitability of winning these different slots. We have taken this into account in our competitive assessment; however, we have assessed closeness in the round based on all the evidence available to us, rather than focusing our assessment on competition for particular slots on the TCSF, which seems to us both difficult to predict and neither necessary nor essential in determining whether the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC.
- 7.59 Second, while the Parties acknowledge that a supplier's 'bidding strength' in the TCSF will depend on its ability to score well on cost, delivery and technical aspects,¹⁶⁸ the closeness assessment conducted by the Parties focuses mainly on profitability which relates only to the first of these criteria. The Parties submitted that profitability was a function of the supplier's (i) 'need for upfront investment to qualify the ETCS technology'; and (ii) 'the timing and value of projects (ie, revenue generation)'.¹⁶⁹ Based on this profitability metric, the Parties categorised potential suppliers into three groups:
 - (a) Group one: Suppliers with approved conventional and digital products, or suppliers that would, with a relatively small incremental investment, be able to develop ETCS technology qualified for the UK. According to the Parties, Siemens, Alstom, Atkins¹⁷⁰ and Hitachi belonged in this group.
 - (b) Group two: Suppliers with no conventional or digital signalling products approved in the UK. These suppliers were at a 'significant cost disadvantage' compared to the suppliers identified above. Thales and other European OEMs such as CAF, Stadler and Indra belonged to this group.
 - (c) **Group three:** Integrators (in particular Amey, Linbrooke and VolkerRail) were likely to be in 'an intermediate position between these two groups.'

¹⁶⁷ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.32.

¹⁶⁸ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.31.

¹⁶⁹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.37.

¹⁷⁰ In the Parties' Submission on Competitive Effects, the Parties group Atkins with the other integrators in group three but note that 'Atkins is in a unique position as it has a licence to an UK-approved conventional interlocking that is also compatible with ETCS applications.' Because the Parties consider Atkins' access to technology to be more like that of those in group one than that of the other integrators in group three, we have interpreted the Parties submission as they consider Atkins as being a group one supplier, ie competing for the higher valued slots. See Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.42.

Integrators lacked the signalling technology but had 'significant delivery capabilities in certain local areas', 'local capabilities and manpower', and 'familiarity with managing Network Rail's signalling projects and stakeholders'. The Parties argued that integrators 'would be able to procure signalling technology' without any investment in product approval (through licensing or partnership with OEMs) and would therefore be able to 'compete aggressively for the TCSF'.¹⁷¹

- 7.60 The Parties submitted that Hitachi and Thales would be in different groups (one and two respectively) and their closest competitors would be other suppliers in their own group, not each other. [≫].¹⁷²
- 7.61 Our view is that, while investment costs may play a role in suppliers' determination of the commercial aspects of their bid (in particular, as they are one element in determining the expected returns and therefore the attractiveness of bidding for the project), this is unlikely to be the sole determinant of their positioning on the commercial aspect, which will also be influenced by the extent of the competition they expect to face on this, and other aspects of the tender criteria. We also note that, in the ITT as currently drafted, the commercial aspects of potential suppliers' bids only account for 30% of their final score. We therefore consider that it is important to assess closeness between potential suppliers based on their strengths against the various parameters of competition in the round, as we have done in our competitive assessment.
- 7.62 Third, the Parties note that that even a small increase in the likelihood of the Merged Entity being able to offer stronger competition to the incumbent suppliers would outweigh any negative effects on competition due to the loss in rivalry between them. They submitted that the structure of the TCSF would enhance this effect since 'the TCSF guarantees more work for higher-placed bidders, so increased rivalry for larger slots is worth more (in terms of its procompetitive effects) than any hypothesised reduced rivalry for smaller slots'.¹⁷³
- 7.63 In relation to the Parties' argument that the greater value of the higher slots makes a given increase in rivalry for those slots more valuable than the same decrease in rivalry for a lower slot, we note that this relies on the Merger leading to competition enhancing effects. As set out in Chapter 11, the Parties have not provided evidence of significant competition enhancing effects. Even if it were the case that there was an increase in rivalry for higher slots, there is

¹⁷¹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraphs 3.38-3.39, and 3.42.

¹⁷² Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.43.

¹⁷³ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraphs 3.56 and 3.63.

no reason to assume this would result in a net benefit for competition; we would need to assess the extent to which the increase in rivalry for higher slots more than outweigh the loss of rivalry for lower slots.

Framework for assessing the impact of the Merger on mini-competitions

- 7.64 We have also assessed the potential for the Merger to affect competition for the TCSF mini-competitions and consider it could do this in two ways. First, if the Merger results in three rather than four suppliers being appointed to the TCSF, the Merger would reduce the number of potential competitors in subsequent mini-competitions by one.
- 7.65 Second, even if the Merger results in four suppliers being appointed, as discussed in the competitive assessment, bidders for the TCSF are likely to pose varying constraints on the Parties. While the guaranteed workbank would enable less strong suppliers to build capacity and experience in GB, they could still potentially be at a competitive disadvantage when competing for mini-competitions due to starting from a substantially weaker position than their competitors.
- 7.66 The Parties submitted that, for an SLC to arise with respect to minicompetitions, the supplier that would replace the weaker Party as a result of Merger would exercise a weaker constraint on competition than the weaker Party in the counterfactual scenario.¹⁷⁴ The Parties also noted that Network Rail's intention was for all qualified suppliers in the TCSF to be 'considered on an equal level in mini-competitions, ie, their initial ranking in the bidding would not matter in the subsequent award of projects via mini-competitions. Consequently, a change to the identity of one supplier should make no difference' as the new fourth supplier would be capable of winning minicompetitions.¹⁷⁵
- 7.67 As we set out above, we consider that the Merger may affect minicompetitions if it results in fewer than four suppliers being appointed, or if it results in a less strong supplier being appointed as part of the four designated TCSF suppliers.
- 7.68 As noted above the competition for the TCSF will determine the competitor set for the mini-competitions and the terms offered for the whole framework. To the extent that the conditions of competition vary for the mini-competitions, we will consider this as part of our competitive assessment.

¹⁷⁴ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 4.4(c).

¹⁷⁵ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 4.8(b).

Provisional view on the appropriate economic framework

- 7.69 Network Rail's objectives in expanding the number of suppliers for digital works are threefold: to address the capacity constraints in the market (given the expected digital mainline signalling workload, especially in CP8); to reduce its reliance on Siemens and Alstom; and to reduce the cost of signalling. The transition to digital railways provides that opportunity, as it facilitates entry of suppliers that would previously not have been able to enter GB.
- 7.70 While there is some uncertainty around precise details of the design and scope of the TCSF (see paragraphs 7.24 to 7.42), there is more clarity on how competition will take place (see paragraphs 7.43 to 7.45. Competition for the supply of mainline signalling projects procured by Network Rail will be manifested directly through the competitive tender for the TCSF. It will not only determine the award of significant volume and value of digital projects through the award of the initial workbank, but it will also determine which suppliers will be able to compete for the remaining (ie those not directly awarded) digital projects that will be procured by Network Rail by minicompetition for ten years from 2024.¹⁷⁶
- 7.71 Other bidders may be able to identify which of their competitors may bid for the ITT stage of a tender based on their market intelligence. However, the structure of the tender means that they are unlikely to know nature of competitors' bids and will have to form expectations of how others have bid. Suppliers would also face elimination and the 'best' (up to four) bids will win. This being the case, we believe that all credible competitors (not just the closest competitors) are likely to play a role in adding to the competitive constraint, and hence the more credible competitors there are in the market the stronger competition for the TCSF is likely to be. In the competitive assessment therefore, we will consider evidence on the closeness of competition between the Parties and their competitors currently and in the future.
- 7.72 Linked directly to the outcomes of competition for the TCSF is the impact of the Merger on the structure of the market for digital signalling projects in the long run. The argument that the Merger will result in a third player with a stronger ability to compete with Siemens and Alstom has to be considered alongside consideration of the potential for the Merger to dampen the Merged

¹⁷⁶ As noted in paragraph 7.28, the Parties have submitted that Network Rail was considering the introduction of a second framework to give suppliers that were not successful in winning a place on the TCSF another opportunity to enter the GB mainline sector. As noted in paragraph 7.37, the details of any such framework are very unclear.

Entity's incentives to compete due to the loss of a close competitive constraint. In the competitive assessment we will therefore make a dynamic assessment of competition that looks at the current and potential strengths and capabilities of the suppliers competing for the TCSF.

Parameters of competition

- 7.73 This section considers the parameters of competition on which suppliers will compete to supply digital mainline signalling systems to Network Rail. Given the importance of the TCSF for competition in mainline signalling in GB in the coming years, we have focused on the key factors that will determine how the Parties will compete with each other and their competitors for the TCSF tender.
- 7.74 We have considered the Parties' views on what they consider to be the most relevant capabilities required to compete for digital mainline signalling projects in GB. We have also considered which factors are relevant for Network Rail's assessment of suppliers' strength in the TCSF and sought information from competitors on the relevant parameters of competition in this market.
- 7.75 As mentioned above in paragraph 3.10, our investigation considers whether the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC in relation to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects in GB. Our assessment does not aim to assess the strength of each supplier against each of Network Rail's TCSF PQQ and ITT criteria, although we have drawn on what Network Rail has said about the assessment framework for the TCSF to inform our views on the relevant parameters of competition in this market.

Parties' views

- 7.76 The Parties submitted that new entrants would need to demonstrate:
 - (a) ETCS capabilities, with solutions deployed in other European countries;
 - (b) A digital interlocking adapted to UK specification; and
 - (c) Local resources and capabilities.¹⁷⁷
- 7.77 The Parties told us that UK customers would consider suppliers' global references (consistent with the PQQ criteria). In the Parties' view, non-UK

¹⁷⁷ Parties' response to the Issue Letter, 23 November 2022, paragraph 2.9.

digital mainline signalling experience (and implicitly references from global customers) matters.¹⁷⁸

- 7.78 The Parties also submitted that the tender process for mainline signalling projects typically includes an assessment of the financial credentials and risk profile of potential bidders.¹⁷⁹
- 7.79 The Parties submitted that a supplier's 'bidding strength' was determined by the supplier's ability to score well on Network Rail's criteria, which included commercial ('cost'), delivery (including project behaviour) and technical aspects.¹⁸⁰ As explained above, the Parties' analysis focused primarily on the commercial offerings of suppliers and how those would affect Parties' incentives to bid and the competitiveness of any bids they submit.

Network Rail's views

- 7.80 We asked Network Rail to identify the factors that it considered were most important when deciding which supplier to appoint onto the TCSF for digital works. Network Rail submitted that it would set out in its PQQ and ITT evaluation criteria the factors that it considers the most important when selecting suppliers.¹⁸¹ The relevant weighting given to each question indicates the level of importance that Network Rail places on each factor, aligned to the objectives of the TCSF procurement.¹⁸²
- 7.81 Network Rail noted further that it was not able to comment on any alternative factors outside the questions and evaluation criteria set out for the TCSF.¹⁸³ We consider the PQQ and ITT evaluation criteria in more detail below.

PQQ evaluation criteria

7.82 The TCSF tender involves two phases: PQQ and ITT. At the PQQ phase, Network Rail will evaluate bidders' financial standing and other general information on a 'pass/fail' basis, and score suppliers' technical capabilities against a set of weighted criteria.¹⁸⁴ Table 2 below summarises the technical criteria and the corresponding weights that Network Rail attaches to them at PQQ.

¹⁷⁸ FMN, 13 October 2023, Section 17, paragraph 21.4.1.

¹⁷⁹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 15.33.2.

¹⁸⁰ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.31.

¹⁸¹ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 10.

¹⁸² Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 10.

¹⁸³ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 10.

¹⁸⁴ At PQQ stage, Network Rail required bidders to provide financial information on various financial ratios, including measures of liquidity, solvency, and balance sheet resilience. See Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, 'TCSF29248 – Criteria & Scoring Lot 2', page 5.

Table 2: TCSF tender criteria, PQQ technical envelope

Criterion	Description	Weight (%)
Project delivery	Delivery into Operation on a Live Railway Environment. Bidders need to describe their ability to have delivered mainline signalling projects similar to those anticipated to be delivered under the TCSF, providing detail on (i) responsibility for design, build and maintenance and organisational structure, (ii) measures taken to mitigate safety, performance and integration risks, and (iii) how interfaces were managed across different parties (20%).	38
	Design Management. With reference to previous clients' business requirements (eg capacity and headway), bidders need to describe the methodology they applied to develop a detailed design for mainline signalling projects (10%)	
	Successful integration. Bidders need to showcase their ability to integrate with existing legacy systems as well as integrating both the trackside and trainborne elements of ETCS (10%), referring to mainline signalling projects they previously delivered similar to those anticipated to be delivered under the TCSF.	
Product development	Bidders need to provide up to three examples of developing signal control products (incl. interlockings) to meet national requirements. The examples must include the development methodology applied.	14.25
Collaboration	Bidders need to submit at least 3 examples of collaborative culture, describing the key lessons they learnt in relation to eg risk mitigation.	14.25
Capability development	Bidders need to comment on their supply chain management and ability to allocate resources, demonstrating for example how in each case they successfully maintained their ability to meet the requirements throughout the project.	9.5
Maintainability and obsolescence	Bidders need to explain their capability, experience, understanding of issues and systems to support equipment post commissioning.	9.5
Health & Safety	Health Safety and Familiarisation. Bidders need to set out their training and risk management planning (5%).	9.5
	Health Safety and Continuous Improvement. Bidders need to identify the top three re-occurring Health & Safety risks they identified in the framework of previous projects of a similar nature and scale to those anticipated to be delivered under the TCSF (5%).	
Sustainability	Bidders must confirm they have a valid, certified ISO 14001 environment management system that covers the range of services required by the contract. If not, they must demonstrate that the organisation is aligned to the principles of ISO 14001. Bidders must also provide copies of their current social value strategy and any relevant associated policies.	5
Total		100

Source: Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, 'TCSF29248 - Criteria & Scoring Lot 2', page 5

- 7.83 In addition, there are some pass/fail criteria at the PQQ stage, for example, suppliers that do not meet Network Rail's financial stress tests will not pass the PQQ stage.¹⁸⁵
- 7.84 Network Rail told us that at the PQQ stage it assessed suppliers' experience in delivering similar scale activity and whether they have the technological capability and maturity to deliver digital mainline signalling projects.¹⁸⁶ Network Rail told us that 'if a supplier has been able to demonstrate they [...] can successfully [...] deliver in, say, Holland or France or Germany, that is a good indicator that they will be able to do the same in the UK'.¹⁸⁷ Network Rail

¹⁸⁵ Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, 'TCSF29248 – Criteria & Scoring Lot 2', page 5.

¹⁸⁶ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 25.

¹⁸⁷ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 22.

clarified that the process to carry out the national adaptations for digital mainline signalling was fundamentally the same as in other nations¹⁸⁸ because the mainline signalling product has to meet: (i) a common core of standard specifications; and (ii) national specific requirements which are similar in each country.¹⁸⁹

- 7.85 The PQQ instructions state that respondents must provide at least one case study of a previous project they have successfully delivered (the example does not need to be in GB). Some of the PQQ questions requested up to three case studies, which would allow respondents to provide the requested information across multiple case studies. Respondents would not score more points for providing three different case studies.¹⁹⁰
- 7.86 Based on the above evidence on the PQQ criteria, a supplier's management and delivery experience, financial credentials and technological capabilities are important factors influencing how Network Rail will assess and ultimately appoint framework suppliers.

ITT evaluation criteria

- 7.87 At the ITT stage, Network Rail will evaluate bidders on their commercial and technical capabilities, attaching weights of 30% and 70% respectively. As described later in paragraph 7.94. Network Rail also includes a commercial element in its technical envelope which relates to Network Rail's T190 target, although this focuses on methodologies to reduce costs in the long run and can be seen as an indirect pricing criterion.
- 7.88 For the commercial component, bidders will be required to submit pricing information on: (i) overheads and profits (as a percentage) for varying types of works and categories of costs; (ii) rates for staff, labour and various plant item costs; and (iii) composite rates for varying common work activities.¹⁹¹ Network Rail collects a range of price and cost information, and awards an aggregated score out of 30 for each supplier. At a high-level, suppliers that submit the lowest price/cost bids will receive the highest score for the commercial envelope.¹⁹²

¹⁸⁸ Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, page 11.

¹⁸⁹ Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, page 11.

¹⁹⁰ Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, TCSF PQQ (Lot 2) Questions 6.3.1 Delivery into Operation on a Live Railway Environment; see 'notes to the candidates' at the top of each PQQ question. ¹⁹¹ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 5(c).

¹⁹² For each component of the submitted price information, which may include several hundred components, suppliers would be scored relative to the lowest submitted price/cost. For example, the price information that respondents to ITT will submit will include the rate for the project manager work: if supplier A bids £10/hour and supplier B bids £15/hour, Network Rail would use the lowest bid (in this case, supplier A) as the base to score the

7.89 For the technical component, Network Rail will assess suppliers against six categories, which require the suppliers to set out their plans and capabilities to deliver digital mainline signalling projects in the future.¹⁹³ Table 3 below summarises the technical criteria and the corresponding weight Network Rail will attach to each criterion.¹⁹⁴

Table 3: Provisional TCSF tender criteria	, technical envelope (ITT phase)
---	----------------------------------

Criterion	Description	Weight (%)
Approach to Phase 2 delivery	Bidders need to show (i) how they expect to achieve open interfaces (7.5%), (ii) their plan for workforce deployment (5%), (iii) their cyber security processes (2.5%), and (iv) their management of Reliability, Availability, Maintainability and Safety (2.5%).	17.5
Behavioural	Contains three equally scored elements of (i) bidders' approach to collaboration within the framework, (ii) interviews with project teams, and (iii) interviews with corporate teams.	15
Commercial	Bidders need to set out how they intend innovate to achieve the $\pounds190k$ per ETCS SEU requirement, namely the T190 target.	10
Health and safety	Bidders need to set out their approach to ensure physical safety (5%) and wellbeing of their staff (5%).	10
Social value	Bidders need to explain their approach to address (i) inequalities and rail risks (unauthorised access, noise, and air pollution) (5%), and (ii) environmental sustainability (5%).	10
Product development	Bidders need to show how they will secure approval for their ETCS products on the GB rail network (including current status and expected timeline).	7.5
Total		70*

Source: Network Rail response to RFI dated 13 January 2023, 'TCSF 29248 - ITT Technical Questions Lot 2'. * The remaining 30% of the ITT evaluation criteria is attributed to the commercial envelope as discussed in paragraph 7.87.

- 7.90 The 'product development' criterion will assess suppliers' ability to show how they will secure approval for their ETCS products on the GB rail network. Network Rail told us '[w]here a supplier has a product for a country where the signalling principles and project delivery methodology/processes are similar to the UK, then generally that supplier will find it easier to adapt to the UK market'.¹⁹⁵
- 7.91 For the 'Approach to phase 2 delivery' and 'Behavioural' criteria, Network Rail will evaluate, among other things, suppliers' approach to collaboration (with Network Rail and other suppliers) and their ability to provide open interfacing. Suppliers' bids in relation to these criteria may be aided by previous experiences, either with Network Rail or other infrastructure managers that had similar requirements.

other bidders (score for the other supplier = variance/base). In this example, supplier A would receive 100 marks; and supplier B would receive 50 marks ($\Delta \pm 5/\pm 10 \times 100$). See Network Rail call transcript, 24 January 2023, pages 2-14.

¹⁹³ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 25.

¹⁹⁴ Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, 'TCSF 29248 – ITT Technical Questions Lot 2'.

¹⁹⁵ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 14.

- 7.92 Network Rail will evaluate suppliers' abilities to establish a local workforce as a sub-criterion within the 'Approach to phase 2 delivery' criterion. This subcriterion is weighted at 5% of the total ITT evaluation score.¹⁹⁶ Network Rail expects bidders to explain how they aim to identify the resource requirements for the TCSF work and how they intend to build, deploy, and maintain these resources throughout the duration of the framework. Network Rail submitted that it was not expecting all bidders for the TCSF to have UK experience without partnering with other suppliers, and therefore partnerships/consortia would be welcomed by Network Rail.¹⁹⁷
- 7.93 Suppliers will be assessed against their approach to relevant health and safety legislation and social values required to deliver mainline signalling projects in GB.
- 7.94 Under the LTDP, Network Rail was set a target to reduce the price per SEU from £415k to £190k by 2029 (the 'T190 target'). Network Rail has assigned 10% of the total technical score on a supplier's ability to deliver this target. Network Rail expects bidders to submit action plans setting out innovations and efficiencies they intend to introduce to meet this target.¹⁹⁸
- 7.95 Based on the above evidence, important factors to be assessed by Network Rail at the ITT stage in the appointment of framework suppliers are: experience in delivering digital mainline projects; experience in adapting technologies to Network Rail's requirements; ability to access a local workforce; and ability to innovate and drive cost efficiencies.

Competitor views

- 7.96 We asked integrators and OEMs to outline the most important competitive factors in the bidding process for Network Rail's TCSF.
- 7.97 All five integrators that responded in full to our questionnaire identified access to technology (either having an approved product in the UK or having the ability to develop and obtain an approved product in the UK) as a key competitive factor.¹⁹⁹ OEM respondents also indicated the importance of technology as a parameter of competition.²⁰⁰ Suppliers have submitted that

¹⁹⁶ Network Rail response to RFI dated 4 January 2023, 'TCSF PQQ & ITT Questions & weighting – Digital Lot.pdf,' pages 1 and 12.

¹⁹⁷ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 22.

¹⁹⁸ 'Digital Railway Long-Term Deployment Plan Technical Report Executive Summary', page 4, last accessed on 7 June 2023.

¹⁹⁹ Amey questionnaire response, Q7; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q7; Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q7; VolkerRail questionnaire response, Q7; and Atkins questionnaire response, Q 7.

²⁰⁰ Siemens questionnaire response, Q10; Stadler questionnaire response, Q10; and Resonate questionnaire response, Q10.

interlockings and ETCS ATP wayside technologies are the most important components of the signalling systems and that, given the standardisation of ETCS wayside, the degree of differentiation is likely to be most significant between suppliers' interlockings.²⁰¹

- 7.98 OEMs identified a number of factors that relate to the suppliers' experience in undertaking mainline signalling projects, which we have categorised together as 'management experience'. These factors' cover a broad range of a supplier's offering, including but not limited to the ability to:²⁰²
 - (a) Demonstrate a good safety record.²⁰³
 - *(b)* Cooperate with Network Rail's project team or with other suppliers during project execution.^{204,205}
 - *(c)* Homologate products and demonstrate success in the company's technology.²⁰⁶
- 7.99 Both OEMs and integrators submitted that the bidders' capacity and UK presence were important and highlighted that the suppliers' need to have manpower, scale economies and logistic facilities to be able to deliver the equipment.²⁰⁷ Integrators specified that, as far as capacity is concerned, having a workforce with experience of working in the UK is likely to matter in the TCSF tender. For example:
 - *(a)* Atkins told us that suppliers without a UK presence were likely to face difficulties in delivering the mainline signalling work because they would lack familiarity with Network Rail's processes and requirements. Atkins told us that it was 'point of contact for the Network Rail team' when it had partnered with OEMs that had little experience working in the UK;²⁰⁸
 - (b) Another integrator, Linbrooke, told us it was planning to use its UK presence in its bidding strategy to differentiate itself from suppliers without UK presence.²⁰⁹

²⁰¹ We will set out the evidence in more detail in the competition assessment.

²⁰² Siemens questionnaire response, Q 12; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 12; and Indra questionnaire response, Q 12.

²⁰³ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 8.

²⁰⁴ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 8.

²⁰⁵ Indra call transcript, 27 January 2023, page 27.

²⁰⁶ Stadler questionnaire response, Q 8.

²⁰⁷ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 12; CAF questionnaire response, Q 12; Indra questionnaire response, Q 12; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 12; Resonate questionnaire response, Q 12; Atkins questionnaire response, Q 12; and Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q 12.

²⁰⁸ Atkins call transcript, 2 February 2023, page 15.

²⁰⁹ Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q 7.

- 7.100 Five suppliers identified either price or the ability to drive cost efficiencies (or both) as competitive factors for the TCSF.²¹⁰ CAF submitted that delivering the T190 target will be a 'differentiating factor between suppliers'.²¹¹ Amey, an integrator, indicated that one of the key competitive factors in the TCSF tender will be 'bringing the price point down to £190k / SEU.²¹²
- 7.101 Three OEMs submitted that a supplier with financial standing and scale would have an advantage.²¹³ In particular, Siemens submitted that, for larger projects, a supplier with financial standing and scale may be better able to assume the high levels of project risk within NR's standard suite of contracts. Linked to financial strengths, one OEM submitted that a supplier that could demonstrate a significant and continued interest in the UK through its investment in technology, processes, digitalisation, training, and upskilling of UK staff to meet the future digital signalling requirements and objectives would have a competitive advantage.²¹⁴
- 7.102 Another OEM referred to Network Rail's ITT criteria in the TCSF as the relevant competitive factors. This OEM submitted that differentiation will result from a bidder's ability to address Network Rail's needs in each area of evaluation: [≫].²¹⁵
- 7.103 Based on the above evidence, competitors considered that the following factors are the most important when bidding for the TCSF: (i) access to and/or development of digital mainline signalling technology; (ii) management experience and expertise; (iii) experience in GB mainline signalling; (iv) financial standing and scale; (v) price; and (vi) innovation to meet to the T190 target.

Our assessment

7.104 There is a considerable degree of alignment across the industry – the Parties, Network Rail and competitors – regarding the factors that will determine the outcome of the TCSF process, and so the wider competitive conditions. This is in part due to Network Rail setting out clear decision-making criteria in the lead up to the TCSF. The evidence at this stage indicated that competition for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB, including the

²¹⁰ Amey questionnaire response, Q7; Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q7; Alstom questionnaire response, Q7; Siemens questionnaire response, Q7; and CAF questionnaire response, Q7.

²¹¹ CAF questionnaire response, Q7.

²¹² Amey questionnaire response, Q7.

²¹³ Siemens questionnaire response, Q15; Indra questionnaire response, Q15; Stadler questionnaire response, Q15.

²¹⁴ Siemens questionnaire response, Q8.

²¹⁵ [%].

- 7.105 competition for Lot 2 of the TCSF, will likely take place across several aspects of suppliers' offerings:
 - (a) Access to technology: suppliers will compete based on their technological capabilities and the ease with which they can homologate to GB standards. Suppliers that demonstrate their plans to achieve open interfaces will receive higher scores in the TCSF evaluation.
 - (b) Management experience and expertise: suppliers will compete on the basis of their experience and expertise in undertaking digital signalling projects, either in GB or in Europe. This parameter is likely to cover several dimensions including but not limited to experience in homologation of digital technology and successfully delivering digital mainline projects to the required standard and needs of the customer.
 - (c) **Experience in GB mainline signalling:** suppliers will compete on their ability to deliver the digital mainline signalling workload specified in the TCSF, which requires both workforce available to work on digital mainline signalling projects in GB and production capabilities to deliver the volume of signalling infrastructure under the TCSF. Experience of working with and understanding the processes of Network Rail is likely to confer some competitive advantage.
 - (*d*) **Innovation:** Network Rail's T190 target will require significant savings in costs from the current level of expenditure. Suppliers will compete on their ability to drive down costs and introduce innovations and efficiencies over time to meet Network Rail's cost target.
 - (e) **Financial standing and size:** Network Rail has in place minimum financial standing requirements for participation in the TCSF to ensure that prospective suppliers can perform the contract and handle the associated commercial and financial risks.
 - *(f)* **Price:** suppliers will compete on price during the competition for the TCSF, as it comprises 30% of the overall ITT score.
- 7.106 In our competition assessment, we considered how closely the Parties compete with each other and their competitors against these parameters.

Approach to the competition assessment

Approach to evidence and the focus of our assessment

- 7.107 As explained in the market definition section below, we are considering the effects of the Merger on the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.
- 7.108 We are taking particular account of Network Rail's ongoing tender for the TCSF.²¹⁶ This tender is very significant for competition in mainline signalling in GB because it will both determine which suppliers are eligible to deliver the major digital mainline projects for around ten years in GB and potentially give suppliers for the TCSF an incumbency advantage when bidding for digital mainline tenders after CP7 and CP8.
- 7.109 In relation to our approach to the assessment of the evidence, we note the following:
 - (a) Tender and share of supply analysis. Since the previous tenders for mainline signalling systems have been for conventional signalling systems, there have been a limited number of tenders for digital mainline signalling systems in GB to date.²¹⁷ As such we have analysed the evidence from past competitive interactions for digital mainline signalling systems in Europe where deployment of digital signalling systems is more extensive, such as bidding data, shares, and references. We consider that this evidence provides insight into suppliers' technical experience and expertise in digital mainline signalling and in homologating to different national standards and would likely provide more insight with respect to current and future competitive conditions than relying solely on GB evidence. We have also assessed the participation of the Parties and their competitors in past digital mainline signalling tenders as a factor in our analysis of the Parties' and other suppliers' experience in the supply of digital mainline signalling in GB.
 - (b) Parties' submissions, third-party evidence and internal documents. We have taken this evidence into account both in our assessment of the incentives of the Parties to bid for digital mainline signalling projects in CP7 and CP8 and in our assessment of the closeness of competition between the Parties and the competitive constraints from other suppliers

²¹⁶ We did not focus our assessment on the effects of the Merger in Northern Ireland, for the reasons explained in the geographic market definition section. See paragraphs 8.40 to 8.43 in relation to our assessment of the effects of the Merger in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems to other customers in GB (Nexus and HS2). ²¹⁷ See paragraph 8.27 and 8.31 about the differences in operational and technical requirements for mainline signalling systems between GB and Northern Ireland.

against the relevant parameters of competition. In assessing this evidence, we note that the TCSF tender is ongoing at the time of our investigation of the Merger. We have taken into account how that may have influenced the evidence we received from the Parties and third parties, in terms of incentives to provide evidence, given their potential concerns about whether the views expressed and information provided in our investigation might impact the ongoing tender. We have also taken into account, in the case of the Parties, whether internal documents contemporaneous with the Merger were affected by the contemplation of the Merger.²¹⁸

- 7.110 In our assessment of the evidence, we have taken into account Network Rail's stated desire to develop a wider range of credible suppliers for digital mainline signalling projects in GB and the opportunity provided by the TCSF to achieve this.
- 7.111 We have assessed whether the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB by assessing the closeness of competition between the Parties and whether sufficient effective alternatives will remain after the Merger. We note that our Merger assessment is independent of Network Rail's tender evaluation process and is in no way determinative of the outcome of that process. We have not sought to reproduce or anticipate Network Rail's assessment in our Merger assessment.
- 7.112 Our views in relation to the impact of the Merger on the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB are not intended to influence the outcome of the ongoing TCSF tender. Network Rail will conduct its own independent assessment of the bidders to the TCSF based on their tender responses in accordance with the applicable regulations.
- 7.113 We also note that we are limited in what we can disclose publicly in this report, given the confidential nature of the TCSF tender.

Timeframe of our assessment

7.114 The time period over which the CMA considers a merger depends on the specific facts and circumstances of each case. The CMA's guidance does not set out a specific period for the assessment, although it does confirm that a

²¹⁸ CMA129, paragraph 2.29.

merger assessment involves the CMA assessing the likely development of the markets several years into the future.²¹⁹

- 7.115 The time period we have adopted for the assessment of the Merger aligns closely with Network Rail's TCSF procurement (ten years). The effects of any loss of competition are not limited to competition for the TCSF tender but would likely impact competition for the digital projects that will be procured through the TCSF.
- 7.116 In our view, a timeframe that covers the duration of CP7 and CP8 represents a reasonable time horizon over which to assess the effects of the loss of rivalry. In addition to the current competition for the TCSF, given the expected timetable for CP7 and CP8 digital mainline signalling projects, a number of mini-competitions for digital mainline signalling projects in this framework are expected occur within ten years (see paragraphs 7.20 and 7.21 about the design of the TCSF and mini-competitions).²²⁰
- 7.117 As the TCSF tender process is ongoing, our assessment is subject to a degree of uncertainty, for example, around the timing, implementation, and value of the digital lot of TCSF, which may affect suppliers' incentives to bid (see paragraphs 7.24 to 7.42).
- 7.118 Uncertainty does not, by itself, reduce the likelihood that a merger could give rise to competition concerns, and the presence of some uncertainty therefore does not in itself preclude the CMA from finding competition concerns on the basis of all the available evidence where the CMA is satisfied that the relevant standard of proof is met.²²¹ As mentioned in the Counterfactual chapter, we have not sought to predict the precise details or circumstances that would have arisen absent the Merger.²²² Based on the evidence in the round, we assessed whether the Parties would likely have bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF. We also looked at the evidence available to us to inform our assessment of the likely design and TCSF implementation period and of the likely conditions of competition.
- 7.119 As mentioned above in paragraphs 7.110 to 7.112, the TCSF tender is ongoing during our investigation (see the dates of the main milestones in the TCSF procurement process in paragraph 7.19). This has been taken into account both with respect to the type of evidence we have collected and the manner in which we have assessed it (see paragraph 7.109(b)7.109(b)).

²¹⁹ CMA129, paragraph 2.27.

²²⁰ Network Rail, TCSF 29248 – Instructions to Participants, page 14.

²²¹ CMA129, paragraph 2.10.

²²² CMA129, paragraph 3.11.

8. Supply of digital mainline signalling systems

- 8.1 The Parties have both competed in the past for the provision of digital mainline signalling systems in GB (see Table 8).
- 8.2 Translink, the Northern Ireland infrastructure manager, has not yet introduced digital mainline signalling to Northern Ireland and has currently no plans to issue future tenders for digital mainline signalling.²²³ Hitachi is not active in Northern Ireland [³].²²⁴ Thales has limited activities in Northern Ireland and supplies primarily conventional mainline products.²²⁵ As explained in paragraphs 8.31 and 8.36 below, Northern Ireland and GB are separate geographic markets.
- 8.3 We have assessed how closely the Parties compete with each other and whether the removal of the constraint that they would have placed on each other, absent the Merger, would lead to an SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in the GB market. We have also assessed the competitive constraints likely to be placed on the Parties by other suppliers that may bid for digital mainline signalling projects. We have taken into account the evidence on the Parties' plans, and the plans of other suppliers, to bid for Network Rail's TCSF.
 - 8.4 The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows:
 - (a) Market definition;
 - (b) Competition assessment;
 - (c) Our provisional assessment;
 - (d) Entry and expansion; and
 - (e) Provisional conclusion.

Market definition

8.5 Market definition provides a framework for assessing the competitive effects of a merger.²²⁶ Within that context, the assessment of the relevant market(s)

²²³ Translink response to RFI dated 28 March 2023.

²²⁴ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 15.2.

²²⁵ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 15.2.

²²⁶ CMA129, Chapter 9.

is an analytical tool that forms part of the analysis of the competitive effects of a merger and should not be viewed as a separate exercise.²²⁷

8.6 The boundaries of a market do not determine the outcome of the analysis of the competitive effects of a merger, as the CMA may take into account constraints outside the relevant market, segmentation within the relevant market, or other ways in which some constraints are more important than others. We have taken these factors into account in our competitive assessment.²²⁸

Product market

- 8.7 The Parties have both competed in the past for the provision of digital mainline signalling systems, which we take as our starting point for determining the relevant product market.
- 8.8 The boundaries of the relevant product market are generally determined by reference to demand-side substitution. However, the CMA may widen the scope of the market where there is evidence that firms routinely use their production assets to supply a range of products and where the conditions of competition for those products are similar.²²⁹

Parties' views

- 8.9 The Parties submitted that mainline and urban signalling projects are distinct, since the projects were used by different customers that have different requirements and the projects use different technologies and apply different standards.²³⁰ The Parties also considered the distinction made in previous cases reviewed by the European Commission²³¹ between mainline signalling and urban rail signalling to be relevant to their activities.²³²
- 8.10 Within mainline signalling, the Parties noted that, in its previous decisions,²³³ the European Commission has identified the following subsystems within the mainline signalling projects sector: (i) ATP; (ii) interlockings; and (iii) OCS.²³⁴

²³² FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 13.5.

²²⁷ CMA129, paragraph 9.1.

²²⁸ CMA129, paragraph 9.4.

²²⁹ CMA129, paragraph 9.8.

²³⁰ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 13.4-13.5.

²³¹ The Parties cited Case COMP/M.8677 – Siemens/Alstom, 2 August 2019 (*Siemens/Alstom*), paragraph 620 (*Siemens/Alstom*) and COMP/M.9779 – Alstom/Bombardier (*Alstom/Bombardier*), 22 February 2021,

paragraph 755. FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 13.7 and 20.59.

²³³ The Parties cited *Siemens/Alstom* paragraph 647 and *Alstom/Bombardier*, paragraph 760. FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 1-10, paragraph 13.10.

²³⁴ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 13.10.

The Parties also distinguished between conventional and digital mainline signalling projects as two separate markets.²³⁵

- 8.11 In the context of the competition for the TCSF, the Parties submitted that, if suppliers cannot single-handedly supply all elements required in digital mainline signalling projects, suppliers can form consortia or use sub-contracting arrangements to deliver a complete digital mainline signalling system.²³⁶
- 8.12 The Parties submitted that OCS (one of the subsystems in mainline signalling systems) comprises two components: (i) signalling control systems (SCS), which are deployed on top of interlockings (and referred to as 'local control'); and (ii) traffic management systems (TMS), a system architecture that integrates several local signalling control components and presents the route to the signalling operator through a single interface (referred to as 'central control').²³⁷
- 8.13 We assess below whether it is appropriate to distinguish as separate product markets between (i) digital and conventional mainline signalling systems;
 (ii) the subsystems of mainline signalling systems (eg interlockings, ATP, OCS) and (iii) mainline signalling systems and TMS.

Third-party views

8.14 Network Rail submitted that it typically purchases signalling subsystems (see 'Industry Background' for more detail about signalling subsystems) as a bundle, as it is the 'most effective and efficient way of delivering projects that contain these multiple elements: it provides clarity and makes the management of interfaces between the varying system elements easier, which can otherwise be challenging'.²³⁸ Lot 2 of the TCSF relates to the delivery of bundled digital mainline signalling projects.²³⁹

²³⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.20.

²³⁶ The Parties submitted that cooperation between industry participants was a common and viable option under any future framework tenders. See Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 6.4.

²³⁷ Parties' response to Issues Letter, 23 November 2022, paragraph 8.2.

²³⁸ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 9.

²³⁹ 'Train Control Systems Framework [Tender Notice]', last accessed on 6 June 2023. This source notes that, 'Lot 2: TCS Framework - Digital: Digital signalling (either ETCS or related technologies). Framework Suppliers will be required to provide a range of works and/or services covering design, build and ETCS maintenance support.' The tender document setting out the scope of Lot 2 of TCSF states: 'Phase 2 involves Suppliers delivering projects allocated to them and covering signalling renewals and/or enhancements on the live GB rail network, including ETCS resignalling and associated interlocking renewals and recontrol'.

8.15 Third-party evidence also indicates that the competitor set for TMS is broader than for signalling projects.²⁴⁰

Our assessment

- 8.16 Network Rail, the largest procurer of mainline signalling systems in GB, has historically procured conventional mainline signalling but is moving towards digitalisation of its signalling infrastructure, as reflected in the design and scope of the TCSF (see *Nature of competition* section). The most likely substitute to digital mainline signalling that infrastructure managers could use is conventional mainline signalling. We consider that the trend towards digital mainline signalling combined with government commitment to digitalising GB mainline signalling is likely to be limited. We also note that conventional and digital signalling systems use different technologies, are subject to different standards and have different functionalities (see paragraphs 4.11 and 4.12).
- 8.17 We do not consider that switching to CBTC signalling is a potential alternative given the differences in how each of these signalling systems operates and the operating standards they are designed to meet (see paragraphs 4.11 to 4.16).
- 8.18 On this basis, we consider that there are limited demand-side factors to consider, as infrastructure managers are unlikely to switch away from their demand for digital mainline signalling to other forms of signalling systems.
- 8.19 We have also considered whether there should be further segmentation of digital mainline signalling systems into the respective subsystems.
- 8.20 The evidence indicates that Network Rail will procure digital mainline signalling systems rather than individual subsystems from different suppliers. TCSF suppliers for Lot 2 will be required to provide a bundled mainline signalling offer (including all the signalling subsystems and a range of works and/or services covering design, build and ETCS maintenance support). On this basis, we consider that it is not appropriate to segment by subsystem, ie to have separate product markets for each subsystem. We have, however, taken into account any differences in the supply of the different signalling subsystems in the competition assessment below.

²⁴⁰ Network Rail submitted that the market for TMS services is more diverse and with a greater range of suppliers than the market for signalling works. While many signalling works suppliers also have TMS systems, there are additional suppliers who either supply or are prepared to develop and supply TMS systems. Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 32.

questionnaire response, Q 32. ²⁴¹ 'Digital Railway Strategy - Network Rail', last accessed 11 May 2023; and 'Digital Railway long-term deployment plan – Network Rail', last accessed 11 May 2023.

8.21 The supply of TMS is not within the scope of the TCSF.²⁴² Based on the thirdparty evidence set out in paragraph 8.15, we currently consider that it is not appropriate to include TMS as part of the market for the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects.²⁴³

Provisional conclusion on product market

8.22 Based on the above evidence, we have provisionally concluded that the relevant product market is the supply of digital mainline signalling systems.

Geographic market

- 8.23 Similar to product market definition, in general the boundaries of geographic market definition are determined primarily by reference to demand-side substitution.²⁴⁴ In certain circumstances, we may aggregate markets based on considerations about the response of suppliers to changes in price. For this, we would require evidence that (i) firms routinely use their existing production assets to supply products between different geographic markets and that firms shift their existing capacity between these geographic markets depending on demand for each; and (ii) the same firms compete to supply in each of these geographic markets and the conditions of competition between the firms are the same in each geographic market.²⁴⁵
- 8.24 Below, we consider the evidence with respect to supply side substitution in more detail, in the context of the framework set out in paragraph 8.8.

Parties' views

8.25 The Parties agreed that the demand requirements (including homologation and local experience) and competitive landscape in the UK differ very significantly from the rest of Europe and require specific consideration.²⁴⁶

Third-party views

8.26 As explained in paragraphs 7.105(a) and 8.212 to 8.218 suppliers are required to conform to national operational and safety standards and follow

²⁴² Network Rail, 'TCSF 29248 - Framework Scope Lot 2', page 7.

 ²⁴³ Our current view is that the Merger does not appear to raise competition concerns in relation to the supply of TMS in GB. Therefore, we will not consider the effects of the Merger in the supply of TMS in GB further.
 ²⁴⁴ CMA129, paragraph 9.13.

²⁴⁵ CMA129, paragraph 9.14.

²⁴⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section A, paragraph 3.2.

national authorisation processes. These national adaptation costs appear to be significant.

- 8.27 Railway network regulations differ between GB and Northern Ireland.²⁴⁷ Translink, the infrastructure manager for Northern Ireland, told us that the approval process for Northern Ireland was governed by the Rail Interoperability Regulations 2011, and the Department for Infrastructure in Northern Ireland would provide the required 'authorisations to place' mainline signalling products into service in Northern Ireland.²⁴⁸
- 8.28 Translink submitted that there were no tenders for digital mainline signalling in the past and that there are currently no plans for a future digital mainline signalling tender in Northern Ireland.²⁴⁹

Our assessment

- 8.29 The evidence, at this stage, indicates that the product market for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems is national in scope. Network Rail's business plan for CP7 indicates that, notwithstanding the UK's exit from the European Union, it is committed to and supports a long-term plan to deploy ETCS.²⁵⁰ ORR stated that it 'understands that Brexit does not affect Network Rail's participation in EULYNX'.²⁵¹ However, all mainline signalling systems still require adaptation and homologation on a national basis (see paragraphs 4.16 and 7.105(a)).
- 8.30 From a supply-side perspective, there is evidence that suppliers not currently located in GB may be able to compete for tenders in GB and that suppliers can use international projects as references for GB tenders (see paragraphs 8.238 to 8.240). However, those suppliers would need to invest in or secure local capacity to be able to deliver projects in GB (eg through partnering with integrators). There is little evidence to suggest that suppliers have been, or would be capable of, routinely shifting capacity from other geographic markets to meet demand in GB (see paragraphs reliance on integrators' workforce).

²⁴⁸ Department for Infrastructure response to RFI dated 3 April 2023.

²⁴⁷ The Railways Infrastructure (Access, Management and Licensing of Railway Undertakings) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2016 is applicable in Northern Ireland, while The Railways (Access, Management and Licensing of Railway Undertakings) Regulations 2016 is applicable in GB.

²⁴⁹ Translink response to RFI dated 28 March 2023.

²⁵⁰ Network Rail, Network Rail's business plan for CP7, page 11. We note that ETCS standards are used in other countries outside the European Union such as in Australia. See, 'ERMTS Second Work Plan of the European Coordinator, page 27, last accessed on 6 June 2023.

²⁵¹ ORR, ORR Market Study, page 36.

- 8.31 Based on the evidence set out above in paragraph 8.27, we consider that GB and Northern Ireland are separate geographic markets (see paragraph 8.36) on why we are focusing our assessment on the effects of the Merger in GB).
- 8.32 Notwithstanding the evidence that there are certain national dynamics of competition and that there are some barriers to entering in GB, our competitive assessment also takes into account the fact that the Parties and their main competitors operate and compete on a global basis using the same core systems (see paragraph 8.199). We consider that some elements of their offering such as innovation and product development may be determined by competition outside, as well as inside, GB420. We also recognise that suppliers can use digital mainline signalling projects outside GB as references for digital mainline signalling tenders and that their effectiveness as competitors in GB may be influenced by their experience both inside and outside GB.
- 8.33 Given this, we consider the appropriate starting point for our assessment is the GB market. However, we will also consider in our competitive assessment the potential constraint from suppliers outside GB, as well as the impact of broader global competitive dynamics, in particular in relation to innovation and product development and the importance of experience outside GB on competition in GB.

Provisional conclusion on geographic market definition

8.34 For the reasons set out above, we have provisionally concluded that the relevant geographic market is GB, with some important global aspects of competition which affect the competitive strength of suppliers in digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

Provisional conclusion on market definition

- 8.35 We have provisionally concluded that the relevant market is the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB, with some important global aspects of competition which affect the competitive strength of suppliers in digital mainline signalling systems in GB.
- 8.36 While GB and Northern Ireland are separate geographic markets, we are not considering the impact of the Merger in the delivery of mainline signalling projects in Northern Ireland. Based on the evidence received to date, the Parties have not competed in the past for the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects in Northern Ireland and there are no current plans for a future digital tender in Northern Ireland. We currently propose to focus our

investigation on the impact of the Merger in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

Competition assessment

- 8.37 We have focused our investigation on the supply of digital mainline signalling systems to Network Rail, as it is the largest procurer of mainline signalling in GB and because the outcome of the TCSF will likely influence the conditions of competition for future digital mainline signalling procured by Network Rail and other GB customers.
- 8.38 We note the Parties' submission that the CMA should consider the Merger 'against current competitive conditions, as well as plausible scenarios for future competition which may include, but must not be solely focussed on, its understanding of the TCSF as currently envisaged'. As discussed in paragraph 7.117, we have taken account of the likely degree of uncertainty with respect to the design and implementation of the TCSF in our competitive assessment. We further note that Network Rail has expressed its intention to broaden its supplier base and increase its expenditure on digital mainline signalling. There is no reason to think that these intentions apply solely to the TCSF as currently envisaged.
- 8.39 While the immediate context for our investigation is the TCSF, our analysis of the evidence and approach to analysing closeness in this section is relevant and applies to competition for the supply of digital mainline signalling more widely than the TCSF.
- 8.40 One potential GB customer is Nexus, the transport authority responsible for the management of the Tyne and Wear 'metro' ('Tyne and Wear'). Tyne and Wear currently operates on a conventional mainline signalling system.²⁵² Nexus told us that it was planning to upgrade Tyne and Wear in or around 2029. Nexus told us that it was open to what type of signalling system it would use, identifying both CBTC and mainline signalling systems as options.²⁵³
- 8.41 One third party told us that Tyne and Wear was a 'commuter railway, so it applies its signalling principles more like a mainline route rather than a metro'. It submitted that the resignalling work for Tyne and Wear was expected to be closer to the type of resignalling projects procured by Network Rail than the

²⁵² Nexus response to RFI dated 11 January 2023; and Nexus response to RFI dated 24 November 2022.

²⁵³ Nexus response to RFI dated 11 January 2023.

resignalling projects procured for the London Underground. 254 Another third party told us [\gg]. 255

- 8.42 While it is not clear which system Nexus will upgrade to, third parties indicated that it was more likely that Tyne and Wear would continue to use a mainline signalling system, and potentially a digital mainline signalling system akin to the projects procured by Network Rail. To the extent that Nexus uses a digital mainline signalling system, we consider that our analysis of the evidence in the competition assessment section below in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB will also likely apply to Tyne and Wear. Therefore, our provisional finding on whether the Merger is likely to result in a SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling for future digital mainline signalling tenders such as a future tender by Nexus.
- 8.43 HS2, another GB mainline signalling customer, launched a tender for digital mainline signalling in 2021. This tender is ongoing. [≫]. We have taken account of evidence from the HS2 signalling tender in our competition assessment and considered the extent to which that evidence is relevant for the assessment of the effects of the Merger in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.²⁵⁶
- 8.44 In assessing the unilateral horizontal effects of the Merger in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB, we have considered in turn:
 - (a) the suppliers' bidding incentives;
 - (b) shares of supply;
 - *(c)* suppliers' strengths by reference to evidence on past and future digital mainline signalling tenders;
 - *(d)* suppliers' characteristics by reference to the relevant parameters of competition; and
 - (e) other evidence on suppliers' competitive strengths.

²⁵⁴ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 22.

²⁵⁵ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 25.

²⁵⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 15.8.1. HS1 holds the 30-year concession through to 31 December 2040 to operate, maintain and renew the 109-kilometre high-speed rail line connecting London's St Pancras International station to Kent, and international passenger destinations in Europe – Paris, Brussels, and Amsterdam – via the Channel Tunnel. No tender for digital mainline signalling is expected to occur during the concession. Accordingly, we have not taken a potential tender (in the mid-2040s) to supply digital mainline signalling systems to HS1 into account in our current assessment of the competitive effects of the Merger because of the uncertainty of predicting competitive conditions in this market so far into the future.

Suppliers' bidding incentives

- 8.45 In this section, we consider the evidence on bidding incentives. We consider the Parties' submissions on their respective incentives to respond to the PQQ and to compete for the digital element of the TCSF, absent the Merger, as well as evidence from internal documents. We also consider the incentives of other suppliers to compete for a place within Lot 2 of the TCSF.
- 8.46 Our assessment is not dependent on whether the Parties actually responded to the PQQ or on whether they will respond to the ITT for Lot 2 of the TCSF. It assesses the Parties' incentives to bid for this opportunity, absent the Merger, having in mind that the Parties' decisions to bid may be influenced by the Merger and our investigation.

Parties' incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF

- 8.47 [\gg].²⁵⁷ We understand that:
 - *(a)* [≫].
 - (b) [×].²⁵⁸
- 8.48 The Parties both told us that [%].²⁵⁹
- 8.49 Thales told us that, as currently envisaged, the TCSF opportunity [≫].²⁶⁰ It added that there was considerable uncertainty associated with the delivery of the TCSF and that [≫].²⁶¹
- 8.50 Hitachi told us that [%].²⁶² It told us that [%].²⁶³
- 8.51 We assess below Thales' and Hitachi's incentives to bid for the TCSF. In doing so, we note that the TCSF is being procured while our investigation of the Merger takes place. Our assessment therefore includes consideration of whether and how the Parties' submissions and internal documents (which discuss incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF) may be affected by the Merger and our investigation.

²⁵⁸ [%].

²⁵⁷ Hitachi response to RFI dated 2 May 2023; and Thales response to RFI dated 2 May 2023.

²⁵⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.17; and Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, 2 May 2023, page 16.

²⁶⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 6.2-6.4.

²⁶¹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.2.

²⁶² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.17.

²⁶³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 6.17-6.18.

Thales' incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF

- 8.52 In this section, we assess Thales' incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF. In doing so, we consider Thales' submissions on its incentives and assess relevant internal documents.
- 8.53 Our assessment is set out below.
 - Thales' submissions
- 8.54 We consider Thales' submissions and the evidence it submitted in relation to the following topics:
 - (a) Thales' internal profitability requirements and its bid approval process;
 - (b) Thales' analysis of the TCSF opportunity;
 - (c) Examples of recent market entry opportunities pursued by Thales; and
 - (d) Thales' submissions on uncertainty and opportunity costs.
 - Thales' profitability requirements and bid approval process
- 8.55 Thales told us that it follows [\gg]. It told us that it [\gg].²⁶⁴ Table 4 below shows the profit margin targets applied in Thales' initial financial assessments.

Table 4: Thales' initial profitability assessments: [≫]

[※]

Source: Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, page 4.

- 8.56 Thales told us that the conditions associated with entering a new market [\gg]. [\gg].²⁶⁵
- 8.57 Thales further told us that $[\aleph]$.²⁶⁶ $[\aleph]$.
- 8.58 [≫], Thales told us that [≫]. It told us that business cases [≫] assess the Net Present Value (**NPV**), Internal Rate of Return (**IRR**) [≫].²⁶⁷

²⁶⁴ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.1.

²⁶⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.1.

²⁶⁶ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.2.

²⁶⁷ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.5.

- 8.59 When preparing a business case, Thales submitted that [%].^{268,269,270}
- 8.60 Thales added that [\gg]. However, it also told us that [\gg].²⁷¹
 - Thales' assessment of the TCSF
- 8.61 Thales provided a draft business case [\gg].²⁷² Thales told us the purpose of the business case was to assess the [\gg] of participating in the TCSF [\gg].²⁷³ As this business case was prepared following the announcement of the Merger and during the course of our merger investigation, we may place less weight on it as compared with earlier documents (unless supported by other evidence), in accordance with our usual practice.²⁷⁴
- 8.62 Thales told us that it had considered [\gg]:
 - *(a)* [≫]; and
 - (b) [×].
- 8.63 Thales told us that [\gg]. Thales submitted that [\gg].²⁷⁵
- 8.64 The results of Thales' analysis are shown in Table 5 below. Thales told us that, $[\%]^{.276}$
- Table 5: Thales' business case [≫]

[※]

Source: Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, page 16.

- 8.65 Under all scenarios, [%].
- 8.66 Thales told us this was the [%].^{277,278}

²⁷³ Thales' email to the CMA, dated 5 April 2023.

²⁶⁸ We note that Thales told us it usually uses a discount rate of [\gg]% in calculating the NPV of projects. [\gg]. Thales told us that it nonetheless requires an IRR greater than [\gg]% and that IRR hurdle rates [\gg]. See Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, paragraphs 4.2 and 5.1. We note that any projects generating returns [\gg].

 ²⁶⁹ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.4; Thales response to section 109 notice dated 9 March 2023, paragraph 5; and Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.13.

²⁷⁰ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 3.4.

²⁷¹ Thales response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraphs 3.1-3.5.

²⁷² Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.11.

²⁷⁴ CMA129, paragraph 2.29(a).

²⁷⁵ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.12.

²⁷⁶ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.15.

²⁷⁷ Thales told us that it [\aleph] in the period before Network Rail awarded the majority of digital projects and that this created a [\aleph]. Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.39; and Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, page 47. As explained in footnote 354, the [\aleph].

²⁷⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.2; Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects,

paragraph 3.16; and Thales response to s109 Notice of 9 March 2023, paragraph 9.

- 8.67 As a result, Thales told us that, [%].²⁷⁹
 - Thales' recent market entry examples
- 8.68 Thales provided details of geographic markets in which it had recently entered (or sought to enter) and in which it was required to gain approval for its digital mainline signalling systems, as would be the case in the UK. It stated that recent opportunities [≫].²⁸⁰
- 8.69 However, Thales also told us that it had recently submitted bids [%]:
 - (a) [×].²⁸¹
 - (b) [%].²⁸²
- 8.70 [≫].^{283,284} Thales' participation in these tenders is discussed in further detail in paragraphs 8.156 to 8.194. For the purposes of assessing Thales' incentives to bid, we note here that its contemporaneous financial assessments showed that [≫].²⁸⁵
- 8.71 Thales submitted that [%].²⁸⁶ It told us it considered [%].²⁸⁷
- 8.72 As regards to the ECDP tender, Thales told us that it participated with Atkins in order to $[\%]^{.288}$
 - Thales' submissions on uncertainty and opportunity costs
- 8.73 In addition to its submissions on the TCSF investment case, Thales told us [%].^{289,290} [%], Thales told us that [%].²⁹¹

²⁷⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 6.4-6.10.

²⁸⁰ Thales response to RFI dated 25 April 2023, paragraph 3.1.

²⁸¹ Thales response to RFI dated 25 April 2023, paragraph 1.6.

²⁸² Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, paragraph 3.12; and Thales response to RFI dated 25 April 2023, paragraph 3.2.

²⁸³ We note that Thales partnered with Costain in bidding for MaSREF CP6.

²⁸⁴ Thales partnered with Atkins for the ECDP tender.

²⁸⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, Annex T.Q2.001 [%]; and Annex T.Q2.002 [%].

²⁸⁶ Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, page 23-24.

²⁸⁷ Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, page 23.

²⁸⁸ Thales response to RFI dated 27 April 2023, paragraph 2.3.

²⁸⁹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 5.4.

²⁹⁰ We set out the Parties' submissions on uncertainty surrounding the TCSF in further detail in paragraphs 7.24 to 7.42 above.

²⁹¹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.18.

- 8.74 Thales submitted that it would give preference to opportunities [≫]. Thales cited various countries in which this was the case and told us that markets like [≫].²⁹² Thales told us that this added uncertainty as to whether it [≫].
 - Thales' internal documents
- 8.75 Thales' internal documents, including those prepared prior to the Merger, potentially provide additional evidence on Thales' interest in the GB market and its incentives to bid for a place on the TCSF framework.
- 8.76 We discuss evidence from our review of Thales' internal documents in this section. Our assessment is structured as follows:
 - *(a)* First, we discuss internal documents prepared prior to the TCSF, which comment on the attractiveness and importance of the UK market to Thales generally.
 - *(b)* Second, we discuss internal documents in which Thales reviewed the TCSF opportunity specifically.
 - Thales documents prepared prior to the TCSF
- 8.77 In this section, we discuss two 'strategic reviews' of the UK market opportunity carried out by Thales in 2018 and 2019.²⁹³ Both documents were prepared by Thales' UK Head of Mainline Signalling (in one case, with assistance from the [≫] Key Account Manager) and presented to the Mainline Signalling Executive Committee, [≫].
- 8.78 We note that Thales submitted that these documents [≫].²⁹⁴ While we consider this relevant context, and that such presentations may contain a degree of optimism bias, we also consider that the UK team would nonetheless be incentivised to portray realistic outcomes in discussions with its Mainline Signalling Executive Committee.²⁹⁵ In the following paragraphs, we set out the content of these documents. We then interpret the evidence from these documents in the round alongside other evidence as part of our assessment.

²⁹³ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002; and Annex T.Q3.001.

²⁹² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.12; and Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, paragraph 6.1.

²⁹⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex B, paragraphs 4-5.

²⁹⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 6 September 2022, Annex T.Q12.001. We note that, in response to Network Rail's CP7 'Market Sounding Questionnaire' on whether suppliers were interested in tendering for and delivering digital signalling for Network Rail as a 'direct (tier-1) supplier or as a member of the supply chain', Thales submitted that [%].

8.79 In its 2018 review, Thales stated [\gg].²⁹⁶ The review sets out [\gg]:

- *(a)* [≫].
- *(b)* [≫].
- (C) [X].²⁹⁷
- (d) [≫].
- 8.80 As part of its 2018 review, Thales therefore [%].²⁹⁸
- 8.81 [%].299
- 8.82 Of those opportunities identified in Thales' 2018 UK market review, the [%].
- 8.83 In its October 2018 [%] review [%],³⁰⁰ [%].
- 8.84 The review recommended [\gg]. In particular, Thales identified that:
 - *(a)* [≫]; and
 - *(b)* [**%**].³⁰¹
- 8.85 The review shows that Thales considered that [≫], the UK entry case remained 'very strong' and 'the overall investment position has not changed'.³⁰²
- 8.86 [\gg] specifically, the review stated that [\gg].³⁰³ Thales also stated that [\gg].^{304,305}
- 8.87 [≫].³⁰⁶
- 8.88 Its ECDP opportunity review document shows that Thales [\gg]. In addition, Thales stated that [\gg].^{307,308}

²⁹⁶ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002, slide 3.

²⁹⁷ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002, slides 3-4.

²⁹⁸ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002, slide 6.

 $^{^{299}}$ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002, slide 3. We note that this document was $[\ensuremath{\mathbb{K}}].$

³⁰⁰ Thales response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 1.

³⁰¹ Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slides 5-6.

³⁰² Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slide 8.

³⁰³ Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slides 8-9.

³⁰⁴ [≫].

³⁰⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slide 8.

³⁰⁶ Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slide 12.

 $^{^{307}}$ We note that this included [%]. [%].

³⁰⁸ Thales response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Annex T.Q26.002, slide 12.

- 8.89 As above, [%].³⁰⁹ In its [%].
- 8.90 [%].^{310,311}
- 8.91 Finally, we note that in a presentation (prepared by Thales' UK Head of Mainline Signalling in October 2019) [≫].³¹² This presentation stated that the [≫].³¹³
 - o Thales' internal reviews of the TCSF
- 8.92 We provided an overview of Thales' [≫] business case assessment of the TCSF opportunity in paragraphs 8.61 to 8.66 above. Our review of Thales' internal documents identified that it carried out similar assessments in [≫]. We note that Thales told us these documents [≫].^{314,315} We provide a brief summary of these documents in this section, as well as additional detail on its review of the TCSF as of [≫].³¹⁶
- 8.93 In [≫], Thales carried out [≫] review of the TCSF, [≫]. Thales noted that, through the framework, Network Rail aimed to increase supplier capacity and competitiveness in the UK and to reduce barriers to entry for new suppliers. It considered that [≫].³¹⁷
- 8.94 Thales' [≫] opportunity review [≫] of the work to be procured by Network Rail [≫].³¹⁸ [≫].³¹⁹
- 8.95 In addition, [%].^{320,321} [%].³²²
- 8.96 [**※**].³²³
- 8.97 The document continued [\gg].³²⁴ We also note that Thales appeared to [\gg].³²⁵

[%] and that it [%]. See paragraphs 8.158 to 8.194 for further detail. [%].

314 [≫].

- ³²⁰ Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 11.
- ³²¹ Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 18.

³⁰⁹ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q3.001, slides 4-8.

 $^{^{310}}$ [%]. Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q3.001, slides 13-14.

³¹¹ We note that Thales submitted the [³]. See Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex B, paragraphs 4-5.

³¹² Thales response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 2.

³¹³ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00034357, slide 27.

³¹⁵ Thales response to CMA RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 2.

³¹⁶ Thales provided submissions on the relevance and reliability of these documents.

³¹⁷ Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 2.

³¹⁸ Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 22.

³¹⁹ Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 38.

³²² Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, slide 22.

³²³ Thales, Annex HTH-000001189, '[≫]', slide 3.

³²⁴ Thales, Annex HTH-000001189, '[҈≫]', slide 18.

³²⁵ Thales, Annex HTH-000001189, '[泽]', slide 2.

- 8.98 In its [%] update, Thales [%]. [%].³²⁶
- 8.99 Thales also noted that, [\gg].³²⁷ [\gg].³²⁸ [\gg]:
 - (a) [%]; and
 - *(b)* [≫].
- 8.100 Thales concluded that it [%].329
- 8.101 Overall, our review of Thales' internal documents indicates that, for a number of years, Thales has identified the UK as a market in which it is seeking to grow its presence and that, with changes to Network Rail's procurement approach, it considers the UK an attractive investment proposition.
- 8.102 Thales' internal documents also demonstrate active monitoring and appraisal of the TCSF opportunity, [≫]. As above, we note that the Merger has been planned since August 2021 and that these documents were prepared during the course of our investigation. In particular, we note that Thales' reviews of the TCSF opportunity of [≫] were prepared after the Merger was referred to a phase 2 investigation by the CMA. As set out in our guidance, where documents are prepared after the period in which the Merger was under contemplation, we may attach less evidentiary weight to such documents (unless supported by other evidence).³³⁰
 - Our assessment of Thales' incentive to bid
- 8.103 Thales has submitted that [\gg]. [\gg].³³¹
- 8.104 In the sections above, we set out evidence as regards the application of Thales' internal profitability requirements. We first note that the evidence shows these thresholds are [≫]. In the recent past, Thales has pursued a number of entry opportunities which [≫] (see paragraph 8.69 above), including [≫] (see Thales' submission in paragraph 8.71).
- 8.105 Thales also told us that bidding decisions include an assessment of the strategic importance of an opportunity. Its internal documents indicate the strategic value of the UK market to Thales, having identified the UK as a significant opportunity for a number of years. Its documents further show that

³²⁶ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875, slide 3.

³²⁷ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875, slide 3.

³²⁸ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875, slides 10, and 16.

³²⁹ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875, slide 26.

³³⁰ CMA129, paragraph 2.29(a).

³³¹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 6.2, and 6.12-6.13.

Thales recognises the TCSF as a significant entry opportunity and $[\approx]$ (see paragraph 8.93 above).

- 8.106 Further, Thales' documents appear to recognise that initial TCSF framework suppliers would be well-placed to compete for future digital projects beyond the TCSF (see paragraph 8.94 above). In short, the TCSF provides a gateway to a significant market opportunity and [≫]. Indeed, Thales stated as recently [≫] (see paragraph 8.95) and that it is a credible competitor [≫]. Its internal documents also appear to [≫] (see paragraph 8.97).
- 8.107 While later internal documents [≫], they nonetheless maintain that [≫]. As set out above in paragraph 8.102, we also consider that some caution should be applied in interpreting these documents, given that they were prepared in the context of reviews of the Merger by the CMA and other competition authorities.³³²
- 8.108 While we consider that the TCSF is likely to represent a significant strategic opportunity for Thales, we also note its submissions that [≫] (paragraph 8.60 above). In this context, we carried out high level analysis of Thales' business case submissions and found that the outputs of its analysis (ie NPV, IRR and [≫]) are highly sensitive to the assumptions chosen. Our analysis showed that, when applying different assumptions, there are a range of realistic scenarios in which Thales' profitability requirements ([≫]) can be comfortably met.³³³
- 8.109 Moreover, we note that Thales told us it usually uses a discount rate of [≫]% in calculating the NPV of projects and that '[≫]'.³³⁴ While Thales told us that it requires an IRR greater [≫]% and that IRR hurdle rates are based on [≫],³³⁵ we note that its target IRR is [≫] and that any projects that generate returns [≫]. We consider that this, at least in part, also explains why [≫].
- 8.110 Significantly, we also note that Thales' business case assessment considers [≫].³³⁶ The consequence is that Thales' financial models do not take account of future signalling opportunities for which the TCSF can be viewed as a

³³² CMA129, paragraph 2.29(a).

³³³ We note in particular that Thales' financial modelling assumed: [\gg]. Taking each of these in turn: Network Rail told us that previous shortfalls between expected and eventual signalling spend were due changes in prioritisation ([\gg]) and that, given there is a government commitment to digital signalling, it did not expect its prioritisation of digital signalling to change (see paragraphs 7.31 and 7.32). We have therefore tested the effect of including the full Network Rail workbank [\gg]. [\gg]. Thales' [\gg] financial modelling [\gg]. We have therefore tested the effect of including lower development cost assumptions in Thales' financial models. As to general and administrative (G&A) and corporate costs, we note that [\gg] and it is not clear that the costs included in Thales' financial modelling represent the true extra expenses that would be incurred, were it to win a place on the TCSF. We have therefore tested the effect of including lower G&A and corporate costs in Thales' financial models. ³³⁴ Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, paragraph 5.1.

³³⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 11 and 12 April 2023, paragraph 4.1; and Annex HRL0004544.

³³⁶ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, Annex 1.1; and Annex 1.2.

gateway, despite its internal documents recognising that [\gg] (paragraph 8.94). We consider the fact that the TCSF can be viewed as a gateway for future digital mainline signalling opportunities in GB strengthens Thales' incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF only (and not Lot 1). As Thales itself recognised in [\gg] (paragraph 8.99 above).

- 8.111 As regards Thales' submissions on uncertainty surrounding the TCSF, we set out Network Rail's response to each of these points in paragraphs 7.24 and 7.42 above. We also note that Thales appeared to take any uncertainty into account as part of its business case assessment, [≫]. Even in such a scenario, the CMA's analysis shows that there are a range of potential outcomes [≫]. We also note that, were Thales to assume that Network Rail would award the full workbank as currently planned (and retain all other assumptions in its March financial models), the IRR would be as follows, [≫]:
 - *(a)* [≫].
 - (b) [%].
 - (C) [X].³³⁷
- 8.112 As to Thales' submissions on opportunity costs, the extent to which resources would be diverted away from other bids (if Thales were to bid for the TCSF) remains unclear. We note in particular that Thales has told us that other opportunities, [≫], do not require significant further investment in product development (paragraph 8.748.73). Further, we understand that Thales would not be required to incur product development costs in relation to the TCSF until after it was awarded a place on the framework.³³⁸ As regards the resources required to prepare for bid submissions, even if there are likely to be capacity constraints, we consider that a large and sophisticated business such as Thales is likely to be able to balance and manage its resources to prepare for and pursue significant opportunities in parallel, and in particular for large, strategic opportunities such as the TCSF.
- 8.113 For the reasons outlined above, we consider that, absent the Merger, Thales would likely have strong incentives to compete for digital signalling projects within the scope of the TCSF.

³³⁷ CMA analysis based on Submission on Competitive Effects, Annex 1.1; and Annex 1.2. To model these outcomes, the CMA assumed that Network Rail will award the full amount of projects currently planned within the mini-competition process.

³³⁸ FMN, 13 October 2022, Sections 17 to 29, paragraph 21.3.1.

Hitachi's incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF

- 8.114 In this section, we assess Hitachi's incentives to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF. In doing so, we consider Hitachi's submissions on its incentives and assess relevant internal documents.
- 8.115 Our assessment is set out below.
 - Hitachi's submissions
- 8.116 Hitachi told us that [1].339 Hitachi told us that [1].340
- 8.117 [\gg], Hitachi told us that [\approx]³⁴¹ and that Hitachi expected [\approx].³⁴²
- 8.118 Hitachi told us that [%].343 Hitachi told us that [%].344,345
 - Hitachi's internal documents
- 8.119 Our review of Hitachi's internal documents identified a number of documents which relate to recent UK mainline signalling tenders (other than the TCSF). and which indicate an intention to expand its presence in UK signalling.
- 8.120 For example, an internal briefing form³⁴⁶ prepared to discuss [%].³⁴⁷
- 8.121 We note that Hitachi has submitted that, [%].³⁴⁸ We consider that the document remains relevant to our assessment, as it informs an understanding of Hitachi's view of the potential UK market opportunity. We interpret this document in the round alongside other evidence as part of our assessment.
- 8.122 Another internal document, prepared by Hitachi's UK Sales Manager in relation to the HS2 tender, stated [%].349
- 8.123 We note that Hitachi told us this document was a draft response to questions sent by a communications consultancy when discussing a communications

³³⁹ Parties' response to AIS and WP, paragraph 6.18; Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.21; and Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 13.

³⁴⁰ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 13.

³⁴¹ Parties, Submission on competitive effects, paragraph 3.21.

³⁴² Parties, Submission on competitive effects, paragraph 3.43(a).

³⁴³ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 25.

³⁴⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.19. Hitachi told us that [\aleph]. ³⁴⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 6.19.

³⁴⁶ Hitachi response to CMA RFI dated 24 May 2023. Hitachi told us that this document was prepared by its Head of Sales (Signalling) for the UK and Ireland and was also intended to be submitted at a later stage to the Hitachi Senior Executive Committee.

³⁴⁷ Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q2.124 HS2CCS PG2NF, page 2.

³⁴⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 5.

³⁴⁹ Hiatchi, Annex H.109.Q2.053; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 5.

campaign [\gg]. Hitachi told us that [\gg].³⁵⁰ While we consider this context relevant to the weight that we are able to place on the document, we nonetheless note Hitachi's statements about the importance of its global references and about the fact that it [\gg]. As above, we interpret this document in the round alongside other evidence as part of our assessment.

- 8.124 As regards the TCSF specifically, [≫] internal presentation in [≫] for an opportunity review meeting.³⁵¹ As part of this presentation, Hitachi highlighted the importance of the TCSF and stated that the project provided an opportunity for consistent revenue over ten years and [≫].³⁵²
- 8.125 Hitachi told us that it had 'become increasingly clear that the ultimate structure of the TCSF will differ from that envisaged' in July 2022. Hitachi submitted that [≫].³⁵³ We note that recent changes to the design of the TCSF do not appear to materially change the two specific points mentioned in Hitachi's [≫] presentation: the TCSF still provides an opportunity for consistent revenue over ten years and still presents [≫].
 - Our assessment of Hitachi's incentive to bid
- 8.126 As above, Hitachi told us that [%] (paragraph 8.116 above).
- 8.127 However, Hitachi also recognised that the investment case for it to participate in the digital element of the TCSF was attractive and [≫] (paragraph 8.1188.1188.1188.118).
- 8.128 Further, Hitachi's internal documents noted the size and strategic importance of the TCSF and that it presents an opportunity to grow its share in one of the largest rail markets in the world (and a market which Hitachi would otherwise be locked out of for the next ten years)8.124. More generally, its documents indicate an intention for Hitachi to expand its presence in UK signalling and that it has been discussing TCSF [≫] internally (paragraphs 8.119 to 8.125)8.120.
- 8.129 Given the evidence outlined above, we consider that, absent the Merger, Hitachi would likely have strong incentives to compete for digital signalling projects within the scope of the TCSF.

³⁵⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 5.

³⁵¹ Hitachi told us that this document was prepared for the purposes of an opportunity review meeting (**ORM**) but that it was not shared at the ORM. Hitachi response to RFI dated 24 May 2023, page 2.

³⁵² Hitachi, Annex HRL0004544, slides 1, and 3.

³⁵³ Hitachi, Annex HRL0004544; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 8.

Other suppliers' bidding incentives

8.130 [≫].354

- 8.131 Our competitive assessment, set out in the following sections, [\gg].
- 8.132 It is typically not known publicly which suppliers have responded to the PQQ. Suppliers that have not responded may still potentially constrain bidders, at least up until the PQQ stage. As set out in paragraph 7.48, the suppliers that have pre-qualified typically becomes public knowledge, at which stage, it is likely only those suppliers would exercise a constraint. We consider any perceived constraint that suppliers other than those that are participating in the TCSF may impose, as part of our competitive assessment.
- 8.133 We consider that the suppliers which submitted responses to the PQQ are likely to have strong incentives to pursue a bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF through the ITT stage given that:
 - (a) the GB rail network is one of the largest in the world and Network Rail aims to invest significantly in digital transformation over the coming years as one of its priorities;
 - (b) the TCSF represents an opportunity to earn significant revenue over a ten-year period with a minimum guaranteed share of the signalling workbank;
 - (c) the TCSF acts as a gateway to a future pipeline of work in GB, both during and beyond the TCSF period; and
 - (d) it is likely that GB entry barriers after the TCSF period would be significant as, at that time, up to four suppliers would have approved digital signalling technologies and would have gained considerable experience in deploying digital projects in GB (see section on 'Entry and expansion' for further details).
- 8.134 We note, however, that the suppliers who have responded to the PQQ for Lot 2 may not pass the PQQ stage and that, even if they do, they may not respond to the ITT. This means that there may be fewer than [≫] bidders competing for the places in the TCSF.
- 8.135 Our analysis of whether the Merger is likely to result in an SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB assumed that all the current respondents to the PQQ respond to the ITT. If one or more of the current

rivals of the Parties in the TCSF no longer competes for a place in the TCSF after PQQ that might aggravate further the effects of the loss of competition arising from Merger. Given the evidence on the Parties' incentives to bid for a place in the TCSF set out above and their competitive strength, we consider. at this stage, that it would be likely that, absent the Merger, they would both respond to the ITT, if they passed the PQQ stage.

Shares of supply

8.136 To assess the effects of the Merger, we sought to estimate shares of supply to help understand the relative strengths of digital mainline signalling suppliers, in GB and Europe. We note that the GB digital mainline sector is still in its early stages of development and GB customers have procured only a small number of digital mainline signalling projects to date. With this context in mind, and because the TCSF is designed to facilitate entry from suppliers outside GB that have experience and technical expertise in delivering digital mainline signalling projects, we have focused our assessment on how suppliers have competed against each other in Europe, where the deployment of digital signalling is further advanced than in GB.

Parties' views

- 8.137 The Parties submitted GB shares of supply estimated using their own data (see Table 6 below). They submitted that these show that the GB is 'dominated' by Siemens and Alstom, whereas the Parties' presence in GB mainline signalling is 'virtually non-existent'.355,356
- 8.138 In response to our analysis of European shares of supply, the Parties submitted that there are 'very' significant differences between the UK and the rest of Europe. The Parties submitted that, as such, their shares of supply in Europe are not indicative of their credibility in the TCSF process.³⁵⁷ The Parties also submitted that Thales' European share fails to reflect the substantial entry barriers that Thales faces in the GB market.³⁵⁸

³⁵⁵ The Parties' submissions refer to UK shares of supply. However, we note that the Parties' UK shares of supply do not include any digital mainline projects from Northern Ireland, as no tenders for digital mainline signalling has been run in Northern Ireland in the past (see paragraphs 8.27 and 8.36) We therefore refer to the Parties' estimated shares of supply as GB shares.

 ³⁵⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 5.2-5.3.
 ³⁵⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section A, paragraph 3.2.

³⁵⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 3.11, and paragraphs 5.2-5.3.

Evidential value of shares of supply

- 8.139 We consider that shares of supply provide useful evidence when assessing closeness of competition³⁵⁹ and provide useful information about the current size, strength, and relative importance of suppliers. In markets where experience matters, shares of supply can be a relevant indicator of strength and ability to win future contracts.
- 8.140 Shares of supply capture the winners of tender processes, not the closeness of competition during tenders. However, we currently consider that shares of supply will reflect a competitor's past experience and therefore its credibility as a future competitor, which means that shares of supply provide a meaningful insight, providing they cover a sufficiently large number of contracts.
- 8.141 We acknowledge that European (including GB) shares of supply do not correspond with our GB market definition and are mindful of the differences in the conditions of competition between the GB market and other European markets (see paragraph 8.30). Nevertheless, we consider that European shares of supply provide useful insights for three reasons:
 - (a) First, Network Rail intends to bring in new suppliers for the TCSF (see paragraph 7.22). It will consider experience in and references from comparable digital mainline signalling projects in Europe (see the PQQ and ITT criteria in paragraphs 7.84 and 7.90, see also paragraphs 8.238 and 8.241).
 - (b) Second, the TCSF will use ETCS (see the PQQ and ITT criteria in Table 1 and Table 2) which is a European standard technology (see paragraph 4.13). European experience is likely to correlate with experience of ETCS.
 - *(c)* Third, as there were over 300 digital projects in Europe between 2012 and 2021, European shares of supply are likely to be representative of the strength of competitors' technology and management experience.
- 8.142 We have also considered shares of supply in GB but note that there have been relatively few digital GB tenders. This means that GB shares of supply are likely to be 'lumpy', disproportionately affected by a few contracts and not representative of suppliers' potential competitive strengths.

³⁵⁹ CMA129, paragraph 4.14.

Shares of supply estimates

- 8.143 The tables below present shares of supply on a GB basis, as estimated by the Parties, and on a European basis (including GB), estimated using data we have collected. For the reasons given in paragraphs 8.141 and 8.142, we currently put more weight on the European shares of supply.
- 8.144 The tables show shares of supply both including and excluding noncontestable contracts. Non-contestable contracts are awarded directly, often to incumbents. We currently consider that shares including non-contestable projects better proxy management experience and we have therefore put more weight on the shares which include non-contestable projects.

GB shares of supply

- 8.145 The Parties calculated GB shares of supply for digital mainline signalling projects between 2012 to 2021 (see Table 6).
- 8.146 We currently consider that GB shares of supply demonstrate that Siemens has been successful in the limited number of digital mainline signalling opportunities so far, but that this is not a good indicator of likely competition for the TCSF for the reasons described in paragraph 8.141. Further, as described below in paragraph 8.160, not all the ten observations were digital mainline signalling projects. In addition, we note that the ECDP project accounts for nearly 90% of the GB shares of supply. Furthermore, data from Siemens leads us to believe that the Parties have overestimated the value of ECDP.

Table 6: Parties' calculations of shares of supply for digital mainline signalling projects (GB, 2012-2021)

		(%)
Supplier	All digital mainline signalling projects	Contestable digital mainline signalling projects
Hitachi*	[0-5]	[0-5]
Thales	0	0
<i>Combined</i>	[0-5]	[0-5]
Siemens	[90-100]	[90-100]
Alstom	[0-5]	[0-5]
Others†	[0-5]	[0-5]
Total	€1,119m	€1,117m

Source: Parties' response to the AIS and Working Papers, Table 1.

* As noted in paragraph 7.11, Hitachi won the Cambrian Line in 2006.

† Includes Atkins and Infrasig.

Note: The Parties' data can identify the conventional/digital split of mainline projects only for those in which they won/participated. For other projects won by competitors, the analysis assumes these projects are conventional and therefore excluded from the analysis. The analysis covers SCS for digital projects, ETCS ATP wayside and digital interlockings. The Parties calculated their shares of supply for digital mainline signalling projects in GB in Euros.

European shares of supply

8.147 We calculated European (including GB) shares of supply based on project value of digital mainline signalling contracts won by suppliers operating in Europe (see Table 7 and associated notes). This data recorded contracts won and started between 2012 and 2021.360

Table 7: Digital mainline signalling shares of supply by project contract value, in Europe	
(including GB), 2012 – 2021	

	All digital mainline signalling projects		Contestable digital mainline signalling projects		
Supplier	Value (£m)	%	Value (£m)	%	
Hitachi Thales <i>Combined</i>	[≫] [≫] [≫]	[10-20] [20-30] <i>[40-50]</i>	[%] [%] [%]	[5-10] [20-30] <i>[30-40]</i>	
Siemens Alstom CAF AZD Praha Indra Mermec Progress Rail* Stadler Total	[%] [%] [%] [%] - [%] - [%]	[20-30] [20-30] [0-5] [0-5] [0-5] - [0-5] - [≫]]	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%] - [%]	[30-40] [20-30] [0-5] [0-5] [0-5] - [0-5] - [≫]	

Source: CMA calculations using data from OEMs.

Notes: [1] Value is the stated contract value at the date of award. [2] Where contracts were undertaken by a consortium, the value is the respective supplier's value within the consortium, not the overall project value. [3] Some value estimates include maintenance, but we consider that in most instances this will be a small proportion of the value. [4] Where not indicated, projects were assumed to be contestable.

Data for Progress Rail covers contracts signed in the period 2017-2021.

8.148 We currently consider that these shares show that:

- (a) The market is highly concentrated with the top four suppliers (including the Parties) supplying [90–100%] of all digital mainline contracts and each having shares above 10%. All other suppliers' shares are below 5%.
- (b) The Parties' combined share of supply was [40–50%] ([30–40%] for contestable projects³⁶¹), with an increment of [10–20%] ([5–10%] for contestable projects) as a result of the Merger.
- 8.149 We also note that, although Mermec did not supply³⁶² any European digital mainline signalling contracts between 2012 and 2021, it was awarded digital mainline signalling projects in 2022. This was a large zero-value framework contract. While the Mermec projects are not reflected in the European share of supply estimates, overall conditions of competition remain the same, ie the

³⁶⁰ Data for 2022 is not included due to incomplete datasets.

³⁶¹ See paragraph 8.409.

³⁶² Mermec questionnaire response, Q 1(ii).

four largest providers account for the vast majority of deployments across Europe.

8.150 No evidence has been provided by the Parties or integrators to suggest that integrators have routinely won digital mainline projects as standalone bidders.³⁶³

Provisional conclusion on shares of supply

- 8.151 We note that Thales, and to a lesser extent Hitachi, have a very limited current presence in GB digital mainline signalling. At European level, the shares of supply show that there are four main suppliers (Siemens, Alstom and the Parties). The remaining competitors have substantially lower shares, with none having a share above 5%, and account, on aggregate for less than [5–10%] of the overall market. We currently consider that the Parties' shares of supply in Europe indicate their strength and technical capabilities as digital mainline signalling providers. Given the TCSF is designed to bring new suppliers into the GB mainline signalling, we consider that suppliers that have demonstrated their competitive strengths in Europe are also likely to be credible competitors for the TCSF.
- 8.152 We consider that the Parties have significant shares in a highly concentrated segment, which indicates they are likely to be close competitors to one another. The Merger involves the second and fourth largest suppliers in Europe (Thales and Hitachi respectively).

Competition in previous digital mainline signalling tenders in GB

- 8.153 The Parties submitted that, to assess the competitive strengths in the GB digital mainline signalling market, we should analyse the shares of supply resulting from all previous digital mainline signalling tenders in GB rather than in Europe.³⁶⁴ The Parties told us it is unclear how the Parties' strengths in Europe could provide any meaningful insight in the GB market.³⁶⁵
- 8.154 While we consider that the Parties' and other suppliers' strengths in Europe are a relevant indicator of suppliers' competitiveness for the supply of digital signalling in GB (see paragraphs 8.139 to 8.141), we have also given

³⁶³ Atkins has won a contract in relation to the delivery of Network Rail's National ETCS TVV&I Laboratory, ie a testing centre to be used for CP7 and CP8. Atkins told us that the contract it won is for the provision and management of the test facility to ISO/IEC 17025 Laboratory. The scope of this contract is a laboratory testing services agreement and contains no operational and live digital mainline signalling system delivery scope.
³⁶⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.1.

³⁶⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 5.3-5.4.

consideration to how suppliers have competed in previous GB digital mainline signalling tenders.

8.155 We consider the evidence on the 11 'digital mainline signalling' tenders that the Parties indicate have taken place in GB in the last ten years and assess the extent to which they are reliable indicators for competition for the TCSF. For the reasons set out below in paragraphs 8.158 to 8.194, we consider the competition for the ECDP and HS2 tenders in more detail, including evidence from the Parties' internal documents.

Previous digital mainline signalling tenders in GB

Parties' views

- 8.156 As noted above (see paragraph 8.145), the Parties submitted shares of supply based on ten digital mainline signalling projects tendered in GB since 2012 which were all tendered outside of any major CP framework agreement.³⁶⁶ Eight of the ten projects were awarded via a competitive tender. The Parties submitted that this showed Siemens was a clear leader with a [90–100%] share of supply, followed by Alstom with [0–5%], and Hitachi with [0–5%] (see Table 6).
- 8.157 The Parties submitted that Thales did not win any of the digital mainline signalling projects [≫] to date and, as such, was 'at best' a weak competitor in the GB digital mainline signalling market.³⁶⁷ The Parties submitted that 11 GB digital mainline signalling projects (that is, those ten projects included in their shares of supply plus the in-progress HS2 tender) provided a sufficient sample size to demonstrate this.³⁶⁸ The Parties told us that Thales' limited customer relationship with Network Rail placed it in a similar position to other new entrants.³⁶⁹

Our analysis of the 11 digital mainline signalling projects

8.158 We have assessed these 11 digital mainline signalling projects. We have first considered whether they are sufficiently similar to upcoming digital mainline signalling tenders to provide useful information. Where they do provide useful information, we consider what they tell us about the likely bidders and their relative strengths.

³⁶⁶ Although the Parties identified 11 digital mainline signalling tenders in GB since 2012, HS2 was excluded from their analysis as it is in progress. Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.10.

³⁶⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.10.

³⁶⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.10.

³⁶⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.11.

8.159 Table 8 below presents details provided by Thales on the 11 digital mainline signalling projects in GB to date. As noted above (paragraph 8.157), the Parties submitted that Thales [≫] but, as Table 8 shows, Thales responded to the PQQ for the ECDP and HS2 tenders [≫].

Project	Start date	Services provided	Winner(s)	Competitors	Selection Process	Value (£)
ETCS Level 2 Framework Phase 2	2013	ETCS ATP wayside re- signalling	Siemens, Alstom, Hitachi, and Infrasig	[≫]	Competitive bid	[೫]
Ferriby to Gilberdyke re- signalling	2016	Interlockings	Hitachi	[%]	Competitive bid	[≫]
RIDC test facilities	2016	ETCS ATP wayside re- signalling	Alstom	[%]	Competitive bid	[≫]
CP6 Major Signalling Renewals Framework	2019	Interlockings	Hitachi	[೫]	Framework agreement/call off	[೫]
East coast digital programme train control framework (ECDP)	2019	ETCS ATP wayside re- signalling	Siemens	Alstom, Hitachi, Siemens, and JV Thales-Atkins	Competitive bid	[≫]†
Devon and Cornwall	2020	Interlockings	Siemens	[%]	Framework agreement/call off	[≫]
Ferrybridge to Goole	2020	Interlockings	Alstom	[≫]	Competitive bid	[≫]
Cambrian ETCS upgrade	2020	ETCS ATP wayside overlay	Hitachi	[%]	Private negotiation	[≫]
HS1 fringe update Kings Cross	2021	Interlockings	Hitachi	[%]	Private negotiation	[≫]
Testing, validation, verification and integration (TVV+I) facility	2022	Interlockings	Atkins	[%]	Competitive bid	[≫]
HS2	Ongoing	ETCS ATP wayside re- signalling	Undecided	Alstom, Siemens, and Thales ‡	Competitive bid	[※]

Table 8: Thales'	submission	Digital	mainling	cianallina	nroiact	a in CB	cinco 2012
Table 8: Thales'	SUDIIIISSIOII.	Digital	mainine	siynanniy	projeci	5 III GE	

Source: Thales' response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, Annex RFI MPH T.Q6_Q7.

† We note the Parties' valuation of the ECDP tender is overstated compared to the value submitted by the winner of the tender, Siemens, of $\pounds[\infty]$ million.

‡ Hitachi was not identified as a competitor for HS2 by Thales, however we note that it was public knowledge that Hitachi was one of the four shortlisted for the tender.

8.160 First, we note that at least five of the tenders identified by the Parties were not for digital mainline signalling projects but were in fact conventional mainline signalling projects. On this basis, these five tenders are not relevant to the assessment and have not been assessed further. The five tenders were:

- *(a)* Ferriby to Gilberdyke re-signalling (2016): Hitachi submitted that this project did not include ETCS wayside elements.³⁷⁰
- *(b)* The CP6 Major Signalling Renewal Framework (2019): The CP6 MASREF framework was for the supply of conventional mainline signalling projects.³⁷¹
- *(c)* Devon and Cornwall (2020): Siemens, the winner of the Devon and Cornwall tender, told us that this project was for interlockings which interacted with conventional wayside technology and therefore was not digital mainline signalling project.³⁷²
- *(d)* Ferrybridge to Goole (2020): Alstom, the winner of the Ferrybridge to Goole tender, told us this project was for interlockings which interacted with conventional wayside technology and therefore was not digital.³⁷³
- *(e)* HS1 fringe update Kings Cross (2021): Hitachi submitted that this project did not include ETCS wayside elements.³⁷⁴
- 8.161 Second, we note that the Parties' data on digital mainline signalling tenders in GB since 2012 is not complete, as it excludes the Cross Rail West and Thameslink tenders. As set out in paragraph 7.11, these tenders were won by Alstom and Siemens respectively.³⁷⁵
- 8.162 Third, of the remaining six 'digital' tenders set out in Table 8, we note that:
 - (a) Two of the six tenders related to testing facilities and not digital mainline signalling projects. Both projects were valued at less than £14 million. The lack of interest from non-GB suppliers is unlikely to be indicative of those non-GB suppliers' competitive strength for the TCSF, given the small value and different scope of projects being contested.
 - (b) Two of the remaining four tenders had a contract value of under £2 million, which is considerably lower than the average homologation costs of £14.6 million (see paragraphs 8.212 to 8.218). As a result, suppliers from outside GB that would have needed to invest in product

³⁷⁰ Hitachi, RFI response dated 31 May 2023.

³⁷¹ See Table 1.

³⁷² Siemens response to RFI dated 18 January 2023.

³⁷³ Alstom response to RFI dated 7 February 2023.

³⁷⁴ Hitachi response to RFI dated 31 May 2023.

³⁷⁵ Network Rail told us that Cross Rail West was an ongoing project which was contracted as a directly awarded contract with Alstom under the expired ETCS framework agreement which was in place at the time (first row of the Table 1. Thameslink was awarded to Siemens.

development would have no or very limited incentives to bid for these projects.

- (c) ECDP and HS2 were the only two opportunities that shared some of the characteristics of the TCSF, that is they were large (more than £250 million), multi-year projects, which were competitively tendered. In our view, these projects are more similar to the TCSF than the other projects set out in Table 8. In that light, we consider the ECDP and HS2 tenders in more detail below.
- 8.163 Based on the above evidence, Siemens, Alstom and Hitachi won the main digital mainline signalling projects (including the two projects not included in the Parties' analysis). Thales has not bid for [≫] but did respond to the [≫] HS2 [≫]. Integrators did not bid on a standalone basis for any of the digital mainline signalling systems tenders (see Table 8, together with paragraphs 8.160 to 8.162).

Assessment of the main tenders for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB

- 8.164 ECDP and HS2 are the two largest digital mainline signalling projects procured in GB to date. For further details on these tenders see Table 8 above.
- 8.165 In the following subsections we consider the Parties' views on the ECDP and HS2 projects. We then set out how the customers scored applicants for each of these projects. We also consider the Parties' internal documents prepared in the context of ECDP and HS2 tenders and other digital signalling opportunities in GB in which they assess their own competitive positions relative to those of their perceived rivals.
 - Parties' views
- 8.166 The Parties submitted that it was unclear why we did not look at the shares of supply in GB but nevertheless considered bidding patterns in two GB digital mainline signalling tenders.³⁷⁶ The Parties told us that in the absence of any comparative analysis of the incentives for new entry in the context of ECDP and HS2 and the capabilities of new entrants at the time of those tenders versus the TCSF, it is not possible to draw any conclusions from the competitor set for those previous tenders.³⁷⁷

³⁷⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.4.

³⁷⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.22(c).

- 8.167 The Parties submitted the following in relation to Thales' involvement in the ECDP and HS2 tenders:
 - *(a)* [≫];³⁷⁸
 - *(b)* Alstom and Siemens' participation in these tenders provided the 'key' competitive constraint on the Parties, as opposed to the constraint the Parties imposed on each other;³⁷⁹ and
 - (c) The tenders do not evidence a commitment by Thales to enter the GB market or bid for the TCSF, or that Thales acts as a material competitive constraint on other suppliers. [\gg].³⁸⁰
- 8.168 The Parties submitted that [%].³⁸¹ With regards to HS2, the Parties explained that [%].³⁸² Thales explained that [%].³⁸³
 - ECDP
- 8.169 For the ECDP, the deadline for PQQ submissions was 1 October 2018, and PQQ respondents were informed of the outcome of their submissions on or before 22 October 2018. [[∞]]. The deadline for the first stage of the ITT was 4 January 2019. [[∞]].³⁸⁴
 - 8.170 The Parties, Alstom, and Siemens were the only competitors for the ECDP tender. [≫].³⁸⁵
 - 8.171 As set out in paragraph 7.45, bidding processes in this market are not fully transparent. Suppliers may, however, be able to access some information about potential ITT bidders, which may influence bids at the ITT stage. Although Network Rail does not publish the outcomes of PQQ stages, Network Rail informs those suppliers that responded to the PQQ of the outcome of their own submissions and 'informally it [the outcome of the PQQ]

³⁷⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.4(a).

³⁷⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.4(a).

³⁸⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.4(c).

³⁸¹ Thales response to s109 Notice dated 8 September 2022, Annex T.Q1.003; Network Rail response to RFI dated 27 October 2022, 'ECML TCP GW4 & Appendicies - June 2019'; and Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects (Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects), 24 March 2023, paragraph 4.14.

³⁸² Parties response to RFI dated 6 September 2022, paragraph 5.1.

³⁸³ Parties response to RFI dated 6 September 2022, paragraph 5.1.

³⁸⁴ Network Rail response to RFI dated 27 October 2022, 'ECML TCP GW4 & Appendicies - June 2019'.

³⁸⁵ Network Rail response to RFI dated 27 October 2022, 'ECML TCP GW4 & Appendicies - June 2019'.

tends to become "public" knowledge at that point'.³⁸⁶ Therefore, at the ITT stage of the EDCP, suppliers are likely to have known who passed the PQQ.

- 8.172 [\gg]. However, there is evidence suggesting [\gg] (see paragraph 8.183(b)).
- 8.173 Following the ITT, Network Rail ultimately awarded the ECDP contract to Siemens.
 - HS2
- 8.174 For the HS2 signalling tender, the deadline for PQQ submissions was 7 July 2020,³⁸⁷ and PQQ respondents were informed of the outcome of their submissions in January 2021.³⁸⁸ By 4 March 2021, HS2 Ltd had publicly announced the shortlisted companies for the tender, which included Thales and Hitachi.³⁸⁹ The first stage of the ITT was launched on 23 September 2021.³⁹⁰ [≫].³⁹¹ The deadline for the first stage of the ITT was 6 June 2022. [≫].³⁹²
- 8.175 The Parties, Alstom, Siemens, [[≫]] submitted responses to the PQQ of the HS2 tender. At the PQQ stage, HS2 considered both [[≫]].³⁹³ We note that [[≫]] were the lowest ranked applicants and scored substantially lower than Thales.³⁹⁴ Neither [[≫]] passed PQQ.
- 8.176 Nearly a year after passing the PQQ, [\gg].
- 8.177 The HS2 tender process is ongoing and the outcome of the ITT is unknown.
 - Parties' internal documents about past digital mainline signalling tenders in GB
- 8.178 We consider below internal documents from the Parties assessing competition for past digital mainline signalling opportunities in GB, including

³⁸⁸ HS2 response to questionnaire dated 30 January 2023, '[≫]'; and Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q2.078.
 ³⁸⁹ 'Shortlisted unveiled for HS2 signalling and control systems', accessed 1 June 2023.

³⁹² Hitachi response to RFI dated 1 June 2023.

³⁸⁶ ORR response to RFI dated 23 May 2023. ORR submitted that Network Rail does not formally publish the outcomes of the PQQ stage; however after Network Rail provides supplier feedback on PQQ submissions, the outcomes of the PQQ stage tends to informally become public knowledge.

³⁸⁷ 'Control, Command, Signalling and Traffic Management (CCS and TM) Systems (Phases One, 2a and (In Two... [Notice]', accessed 1 June 2023.

³⁹⁰ Hitachi response to RFI dated 1 June 2023.

³⁹¹ Thales response to s109 Notice dated 28 September 2022, Annex T.Q2.066.

³⁹³ HS2 response to RFI dated 6 March 2023, 'EMS Tender Recommendation Report, Appendix C': and HS2 response to RFI date 6 March.

³⁹⁴ HS2 RFI response dated 7 February 2023, 'Tender List Recommendation Report for Control, Command, Signalling and Traffic Management (HRS23)'. Alstom, Siemens, Hitachi, and Thales passed PQQ and have been Invited to Tender. [\aleph] and [\aleph], however, scored the lowest at the technical and professional ability stage and therefore were not Invited to Tender.

the ECDP and HS2 tenders, in which they assess their own competitive position relative to that of their perceived rivals.

- Thales' internal documents
- 8.179 In late 2018, Thales' Senior Market Analyst and the Capture Leader prepared a document which reviewed the competitive environment for the ECDP for the Thales GBU and the Urban Signalling Executive Committee. The aim of this document was to understand 'how the Thales/Atkins offer would be seen by Network Rail when compared to the likely offerings from the competitors [≫]. [≫].³⁹⁵ [≫].
- 8.180 Thales' documents regarding HS2 show that it considered [≫] Hitachi to be strong competitors, [≫]:
 - (a) [≫], a Thales internal document was prepared by the Senior Market Analyst and the Bid Programme Manager for Thales' local UK team to facilitate a simulation exercise regarding the HS2 tender.³⁹⁶ It reviewed the [≫]. It considered [≫]. In its analysis, [≫]. [≫].³⁹⁷
 - (b) In March 2021 (ie around the time the outcome of the PQQ was announced), the Head of the UK mainline business at Thales prepared a pre-ITT presentation for Thales' GBU and the Mainline Signalling Executive Committee in relation to the HS2 tender. [≫].³⁹⁸
- 8.181 As mentioned above (see paragraphs 8.79 to 8.82), Thales conducted a 'strategic review' in 2018 of opportunities presented by the UK market.³⁹⁹ In this review, Thales considered future digital mainline signalling opportunities in the UK in general, [[≫]]. Thales noted that [[≫]]. We note that [[≫]].⁴⁰⁰
- 8.182 Thales' Network Rail Key Account Manager produced a presentation on
 4 April 2020 for preparation of a meeting between the Vice President of
 Thales' mainline signalling business [[∞]]. In this presentation, [[∞]].⁴⁰¹ [[∞]].
 - *(a)* [≫].⁴⁰²
 - *(b)* [≫].

402 [%].

³⁹⁵ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00207759, slides 26, 45, 62, and 79.

 $^{^{396}}$ Thales response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 3. $[\ensuremath{\mathbb{K}}]$

³⁹⁷ Thales response to s109 Notice dated 23 December 2022, Annex s.109 T.Q14.004, slide 3.

³⁹⁸ Thales, Annex HTH-000000596, '[³⁰⁸]', slides 5, and 15.

³⁹⁹ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, [≫].

⁴⁰⁰ Thales response to RFI dated 23 December 2023, Annex T.Q12.002, slides 4, and 8.

⁴⁰¹ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00203853, slide 17.

- (C) [≫].
- (d) [≫].
- (e) [≫].
- Hitachi's internal documents
- 8.183 In relation to the ECDP tender, Hitachi identified the suppliers that it considered had prequalified:
 - (a) Hitachi submitted a Phase Gate 1 internal document dated 25 October 2018 [≫].⁴⁰³ Hitachi told us that [≫].
 - (b) Another document prepared by Hitachi's bidding team, dated
 18 December 2018, to seek a decision on whether to respond to ITT
 ([≫]) [≫].⁴⁰⁴
- 8.184 Hitachi documents from different stages of the HS2 tender process show it considered [≫] Thales to be strong competitors, [≫]:⁴⁰⁵
 - (a) In one document produced in October 2021 (ie before the outcome of the PQQ was known) by Hitachi's Sales Manager for the Sales Director,⁴⁰⁶
 Hitachi listed the following suppliers [≫]. [≫]. It also noted [≫].⁴⁰⁷
 - (b) In a December 2021 document (ie during the first stage of the ITT),⁴⁰⁸ in which Hitachi sought approval to continue to the ITT stage of the HS2 tender after PQQ, [≫]. This document shows that Hitachi considered Thales to be a strong competitor [≫].⁴⁰⁹ Hitachi continued to assess its strengths and weaknesses as set out in paragraph 8.184(a) above. ⁴¹⁰
 - (c) In January 2022 (ie during the first stage of the ITT), [[™]], Hitachi's Sales Manager and the Head of Sales-High Speed prepared another presentation with an assessment of Hitachi's competitors in the HS2

⁴⁰³ Hitachi, [೫]. [೫].

⁴⁰⁴ Hitachi, Annex HRL0004679.

⁴⁰⁵ Thales, Annex HTH-000000596, 'Internal Executive Summary (Detailed Pack) for HS2', page 24. The HS2 signalling project and the TCSF have different features in terms of value and technical requirements (eg the HS2 is a greenfield). We still consider these documents to be relevant for our assessment to the extent they refer to the capabilities of each supplier in general. We note, in this respect, that Hitachi stated that 'Alstom and Hitachi see HS2 as CP7 Market Entry'.

⁴⁰⁶ Hitachi response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 2.

⁴⁰⁷ Hitachi, Annex HRL0016463, slides 29-30.

⁴⁰⁸ Hitachi response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 2. Hitachi was unable to identify the author of this specific version. Hitachi submitted the Sales Manager was expected to have had overall responsibility for the final version. The document was produced for Hitachi's senior management.

⁴⁰⁹ Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q2.043, slide 20.

⁴¹⁰ Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q2.043, slide 22.

tender, for discussion at the Phase Gate 2 meeting. This presentation also set out Hitachi's bid strategy.^{411,412} [\gg].⁴¹³ [\gg]. This document suggests that Hitachi [\gg] consider the [\gg] in its analysis [\gg].

- 8.185 Hitachi internal documents considered competitors for other digital tender opportunities in GB, including the [%] line project from 2021. In its assessment of this opportunity, prepared in December 2021 by the Head of Sales and Sales Director for its senior management,⁴¹⁴ Hitachi identified [%].
 [%]. The document [%].⁴¹⁵
- 8.186 In relation to Hitachi's documents considered above, Hitachi submitted that an assessment of competition between rail signalling providers is typically tender-specific.⁴¹⁶ In assessing these documents, we took into account that the considerations about each of the Parties' competitors in these documents are, to some extent, tender specific. We consider, however, that the Parties' evaluations of their competitors, even if these are made in the context of a specific tender, provide a helpful indication of the Parties' perception of their key competitors' strengths across different capabilities more generally. A competitive assessment in the context of one tender provides a snapshot of the market at that moment.
- 8.187 These documents show that Thales and Hitachi regularly monitor each other in relation to specific tenders and suggest that Thales and Hitachi consider each other as strong competitors. Although both Parties seem to consider Siemens and Alstom as stronger competitors overall, they see each other as having a strong technical offer and many ETCS references outside the UK. While CAF, Indra and CRSC are identified as possible competitors in some documents, they appear to be perceived as much weaker competitors in Europe by both Parties.
 - Our assessment
- 8.188 As mentioned in paragraph 8.162(c), of the previous GB digital mainline signalling tenders to date, we consider that the ECDP and HS2 tenders are the most similar to the TCSF in terms of size and scale. However, we note

⁴¹¹ Under Hitachi's approval process in place before April 2022, generally at the end of the Phase Gate 2 meeting, a decision would be taken on whether to approve the bid strategy, the bid cost budget and bid organisation. The purpose of the Phase Gate 2 meeting was to discuss, among other things, the project outline, costs, contractual arrangements, potential business partners, measures for risk mitigation and the necessity of product development.

⁴¹² Hitachi response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 3.

⁴¹³ Hiatchi, Annex H.109.Q2.078, slides 16-17.

⁴¹⁴ Hitachi response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 2.

⁴¹⁵ Hiatchi, Annex H.109.Q3.009, slides 15-16.

⁴¹⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 2, and pages 11-12.

that neither of these tenders included some of the design features of the TCSF, including a firm commitment of future workbank and financial support to develop digital technology.

- 8.189 [\gg]. Hitachi may have considered Thales as potential bidder for the ITT [\gg].
- 8.190 [≫].
- 8.191 [≫].

Our provisional conclusion on suppliers' strengths based on digital GB tenders

- 8.192 The evidence on the mainline signalling tenders shows that several of these contracts were, in fact, not digital tenders. Others were testing facilities or very small and unlikely to attract non-GB bidders. [≫].
- 8.193 Regarding the two tenders that are most similar to the TCSF, the evidence shows that the Parties viewed each other as potential bidders for the ECDP and HS2 tenders. We consider this would have been the case at the PQQ stage and [≫]. The Parties viewed Siemens and Alstom as credible competitors for the ECDP and HS2 tenders.
- 8.194 Overall, the evidence on GB digital tenders is based on a relatively few tenders and is unlikely to provide a more reliable source of evidence on the Parties' relative strengths and competitiveness for the TCSF than the Parties' track record in delivering digital tenders in Europe.

Suppliers' characteristics

8.195 In this subsection, we consider the evidence on the suppliers' characteristics and, in particular, the extent to which the Parties and their rivals have assets or underlying capabilities that may make it more or less likely that they will be able to compete effectively. In particular, we consider suppliers' underlying strengths in relation to their access to technology, management and technical expertise, local presence and capacity in GB, their ability to innovate and their financial standing and size. All of these characteristics were identified as important factors by which suppliers will compete for the supply of digital mainline signalling projects in GB. We assessed the relative closeness between the Parties and their rivals by reference to these parameters.

Access to technology

8.196 Suppliers identified access to technology as a key parameter of competition in the mainline signalling market (see paragraph 7.97). In this section, we assess: (i) the closeness of competition between the Parties and their rivals in relation to access to digital mainline signalling technology; and (ii) their ability to obtain approval from Network Rail for those technologies ('**homologation**').

- 8.197 Network Rail procures interlockings, ATP wayside and SCS subsystems as a bundled product (see paragraph 8.21). Network Rail told us that it would continue with this procurement strategy as bundling was 'the most effective and efficient way of delivering projects' and made the management of interfaces easier.⁴¹⁷
- 8.198 Typically, OEMs develop and supply technological solutions while integrators provide installation and integration services for those solutions.⁴¹⁸ The Parties told us that it is the case that some integrators (or OEMs without access to the full suite of mainline signalling technology) may be able to compete with the technology providers, either through the development of their own solution, or by securing licensing or partnership agreements with a technology provider.⁴¹⁹
- 8.199 We note that the development of technology can take place at a global or local level depending on the capabilities of each OEM. For instance, as set out below, the Parties rely on their global resources to develop a subsystem⁴²⁰ whereas CAF's R&D investment efforts are fully carried out in Spain.⁴²¹
- 8.200 In the following subsection, we consider: (i) the Parties' submissions on access to technology; (ii) whether the Parties are close competitors in relation to access to the technology required to deliver digital mainline signalling projects in GB, and how their position compares with the other OEMs; (iii) the estimated costs of homologation; (iv) the evidence on integrators' ability to access technology; and (v) the potential risks of providing a digital mainline signalling solution comprised of multiple suppliers' technologies.

Parties' views

8.201 The Parties submitted that most OEMs have access to the full suite of digital mainline signalling technology.⁴²² For those suppliers that do not have access

- ⁴¹⁹ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.2.
- ⁴²⁰ Hitachi owns various R&D centres that undertake development work for its signalling business and its R&D function primarily sits in Japan. Hitachi does not develop mainline subsystems specifically for UK projects eg it would use the same interlocking technology in various countries. See, Hitachi response to RFI dated 4 May 2022, Q 9, Q 12, and Q 15. Thales' mainline signalling systems can be developed by various of its R&D centres. In this regard, Thales submitted that, [\ll]. See, Thales response to RFI dated 4 May 2022, Q 11. ⁴²¹ 'R&D CAF Signalling', last accessed on 6 June 2023.

⁴¹⁷ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 9(a). Network Rail submitted that it would purchase all subsystems together as bundling is 'the most effective and efficient way of delivering projects' and that it 'provides clarity and makes the management of interfaces [...] easier.'

⁴¹⁸ Amey call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 3; Atkins call transcript, 2 February 2023, page 3; and Linbrooke call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 4.

⁴²² Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 4.22(a).

to all the subsystems, the Parties submitted that access to signalling technology could be obtained through:

- (a) Licensing, citing Atkins as an example of an integrator that has access to an interlocking that was obtained through a licence from Alstom. The Parties told us that incumbents – Siemens and Alstom – have historically licensed their technology and would be incentivised to license their digital technology to integrators, as it would provide an additional revenue stream.⁴²³ Thales, however, told us that [[∞]].⁴²⁴ We consider the Parties' submissions in relation to Atkins and licensing in more detail below, see paragraph 8.220(d).
- *(b)* Partnering with other technology providers.⁴²⁵ The Parties submitted that partnerships between suppliers were common practice in the GB mainline signalling market.⁴²⁶ The Parties told us that it was not unusual for an integrator to provide in its scope of work some of the key technologies (such that the integrator's role goes beyond simply providing delivery capability) in partnerships/consortia.⁴²⁷ In addition, the Parties submitted that OEMs such as Siemens were 'regularly' mandated by Network Rail to subcontract other OEMs (Resonate) to provide the SCS subsystem.⁴²⁸
- 8.202 The Parties submitted that integrators could exercise a meaningful competitive constraint and that integrators' ability to access technology should not be underestimated.⁴²⁹ In support of integrators' ability to access technology and compete on a standalone basis, the Parties provided examples of projects in which integrators have successfully bid as 'lead partners':⁴³⁰
 - (a) Atkins' National ETCS Test Verification Validation and Integration ('TVV&I') Laboratory that would be used for CP7 and CP8;
 - (b) Linbrooke's West Hampstead recontrol project where it was the lead contractor, using Siemens' control system technology;

⁴²³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, paragraph 4.4; and Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, 5 May 2023, page 44.

⁴²⁴ Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, 5 May 2023, page 44.

⁴²⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 3.3 and 4.18.

⁴²⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.18.

⁴²⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.5.

⁴²⁸ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraphs 6.3.14-6.3.15.

⁴²⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.4.

⁴³⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.3; and paragraphs 4.3-4.4.

- *(c)* VolkerRail's re-signalling and re-control project for the Hope Valley Railway Upgrade (in 2020), where it was the lead supplier using licenced technology from Alstom-Bombardier and Resonate; and
- *(d)* Atkins' 2017 contract for the re-signalling of the Norwich-Yarmouth Lowestoft route, using Alstom – Bombardier's interlocking technology.⁴³¹
- 8.203 The Parties also submitted that interfacing between subsystems of different suppliers within a partnership/consortium did not pose a significant risk and the introduction of EULYNX would further reduce any interfacing risks.⁴³² The Parties identified six examples of partnerships/consortia where mainline signalling technology was combined to offer a complete mainline signalling solution:⁴³³
 - *(a)* The Roma-Napoli project. Hitachi partnered with Alstom who supplied interlockings and RBC technologies, respectively. This project entered 'revenue service' in 2005.⁴³⁴
 - *(b)* The TransPennine Route Upgrade tender involved bidders' RBC technology interfacing with Siemens' and Alstom's interlockings, and with Siemens' and Resonate's SCS.
 - (c) The Atkins-led consortium comprising Atkins and Thales for the ECDP tender involved a bid where [≫].
 - (d) In the context of the Italian rail signalling network upgrade to ERTMS, Hitachi partnered with Progress Rail and Mermec. Hitachi will supply [≫] technology, and both Progress Rail and Mermec will supply [≫].
 - *(e)* Hitachi won two ETCS contracts in Germany, for which its ETCS ATP wayside technology must interface with the Thales' and Siemens' interlockings.
 - (*f*) Kombud (interlockings) and CAF (providing ETCS ATP wayside) formed a partnership in Poland in 2021. The partnership has since developed a lab demo based on Kombud's interlocking and CAF's RBC.

⁴³¹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 4.4; and Parties' response to RFI dated 27 April 2023, paragraph 2.5.

⁴³² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 2.7; and paragraphs 4.20-4.21.

⁴³³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, paragraph 4.20; and Hitachi's response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, Q 11(ii).

⁴³⁴ Parties' response to the RFI dated 3 May 2023, paragraph 11.4.

- 8.204 The Parties submitted that they were in 'significantly divergent positions' [%]:⁴³⁵
 - (a) [%].⁴³⁶
 - (b) [%].⁴³⁷
- 8.205 Hitachi told us that [≫]. The Parties therefore submitted that Thales would not exercise a competitive constraint on Hitachi.⁴³⁸
- 8.206 However, the Executive Director for Rail Control and Corporate Officer of Hitachi told us that [≫] in the context of CP6 would [≫].⁴³⁹

Closeness of competition between the Parties and their rivals on access to technology

- 8.207 To compete for Lot 2 of the TCSF, suppliers must have access to digital mainline signalling technology, but this technology does not need to be GB approved prior to bidding.
- 8.208 Industry feedback suggested suppliers who had access to GB approved mainline signalling technology have a competitive advantage when bidding for Lot 2 of the TCSF.⁴⁴⁰
- 8.209 Table 9 provides details on digital mainline signalling subsystems that suppliers who have responded to the PQQ for Lot 2 of the TCSF have access to, as well as whether those subsystems have been approved for deployment on the GB railways.

Table 9: Suppliers' access to digital mainline signalling technology and GB approval

[※]

Source: CMA analysis.

⁴³⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.6.

⁴³⁶ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.38.

⁴³⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.7.

⁴³⁸ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.43(a).

⁴³⁹ Hitachi Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 13, and pages 28-29.

⁴⁴⁰ Network Rail submitted that the latest generation of interlockings for conventional mainline signalling are on a technological level the same as for digital mainline signalling (Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 13). [∞]. Hitachi's response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 3. Furthermore, the majority of the OEMs and integrators that responded to our questions submitted that a supplier with experience in conventional signalling in the UK would have an advantage when bidding for the TCSF. See Amey questionnaire response, Q 12; Alstom questionnaire response, Q 12; CAF questionnaire response, Q 12; Costain questionnaire response, Q 12; EQUANS questionnaire response, Q 12; Indra questionnaire response, Q 12; Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q 12; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 12; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 12; and Volker Rail call transcript, 15 February 2023, page 21.

- 8.210 We provide further detail on each of the suppliers' digital mainline signalling technological solutions below:
 - (a) [%].441,442,443,444
 - (b) [**%**].⁴⁴⁵
 - (C) [**%**].^{446,447,448}
 - (d) [%].^{449,450}
- 8.211 Given suppliers would need to have GB approved technology to deliver digital mainline signalling projects, and most potential competitors for the TCSF would need to undergo the GB approval process, we have assessed the estimated costs of the GB homologation process.

The estimated cost of homologation to GB technical requirements

- 8.212 We asked the Parties, Network Rail, and suppliers to provide estimates for the cost and time required to complete the GB product approval process for digital mainline signalling solutions.
- 8.213 Thales estimated that [≫].⁴⁵¹ Thales submitted that its estimated homologation costs [≫]⁴⁵² [≫].⁴⁵³
- 8.214 Hitachi submitted that it would need to invest approximately [≫].⁴⁵⁴ The Parties submitted that the approval process would take between [≫] years.⁴⁵⁵
- 8.215 Suppliers submitted estimates to obtain GB product approval for digital interlockings, ETCS ATP wayside level 2, and SCS subsystems. On average, the suppliers estimated the GB product approval process for all three subsystems at approximately £14.6 million over a four-year period. The investment requirements submitted by suppliers for interlockings ranged

⁴⁵³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, footnote 110.

⁴⁵⁴ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraphs 1.7(b), 3.38, and 4.12.

⁴⁵⁵ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 4.6(a).

between £3.7–10 million. For ETCS ATP wayside, the investment requirement ranged between £1.5–10 million, and for SCS, the investment requirement ranged between £3–5 million. Five of the seven respondents (including the Parties) submitted that the process would take three years or less.⁴⁵⁶

- (**a**) [**※**].⁴⁵⁷
- (b) Amey submitted that its digital interlockings were currently undergoing the UK approval process but that it would need an 18-to 24-month investment of £6–8 million to develop a EULYNX compatible full system.⁴⁵⁸
- 8.216 [%].459
- 8.217 Thales' product approval cost estimate [≫] provided by suppliers and Network Rail's estimate. As mentioned in paragraph 8.213, Thales explained that [≫].⁴⁶⁰ [≫].
- 8.218 We consider that any competitive advantage that Hitachi may have from [≫] is likely to be small.⁴⁶¹ [≫]. [≫].⁴⁶²

Access to technology by integrators

- 8.219 In relation to the Parties' submissions that integrators could access technology and compete for the TCSF, we note:
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - *(b)* No integrator has obtained a licence for digital mainline signalling technology to supply signalling subsystems for the TCSF; and
 - *(c)* [≫].
- 8.220 Further, the Parties' submissions are broadly inconsistent with the evidence we have received from third parties, namely:
 - *(a)* Network Rail submitted that suppliers without access to technology would be limited in their ability to compete for digital mainline signalling projects

⁴⁵⁶ CMA analysis of competitor questionnaire responses.

⁴⁵⁷ [≫]. [≫]. [≫]. [≫].

⁴⁵⁸ [≫].

⁴⁵⁹ [×]; [×].

⁴⁶⁰ Thales' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q 12 and Q 24; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, footnote 110.

⁴⁶¹ We note that Hitachi's [\gg].

⁴⁶² Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, page 27.

in GB, and this would limit the number of potential bidders for Lot 2 of the TCSF.⁴⁶³

- (b) Resonate told us that its lack of access to the full suite of mainline signalling technology – among other factors – means it has no direct route to market. Resonate added that integrators without access to the full suite of digital mainline signalling technology – such as Amey – would be unable to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF without an OEM partner.⁴⁶⁴
- *(c)* Four of the seven integrators that responded to our questionnaire submitted that they would be open to entering licensing agreements to obtain access to digital mainline signalling technology but that the OEMs would be unwilling to grant licences, as this would strengthen their competitors.⁴⁶⁵
- (d) Atkins told us its ElectroLogIXS interlocking (which is licensed from Alstom) was not ETCS level 2 compliant and therefore would not be ready to use for digital mainline signalling projects. Atkins explained that it would be feasible to obtain digital compliance but indicated that Alstom has not been prepared to work with Atkins to undertake this development.⁴⁶⁶ Atkins told us that in previous bids, it had 'struggled to receive timely and/or competitive sub-contractor responses from Siemens and Alstom'.⁴⁶⁷
- *(e)* ORR told us that integrators would face significant challenges in bidding for the TCSF on a 'level footing with the OEMs'.⁴⁶⁸
- 8.221 With regard to the examples provided by the Parties in which integrators were the lead bidder and/or bid without the support of an OEM, the integrators told us that none of the opportunities identified by the Parties referred to digital mainline signalling projects.⁴⁶⁹
- 8.222 Based on the above evidence, we do not consider that integrators would be able to compete on a standalone basis, and partnering with an OEM appears

⁴⁶⁷ Atkins call transcript, page 12.

⁴⁶³ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 11.

⁴⁶⁴ Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 5, and Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15. ⁴⁶⁵ Atkins response to RFI dated 4 May 2023, Q 2; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 10; Linbrooke questionnaire response, Q 10; and VolkerRail questionnaire response, Q 10. The other three integrators told us they would not enter licensing agreements. Costain explained this was because it did not believe it would offer good value for the client; EQUANS submitted that it did not intend to enter the UK market and so therefore had not considered licensing; and Amey did not provide a rationale. See, Costain questionnaire response, Q 10; EQUANS questionnaire response, Q 10; and Amey questionnaire response, Q 10.

⁴⁶⁶ Atkins response to RFI dated 4 May 2023, Q 2.

⁴⁶⁸ ORR's submission to the CMA, paragraph 16.

⁴⁶⁹ Atkins response to RFI dated 4 May 2023; and VolkerRail response to RFI dated 4 May 2023.

to be the only feasible option available for integrators to compete for digital mainline signalling projects.

Interfacing digital mainline signalling technology within partnerships/consortia

- 8.223 OEMs told us suppliers that could offer a full suite of digital mainline signalling technology would have a competitive advantage compared to partnerships/consortia that offer a technical solution comprised of multiple suppliers' technologies.⁴⁷⁰ OEMs submitted that a single supplier solution reduced the number of interfaces required, which in turn reduced costs and risks, and enabled suppliers to deliver digital mainline signalling projects with more efficiency.⁴⁷¹ CAF explained that these interfacing risks were most prevalent when the digital interlocking and RBC are provided by different suppliers.⁴⁷² Indra considered a single supplier that had access to all the digital mainline signalling subsystems (and therefore a pre-interfaced system) would have advantages over consortium suppliers, as the 'pre-designed integration procedures' would reduce time and cost.⁴⁷³
- 8.224 These suppliers also told us that it was common practice to interface their interlockings with other suppliers' SCS subsystems to form a mainline signalling solution. In GB, Network Rail has often procured SCS subsystems via a separate tender exercise or mandated that SCS subsystems were contracted to designated suppliers.⁴⁷⁴ As a result, most suppliers considered interfacing SCS subsystems with other digital mainline signalling technology would likely present limited risk.⁴⁷⁵
- 8.225 ORR told us that historically there appear to have been some perceived risks linked to using technology from different suppliers for each signaling subsystem.⁴⁷⁶
- 8.226 The introduction of a mandatory EULYNX requirement could reduce interfacing risks for partnerships/consortia and therefore offset the competitive advantage providers of the full suite of mainline signalling technology hold. While ORR said that this might work in principle, it considered that there

⁴⁷⁰ CAF response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 2; Indra questionnaire response, Q 11; Indra response to RFI dated 29 March 2023, Q 5; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 11; and Progress Rail questionnaire response, Q 11.

⁴⁷¹ Alstom questionnaire response, Q 11; CAF questionnaire response, Q 11; Indra questionnaire response,

Q 11; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 11; and Progress Rail questionnaire response, Q 11.

 $^{^{472}}$ CAF response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 2.

⁴⁷³ Indra questionnaire response, Q 11.

⁴⁷⁴ CAF response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 2; and Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 5.

⁴⁷⁵ CAF response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 2, and Q 3(a).

⁴⁷⁶ ORR call transcript, 27 March 2023, pages 20-22.

would always be risk and raised doubts about the viability of multi-supplier solutions, in particular with reference to interlockings and RBC.⁴⁷⁷

- 8.227 With regards to the Parties' submission that it was common for suppliers to interface mainline signalling technology within partnerships/consortia (see paragraphs 8.201(b) and 8.203), our review found that only one of the Parties' six examples the Roma-Napoli project (see paragraph 8.203(a) related to a project where the interlocking and RBC were provided by two different suppliers. We note that this project took place more than 18 years ago in 2005. In relation to the Parties' other five examples, we note:
 - (a) The TransPennine route upgrade was cancelled by Network Rail prior to commencement, ie the multi-supplier signalling system was not deployed;
 - *(b)* [≫];
 - *(c)* Hitachi's Italian framework agreement related to overlay projects, in which Hitachi's ETCS was required to interface with another supplier's interlocking rather than being an example of a partnered signalling solution;⁴⁷⁸
 - *(d)* Hitachi's two ETCS contracts in Germany related to overlay projects, in which Hitachi's ETCS was required to interface with another supplier's interlocking rather than it being an example of a partnered signalling solution; and
 - *(e)* CAF and Kombud's joint digital mainline signalling solution in Poland was developed for a laboratory demonstration and has not been deployed on a live railway environment.
- 8.228 We consider that the above examples do not provide strong evidence that the interfacing of subsystems within partnerships/consortia is 'common' practice. Other third-party evidence indicated that digital mainline signalling solutions comprising multiple suppliers' technology interfaced within partnerships/consortia presents risks. [≫] would be expected to compete closely in this regard.

⁴⁷⁷ ORR call transcript, 27 March 2023, page 20.

⁴⁷⁸ Hitachi response to RFI dated 3 May 2023, Q 11(i).

Provisional conclusion on suppliers' access to technology

- 8.229 Access to technology is a key parameter of competition for the TCSF. Based on the evidence above, suppliers without access to technology would be unable to compete for Lot 2 of the TCSF as single entities. [≫].
- 8.230 Suppliers with access to their own full suite of digital mainline signalling technology would be likely to have a competitive advantage. These suppliers would have fewer interfaces and would face lower interfacing risks. Suppliers indicated that these risks were particularly prevalent in multi-supplier solutions where different suppliers supplied the interlocking and RBC subsystems.
- 8.231 Both Parties have access to the full suite of digital mainline signalling technology that has been deployed and homologated in many digital mainline signalling projects in Europe (see *Management experience* section). [≫]. It is, however, not clear that [≫] would lead to Thales being a less strong supplier for Lot 2 of the TCSF, particularly given Hitachi would still [≫] and would not be able to deliver digital mainline signalling projects materially in advance of Thales. Based on the evidence above, we consider that the Parties are likely to be close competitors with regards to the access to technology parameter of competition.
- 8.232 Alstom and Siemens would likely be strong competitors in relation to the access to technology parameter, as both these suppliers have GB product approval for digital mainline signalling systems or would do with limited further modification. [≫].

Management experience and technical expertise

8.233 We have identified 'management experience and technical expertise' ('management experience') as one of the parameters by which suppliers compete for digital mainline signalling projects. Management experience is relevant for a number of criteria against which Network Rail will conduct its tender evaluation, including project delivery, product development, collaboration and capability development (see *Parameters of competition* section for more detail). The Parties submitted that we have ignored the management experience and technical expertise of integrators in our assessment, but as we explain below, this section considers the experience of suppliers that have undertaken digital mainline signalling projects.⁴⁷⁹ The evidence we have received to date suggests integrators have limited if any track record of winning and undertaking digital mainline signalling projects.

⁴⁷⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.17, and 4.22(b).

We note, however, that integrators have other strengths, and we consider those capabilities in more detail in the *Experience on the GB mainline* section.

- 8.234 In this section, we consider the importance of, and suppliers' relative strengths in relation to:
 - (a) Experience in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects; and
 - (b) Experience in homologating technologies in different countries.

Experience in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects

- 8.235 We first set out the evidence in relation to the importance of this parameter. We then assess suppliers' strengths in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects in Europe.
 - Importance of experience in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects
 - Parties' views
- 8.236 The Parties submitted that our assessment in the working papers overstated the importance of management experience and technical expertise. The Parties agreed that Network Rail would take European references into account but submitted that GB project references would be likely to carry more weight.⁴⁸⁰ The Parties submitted that suppliers would only need to provide one appropriate reference.⁴⁸¹
- 8.237 The Parties submitted that suppliers would submit references that they consider to be the most similar to the project being tendered and the only determinative variants of references are likely to be the size of the project and whether the project was brownfield or greenfield.⁴⁸²
 - Third-party views
- 8.238 Network Rail submitted that it would evaluate suppliers based on their previous experience of delivering similar scale activity and similar levels of technology development and maturity.⁴⁸³ Network Rail would require suppliers to submit up to three examples of previous mainline signalling projects [≫]. Network Rail told us that the key factor regarding the relevance of reference

⁴⁸⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.22(b).

⁴⁸¹ Hitachi's response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q 16.

⁴⁸² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.13.

⁴⁸³ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 24.

projects was whether the technology used on that project aligned with the technical criteria set out in the TCSF tender documents.⁴⁸⁴

- 8.239 Network Rail told us that it considered previous experience to assess whether suppliers were able to:⁴⁸⁵
 - (a) Demonstrate as an international organisation that they have the experience of going through the 'maturity curve' in the development of digital mainline signalling technology; and
 - (b) Explain how their technology would integrate in GB.
- 8.240 OEMs and integrators submitted that suppliers with more experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects would have a greater likelihood of undertaking projects of a similar scale and scope to those procured via the TCSF and would therefore have a competitive advantage when bidding for Lot 2 of the TCSF.⁴⁸⁶ Competitors told us that experience in undertaking projects would provide references to support tender bids (as explained by the Parties). Competitors also indicated that, by undertaking more digital mainline signalling projects, they would learn how to improve technical and operational efficiencies. More experienced suppliers would also be better placed to be able to identify risks in advance and to avoid repeating past mistakes.⁴⁸⁷ Siemens, one of the leading suppliers, submitted that, like other 'big' companies, it would share and spread information across the company to improve the organisation's experience.⁴⁸⁸
 - Our provisional assessment
- 8.241 In summary, based on the evidence above, suppliers with a larger portfolio of projects and broader level of experience would be better placed to provide references in response to Network Rail's tender evaluation. Network Rail considers in its tender evaluation whether suppliers can demonstrate going through the 'maturity curve'. The evidence suggests that more experienced suppliers would be better placed to troubleshoot potential issues that Network Rail might face in future, as they would have a higher likelihood of having undertaken projects similar to Network Rail's TCSF projects. Suppliers with more experience would also likely benefit from technical and operational

⁴⁸⁴ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 12(iii).

⁴⁸⁵ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, pages 21-22; and page 23.

⁴⁸⁶ CAF questionnaire response, Q 13(b); Costain questionnaire response, Q 12(d); Indra questionnaire response, Q 12; Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 13-14; and Stadler questionnaire response, Q 13(b).

⁴⁸⁷ Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 17.

⁴⁸⁸ Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 18; and Indra questionnaire response, Q12.

efficiencies and be better equipped to identify and tackle project risks than those suppliers with more limited digital mainline signalling project experience.

- Suppliers' strengths in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects in Europe
- 8.242 To assess the relative strength of suppliers' management experience, we first considered evidence from the Parties and third parties and then undertook our own analysis on suppliers' relative strengths. Our analysis compares the number and size of digital mainline signalling projects that each supplier has undertaken in Europe (including GB) between 2012 and 2021, and compared those projects won against the size of projects that would be procured via Network Rail's Lot 2 indicative workbank.⁴⁸⁹
 - Parties' views
- 8.243 The Parties submitted an analysis of the number of European digital mainline signalling projects (either interlockings as a standalone project or purchased together with ETCS Wayside) that each European supplier (excluding Siemens and Alstom) has undertaken to date. The results were as follows:⁴⁹⁰
 - (a) Thales had the most digital mainline signalling projects in Europe ([%]) out of the suppliers included in the analysis;⁴⁹¹
 - (b) Hitachi had the second most references with [%];⁴⁹²
 - (c) Enyse had the third most references with [%];
 - (d) CAF had the fourth most references with [\gg], obtained in Spain, Bulgaria and Slovenia; and⁴⁹³
 - (e) The 14 other suppliers identified in the Parties' analysis had no more than 10 references each; Indra and Mermec had [≫] and [≫] references respectively.

⁴⁸⁹ We collated project win data from seven European OEMs: the Parties, Alstom, CAF, Indra, Mermec and Siemens. The values stated are the total contract value.

⁴⁹⁰ Parties' own calculations based on their data for digital mainline signalling (encompassing digital interlockings, ETCS ATP wayside and digital SCS) in EEA+UK+CH in the period 2012-2022. The European OEMs identified by the Parties were AZD-Praha, CAF, CRRC, CRSC, Enyse, HollySys, Indra, Kombud, Mermec, Mersen, Mipro, Pesa, Pintsch, Progress Rail, Scheidt & Bachmann, Stadler, Terna, and Wabtec. Parties' response to RFI dated 24 November 2022, Annex Q.4.

⁴⁹¹ Thales had [\gg] references and Hitachi had [\gg].

⁴⁹² The Parties later submitted that Hitachi's references total [**%**] but have not provided any evidence to support this change.

⁴⁹³ While we note that Parties identified that CAF was active in Slovenia, CAF submitted that [\gg]. CAF questionnaire response, Q 2, and Q 4.

- 8.244 The Parties also noted that, even when considering OEMs' references alone, a number of new entrants have sufficient prior experience to satisfy this PQQ criterion.⁴⁹⁴
- 8.245 The Parties' analysis shows that Thales had substantially more references than the European OEMs included in the analysis (noting that they excluded Siemens and Alstom), in terms of experience in undertaking digital mainline projects, Hitachi has a lower number of references than Thales, but higher than CAF and, by a large distance, than Indra and Mermec. We have constructed our own dataset of digital mainline signalling projects delivered by each supplier, including Siemens and Alstom (see paragraphs 8.250 and 8.251).

• Third-party views

- 8.246 Network Rail submitted that the Parties, Alstom and Siemens had significant experience in delivering large scale digital mainline signalling projects and that their experience would make them strong competitors for the TCSF.⁴⁹⁵ In Network Rail's view, there were few differences in the 'ultimate capability' of the Parties, Siemens, and Alstom.⁴⁹⁶ Network Rail considered that CAF and Indra did not hold the same 'dominant' position in Europe as the Parties, Alstom and Siemens.⁴⁹⁷
- 8.247 ORR told us that on a European-wide basis it was not 'aware of any strong credentials in shares of supply terms outside the European "big four" and that the 'lack of overall market share could have significant implications for such players' product portfolio, capacity levels and ability to supply credentials to Network Rail'.⁴⁹⁸ ORR submitted that the Parties were comparable regarding their significant European market shares.⁴⁹⁹ ORR believed that, given the relatively small pool of players which Network Rail has historically relied on and the significant global signalling credentials of both of the Parties, the Merger would have implications for Network Rail in its efforts to broaden its pool of suppliers.⁵⁰⁰

⁴⁹⁴ The PQQ criterion referred to here by the Parties was Project Delivery, see Table 2 for more detail on this criterion. Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.22(b).

⁴⁹⁵ Network Rail questionnaire response dated 4 January 2023, Q 11; and Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 14.

⁴⁹⁶ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 16.

⁴⁹⁷ Network Rail added that Indra 'might have undertaken one or two' digital projects that have gone into service. Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 16.

⁴⁹⁸ ORR submission to the CMA, paragraph 13.

⁴⁹⁹ ORR call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 26.

⁵⁰⁰ ORR submission to the CMA, paragraph 8.

- 8.248 This view was broadly shared by the competitors that spoke to us.⁵⁰¹ Competitors identified the Parties, Alstom and Siemens owing to their experience in undertaking digital projects in Europe as the 'big four'.⁵⁰² Competitor feedback indicated that CAF, Indra and Mermec had less digital mainline signalling experience than the 'big four'.⁵⁰³ Alstom suggested that CAF had the most references out of the other OEMs; Alstom told us that while CAF had some 'interesting' references in Spain, these were not equivalent to the 'big four'.⁵⁰⁴
 - Analysis of digital mainline signalling projects undertaken by suppliers in Europe
- 8.249 We consider that an aggregate assessment based on size and number of projects undertaken by suppliers is a reasonable indicator of suppliers' general experience. Based on the evidence in paragraphs 8.238 and 8.241, we consider that suppliers with more experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects (including outside GB) may be better placed to resolve localised specific problems and better able to identify industry best practices, as those suppliers would be able to draw on a wider pool of projects and would have a higher likelihood of having faced similar issues in the past.⁵⁰⁵
- 8.250 For the reasons set out above in paragraph 8.249, we have focused on those suppliers that have won and undertaken digital mainline signalling projects. No evidence has been provided by the Parties or integrators to suggest that integrators have routinely won digital mainline projects as standalone bidders.⁵⁰⁶ We consider integrators' project delivery and other experience in the 'GB mainline sector' section below.
- 8.251 Figure 1 presents the volume and value of digital projects the European OEMs have undertaken in Europe (including GB) between 2012-2021.

⁵⁰¹ Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 18; Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 11; CAF call transcript, 13 February 2023, page 8; VolkerRail call transcript, page 14; and Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15. Overall, competitors stated that the Parties are credible bidders for the TCSF Lot 2 (see 'Other evidence on the suppliers' strengths' section).

⁵⁰² Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 5. In addition, CAF described the Parties, Siemens, and Alstom as 'the usual big companies.' CAF call transcript, 13 February 2023, page 10.

⁵⁰³ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 13; Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 14-15; and Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 19.

⁵⁰⁴ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 14.

⁵⁰⁵ Network Rail was unable to define the scope of its future digital projects. Our analysis is focused on the number and size of projects undertaken and does not reveal other factors of experience that may be of interest in Network Rail's assessment of suppliers' strengths, such as specific examples of how suppliers have solved particular problems in particular circumstances.

⁵⁰⁶ Atkins has won a contract in relation to the delivery of Network Rail's National ETCS TVV&I Laboratory, ie a testing centre to be used for CP7 and CP8. Atkins told us that the contract it won is for the provision and management of the test facility to ISO/IEC 17025 Laboratory. The contract is a laboratory testing services agreement and contains no operational and live digital mainline signalling system delivery scope. Atkins' email to the CMA, dated 10 May 2023.

Figure 1: Volume and value of digital projects the European OEMs have undertaken in Europe (including GB) between 2012-2021

Source: CMA bidding data analysis. [%].

 \otimes

8.252 Figure 1 shows that:

- (a) Thales is the second largest competitor in Europe by value and volume of digital contracts won.
- *(b)* Hitachi is the fourth largest competitor in Europe by value and volume of digital contracts won.
- (c) Siemens is the largest competitor in Europe by value and third largest by volume of digital contracts won.
- (*d*) Alstom is the third largest competitor in Europe by value and largest by volume of digital contracts won.
- (e) CAF and Indra are substantially smaller than the Parties in Europe, especially Thales. Indra has undertaken one more digital project compared to CAF, but cumulatively these projects have a lower value than the six undertaken by CAF.
- 8.253 The analysis shows that the Parties, Siemens and Alstom have significantly more experience in undertaking a large number of large scale digital signalling projects than CAF and Indra. This analysis is consistent with the views of Network Rail and competitors that the Parties are two of four major suppliers in Europe. In terms of experience, the Parties are close competitors and have developed considerable experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects.
- 8.254 Figure 2 below compares the number of projects undertaken by European OEMs in Europe (including GB) between 2012-2021, segmented by the project categories used by Network Rail (ie £15–49 million, £50–99 million; and £100 million plus).

Figure 2: Volume of digital projects the European OEMs have undertaken by value in Europe (including GB) between 2012-2021

[※]

Source: CMA bidding data analysis [%].

8.255 Figure 2 shows that:

- (a) The Parties have delivered a substantial number of digital projects across each of the value categories.
- (b) Only the Parties, Siemens and Alstom have experience in delivering high value digital projects over £100 million.
- (c) Indra has $[\aleph]$.
- 8.256 Our analysis shows that the Parties have experience in delivering high value digital mainline signalling projects which are likely to be comparable to the projects that will be commissioned during Network Rail's TCSF.
- 8.257 As mentioned in paragraph 7.21, Network Rail does not intend to commission digital mainline signalling projects with a project value less than £15 million. Table 10 below presents the volume of digital projects the European OEMs have undertaken in Europe (including GB) between 2012-2021 with a value greater than £15 million.

Table 10: Volume of digital projects the European OEMs have undertaken in Europe (including GB) with a value greater than £15 million between 2012-2021

Supplier	Number of digital projects undertaken with a value equal to or greater than £15 million				
Thales	[≫]				
Alstom	[≫]				
Siemens	[≫]				
Hitachi	[≫]				
CAF	[≫]				
Indra	[≫]				
Source: CMA bidding data analysis. [≫].					

- 8.258 Table 10 shows that:
 - (a) Thales has undertaken a similar number of digital projects that are comparable to Network Rail's indicative workbank as Alstom and Siemens.
 - (b) Hitachi has undertaken substantially more digital projects that are comparable to Network Rail's indicative workbank than CAF and Indra and less than Siemens, Thales and Alstom.
 - (c) CAF and Indra have very limited experience in undertaking digital projects that are comparable to Network Rail's indicative workbank.
- 8.259 CAF and Indra's limited available reference projects of a similar size and scope to the anticipated digital projects within the TCSF puts them at a significant disadvantage compared to the Parties, Alstom, and Siemens.

- 8.260 In summary, our analysis shows that the Parties are close competitors in relation to their experience in delivering digital projects in Europe. Both Hitachi and Thales have undertaken numerous large scale, high value digital mainline signalling projects that are of a similar size to those digital projects that will be procured through the TCSF.
- 8.261 Our analysis also shows that Alstom and Siemens have more experience in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects than Hitachi but have broadly similar levels of experience to Thales. By contrast, CAF and Indra have significantly less experience in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects than the Parties. CAF and Indra have limited portfolios of projects that are similar in size to the projects that will be procured by Network Rail, with CAF having three projects over £15 million, and Indra one. Neither CAF nor Indra has undertaken any digital project with a value of £100 million or greater, and Indra has no project over £50 million while CAF has two such projects within its portfolio. While CAF is marginally stronger than Indra in this regard, by comparison to the Parties, Siemens, and Alstom, each of CAF and Indra has significantly less management experience. The Parties, Siemens and Alstom have demonstrated a range of project experience – in particular in relation to larger scale projects – that are more aligned to the variety and scope of the projects so far identified by Network Rail for inclusion in the TCSF than is shown by the smaller OEMs.

• [%]

- 8.262 The Parties submitted [\gg].
 - (a) Thales submitted that [%]. [%].⁵⁰⁷
 - (b) Hitachi submitted that [\gg].⁵⁰⁸

8.263 [※].

- Internal documents about the competitive strength of digital mainline signalling suppliers
- 8.264 We assessed the Parties' internal documents in which each of the Parties assesses its own and its rivals' strengths in relation to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects in general.

- 8.265 Each of the Parties submitted a small number of strategic documents in which each assesses the technical capabilities of the main global competitors in the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects. For example:
 - (a) One strategic document prepared by Hitachi's Chief Strategy Officer for Hitachi's senior management in October 2019 set out an analysis of its main competitors as part of a strategy refresh document. In this document, Hitachi [≫]. [≫].⁵⁰⁹ Hitachi submitted that [≫]. For the reasons explained above, we consider that Hitachi's views of its competitors in Europe are informative about the capabilities and credibility of these players in supplying mainline signalling systems in GB.⁵¹⁰
 - (b) One strategic document prepared by Thales' former VP Sales of ground transportation systems for potential purchasers of Thales in May 2021 provided an overview of each business line's performance.⁵¹¹ [≫].⁵¹² Thales submitted that [≫].⁵¹³
- 8.266 In assessing these documents, we took into account that they consider European market dynamics and do not specifically relate to GB. For the reasons set out at paragraph 8.249, we consider that experience in undertaking digital projects and homologating technologies outside GB are reliable indicators of suppliers' ability to compete for digital mainline signalling projects in GB. These documents indicate that Thales and Hitachi perceive each other among their main competitors, with strong technical capabilities and a strong presence in Europe, alongside Siemens and Alstom. They also suggest that other competitors such as CAF are viewed by the Parties as being technically weaker than the Parties, Siemens and Alstom.
- 8.267 Hitachi and Thales' internal documents are also informative about the importance of their own global management experience in relation to the GB digital mainline signalling market.
- 8.268 In relation to Hitachi, an internal document prepared in July 2022 by Hitachi's Sales Manager responding to questions sent by a communications consultancy for the purposes of assisting Hitachi's signalling commercial campaign to outline Hitachi's unique selling proposition. [≫]. The Parties told us that, given the purpose of this document, its aim was to embellish Hitachi's experience and ambitions for the UK. While we believe that the context in which the document was produced is important, Hitachi's statements about

⁵⁰⁹ Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q5.002, slides 21.

⁵¹⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, page 11.

⁵¹¹ Thales' response to CMA RFI dated 18 May 2023.

⁵¹² Thales, Annex T.Q9.016, slide 43.

⁵¹³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex B, paragraph 30.

the importance of global references, the UK footprint and resource capability remain valid.⁵¹⁴

- 8.269 In relation to Thales, one marketing document prepared by the Head of the UK mainline business at Thales in the context of the HS2 tender (date unknown)⁵¹⁵ includes lines to take to counteract the perception [≫]. This document states that 'Thales are the world's largest supplier of ETCS signalling [≫]. This document also shows that Thales considers its work on [≫] as relevant to UK mainline signalling to demonstrate knowledge and experience of UK signalling and delivery capability.⁵¹⁶ Thales submitted to us that it remains a [≫] in mainline signalling in the UK, [≫].⁵¹⁷ Despite the small presence of Thales in GB, this document suggests that Thales considers having global references and managerial experience and technical expertise is relevant when bidding for the supply of digital mainline signalling systems.
 - Provisional conclusion on experience in undertaking digital projects
- 8.270 Based on the current draft ITT, management experience is relevant for a number of criteria against which Network Rail will assess suppliers at the TCSF tender evaluation, including project delivery, product development, collaboration and capability development. Network Rail told us that it was looking for suppliers that have the experience of going through the 'maturity curve'.
- 8.271 Suppliers with a larger portfolio of projects and broader level of experience have a wider pool of projects from which to select case studies for their tender evaluation submissions. More importantly, suppliers with more experience are likely to have developed more institutional knowledge in the delivery of complex and challenging projects. Suppliers with that higher level of experience told us that they have used their knowledge gained from past projects to improve their technical and operational capabilities and avoid repeating past mistakes. The more projects a supplier undertakes, the more likely it is that it would have confronted a problem that may arise in future for Network Rail. Overall, the evidence suggests strongly that experience in undertaking digital mainline projects is likely to be an important distinguishing factor in suppliers' competitive strengths.
- 8.272 The Parties, Siemens and Alstom have considerably greater experience in undertaking large scale digital mainline signalling projects than other potential

⁵¹⁴ Hitachi, Annex H.109.Q2.053; and Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex A, pages 5-6.

⁵¹⁵ Thales response to RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 4.

⁵¹⁶ Thales, Annex T.Q2.019.

⁵¹⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex B, paragraph 33.

GB entrants. Thales has more experience than Hitachi and is closer to Siemens and Alstom. The Parties are close competitors in this regard. CAF and Indra have considerably less experience than the Parties and would be less well-placed to meet Network Rail's requirements. They are not able to draw on the institutional knowledge that either Party currently possesses.

8.273 No evidence has been provided to suggest that integrators bid for or win digital mainline signalling projects using their own their technology. We consider integrators' project delivery and other capabilities in more detail in paragraphs 8.314 to 8.326.

Experience in homologating technologies in different countries

- 8.274 At paragraphs 7.90, 7.97 and 7.105(b), we explain that management experience is a relevant parameter of competition and that experience in homologation forms an important part of that experience. We first consider the evidence on the importance of experience in homologating in different countries by reference to evidence from the Parties and third parties. We then assess the suppliers' strengths in relation to this by comparing the number of countries in which each supplier has undertaken digital mainline signalling projects, and by extension, the number of countries they have entered and in which they have homologated their technologies.
 - Parties' views
- 8.275 The Parties submitted that their respective experiences of homologating products in Europe was of limited value in assessing their competitive positioning for the TCSF.⁵¹⁸
- 8.276 The Parties further submitted that given homologation is entirely countryspecific, homologation experience in a greater number of European countries provides no material competitive advantage.⁵¹⁹
 - Importance of experience in homologation in different countries and ability to enter new markets
- 8.277 As set out in the 'Parameters of competition' section, Network Rail will evaluate suppliers' ability to homologate technology to GB technical standards at both the PQQ and ITT stages of the TCSF tender.

⁵¹⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.12.

⁵¹⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.17(d).

- 8.278 Network Rail submitted that suppliers with products and delivery experience in countries with similar signalling principles to GB would find it easier to adapt to the GB market.⁵²⁰ Network Rail explained that where suppliers had experience in other countries (eg Holland, France or Germany), it would be a good indicator that they would be able to do the same in the UK.⁵²¹
- 8.279 Network Rail submitted that while it would not take into account the number of countries that a supplier had previously entered (and homologated technology in), Network Rail considered that a supplier with more experience would be able to draw on more examples, and maybe provide more specific relevant examples than those suppliers with less experience.⁵²²
- 8.280 Competitors submitted that experience in homologating technologies in other countries would aid the GB homologation process and suppliers with more experience would have a competitive advantage.^{523,524} Competitors told us that the overall homologation processes between countries for ETCS technology was similar, given the standardised nature of ETCS technology and similarity in specific tests undertaken. Suppliers with more homologation experience would be better placed to identify risks and undertake an efficient homologation process when entering a new geographic market.⁵²⁵ Suppliers also indicated that previous experiences in homologation and working with other infrastructure managers would help support the tender bids.⁵²⁶
- 8.281 The evidence from Network Rail and competitors indicates that experience in homologating technologies in different countries is important in the tender evaluation for Lot 2 of the TCSF.
 - Suppliers' strengths of experience in homologation in different countries and ability to enter new markets
- 8.282 In the following subsection, we assess suppliers' strengths in relation to experience homologating digital mainline signalling technology in different countries. Table 11 below presents the number of European countries

⁵²⁰ Network Rail questionnaire response, Q 14. We asked both Network Rail and ORR to identify countries with similar signalling principles to the UK, but they were unable to do so. ORR call transcript, 27 March 2023, page 6. ⁵²¹ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 21. See Table 2 and Table 3 for more information on the TCSF product development criteria.

⁵²² Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, page 9.

⁵²³ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 17-18; Costain call transcript, 20 February 2023, pages 26-27; Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 16; and Stadler questionnaire response, Q 8.

⁵²⁴ Stadler questionnaire response, Q 8.

⁵²⁵ Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 23; and Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 17.

⁵²⁶ Amey call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 17.

(including GB) in which suppliers have undertaken digital mainline signalling projects.⁵²⁷

Table 11: Number of European countries (including GB) in which suppliers have undertaken digital mainline signalling projects

Supplier	Number of European countries where the supplier has undertaken digital projects		
Alstom	15		
Siemens	15		
Thales	14		
Hitachi	5		
CAF	2		
Indra	1		

Source: CMA bidding data analysis

Note: Mermec did not undertaké digital mainline signalling projects between 2012 and 2021. Thales told us that it is active in 16 European countries. Our analysis is based on the number of countries that Thales has undertaken digital mainline signalling projects between 2012 and 2021.

8.283 Table 11 above shows that:

- (a) Thales has delivered digital mainline signalling projects in at least 14 different countries during this period. Thales' experience in entering jurisdictions and homologating technology is likely to be matched by only Siemens and Alstom.
- *(b)* Hitachi has entered five countries in total and therefore is likely to have less experience than Thales, Siemens, and Alstom. However, it has more experience than the other potential entrants CAF and Indra.
- (c) Siemens and Alstom have the most experience with regards to homologation, with each supplier having undertaken digital projects in 15 European countries during this period.
- *(d)* CAF has entered only one other country (Bulgaria) outside of its home country (Spain) and Indra has not homologated its digital mainline signalling solutions outside of Spain.^{528,529}
- Provisional conclusion on suppliers' relative strengths in homologation
- 8.284 Based on the evidence above, Thales, Siemens and Alstom have extensive experience in entering new markets and homologating their technologies in other markets. Hitachi, although with less experience than those three

⁵²⁷ We assume that in each country a supplier has undertaken a digital mainline signalling project, the supplier homologated its technology to national standards.

⁵²⁸ We note that CAF is active in the supply of conventional not digital interlockings in Slovenia. CAF questionnaire response, Q 2, and Q 4.

⁵²⁹ We note that although Mermec is not included in this data set due to its lack of digital mainline signalling projects in the relevant period, it told us on a call that it had only homologation experience in Italy and Poland. Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 4, and 16.

suppliers, has entered new markets and developed its homologation experience. It is currently in the process of obtaining GB approval for its conventional technologies in GB (see paragraphs 8.204 to 8.206) and potentially has an advantage in this regard over Thales and the other potential entrants.

8.285 Siemens and Alstom's existing presence in GB confers a significant advantage over all other suppliers with regards to conforming to GB standards, as they will require less investment and less time to meet Network Rail's requirements. CAF and Indra have limited experience in homologating their digital technologies in other markets. We consider in more detail (in paragraphs 8.304 and 8.333) whether [≫] would be able to address some of their gap in homologation experience by partnering with GB integrators and whether their TCSF partnerships with [≫] can offset, in full or partially, the evident differences in capabilities that exist between them and the Parties, Siemens and Alstom.

Provisional conclusion on management experience and technical expertise

- 8.286 The Parties are close competitors in relation to management experience and technical expertise. The Parties' track records in Europe show that Thales has more experience than Hitachi and is matched only by Siemens and Alstom, based on the number of mainline signalling projects won and markets in which each has entered and had to homologate mainline signalling technology. Hitachi has experience of entering several European countries, although a smaller set of jurisdictions than any of Siemens, Alstom or Thales.
- 8.287 Other rivals, such as CAF and Indra, have significantly less experience than the Parties, both in undertaking digital mainline projects (in particular high value projects) and in homologating their technologies in other countries. Given the very significant gap in experience between CAF and Indra and the Parties, we consider that the Parties would be better placed to meet Network Rail's requirements to have an international supplier that has gone through the 'maturity curve'.

Experience in GB mainline signalling

8.288 In this section we discuss first OEMs' experience in GB mainline signalling and second to what extent partnering with an integrator might help OEMs to overcome any lack of GB experience.

OEMs' experience in GB mainline signalling

- 8.289 As noted in the Parameters of competition section, we consider that experience in GB mainline signalling is likely to be important for suppliers bidding for the TCSF. Although it may be possible for OEMs without significant GB mainline signalling experience to bid successfully for the TCSF, having GB experience could be an advantage. For example, in PQQ and ITT responses it may be easier for suppliers with GB experience to evidence their ability to:
 - (a) implement their workforce deployment plan because they already have GB employees (assessed at ITT under 'approach to Phase 2 delivery');
 - (b) work with Network Rail and meet its delivery requirements (not a standalone assessment, but could affect scores in categories such as 'project delivery', 'collaboration', 'behavioural' and 'health and safety'); and
 - (c) interface their digital mainline signalling with existing infrastructure (assessed at PQQ under 'project delivery').
 - Parties' views
- 8.290 The Parties submitted that they both 'lack meaningful presence' in UK.⁵³⁰ The Parties noted that Hitachi and Thales currently have relatively few UK mainline signalling employees ([&] and [&] respectively).⁵³¹
- 8.291 The Parties submitted that, while limited compared to Siemens and Alstom, Hitachi has some UK mainline signalling experience (CP6 MaSREF supplier, Cambrian Line) and [12]. The Parties stated that Thales has no experience of being a major signalling framework supplier.⁵³² In addition, the Parties submitted that Hitachi has experience of GB digital mainline signalling while Thales does not.⁵³³ However, Thales has undertaken some work in adjacent markets such as axle counters and TMS solutions.534
- 8.292 The Parties submitted that Siemens and Alstom (in addition to Hitachi) currently hold places on the CP6 framework.⁵³⁵ They also submitted that Siemens' and Alstom's incumbency advantages mean that they are expected

 ⁵³⁰ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, page 4.
 ⁵³¹ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects paragraphs 4.6-4.7.

⁵³² The Parties submitted that Thales' experience is limited to the [%] of TMS contracts, [%]. Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.14.

⁵³³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 3.10-3.11.

⁵³⁴ Parties' response to RFI dated 6 October 2022, Q 1; and Parties' response to the Issues Letter, 23 November 2022, paragraph 8.7.1.

⁵³⁵ Parties' response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, paragraph 4.7.

to 'remain the dominant players' in CP7 and CP8 (including for digital signalling)⁵³⁶ and would be the strongest competitors for the contestable portion of the Lot 2 (digital) workbank.⁵³⁷ The Parties also submitted that, Siemens and Alstom 'hold a strong position' in a competitive market for recruiting skilled staff.⁵³⁸

- 8.293 Regarding the ability to interface with existing infrastructure, the Parties submitted that current interlocking providers (particularly Siemens and Alstom) and current SCS providers (Siemens, Alstom and Resonate) have incumbency advantages.⁵³⁹ In particular, they also submitted that Siemens' and Alstom's signalling subsystems already have the relevant interfaces to the installed interlockings.⁵⁴⁰ The Parties also told us that Siemens and Alstom have historically licensed their technology to integrators such that integrators have an understanding and experience of interfacing with the installed base of interlockings in the UK.⁵⁴¹
 - Third-party views
- 8.294 Network Rail has explicitly stated that, in order to induce entry, UK experience was not included in the tender criteria and that suppliers would be able to demonstrate their capabilities in product and system development outside of the UK.⁵⁴² Suppliers must demonstrate their ability to tailor their mainline signalling solution to meet Network Rail's business requirements and demonstrate and explain their approach to collaboration (but do not need explicit UK experience).⁵⁴³
- 8.295 Evidence from some suppliers implied that TCSF bidders who have previously worked with Network Rail would be better able to demonstrate the ability to collaborate with Network Rail and understand its requirements.⁵⁴⁴ In particular, institutional knowledge about working in the UK may confer an advantage to those suppliers when bidding for the TCSF.⁵⁴⁵
- 8.296 Submissions from Siemens and Alstom confirmed that they have significant GB mainline signalling experience. Siemens described itself as having a

⁵³⁸ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.5.

⁵³⁶ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.12.

⁵³⁷ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraph 3.14.

⁵³⁹ Parties, Submission on ETCS ATP wayside resignalling projects, paragraphs 3.11-3.12; and Parties, Submission on OCS projects, 28 March 2023, paragraph 3.3.3.

⁵⁴⁰ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 3.5.

⁵⁴¹ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.3.

⁵⁴² Network Rail call transcript, 22 March 2023, pages 8-9.

⁵⁴³ Network Rail questionnaire response, 'TCSF PQQ & ITT Questions & weighting – Digital'.

⁵⁴⁴ Stadler questionnaire response, Q 14; Mermec questionnaire response; and Resonate questionnaire response Q 14.

⁵⁴⁵ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 12.

'complete conventional and digital signalling solution' and 'extensive' UK experience.⁵⁴⁶ Alstom described itself as having a large installed base in the Eastern, Southern and Western regions and as being a major signalling framework holder in the Eastern and Southern regions.⁵⁴⁷ Siemens and Alstom currently have large mainline signalling workforces based in the UK ([\gg] and [\gg] employees respectively).⁵⁴⁸

- 8.297 CAF and Indra confirmed that they did not have GB mainline signalling experience. CAF submitted that it has no previous contractual relationship with Network Rail and has in the past only supplied ETCS on-board units (the customers are train operating companies).⁵⁴⁹ Indra submitted that it was not a supplier of technology in the UK and that its [≫] but told us that it had provided consultancy services to Network Rail in 2019 in relation to TMS.⁵⁵⁰ CAF and Indra have no UK mainline signalling employees.⁵⁵¹
- 8.298 Regarding interfacing with existing technology, the ORR market study found no clear evidence that interfacing issues had 'very often' deterred companies from bidding or been 'determinative' in Network Rail's contract award decisions. However, ORR found evidence of 'suppliers withdrawing from a major signalling project tender as a result of concern about interfaces and access to control centre technology' and that interfacing issues led to cost escalation.⁵⁵² ORR submitted that in areas where interfacing is required it 'always' causes problems.⁵⁵³
- 8.299 Some third parties considered that new suppliers face obstacles when seeking to interface their technology with the existing signalling solutions:
 - (a) Mermec told us that 'despite all the efforts (ie EULYNX interfaces) there are no universal solutions [to interfacing], so every time there are two different supplier[s] connecting two different subsystems, instead of just one supplier, there are increasing costs and risks'.⁵⁵⁴
 - *(b)* CAF told us that interfacing with installed signalling systems of other OEMs was not a technical barrier but more a legal barrier because the interfaces were 'proprietary'.⁵⁵⁵

⁵⁴⁶ Siemens response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 2.

⁵⁴⁷ Alstom response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 2.

⁵⁴⁸ Alstom response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 1; and Siemens response to RFI dated 16 February, Q 2.

⁵⁴⁹ CAF response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 1.

⁵⁵⁰ Indra call transcript, 27 January 2023, page 4, and page 9; and Indra questionnaire response, Q 14.

⁵⁵¹ CAF response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 1; and Indra responses to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 1. ⁵⁵² ORR, ORR Market Study, paragraph 7.46.

⁵⁵³ Note of a call, ORR, 27 March 2023, paragraph 26.24.

⁵⁵⁴ Mermec questionnaire response, Q 11.

⁵⁵⁵ CAF call transcript, 13 February 2023, page 27.

- (c) Resonate also told us, while it was not technically difficult to establish the interface, both Siemens and Alstom have proprietary interfaces and can (and do) block access to the necessary proprietary information.⁵⁵⁶
- 8.300 In its Remedies Monitoring Report, ORR noted that in the TCSF suppliers would be contractually obliged to cooperate particularly in regard to technology interfaces.⁵⁵⁷ When launching the TCSF, Network Rail noted that suppliers would be 'obliged to observe fair conduct rules including to cooperate and engage in good faith with a proprietary works supplier [...] in order to ensure the successful and safe delivery of works'.⁵⁵⁸ In our view, this is significant to the extent third-party evidence indicates that interfacing issues are not primarily technical, but more related to accessing proprietary information.
 - Our provisional assessment
 - 8.301 We currently consider that Siemens and Alstom have extensive experience in GB mainline signalling. This is likely to mean that they could demonstrate their ability to meet the TCSF PQQ and ITT criteria using GB evidence. They would also have clear advantages in demonstrating their ability to interface with existing GB signalling technology.
 - 8.302 All other OEMs (including the Parties) have substantially less GB experience than Siemens and Alstom. Hitachi has some previous GB experience in CP6, having carried out two projects: the Cambrian Line and CP6 MaSREF. Thales has not won a place on any previous Network Rail framework but has undertaken some work in adjacent markets, ie as a supplier of axle counters and as a provider of TMS solutions.⁵⁵⁹ [≫].
 - 8.303 However, as discussed in more detail in the next section, these OEMs can partner with an integrator to demonstrate their ability to meet the PQQ and ITT criteria where GB evidence is advantageous.
 - 8.304 We currently consider that any other OEMs potentially participating in the TCSF (other than Siemens and Alstom) would face some obstacles to interfacing with existing GB signalling technology, but we have not seen

⁵⁵⁶ Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 12-13.

⁵⁵⁷ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraphs 3.26-3.27, and paragraph 3.30. The Remedies Monitoring Report also notes the introduction of alliance contracting which encourages suppliers to work together by requiring them to participate in an incentivisation regime where suppliers share equal responsibility for the delivery of the project such that, for example, any penalties for under-performance will be borne equally by all parties in the contract.

⁵⁵⁸ 'View Notice – Sell2Wales', last accessed 12 May 2023, section II.2.4.

⁵⁵⁹ Thales response to s109 Noticed dated 23 December 2022, Q 2; and Thales to partner with Network Rail to enhance track safety at UK level crossings | Thales Group, last accessed 23 May 2023.

evidence that these obstacles would differ between these OEMs (other than Siemens and Alstom). Furthermore, these obstacles are unlikely to be insurmountable from a technical perspective, and Network Rail has a vested interest in helping successful bidders to overcome them in order to facilitate entry. While not removing interfacing barriers entirely, EULYNX is likely to simplify interfacing to some extent.

The ability of integrators to complement OEMs' experience in GB mainline signalling

- 8.305 [≫].
- 8.306 In this section, we first consider the potential benefits of partnering with an integrator, then describe the current position in terms of which OEMs are likely to partner with which integrators for the TCSF before going on to assess the strengths of different integrators.
 - The benefits of partnering with an integrator
- 8.307 The Parties told us that they expect European OEMs to partner with integrators and that integrators can provide local knowledge and have mature relationships with Network Rail.⁵⁶⁰ The Parties submitted that integrators did not simply provide staffing for projects undertaken by other suppliers but that they also led their own signalling projects and were responsible for project delivery and, as such, could provide relevant references showing project delivery capabilities, including in GB.⁵⁶¹ For the TCSF, the Parties submitted that integrators would be better placed to bid than new entrants alone, as 40% of the technical criteria at PQQ would be awarded to 'project delivery', and 35% of points at ITT focus on non-technical criteria (health & safety, social value, and behavioural).⁵⁶² [≫].
- 8.308 The ORR market study noted that, since 2012, fewer major signalling framework bids had been submitted by integrators.⁵⁶³ However ORR's Remedies Monitoring Report stated that the importance of the integrators as a route to market remains strong.⁵⁶⁴ ORR told us that this statement meant that integrators could play a useful role in providing a route for new entrants.

⁵⁶⁰ Parties, response to the Issues Letter, 23 November 2022, paragraph 6.9.

⁵⁶¹ Parties, Response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 4.17, and 4.22(b).

⁵⁶² Parties, Response to the AIS and WP, paragraphs 3.3 and 4.22(b).

⁵⁶³ ORR, ORR Market Study, paragraph 6.11.

⁵⁶⁴ ORR, Remedies Monitoring Report, paragraph 3.4.

Integrators could bid for the TCSF if they were supported by a cooperating $\mathsf{OEM}^{.565}$

- 8.309 Regarding bids for the TCSF involving integrators, Network Rail told us that it was 'not expecting that every organisation will currently have that UK experience' and that bids from consortiums or joint ventures 'are […] to some degree actually welcomed'.⁵⁶⁶ When asked whether a consortium bid might close the gap in the UK resources required to deliver UK digital mainline signalling projects, Network Rail submitted that the [≫] because [≫].⁵⁶⁷
- 8.310 Competitors also thought that integrators' operational experience with Network Rail could support potential new entrants. For example:
 - (a) [%].⁵⁶⁸
 - *(b)* VolkerRail stated that partnering with an integrator could 'absolutely' provide new entrants with knowledge of the UK market.⁵⁶⁹
 - (C) [X].⁵⁷⁰
 - Partnerships between OEMs and integrators for the TCSF

8.311 [≫]:

- (a) Hitachi submitted that, $[\aleph]$.⁵⁷¹ $[\aleph]$, Hitachi submitted that $[\aleph]$.⁵⁷²
- (b) $[\%].^{573}$ [%]. Thales submitted that $[\%].^{574}$
- 8.312 Regarding the other Lot 2 TCSF PQQ respondents, Siemens and Alstom each submitted a response individually, but kept open the possibility of subcontracting to an integrator. The other respondents to the PQQ for Lot 2, were submitted jointly by an integrator and an OEM:

⁵⁶⁸ [%].

⁵⁷⁰ [≫].

⁽a) [×]. [×].⁵⁷⁵

⁵⁶⁵ Note of a call, ORR, 28 April 2023; and ORR's email to the CMA dated 11 May 2023.

⁵⁶⁶ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 22.

⁵⁶⁷ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 18.

⁵⁶⁹ VolkerRail call transcript, 15 February 2023, page 26.

⁵⁷¹ Hitachi's response to RFI dated 23 February 2023, Q 15.

⁵⁷² [%].

⁵⁷³ [X]. Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, 2 May 2023, page 22.

⁵⁷⁴ [×], [×].

⁵⁷⁵ [※]. [※].

- *(b)* [≫].⁵⁷⁶ [≫].⁵⁷⁷ [≫]:
 - (i) [≫].
 - (ii) [≫].⁵⁷⁸
- 8.313 As discussed above, [^S]; however there are at least nine integrators available as main or supplementary partners for bidders.⁵⁷⁹ Network Rail noted that subcontracting arrangements must be reflected within suppliers' contracts; however, it recognises that subcontracting arrangements may be subject to change and therefore may not be finalised until a later date. Suppliers who wish to make changes to subcontracting arrangements indicated in their PQQ response must notify Network Rail of any changes and can make changes until the contract is awarded.⁵⁸⁰ Therefore, suppliers still have the option to bring on board one or more integrators to improve the strength of their bids.
 - The strengths of different integrators
- 8.314 Some signalling integrators were among Network Rail's top 20 suppliers in the financial year 2021-22, though we note this is not limited to signalling spend with some of the integrators (Amey, Colas, Balfour Beatty, Atkins and VolkerRail).⁵⁸¹
- 8.315 Regarding the relative strengths of individual integrators, the Parties submitted that, in order of size of Network Rail's signalling spend, Atkins, VolkerRail, Linbrooke and Colas each accounted for a higher proportion of Network Rail's spend than each of the Parties over the period 2021 to 2022.⁵⁸²
- 8.316 The Parties also submitted that Atkins, Linbrooke, VolkerRail and Amey have successfully bid in the UK as lead partners (see paragraph 8.202).
- 8.317 The Parties submitted they are already aware that [\gg] are likely to partner for the TCSF, as well as [\gg].⁵⁸³

⁵⁷⁶ [≫].

⁵⁷⁷ [≫].

⁵⁷⁸ [×].

⁵⁷⁹ We note that six of these nine integrators have GB mainline signalling experience.

⁵⁸⁰ Network Rail response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, 'TCSF 29248 - Instructions to Participants', paragraph 7.5.2.

⁵⁸¹ 'Top 20 Network Rail Suppliers by Spend 2021-22', last accessed on 17 May 2023.

⁵⁸² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.8.

⁵⁸³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.19.

- (a) Regarding [≫], the Parties submitted that it, 'in particular', is 'well placed to compete for TCSF' and it has a 'unique position' as an integrator with an exclusive licence to a conventional interlocking that is compatible with ETCS and approved for use in the UK.⁵⁸⁴ They also submitted that [≫] is the second most experienced supplier for ETCS in the UK after Siemens and has significant delivery experience.⁵⁸⁵
- (b) Regarding [&], the Parties submitted that it has grown its UK experience rapidly in recent years and is expected to be a strong contender [&].⁵⁸⁶
- 8.318 Six integrators have told us that they have experience of working in mainline signalling in GB, [[≫]] (Amey, Atkins, Colas, Costain, Linbrooke, and VolkerRail).⁵⁸⁷ In addition, Network Rail submitted that 12 other integrators have expressed interest in subcontracting on the TCSF.⁵⁸⁸
- 8.319 Several integrators have been awarded signalling contracts under the most significant signalling frameworks since CP3, see Table 12. This includes Atkins, Colas, Linbrooke and VolkerRail but not Amey.

Integrator	CP3*	CP4 & CP5†	CP6 Major Signalling Framework‡	CP6 Signalling and Telecoms Framework†
Atkins	х	Two primary awards – total value £35 million		Value £291 million
Babcock				Value £291 million
Colas				Value £125 million
Linbrooke			Value £0 million (in partnership with Hitachi)	Value £261 million
Signalling Solutions	Х	Three primary awards –	· · /	
Limited§		total value £403 million		
-		Five secondary awards – total value £1,004 million		
VolkerRail				Value £216 million

Table 12: Signalling contracts awarded by to integrators from CP3 to CP6

Source: CMA analysis of Signalling market study update - Annex C - Procurement of signalling (May 2021). * Contract values not available.

† The main signalling framework in CP4 and CP5 was the MaSREF. There were nine geographic lots and two suppliers per lot – a primary award and a secondary award. The values in this table are for the value of the whole lot, not apportioned between the primary and secondary award.

[‡] The Major Signalling Framework is the top tier framework for CP6. The S&T Framework sits below the Major Signalling Framework. The values in this table are for the whole lot, not just the signalling element.

§ An Alstom and Balfour Beatty joint venture.

8.320 When asked to note who would be a potential bidder for the TCSF:

(a) several OEMs and integrators named Atkins:

⁵⁸⁷ Amey call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 24; Atkins call transcript, 2 February 2023, page 4; Colas'

response to RFI dated 4 January 2023, Q 21; Costain call transcript, 20 February 2023, page 11; Linbrooke call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 7; and. VolkerRail call transcript, 15 February, page 6.

⁵⁸⁸ Network Rail response to RFI dated on 14 February 2023, 'Preliminary Market Consultation Report for Digital Signalling Procurement, ETCS from CP7 onwards', Table 1.

⁵⁸⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.9.

⁵⁸⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.10.

⁵⁸⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 4.19.

- (i) Alstom described it as a 'digital systems integrator for East Coast Mainline and F/Bane in Denmark', but noted that it had 'no [signalling] products'.⁵⁸⁹
- (ii) Siemens described it as an 'integrator' with a 'licensed conventional signalling solution' and 'some UK delivery experience'.⁵⁹⁰
- (iii) Amey described it as not having a 'complete solution' but having 'engineering resources and experience'.⁵⁹¹
- (iv) Colas Rail described it as a 'previous SSI provider and license holder for Electrologxs interlocking (conventional signalling system)' with 'limited recent experience in UK market'.⁵⁹²
- (v) Costain said it believed that Atkins is 'partnering with another supplier possibly CAF/Stadler although those OEMs have a long way to go to get a [product accepted] system working with an RBC'.⁵⁹³
- (b) Two other integrators were named by just one respondent:
 - (i) Amey: Siemens described it as having no 'in house solution', but 'some UK delivery experience'.⁵⁹⁴
 - (ii) VolkerRail: Amey described it as 'not an OEM', so it 'will have to be part of a joint bid to be compliant'.⁵⁹⁵
- *(c)* Finally, the combination of Atkins and CAF was identified as a potential bidder by Amey, which said that 'they both have mature technology, but they have not been integrated'.⁵⁹⁶
- 8.321 In relation to the relative strength of integrators, we note that Linbrooke told us that it considered itself to be on a par with VolkerRail and Atkins, based on their past relationships with OEMs and participation in past mainline signalling frameworks in GB. Linbrooke noted that Amey might but did 'not tend' to compete as an integrator with Linbrooke for mainline signalling frameworks. Linbrooke also noted that 'Costain bid for the CP6 MaSREF, supported by Thales, and did not win it'.⁵⁹⁷

⁵⁸⁹ Alstom response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹⁰ Siemens response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹¹ Amey response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹² Colas Rail response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹³ Costain response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹⁴ Siemens' response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹⁵ Amey response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹⁶ Amey response to RFI dated 18 October 2022, Q 17.

⁵⁹⁷ Transcript of call with Linbrooke, page 18.

- 8.322 ORR market study noted that Atkins had had 'considerable success in obtaining work in major signalling frameworks' up to and including CP5. It was able to do this by accessing the SSI interlocking technology owned by Westinghouse/Invensys and GEC/Alstom.⁵⁹⁸
- 8.323 The integrators that responded to our question submitted that they had between 100 and 300 UK mainline signalling staff. Amey and Linbrooke each had 100 to 150 staff; VolkerRail had 200 to 250 staff; and Atkins and Costain each had 200 to 300 staff.⁵⁹⁹ We do not see these differences as a material differentiator between them, given they all have substantial numbers of UK mainline signalling staff and would have time to increase their numbers to meet future digital mainline signalling needs.
- 8.324 A report prepared for Hitachi's sales team to its UK executive team in July 2021, [\gg]. The document [\gg].⁶⁰⁰ [\gg].⁶⁰¹ [\gg].⁶⁰²
- 8.325 Thales' assessment of the TCSF opportunity prepared [≫],⁶⁰³ mentioned above in paragraphs 8.98 to 8.100, includes [≫]. [≫].
 - (**a**) [≫].⁶⁰⁴
 - (b) [%].⁶⁰⁵
 - (C) [≫].
- 8.326 In summary, this evidence provides a mixed picture of the strengths of integrators. Various evidence sources point to Atkins being a strong partner with significant GB signalling experience. Amey, VolkerRail and Linbrooke also emerge as relatively strong partners based on competitor views, experience with Network Rail and the Parties' internal documents.
 - Our provisional assessment
 - 8.327 We currently consider the fact that, other than Siemens and Alstom, [[≫]] shows the role integrators can play in the supply of GB mainline signalling. The evidence suggests that bidding as a partnership between an integrator

⁵⁹⁸ ORR, ORR Market Study, paragraph 6.8.

⁵⁹⁹ Atkins response to RFI dated 17 February 2023, Q 1; Colas Rail response to RFI dated 17 February 2023, Q 1; Costain response to RFI dated 17 February 2023, Q 1; Linbrooke response to RFI dated 17 February 2023, Q 1; Resonate response to RFI dated 17 February 2023, Q 1; and Amey's email to the CMA dated 23 March 2023.

⁶⁰⁰ Hitachi, Annex HRL0000162, slide 16.

⁶⁰¹ Hitachi, Annex HRL0000162, slide 16.

⁶⁰² Hitachi, Annex HRL0000162, slide 17.

⁶⁰³ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875, page 17.

⁶⁰⁴ [≫]. [≫].

⁶⁰⁵ [%]. [%]. [%].

and OEM would not, by itself, be a disadvantage and that the involvement of an integrator is important to complement the offer of some OEMs, which would be much weaker competitors on a standalone basis for major contracts.

- 8.328 We currently consider that [≫] is likely to be the strongest integrator in the context of the TCSF. For example, it was [≫], and it has significant GB experience. Regarding the remaining integrators, we have not seen evidence suggesting significant differences in their capabilities. We also note that based on the data considered in its market report in relation to Network Rail's expenditure in mainline signalling in CP3, CP4 and CP5, ORR noted that [≫].⁶⁰⁶
- 8.329 We do not see differences in the size of integrators' current UK staff as a material differentiator between them, given they all have substantial numbers of UK mainline signalling staff and would have time to increase their numbers to meet future digital mainline signalling needs.

Provisional conclusion on experience in GB mainline signalling

- 8.330 Based on the evidence above, we consider that the Parties are likely to compete closely with one another in respect of experience in GB mainline signalling. Hitachi has had more experience with Network Rail as a CP6 provider and has undertaken a digital mainline signalling project in GB. While Thales has had less GB mainline signalling experience than Hitachi, we note that it has been active in GB mainline signalling as a supplier of axle counters and as a provider of TMS solutions. [[≫]].
- 8.331 We currently consider that Siemens and Alstom have significant advantages in terms of their respective GB based workforces, their experience of working with Network Rail on mainline signalling and the fact that, having supplied a large volume of existing GB signalling infrastructure, interfacing will be easier for them.
- 8.332 [※].
- 8.333 Regarding interfacing with existing GB signalling technology, we currently consider that potential bidders for the TCSF (other than Siemens and Alstom) will face some obstacles, but these obstacles are not insurmountable from a technical perspective.

Innovation

- 8.334 As part of the TCSF ITT criteria, bidders will need to set out how they intend to innovate to achieve the £190k per ETCS SEU requirement (the T190 target, see paragraph 7.94).
- 8.335 Network Rail will assign 10% of the overall ITT score to suppliers' ability to apply a combination of innovation and efficiency measures to reach the T190 target. This is in addition to the 30% weight that Network Rail assigns to the commercial criteria. Network Rail will assess suppliers' plans to reach the T190 target, their unit cost glide paths, and consider assurances that these can be achieved. Suppliers' responses regarding the T190 target will form commitments within Network Rail's framework agreements with successful suppliers.⁶⁰⁷
- 8.336 The responses we have received from third parties indicate that SEU is a UKspecific concept which is highly complex and has no common industrywide definition.⁶⁰⁸ Given this, we have not assessed suppliers' current prices per SEU.
- 8.337 Regarding suppliers' plans to achieve the T190 target, the current draft ITT evaluation framework is not yet published, so some suppliers said they have not yet considered their plans to reach the T190 target.⁶⁰⁹ Where suppliers have started to consider their plans, the information they have provided to us is not sufficient for us to differentiate between their respective abilities to meet the T190 target. Some suppliers identified Network Rail as the key enabler to reach the T190 target as Network Rail's plans and processes also affect the cost per SEU.⁶¹⁰
- 8.338 We consider, therefore, that it is not currently possible to assess potential bidders' ability to meet the T190 target. However, to the extent there are differences in the strengths of suppliers' ability to innovate, we consider that suppliers with more experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects are likely to be better placed to introduce efficiencies and process

⁶⁰⁷ Network Rail's response to RFI dated 13 January 2023, 'TCSF PQQ & ITT Questions & weighting – Digital Lot', page 16.

⁶⁰⁸ ORR, Alstom and Siemens said that there are many SEU types with a large number of factors determining each type and that it is specific to Network Rail and the UK. Alstom response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 4, and Q 5; and Siemens response to RFI dated 16 February, Q 5, and Q 6.

 ⁶⁰⁹ Thales response to RFI dated 16 February, Q 14; Indra response to RFI dated 16 February, Q 4; Thales response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 14; Indra response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 4.
 ⁶¹⁰ Alstom response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 5; CAF response to RFI dated 16 February 2023, Q 5; and Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 41.

improvements than smaller OEMs that have less management experience (see paragraphs 8.233 to 8.287).

Financial size and standing

- 8.339 We identified the financial size and standing of a company as one of the parameters of competition in paragraph 7.105(e). The financial credentials of prospective suppliers are typically assessed as part of the Network Rail procurement process to ensure that bidders can perform the contract and handle the associated commercial and financial risks.
- 8.340 We understand that Network Rail will focus on the liquidity and solvency positions of prospective bidders during the PQQ phase of the procurement and that prospective TCSF suppliers are able to rely on the financial position of their parent company for the purposes of demonstrating financial robustness.⁶¹¹

8.341 [≫]:

- (a) [%];⁶¹² and
- *(b)* [≫].⁶¹³
- 8.342 We consider that each of the companies identified above is likely to meet the financial standing and stability requirements set by Network Rail at PQQ stage, such that financial standing is not a significant differentiating factor.
- 8.343 However, related to financial standing is the size of a company's revenue in the relevant activities. Even where firms are able to meet those financial requirements considered as part of the tender process, procuring authorities such as Network Rail may request further financial information at any stage of the procurement cycle⁶¹⁴ and may assess annual turnover in the relevant activities. Third parties told us that in their experience prospective bidders are typically required to meet certain minimum revenue thresholds.⁶¹⁵
- 8.344 In this context, we note that Network Rail asked prospective bidders to provide annual revenue figures for works similar in scope to Lot 2 of the

- ⁶¹² [%].[%].
- ⁶¹³ [×]. [×]. [×]. [×]. [×].

⁶¹¹ Provided that the parent company guarantees contracts awarded to its subsidiaries. See, Network Rail questionnaire response, 'Supplier Financial Capability Model'.

⁶¹⁴ Network Rail questionnaire response, 'Instructions to Participants: Train Control Systems Framework',

paragraph 6.4.3.

⁶¹⁵ CAF questionnaire response, Q 15; and Indra questionnaire response, Q 15.

TCSF, as part of its preliminary market consultation.⁶¹⁶ Figure 3 below compares the revenue figures provided by each of the companies that responded to the PQQ.

Figure 3: Estimated revenue from work similar in scope to Lot Two of the TCSF

[※]

Source: Network Rail response to RFI dated on 14 February 2023, 'Preliminary Market Consultation Report for Digital Signalling Procurement, ETCS from CP7 onwards'. Note: Revenue figures for [%]

8.345 Figure 3 shows that [%].

Price

- 8.346 Network Rail will assess price as part of its 'commercial criteria', which has 30% weighting at the ITT stage of the TCSF tender (see paragraphs 7.46, 7.87 and 7.88). Network Rail will assess suppliers' bids on operational costs, and not on upfront investment costs.⁶¹⁷
- 8.347 In the following subsection we consider the Parties' views in relation to the price parameter of competition and provide our assessment.
 - Parties' views
- 8.348 As discussed in paragraph 7.79, the Parties submitted that a supplier's 'bidding strength' in the TCSF would depend on its ability to score well on cost, delivery and technical aspects.⁶¹⁸ However, the Parties' assessment of closeness of competition for the TCSF focuses mainly on profitability which relates only to the first of these criteria.
- 8.349 The Parties submitted that profitability was a function of the supplier's (i) 'need for upfront investment to qualify the ETCS technology'; and (ii) 'the timing and value of projects (ie revenue generation)'.⁶¹⁹
- 8.350 The Parties stated that due to possessing ([≫]) approved GB digital mainline signalling technology, Alstom, Siemens, Atkins, and Hitachi would find the TCSF a more profitable (and more attractive) opportunity than would Thales and other potential entrants.⁶²⁰ As a result, the Parties considered that [≫]

⁶¹⁶ Network Rail response to RFI dated on 14 February 2023, 'Preliminary Market Consultation Report for Digital Signalling Procurement, ETCS from CP7 onwards', pages 4-5.

⁶¹⁷ The pricing estimates which ITT bidders will submit to Network Rail will be affected by both the components bidders intend to use to deliver the output and the prices of these components. Network Rail call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 24 -25.

⁶¹⁸ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.31.

⁶¹⁹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.37.

⁶²⁰ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects, paragraph 3.40.

competitors such as Siemens, Alstom, [\gg], with the advantages listed above, and therefore would not compete closely with the latter set of suppliers.⁶²¹

- Our assessment
- 8.351 The Parties' submissions in relation to the respective profitability of the TCSF for Hitachi and Thales are based primarily on the difference in the upfront investment costs between Hitachi and Thales (see paragraphs 8.213 and 8.214). The Parties have argued that these differences in investment costs and profitability of the investment is likely to affect each Party's incentives to bid for the TCSF. The Parties have not presented evidence to indicate that Hitachi would be better placed to bid more strongly than Thales in relation to the operational costs being assessed by Network Rail.
- 8.352 While the Parties considered that access to approved GB digital mainline signalling technology will lead to lower costs and prices (see paragraph 8.205), ORR stated that when projects were competitively tendered, suppliers competed on costs and this resulted in lower average prices. Therefore, we consider that competition can play an important role in reducing the overall cost of signalling and that the extent of that competition between suppliers would be determined by a range of other factors other than primarily the fixed costs of homologating their technology in GB.
- 8.353 Given the lack of previous GB digital mainline signalling framework agreements, we have not been able to consider suppliers' relative pricing strategies nor is there any realistic way for us to assess future pricing.
- 8.354 We currently, therefore, have not attempted to differentiate between potential bidders with respect to price.

Internal documents about the TCSF

8.355 We have considered internal documents produced by the Parties and third parties which assessed their perceptions of possible bidders for Lot 2 of the TCSF.

Thales' internal documents in relation to the TCSF

8.356 In the section about *Suppliers' bidding incentives*, we discussed two internal documents in which Thales assessed the TCSF as an investment opportunity: Thales' September 2022 and March 2023 reviews of the TCSF. In addition to

⁶²¹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Effects paragraphs 3.42(a), and 3.43(b).

analysing the TCSF investment case, these documents included an assessment of the potential competitor set, were Thales to decide to bid. In paragraphs 8.78 and 8.92 we provide details about the authors and purpose of these documents, as well as the Parties' submissions on their relevance to our assessment.

- 8.357 We note that Thales' assessment of the TCSF opportunity [%] included a 'competitive outlook for the UK market' and stated that:
 - *(a)* [≫].
 - (b) [%].
 - (C) [**%**]:⁶²²
 - (i) [≫].
 - (ii) [≫].
 - (iii) [≫].
- 8.358 We note that, according to Thales' classification above where 'Tier 1' suppliers are those with an existing presence in UK mainline signalling -Thales would not be a Tier 1 supplier.
- 8.359 Thales' [\gg] assessment of the TCSF opportunity, [\gg]. Thales stated that [%]. We note that [%].
- 8.360 [%].
- 8.361 [8].624
- 8.362 We consider that Thales' assessment of the potential competitor set for the TCSF shows that it views both itself and Hitachi as credible competitors for Lot 2.
- 8.363 [%].
- 8.364 Overall, Thales' documents about competition for the TCSF are consistent with the other evidence we have considered in our investigation.

⁶²² Thales, Annex T.Q1.005, [X], slides 13-14. See also Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00203853, [X] slide 15, [%]. ⁶²³ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875. As set out above, [%].

⁶²⁴ Thales, Annex THALES-CMA-00272875. As set out above, [×].

Hitachi's internal documents in relation to the TCSF

- 8.365 Hitachi produced a very limited number of documents relating to its assessment of the TCSF. The documents produced before the TCSF was launched do not appear to include an assessment of Hitachi's possible competitors for this opportunity.
- 8.366 In a presentation prepared for an [≫],⁶²⁵ Hitachi [≫]. Hitachi noted that [≫].⁶²⁶ [≫].⁶²⁷ [≫].⁶²⁸
- 8.367 In relation to its own capabilities, Hitachi noted, in the same presentation, [\gg]. The document [\gg]. [\gg].⁶²⁹
- 8.368 We note that this document was produced during our investigation and after Hitachi received our AIS and Working Paper.⁶³⁰ As such we are placing limited weight on it, in particular in relation to Hitachi's assessment of its potential competitors, where Hitachi's assessment is not corroborated by other evidence. Nevertheless, we note that this document highlights Hitachi's strong capabilities. It shows that Siemens and Alstom are perceived by Hitachi as its stronger competitors and that Thales is among the other few possible competitors for the TCSF.
- 8.369 This internal document is broadly consistent with Hitachi's internal documents relating to past mainline signalling opportunities in GB, which show that Hitachi considers Siemens, Alstom and Thales as its stronger competitors for digital mainline signalling projects and that Hitachi considers itself a credible competitor for digital mainline signalling projects in GB, including (among other strengths) its experience in delivering ETCS globally.

Third-party internal documents

- 8.370 We asked suppliers to provide internal documents that assess the TCSF opportunity. We received documents that had been prepared by [≫] by February 2023 concerning the expected competitors for the TCSF opportunity.
- 8.371 [※].⁶³¹

(a) [≫].

⁶²⁵ Parties' response to CMA RFI dated 18 May 2023, page 4.

⁶²⁶ Parties' response to AIS and WP, paragraph 4.6(b).

⁶²⁷ Parties, Annex Mainline H.WP.002 [³], slides 6, and 10.

⁶²⁸ Parties, Annex Mainline H.WP.001, [≫].

⁶²⁹ Parties, Annex Mainline H.WP.002, [[∞]], slide 10.

⁶³⁰ CMA129, paragraph 2.29.

⁶³¹ [≫]; [≫].

- (b) [×].⁶³² [×].⁶³³
- (C) [≫].⁶³⁴
- 8.372 Other suppliers' internal documents identify Hitachi and Thales as credible competitors for the TCSF. [%] identified CAF and Indra as potential entrants. [%] considered OEMs as partners rather than competitors and identified all of the potential bidders except Indra as potential partners.

Third-party evidence

- 8.373 We considered evidence from third parties (competitors, Network Rail and ORR) on the competitive strength of digital mainline signalling suppliers and the effect of the Merger on competition.
- 8.374 We provide additional detail in Appendix C about the customers that we contacted and which provided views as part of our inquiry.
- 8.375 Consistent with our approach in other cases, and given limited sample sizes. we have interpreted third-party evidence qualitatively, rather than drawing firm quantitative conclusions, and have assessed it alongside other evidence.
- 8.376 The weight given to third-party evidence is likely to vary from case to case, depending on factors such as any additional evidence provided to support that position and any other factors that might influence the customer's views.
- 8.377 As in any merger inquiry, we also recognise that some third parties may have an interest in its outcome. Therefore, when using third-party views as evidence, we have given due regard to a range of factors including: (i) the incentives of the party giving that view and the extent to which it may have been influenced by the TCSF tender; and (ii) the extent to which the view was corroborated by other evidence available to us.

Third-party views on the strength of digital mainline signalling suppliers

8.378 Network Rail submitted:

(a) The Parties would be [18] for the TCSF as '[18]'.635 Network Rail added '[t]here is no reason to believe that either company could not adequately bring their products to the UK specification. They both have demonstrated the ability to take their product to country specific specifications in other

⁶³² [≫].

⁶³³ [≫]. ⁶³⁴ [≫].

⁶³⁵ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 15.

European countries.⁶³⁶ Further, Network Rail submitted that the Parties are comparable with Siemens and Alstom in terms of their 'ultimate capability' and that '[w]hilst Siemens and Alstom are the dominant providers in the UK, if you were to go to some alternative countries in Europe for example, it could be Thales that is the dominant provider'.⁶³⁷

- *(b)* Siemens and Alstom had a strong dominant position in terms of UK provision of resources, capability, and experience.⁶³⁸
- *(c)* CAF, Indra and Mermec did not hold the same scale of portfolios of work and dominance as the Parties, Siemens, and Alstom in Europe. Network Rail considered that CAF had more experience in delivering digital mainline signalling than Indra and Mermec, who would have delivered one or two projects.⁶³⁹
- 8.379 Network Rail did not identify integrators as independent competitors for the TCSF.
- 8.380 ORR submitted that it was not aware of any strong credentials in market share terms outside the Parties, Siemens and Alstom and that this lack of overall market share could have significant implications for such players' (i) product portfolio, (ii) capacity levels, and (iii) ability to supply credentials to Network Rail.⁶⁴⁰ ORR submitted integrators would face significant challenges in bidding for the TCSF on a level footing with the OEMs [≫]. ORR considered that integrators would provide new entrant OEMs a route to the mainline signalling market in GB.⁶⁴¹
- 8.381 Overall, competitors submitted that the Parties were two of the four largest players in Europe with clear and established track records in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects. Siemens considered that Hitachi would be a strong competitor for the higher placed positions on the TCSF because [≫].⁶⁴² Other suppliers, including [≫], indicated that Hitachi would not be able to secure either of the first two positions and that it would likely compete closely with Thales for the third or fourth place on the TCSF.⁶⁴³ Alstom told us

⁶³⁶ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 16.

⁶³⁷ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 17.

⁶³⁸ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 13.

⁶³⁹ Network Rail call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 17.

⁶⁴⁰ ORR's submission of 13 March 2023, paragraphs 13-14.

⁶⁴¹ ORR, call note, 28 April 2023.

⁶⁴² Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 12.

⁶⁴³ Alstom noted that, based on the TCSF criteria, it appears that Network Rail [%], and that, therefore, [%]. Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 6-7; CAF call transcript, 13 February 2023, page 8; and Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 20. Mermec mentioned Hitachi has the knowledge and the skilled staff that is required. Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15; Atkins call transcript, 2 February 2023, page 10; Costain call transcript, 20 February 2023, page 25; and Linbrooke call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 16. Linbrooke submitted that [%].

that 'from their existing capability in other countries, Hitachi and Thales would be equivalent'644 while CAF submitted that both Hitachi and Thales could become framework suppliers if they bid for the TCSF given each of the Parties' worldwide capabilities.645

- 8.382 All suppliers that we spoke to identified Siemens and Alstom as the strongest suppliers for the TCSF, in the light of their current UK experience, relationships with Network Rail and their track records in Europe,646 and would most likely compete for first and second place.⁶⁴⁷
- 8.383 Suppliers identified other OEMs as potential bidders for the TCSF. CAF was generally identified as the strongest of these suppliers.⁶⁴⁸ [%].⁶⁴⁹ According to [%], Indra was smaller than [%] and was [%] while Mermec was [%].⁶⁵⁰
- 8.384 All the integrators that told us that they could consider bidding for Lot 2 of the TCSF mentioned that they would be able to do so by securing a partnership with an OEM.⁶⁵¹ [%].⁶⁵² Integrators told us that, for a digital mainline signalling project, they can provide workforce and experience,653 project management across a broader spectrum of rail disciplines (eg delivering track, overhead line, civils, cabling, and signalling),⁶⁵⁴ installation management and installation delivery.655,656
- 8.385 Based on the evidence above, Network Rail, ORR and competitors consider that the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the TCSF, along with Siemens and Alstom, given these suppliers' capabilities and experience in Europe. Other OEMs were identified as potential competitors for the TCSF, such as CAF, Indra and Mermec, but all were considered to be less strong competitors for the TCSF. Integrators were not identified as standalone

⁶⁴⁴ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 11.

⁶⁴⁵ CAF call transcript, 13 February 2023, page 8.

⁶⁴⁶ Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 9-10; and Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15, line 11 and page 21.

⁶⁴⁷ Indra call script, 27 January 2023, page 13; Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 9-10; Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15, and page 21; Atkins call transcript, 2 February 2023, page 10; Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 6; and Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 10. ⁶⁴⁸ Alstom call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 6; Resonate call transcript, 14 February 2023, page 15;

Siemens call transcript, 6 February 2023, page 20; [%].

⁶⁴⁹ [%].

⁶⁵⁰ [×].

⁶⁵¹ [%]. ⁶⁵² [%].

⁶⁵³ VolkerRail call transcript, 15 February 2023, page 4.

⁶⁵⁴ Amey call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 11, and page 5; and Costain call transcript, 20 February 2023, page 8.

⁶⁵⁵ Costain call transcript, 20 February 2023, page 8; and Linbrooke call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 4. ⁶⁵⁶ For instance, Linbrooke explained how the Hitachi/Linbrooke consortium works in the context of CP6. Linbrooke helps Hitachi to [%] given Hitachi's very limited delivery capability in the UK (eg Hitachi does not have a big local team, including project managers, commercial managers, planners, engineers, that would deliver a signalling project). Linbrooke call transcript, 21 February 2023, page 6.

competitors but were considered as potential partners with the OEMs for the TCSF.

8.386 In line with the considerations set out above paragraph 8.376, we currently consider that only limited weight can be given to this evidence.

Competitor scores on suppliers' strengths

- 8.387 We asked competitors to list the suppliers that they would consider credible in relation to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects under the TCSF and to indicate the strength of each supplier on a scale from 1–5 (where 1 is not very strong and 5 is very strong).⁶⁵⁷
- 8.388 For the reasons set out in paragraphs 6.8, 7.109(b) and 8.385, we currently consider that only limited weight can be given to this evidence. In particular, as mentioned above, the competitor scores might have been affected by respondents' own incentives regarding the merger and respondents may have a historical performance bias rather than a forward-looking perspective when rating suppliers (given the changes brought about by the TCSF and the increase in digital mainline signalling projects). Data quality issues also limit the extent to which reliable conclusions can be made from this data. To the extent that conclusions may be drawn, the data indicates that the Parties, CAF and Atkins are perceived to be the most credible bidders for the TCSF after Siemens and Alstom.⁶⁵⁸ We note, however, that despite the data drawbacks, these scores align with our other findings.
- 8.389 In response to the AIS, the Parties did not contest that limited weight should be placed on the competitors' scores. The Parties submitted that the scoring indicated that a range of suppliers was identified as potential competitors for the TCSF, including CAF and Atkins that scored only slightly below Thales.⁶⁵⁹
- 8.390 Table 13 below summarises the results.

⁶⁵⁷ We received supplier strength scores in relation to this question from 11 competitors: Alstom questionnaire response, Q 17; Amey questionnaire response, Q 14; Atkins questionnaire response, Q 14; CAF questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 14; Costain questionnaire response, Q 14; Indra questionnaire response, Q 17; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 17; Siemens questionnaire response, Q 17; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 17; and VolkerRail questionnaire response, Q 14. We received supplier strength scores in relation to this questionnaire response, Q 14; CAF questionnaire response, Q 17; Amey questionnaire response, Q 14; Atkins questionnaire response, Q 14. We received supplier strength scores in relation to this questionnaire response, Q 14; CAF questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 14; Costain questionnaire response, Q 14; CAF questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 14; Costain questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 14; Costain questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 17; Siemens questionnaire response, Q 17; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 14; Costain questionnaire response, Q 14; Indra questionnaire response, Q 17; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 17; Siemens questionnaire response, Q 17; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 17; Mermec questionnaire response, Q 17; Siemens questionnaire response, Q 17; Stadler questionnaire response, Q 17; and VolkerRail questionnaire response, Q 14.

⁶⁵⁸ Two respondents included Hitachi/Thales as a Merged Entity. One of these respondents included ratings of anticipated joint ventures. As this respondent provided the scores for the joint venture suppliers as single entities in addition, we have excluded the joint venture ratings.

⁶⁵⁹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.5.

Table 13: Summar	y of competitor	scoring of the	strength of suppliers
------------------	-----------------	----------------	-----------------------

Supplier	Number of respondents	Average rating (out of 5)
Siemens	10	5.0
Alstom	10	4.2
Hitachi	10	3.4
Thales	7	3.0
CAF	5	2.4
Atkins	5	2.0
AZD-Praha	3	2.0
Mermec	3	2.0
Progress Rail	2	1.5
Amey	1	1.0
Hima-Sella	1	1.0
Indra	1	1.0
VolkerRail	1	1.0

Source: CMA analysis of response to questionnaire by competitors.

8.391 The results showed that:

- *(a)* Competitors identified Siemens, Alstom, and Hitachi most frequently (ten times each) and gave them an average rating of 5, 4.2, and 3.4 respectively;⁶⁶⁰
- *(b)* Thales was identified seven times and was given an average score of 3, while CAF and Atkins were identified five times each, with each receiving a score of 2.4 and 2; and
- (c) Seven other competitors were identified three or fewer times, all of which received an average rating of 2 or below.
- 8.392 Overall, the results show that competitors considered the Parties to be the strongest suppliers after Siemens and Alstom. CAF and Atkins were the only two other suppliers that were identified as credible bidders by five or more respondents. We have, however, placed limited weight on quantitative results from the competitor questionnaire for the reasons set out above.

Third-party views on the Merger

8.393 [※]. [※].⁶⁶¹

8.394 ORR submitted that the Merger was likely to lead to a lessening of competition on a forward-looking basis, as it would eliminate an existing or potential competitor to Hitachi. ORR added that [[≫]]. ORR also submitted that

⁶⁶⁰ These are the average ratings are not weighted by the number of respondents that identified the supplier as a credible bidder. The instances where suppliers scored themselves have been removed. ⁶⁶¹ [\approx].

the Merged Entity could be in a stronger position to compete against Siemens and Alstom for larger TCSF framework positions.⁶⁶²

- 8.395 A total of eight OEM and integrators raised concerns with the Merger over the reduction in number of (i) credible suppliers of digital mainline signalling projects⁶⁶³ or (ii) OEMs interested in partnerships and subcontractor relationships.⁶⁶⁴ For example, Alstom submitted that [≫].⁶⁶⁵ Mermec submitted that the Merger would lead to fewer competitors in the market and might also 'raise the bar' for references requested in projects, potentially creating a barrier to entry for smaller firms.⁶⁶⁶ CAF considered it was 'highly probable' that the Parties would be awarded places on the TCSF framework 'because of their portfolios and worldwide positioning'. It considered that the Merger would effectively reduce the number of participants in the TCSF and hinder competition within the framework.⁶⁶⁷
- 8.396 Six suppliers (including integrators and OEMs) did not raise concerns about the Merger (Siemens and two integrators),⁶⁶⁸ or submitted that the Merger would benefit the delivery of digital mainline signalling in the UK because the Merged Entity would be a more effective competitor when competing against Siemens and Alstom (a non-GB OEM and an integrator),⁶⁶⁹ or that the Merger would result in synergies (an integrator).⁶⁷⁰ Similarly, the Railway Industry Association did not raise concerns about the Merger because there would be competition in the supply of digital mainline signalling projects going forward with or without the merger.⁶⁷¹
- 8.397 The Parties submitted that Network Rail the sole customer for mainline signalling projects in GB did not raise any concerns about the Merger, which supports their conclusion that there could be no plausible outcome in which an SLC would arise.⁶⁷²
- 8.398 As mentioned above in paragraphs 6.7 and 6.8, the assessment of a merger's impact on competition is not driven solely by customers' views but rather

⁶⁷⁰ Stadler questionnaire response, Q 34.

⁶⁶² ORR submission of 13 March 2023, paragraphs 51-55.

⁶⁶³ Alstom questionnaire response, Q 34; CAF questionnaire response, Q 34; Indra questionnaire response, Q 34; Resonate response to questionnaire, Q 35; Amey questionnaire response, Q 29; and Mermec questionnaire response, Q 34.

⁶⁶⁴ Atkins questionnaire response, Q 30; Resonate questionnaire response, Q 35; and Equans questionnaire response, Q 29.

⁶⁶⁵ Alstom questionnaire response, Q 34.

⁶⁶⁶ Mermec questionnaire response, Q 34; and Mermec call transcript, 14 February 2023, pages 21-22.

⁶⁶⁷ CAF questionnaire response, dated 4 January 2023, Q 34.

⁶⁶⁸ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 34; Colas Rail questionnaire response, Q 29; and Progress Rail questionnaire response, Q 34.

⁶⁶⁹ Mipro's submission of 16 January 2023, and VolkerRail questionnaire response, Q 27.

⁶⁷¹ The Railway Industry Association questionnaire response, Q 10.

⁶⁷² Parties' response to AIS and WP, paragraph 2.2.

takes into account the (typically wider) range of evidence available to the CMA. The weight given to customer views is also likely to vary from case to case and the weight given to the views of each third party is likely to depend on various factors, including whether that view is supported by other evidence.

- 8.399 Network Rail is in the middle of a tender process, the TCSF, that is directly affected by the Merger. It therefore faces strong reputational incentives to avoid disrupting the procurement and to avoid the perception of having preconceived views about the competitiveness of potential bidders in the TCSF. We have considered Network Rail's views against this backdrop.
- 8.400 Network Rail's view about the Merger appear to be based on the current conditions of competition and, [≫], Network Rail also told us that there were few differences in the ultimate capabilities of the Parties, Siemens, and Alstom.⁶⁷³ Network Rail further submitted that regarding their ETCS infrastructure works, CAF's, Indra's and Mermec's scale of portfolios of work is smaller than that of the Parties, Siemens and Alstom (see paragraph 8.246 above).
- 8.401 The TCSF was designed to increase the number of suppliers of mainline digital signalling in GB. As the TCSF represents a potential structural change in the market and in the way mainline signalling systems are procured, competition conditions are expected to change. We, therefore, must consider the Merger in light of those changed conditions of competition, while recognising that the ultimate implementation of the TCSF may evolve over time.

Overall assessment of third-party evidence on suppliers' strength and the effect of the Merger on competition

- 8.402 Based on the evidence above, the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the TCSF. Thales monitored and considered Hitachi as a direct competitor for the TCSF. Siemens and Alstom identified both Parties as competitors for the TCSF, while [≫].
- 8.403 The evidence above indicates that Siemens and Alstom are likely to be strong competitors for the TCSF because of their general capabilities and experience of GB mainline signalling. Other European OEMs were identified as potential competitors, with CAF appearing to be strongest of that group of suppliers. Integrators were not identified as independent competitors but consistent with other evidence in our competition assessment, they were identified as

⁶⁷³ Transcript of call with Network Rail, 6 February 2023, page 16.

potential partners. Network Rail, the major customer for digital mainline signalling, did not express concerns about the Merger but identified that the Parties were likely to be close competitors.

8.404 Overall, the evidence in this section is broadly consistent with other evidence such as shares of supply and suppliers' characteristics that the Parties are likely to be two of a limited set of competitors for the TCSF, and likely to be close competitors for that tender.

Provisional competition assessment

- 8.405 Network Rail's TCSF is the major signalling framework agreement through which most, if not all, future digital signalling projects will be procured over the ten year period from 2024 to 2033 in GB. The TCSF also marks a point of transition, as Network Rail seeks to upgrade its conventional signalling infrastructure to the more advanced and cost-effective digital signalling solutions. In order to digitalise its signalling infrastructure, Network Rail expects, and is reliant on, suppliers to enter the GB signalling sector to address capacity constraints and to diversify its supply base to reduce its dependency on the two major incumbent suppliers, Siemens and Alstom. Digitalisation and the concomitant contractual provisions of the TCSF offer the opportunity for new suppliers to enter the GB market.
- 8.406 Based on the evidence set out above, we have assessed how closely the Parties are competing with one another in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in the GB market. We have also assessed the current competitive constraints placed on the Parties by other suppliers that may bid for future digital mainline signalling projects to determine whether the removal of the constraint that they would have placed on each other would lead to an SLC in this market.
- 8.407 Even if some level of uncertainty remains around the timing, implementation, and value of Lot 2 of the TCSF, [≫] [≫] there is a strong likelihood that, absent the Merger, both Parties would bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF. [≫]. Third-party evidence also indicates that both Hitachi and Thales are likely bidders for the TCSF.
- 8.408 The evidence indicates that the Parties, absent the Merger, are likely to be two of at most six OEMs that are expected to bid for Lot 2 of the TCSF, on their own or in partnership with integrators. Based on the evidence set out in the competition assessment, we consider that the Parties are credible competitors and absent the Merger, both Parties would have competed closely to gain a place on the TCSF.

- 8.409 The Parties are the second and fourth largest suppliers by value of digital mainline signalling contracts won in Europe, with a combined share of supply of [40–50%], with a significant increment of [10–20%] as a result of the Merger. The Merger would create the largest digital mainline signalling supplier in Europe. The Parties' shares of supply are significant in a highly concentrated market, in which the top four suppliers account for [90–100%] of supply. Siemens ([20–30%]) and Alstom ([20–30%])are the only other suppliers with a share of supply of over [0–5%]. We consider that the Parties' shares of supply in Europe are indicative of their strength and technical capabilities as digital mainline signalling providers. Given Network Rail's TCSF is designed to bring new suppliers into GB mainline signalling, we consider that suppliers that have demonstrated their competitive strengths in supplying digital mainline signalling systems in other markets are also likely to be the most credible options for Network Rail.
- 8.410 The Parties' competitive strengths with respect to management and technical expertise in undertaking digital mainline signalling projects are demonstrated by each of their track records in Europe. Taken overall, Thales has more experience than Hitachi and is matched only by Siemens and Alstom. Only the Parties, Siemens and Alstom have experience in delivering large digital projects (with a value over £100 million). Assessed on the number of countries in which this experience has been gained (markets entered and technologies homologated), the position is similar, albeit Hitachi has entered a smaller set of jurisdictions than any of Siemens, Alstom or Thales.
- 8.411 Both Parties are able to provide a full suite of digital technology and have experience deploying their technology solutions in numerous digital mainline signalling projects. [≫]. However, while [≫], we consider that this is likely to confer only a small competitive advantage in terms of entry costs and does not mean that Thales would not be able to compete closely with Hitachi for the TCSF. Thales has significant experience in deploying its technological solutions in numerous countries across Europe. In this regard, Thales and Hitachi are at a very substantial advantage to the other OEMs that are not currently active in GB mainline digital signalling.
- 8.412 The Parties have less local experience in GB mainline signalling than the incumbent OEM suppliers, Siemens and Alstom. Hitachi, having won a place on the CP6 framework, has had more success and more experience than Thales. Hitachi also won the first ever digital mainline signalling project tendered in GB (the Cambrian Line project). Thales has been active in GB mainline signalling as a supplier of axle counters and as a provider of TMS solutions. The Parties can partner with a GB-based integrator to bid for the TCSF to address some of the gaps in their experience with Network Rail. We consider that [≫].

- 8.413 With respect to local capacity, we currently understand that all OEMs, apart from Siemens and Alstom, would likely need to increase their UK labour capacity and aspects of their local capabilities to be able to meet the TCSF requirements. Although integrators cannot effectively compete on their own to secure a position on the TCSF, new OEM entrants, including the Parties, plan to use integrators to address gaps in local capacity, as they have done in previous tenders. [≫].
- 8.414 The Parties, along with Siemens and Alstom, were the only suppliers to compete for both the ECDP and HS2 projects, the two largest and most significant digital mainline signalling projects that have been tendered in GB.
 [≫]. The evidence indicates that the Parties competed closely for both of these high profile digital mainline signalling contracts [≫].
- 8.415 The Parties are also both close competitors in relation to their innovation capability and financial strength.
- 8.416 Overall, our provisional view is that, taking all of the evidence in the round across the set of competitive parameters, the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the TCSF. While the two differ in terms of their strengths and experience, both can provide a complete suite of ETCS technology and can draw on a strong portfolio of management experience from digital projects across a range of countries. This differentiates them substantially from the other OEMs that are not currently active in the GB mainline signalling market [≫].
- 8.417 The evidence shows that Siemens and Alstom are stronger than, or at least as strong as, the Parties against each of the assessed competition parameters. Both Siemens and Alstom benefit from strong incumbency advantages and both will likely be strong competitors for the TCSF and exercise a strong competitive constraint on the Parties. The Parties' internal documents reviewed to date indicate that they considered each other, Siemens, and Alstom as their main potential competitors for past signalling digital tenders in the UK and for the TCSF.
- 8.418 [\gg]. [\gg] to demonstrate their capabilities in relation to some of the competition parameters, but less so on others.
- 8.419 [%].
- 8.420 With respect to management experience and technical expertise in delivering digital mainline signalling projects, [≫] are considerably weaker than the Parties. [≫].

- 8.421 [≫]. [≫] integrators will bring their capacity and experience of operating in GB and with Network Rail. [≫].
- 8.422 Based on the above evidence, it is our view the [\gg].
- 8.423 While the evidence received to date indicates that the [≫], neither of these competitors, together or in isolation, is likely to offset the loss of constraint that will result from the Merger.
- 8.424 Only Siemens, Alstom and to lesser extent [≫] match the Parties' strengths across all of the parameters of competition considered in our assessment.
- 8.425 In a bidding process with up to four winners and a limited number of potential suppliers, the loss of a credible supplier would have a material impact on the intensity of competition for the TCSF tender, and would, in effect, reduce the number of suppliers that could exercise a constraint on the Parties from [≫]. We currently consider that the constraint from [≫] is likely to be weaker than the constraints of Siemens, Alstom and the Parties. The loss of the additional constraint may lead to a significant softening of competition, particularly given, as discussed above, that the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the TCSF.
- 8.426 Based on our provisional assessment, we consider that the Merger is likely to result in the removal of a direct and significant constraint on each of the Parties and may be expected to result in an SLC in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB. We consider that overall, the remaining constraints post-Merger from Siemens, Alstom, the [≫] are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss brought about by the Merger.
- 8.427 The substantial loss of competition resulting from the Merger is likely to lead to a worse outcome in the initial award of the TCSF tender. The Merger could result in a reduced choice for Network Rail in terms of the number and strength of the bidders and could potentially lead to fewer than four suppliers being appointed in the current tender process and thus available to bid, should they so choose, in future mini-competitions within the TCSF.
- 8.428 We also consider that the Merger is likely to affect the competitive outcome of the mini-competitions expected to account for 45% of the total TCSF workbank. The Merger could also reduce the number of potential competitors in subsequent mini-competitions by one, as only the bidders selected for the TCSF can participate in these mini-competitions. [≫], if selected for the TCSF, is also likely to exercise an improved but weaker constraint for subsequent mini-competitions. Given our provisional assessment [≫] are likely to be weaker competitors for the TCSF than the Parties, we consider that they may also present an improved but weaker constraint for subsequent

mini-competitions. While the guaranteed workbank would enable [\gg] to build capacity and experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects in GB, such that it would be in a stronger position to compete by the time of the mini-competitions, [\gg] could still potentially be at a competitive disadvantage due to starting from a position of substantially less management experience in delivering digital mainline signalling projects than the Parties, Siemens and Alstom.

- 8.429 Hitachi and Thales, as a result of their significantly greater management experience, may be better placed to introduce innovation and efficiencies to the delivery of digital mainline signalling projects than the smaller OEM consortia, including [≫]. Eliminating one of the four stronger suppliers with regards to experience and technical expertise potentially may negatively impact rivalry on innovation and process improvements, as a smaller OEM [≫] without the depth of institutional knowledge may offer a less effective challenge the other TCSF suppliers in relation to this dimension of competition.
- 8.430 Overall, we currently consider that the Merger could lead to adverse effects in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB through higher prices, reduced innovation, worse terms and/or worse performance levels relative to the situation absent the Merger.

Entry and expansion

- 8.431 As set out in the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines, any analysis of a possible SLC includes consideration of the direct responses to the merger by rivals, potential rivals, and customers. If effective entry and/or expansion occurs as a result of the merger and any consequent adverse effect (for example, a price rise), the effect of the merger on competition may be mitigated. In these situations, the CMA might conclude that no SLC arises as a result of the merger.⁶⁷⁴
- 8.432 The CMA considers that entry and/or expansion preventing an SLC from arising would be rare.⁶⁷⁵
- 8.433 The CMA will seek to ensure that the evidence is robust when confronted with claims of entry or expansion being timely, likely, and sufficient to prevent an SLC from arising. It is likely to place greater weight on detailed consideration

⁶⁷⁴ CMA129, paragraph 8.28.

⁶⁷⁵ CMA129, paragraph 8.29.

of entry or expansion and previous experience of entry and expansion (including how frequent and recent it has been).⁶⁷⁶

Parties' views

- 8.434 The Parties submitted that 'Network Rail intends to support UK entry and expansion' and 'given this commitment and the proportion of contestable workbank available for allocation (both initially and subsequently based upon performance) it is highly unlikely that there would be no participation by one or more credible alternative suppliers, acting alone or in consortia with a local integrator, such as Atkins, or another OEM. Examples of such potential participants include AZD Praha, CAF, Atos, Hima-Sella, Indra, Mermec, CRRC, Stadler, and Progress Rail (ECM). While these potential participants have had limited success to date in the UK, they have started to make inroads in the more mature European sector the TCSF should further encourage their UK entrance'.⁶⁷⁷
- 8.435 At the same time, the Parties also submitted that '[n]ew entrants (including the Target) may have insufficient incentives to compete for Lot 2 [the TCSF digital lot]'.⁶⁷⁸ More specifically, the Parties told us that:
 - (a) '[\mathbb{X}] levels of development funding, [\mathbb{X}]; and
 - (*b*) '[≫], which further reduces the likelihood of digital signalling projects being procured within the TCSF (and therefore the probability that new entrants will recover the costs of entry)'.⁶⁷⁹
- 8.436 The Parties further submitted that the 'decrease in the value of digital work expected under the TCSF may lead to insufficient incentives for new entrants to invest in competing for the TCSF'.⁶⁸⁰
- 8.437 The Parties also told us that, if the TCSF were to successfully encourage bidding by Thales, it would likely also do so for other new entrants⁶⁸¹ and that 'the TCSF will not be the sole source of supply in the next 10 years ... that opportunities will remain for additional suppliers and new entrants'.⁶⁸²

⁶⁷⁶ CMA129, paragraph 8.30.

⁶⁷⁷ Parties' Letter to the CMA, dated 13 January 2023.

⁶⁷⁸ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 5.2(b).

⁶⁷⁹ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 5.2(b).

⁶⁸⁰ Parties, Submission on Competitive Conditions, paragraph 1.7(b).

⁶⁸¹ Parties' response to AIS and WPs, Section A, paragraph 2.1(d).

⁶⁸² Parties' response to AIS and WPs, Section A, paragraph 2.1(e).

Network Rail's views

- 8.438 Network Rail submitted that the TCSF is intended to incentivise entry in the UK by providing greater visibility over future work, providing guaranteed minimum volume commitments to framework suppliers and making a financial contribution to the cost of developing products to meet UK specifications.⁶⁸³
- 8.439 Network Rail told us that its intent 'is very much to change the perceived height of the barriers', but the design of the TCSF does not totally remove them: 'there are still some barriers there, but [the aim is] to change them such that new providers are interested in bidding and, ultimately, delivering works in the UK'.⁶⁸⁴

ORR market study

- 8.440 The ORR market study found that the supply of mainline signalling in GB is characterised by high barriers to entry (see paragraph 7.14(b)) and made a number of recommendations with the aim of reducing the barriers it had identified (see paragraph 7.15).
- 8.441 As discussed in paragraph 7.17, ORR produced a Remedies Monitoring Report in April 2023 to update on progress made since the publication of its market study. In its Remedies Monitoring Report, ORR stated that the majority of its recommendations had been addressed by Network Rail, either to completion or to an extent that there was no need for continued close regulatory oversight.⁶⁸⁵

Our assessment

- 8.442 In the competition assessment above, we considered the possible constraint on the Merged Entity arising from entry or expansion which would have occurred irrespective of the Merger.⁶⁸⁶
- 8.443 The evidence set out in the competitive assessment indicates that the entry barriers for digital mainline signalling projects in GB are high. These barriers have historically related to incumbency advantages (see finding of the ORR market study above). The design of the TCSF, in line with recommendations

⁶⁸³ Transcript of hearing with Network Rail, 6 February 2023.

⁶⁸⁴ Transcript of hearing with Network Rail, 6 February 2023, page 7.

⁶⁸⁵ ORR considered that close monitoring was still required in relation to (i) education and cultural change; and (ii) performance measurement.

⁶⁸⁶ CMA129, paragraph 4.16.

by ORR, aims to lower some of the historical barriers to entry, especially in relation to digital signalling.

- 8.444 As we explain above, the TCSF is the main route to enter the digital mainline signalling market in GB for the next ten years and aims to broaden the pool of suppliers with experience delivering digital projects for Network Rail. Under Network Rail's current plans, unsuccessful bidders for the TCSF would not be able to enter the GB mainline sector for at least the duration of the TCSF (ie ten years).
- 8.445 In our view, entry into the GB market is likely to be even more difficult following the TCSF period. At that point, there will be a greater number of incumbent suppliers, with ten years of experience in delivering digital projects for Network Rail, a track record of delivering safety-critical systems, a pool of GB project references, local resources (or relationships with local subcontractors and integrators) and an established relationship with the customer. For this reason, we consider that new entrants (ie suppliers which do not win a place on the TCSF) are likely to face significant challenges in competing in GB in the future, such that entry would not be likely to prevent an SLC from arising in this case. We also have not received evidence indicating that entry or expansion is likely to occur as a result of the Merger.
- 8.446 We note again that the Parties have submitted that Network Rail was considering the introduction of a second framework to give suppliers that were not successful in winning a place on the TCSF another opportunity to enter the GB mainline sector. As noted in paragraph 7.38, we understand that Network Rail has no specific plans at present to introduce a second framework (although it is potentially open to Network Rail to do so in future) and, as we set out in paragraph 7.41, we consider that incumbents may be better placed to bid for any second framework.
- 8.447 For these reasons, our view is that it is not likely that entry or expansion of sufficient scale would occur in a timely manner in GB in order to prevent or reduce the impact of the SLC we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

Provisional conclusion

8.448 For the reasons set out in this chapter, our provisional conclusion is that the Merger may be expected to result in a SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB.

9. CBTC systems: Nature of competition and approach to competition assessment

- 9.1 This chapter sets out our assessment of the nature of competition between the Parties and their competitors. In particular, we have considered:
 - (a) an overview of the demand for CBTC signalling systems in the UK;
 - *(b)* what opportunities exist for competition between the Parties and their competitors for future London Underground contracts;
 - (c) the parameters of competition for these future contracts; and
 - (d) the approach to the competition assessment.
- 9.2 This chapter provides important context for our competitive assessment of whether the Merger may be expected to result in an SLC in the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK.

Overview of CBTC signalling systems in the UK

- 9.3 As explained below paragraphs 10.22 to 10.24, the supply of CBTC systems has both national and global dimensions of competition, eg suppliers' local capacity and global experience are both relevant parameters of competition (see paragraph 9.39).
- 9.4 There are two customers for CBTC signalling systems in the UK at present, as there are two metro networks that use CBTC signalling: Glasgow Subway and London (Underground, Overground and DLR).⁶⁸⁷
- 9.5 SPT the transport authority responsible for the Glasgow Subway completed the procurement of CBTC signalling for its metro system in 2016. The project is due to be completed in [≫].⁶⁸⁸ SPT told us that the new signalling system has a projected lifespan of over 30 years and that it would not have to resignal the Glasgow Subway for 'a very long time'.⁶⁸⁹ We have not taken a potential tender for the supply of CBTC to the Glasgow Subway (in the mid-2050s) into account in our current assessment of the competitive effects of the Merger because of the uncertainty associated with predicting competitive conditions in this market so far into the future. We have however taken account of evidence from the past tender for the Glasgow Subway

⁶⁸⁷ See paragraphs 8.40-8.42 in relation to Tyne and Wear 'metro', which is in fact a suburban rail network.

⁶⁸⁸ Hitachi response to RFI dated 15 March 2023, Q 34.

⁶⁸⁹ SPT email to the CMA dated 15 September 2022.

system in our competition assessment and considered the extent to which that evidence is relevant for the assessment of the effects of the Merger in the supply of CBTC systems for future projects in the UK.

- 9.6 As explained above in paragraph 4.26(a), TfL is responsible for the London Underground. We have focused our analysis on the supply of CBTC systems for future projects in the London Underground because TFL is likely to tender for future CBTC projects in the London Underground within around the next 10 to 12 years (see paragraphs 9.44 to 9.56).
- 9.7 Other than tenders for CBTC signalling systems by TfL and a possible tender for CBTC signalling systems by the Glasgow Subway in around 30 years (see paragraph 9.5), there are no other relevant tenders for CBTC systems currently planned elsewhere in the UK.
- 9.8 The Parties agreed with our assessment that future CBTC signalling projects in the UK will be in London.⁶⁹⁰

Competition for London Underground CBTC systems

- 9.9 TfL organises the procurement of CBTC resignalling tenders such that it is compliant with all relevant public laws, including the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016.⁶⁹¹
- 9.10 TfL submitted that its CBTC signalling contracts can be categorised as:⁶⁹²
 - (a) Upgrades: Modifications to improve the safety or performance of the signalling system, including network extensions. For example, Thales, as the incumbent supplier, undertook the Northern Line extension to Battersea Power Station, which started in 2017.⁶⁹³
 - (b) Renewals: The replacement of existing signalling hardware to maintain the safety and performance of the signalling system. For example, [≫] is expected to start work on the [≫] track renewal in [≫].⁶⁹⁴
 - (c) **Resignalling**: Replacement of existing signalling hardware and software with an entirely new system. For example, Thales won the tender for the Four Lines Modernisation (4LM) project which covers the resignalling of

⁶⁹⁰ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, 23 March 2023, paragraph 6.1.

⁶⁹¹ TfL questionnaire response, Q 1.

⁶⁹² TfL questionnaire response, Q 7.

⁶⁹³ TfL questionnaire response, Q 2.

⁶⁹⁴ TfL questionnaire response, Q 7.

the Circle, District, Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan lines. The project started in 2015.⁶⁹⁵

- 9.11 TfL told us that CBTC technology did not follow a standard set of principles and that, unlike mainline signalling, suppliers do not follow a standardised approach.⁶⁹⁶ TfL told us that in fact the same supplier operating multiple lines in one metro system can have very different systems in use in each line.⁶⁹⁷ TfL told us that both upgrade and renewal works were 'inherently' undertaken by the incumbent supplier due to the intellectual property rights of existing systems on the line.⁶⁹⁸
- 9.12 TfL submitted that it issues competitive tenders for CBTC resignalling projects as resignalling covers the complete replacement of both the software and hardware of an old signalling system so these projects are subject to competition.⁶⁹⁹ These are also typically the highest value signalling projects.⁷⁰⁰
- 9.13 This being the case, we focused our assessment on CBTC resignalling systems. CBTC projects works can be either 'greenfield' or 'brownfield', depending on whether the works are on an active railway.
- 9.14 Third parties have told us that the competitive conditions for resignalling projects on brownfield and greenfield sites are quite different.⁷⁰¹ We understand that the tender criteria and reference requirements for brownfield projects (such as the 4LM project) will likely be different from those for greenfield projects (such as the Elizabeth Line project). We have taken the differences between greenfield and brownfield CBTC resignalling projects into account in our assessment.

Previous TfL tenders

9.15 TfL has undertaken a limited number of resignalling projects on the London Underground. Its most recent projects were the 4LM project involving the resignalling of the Circle, District, Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan lines,

⁶⁹⁵ TfL questionnaire response, Q2.

⁶⁹⁶ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 20.

⁶⁹⁷ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 13.

⁶⁹⁸ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 7 and 19.

⁶⁹⁹ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 8.

⁷⁰⁰ TfL questionnaire response, Q2.

⁷⁰¹ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 18, and page 13; and Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, pages 10-11.

which was tendered in 2015; and the Victoria line, Northern line and Jubilee line, which were all contracted for in 2003.⁷⁰²

- 9.16 TfL has also undertaken two other recent procurement exercises:
 - (a) First, the Sub Surface Railway (SSR) in 2009, which was subsequently cancelled after it became apparent that 'the [Bombardier] system needed very substantial development before it could be applied in the [London Underground] environment' and that the contract was 'certain to fail'. (This project covered the same lines as the 4LM).⁷⁰³
 - *(b)* Second, the Deep Tube Upgrade Program (**DTUP**) in 2016, in which the procurement process progressed until the PQQ stage before it was cancelled because of a lack of funding. The tender covered the resignalling of the Piccadilly, Bakerloo, Central and Waterloo and City lines.⁷⁰⁴
- 9.17 TfL initiated a review of its procurement processes after the cancelled SSR contract; this review was undertaken by KPMG. In June 2014, TfL published KPMG's review, which made a number of recommendations to TfL (**KPMG report**), including that in future tenders, TfL should:
 - (a) conduct a PQQ process prior to ITT;
 - *(b)* allocate a higher weighting to suppliers' technical and delivery capabilities rather than to pricing and commercial criteria;
 - (c) conduct a more rigorous technical assessment; and
 - *(d)* ensure that suppliers' case studies more closely reflect the conditions of the London Underground.⁷⁰⁵
- 9.18 TfL accepted KPMG's recommendations and, we understand, has subsequently implemented KPMG's main recommendations.⁷⁰⁶ For example,

 ⁷⁰² The Elizabeth line also underwent procurement in 2012, this was organised by Crossrail Itd, not TfL. The Victoria, Northern and Jubilee line contracts were also awarded by London Underground Limited's contractor. TfL response to RFI dated 22 February 2023, Q1. Note of call with TfL, 9 August 2022, page 15.
 ⁷⁰³ Sub-Surface Upgrade Programme Automatic Train Control Contract – Lessons Learnt', paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4, and slide 6.

⁷⁰⁴ TfL response dated 27 January 2023, 'NTfL-2344.4.5-LUL-RPT-00054-02 -

NTfL_CBTC_PQQ_Evaluation_Report_and_Recommendations v2.0 Issued for Approval, paragraph 1.1. ⁷⁰⁵ 'Sub-Surface Upgrade Programme Automatic Train Control Contract – Lessons Learnt', slide 11. A further recommendation stated that an option for TfL could be to stick with 'proven' London Underground suppliers in the future to reduce risk that would permit better identification of shortcomings and to identify appropriate risk mitigation strategies. TfL was warned, however, that such an approach would restrict the level of competition and risk poor value for money outcomes.

⁷⁰⁶ TfL response dated 27 January 2023, 'NTfL-2344.4.5-LUL-RPT-00054-02 -

NTfL_CBTC_PQQ_Evaluation_Report_and_Recommendations v2.0 Issued for Approval, paragraph 7.2.

the 4LM tender included both PQQ and ITT stages and for the ITT, TfL's evaluation criteria attached 70% weight to suppliers' technical and delivery capabilities and 30% to suppliers' commercial offerings.⁷⁰⁷ TfL has indicated that it will continue to devote greater weight to suppliers' technical capabilities than to their commercial offerings.⁷⁰⁸ Historically, suppliers' technical capabilities have been assessed through case studies of previous signalling works undertaken by the supplier.⁷⁰⁹

Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground

- 9.19 TfL told us that it plans to start the procurement for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines before 2035 (see more details in paragraphs 9.44 to 9.56).⁷¹⁰
- 9.20 TfL told us that [≫].⁷¹¹ While the Waterloo & City line was included as part of the DTUP tender, TfL told us that it did not have any current plans to procure resignalling for that line.⁷¹² In relation to Crossrail 2, TfL submitted that the funding was going to be a 'long way' away, it indicated that it would be 'surprised if it was within the next ten years'. TfL told us that the project was seen as 'an aspiration'.⁷¹³ We would also expect TfL to conduct resignalling tenders beyond 2035, as the CBTC systems installed in the early 2000s will ultimately need to be replaced at some stage.⁷¹⁴ We have not taken into account in our current assessment of the competitive effects of the Merger potential CBTC tenders for other lines that may or not occur much later than 2035 because of the uncertainty associated with predicting competitive conditions in this market so far into the future.
- 9.21 CBTC systems can be procured either as a standalone project or bundled as part of a wider project, including rolling stock. CBTC systems can also be purchased as turnkey solutions, typically for greenfield projects. While many large resignalling projects procured by global urban transport authorities use a

⁷⁰⁷ TfL weighted Envelope B covering Technical Confidence, Schedule Confidence and Delivery Confidence as 70% of the total evaluation score and weighted envelope C covering its financial assessment as the remaining 30%. Envelope A covered 8 discretionary Pass/Fail criteria including Health, Safety and Environmental response. Thales response to RFI dated 17 April, Annex T.Q5.001, paragraph 4.4.

⁷⁰⁸ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 25.

⁷⁰⁹TfL response dated 27 January 2023, 'NTfL-2344.4.5-LUL-RPT-00054-02 -

NTfL_CBTC_PQQ_Evaluation_Report_and_Recommendations v2.0 Issued for Approval, paragraph 1.1. paragraph 4.3; and TfL response to RFI dated 21 March 2023, 'CBTC_PQQ_Instructions_Final' pages 24-27. ⁷¹⁰ TfL response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 4. See, 'TfL 2023 Business Plan', last accessed 31 May 2023, pages 23 and 43.

⁷¹¹ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 17.

⁷¹² TfL response to RFI dated 22 February 2023, Q 2.

⁷¹³ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 33.

⁷¹⁴ TfL (or its contractors) awarded the upgrade of the Northern, Jubilee and Victoria lines in 2003 and the DLR originally in 1995. We have been told both by TfL that its signalling systems are designed to achieve a minimum of 40 years in operation. TfL questionnaire response, Q 1, and Q 4.

bundled approach to procurement, TfL has historically favoured procurement of its signalling solutions on a standalone basis.⁷¹⁵ TfL submitted that it has done this to ensure it receives both the best quality signalling product and the best quality rolling stock product.⁷¹⁶ On this basis, we expect TfL will likely procure its CBTC systems for the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines as a standalone project(s).

Tender structure

- 9.22 As described in paragraph 9.18, TfL procurement will likely involve PQQ and ITT stages and the tender evaluation will focus primarily on the suppliers' technical and delivery capabilities, as well as a financial assessment.
- 9.23 In the past, TfL has used a single round sealed bid tender process, in which the procurement process did not reveal the identity of bidders or the nature of their bids. Siemens and Alstom told us that TfL did not reveal the identity of other bidders.⁷¹⁷ It may be the case that bidders may be able to identify which of their competitors may bid for the ITT stage based on their market intelligence but assuming TfL follows the same process in future, bidders would be unlikely to know the nature of their competitors' bids and will have to form expectations of how they have bid. Suppliers face the threat of elimination at the PQQ stage and the 'best' bid wins during the ITT stage (paragraph 7.48). This being the case, we believe that all credible competitors (not just the closest competitor) are likely to play a role in adding to the competitive constraint, and hence the more credible competitors there are in the market the stronger competition for future London Underground tenders there is likely to be. In the competitive assessment therefore, we will consider evidence on the closeness of competition between the Parties and their competitors currently and in the future.

Parameters of competition

9.24 This section considers the relevant parameters of competition for the supply of CBTC signalling system to TfL for the London Underground. Given that the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines are the only tenders that are likely to be tendered before 2035, we have focused on the factors that are likely to determine how the Parties will compete with each other and their competitors for these tenders.

⁷¹⁵ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 12

⁷¹⁶ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 12

⁷¹⁷ Siemens questionnaire response, Q 5; and Alstom questionnaire response, Q 5.

9.25 We have considered the Parties' views on what they consider to be the most relevant capabilities required to compete for CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground. We have also considered how TfL may be expected to evaluate suppliers' bids for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines, based on its approach to previous tenders, and sought information from competitors on the factors they consider to be important for competition in this market.

Parties' views

- 9.26 The Parties submitted that the London Underground is a uniquely complex brownfield environment and that to compete for projects on the system, suppliers would need to demonstrate:⁷¹⁸
 - (a) **Sufficient technical capability.** Suppliers would need to have a proven track record of successfully delivering comparably complex brownfield projects. Owing to the particular complexities of the London Underground, in practice, suppliers would need to have London references to compete credibly for TfL tenders; other global references are ineffective in practice.
 - (b) Suitable logistic capacity. Suppliers would need to be able to deliver projects within short periods of time (typically [≫] hours at night) and [≫].
 - (c) Adequate local deployment and commissioning resources. Suppliers would need to have local personnel, signalling equipment and related resources (ie vans and training facilities) to meet TfL's demands.
 - (*d*) **Appropriately qualified and certified staff**. TfL requires suppliers to have appropriate qualifications and certifications for personnel working on CBTC signalling projects for metros.
 - *(e)* Having an existing relationship with TfL can also be an advantage when competing for resignalling projects.⁷¹⁹
- 9.27 The Parties submitted that examples of specific complexity factors associated with the lines of the London Underground include: the total ridership of the line; the hours in which the line operates; the number of junctions on the line;⁷²⁰ the headway required, the age of the line, the number of stations and the length of underground tunnels on the line.⁷²¹

⁷¹⁸ Parties' submission dated 23 March 2023, paragraph 4.3.

⁷¹⁹ Parties' submission dated 23 March 2023, paragraphs 1.2, 4.3, and 9.4.

⁷²⁰ Parties' response to Issues Letter, 23 November 2022, paragraphs 11.2-11.3.

⁷²¹ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, paragraph 7.5.

9.28 The Parties also submitted that the DTUP PQQ criteria demonstrated the requirements that suppliers would need to meet to compete for future brownfield CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground. The Parties stated that '[i]t is reasonable to assume that future tenders to resignal these lines will be subject to a comparable competitive framework'.⁷²²

Third-party views

- 9.29 We asked TfL to identify the factors that it considered were most important when deciding to which supplier to award a CBTC resignalling contract.
- 9.30 Since it has not yet scoped the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines tenders, TfL submitted that it would be 'difficult to say what criteria we may use to assess the suitability of a reference site'.⁷²³ As set out at paragraphs 9.37 and 9.38, assuming that TfL follows the same approach as it has taken in previous tenders, it is likely that TfL would continue to assess suppliers' technical and commercial offerings and apply a greater weight to the technical criteria. The technical criteria can cover a number of parameters including suppliers' ability to adapt their CBTC product to meet TfL's technical requirements and previous experience in undertaking projects that are similar in nature to the specifications specified in the London Underground tender.
- 9.31 In response to our question whether TfL had a preference for suppliers with UK experience, TfL submitted that UK experience was 'neither essential nor preferred' and that what was important was 'the operational and technical experience of the supplier and relevance in relation to a given procurement'.⁷²⁴ TfL told us that a supplier would be able to demonstrate its ability to resignal a line on the London Underground by using either domestic or international reference projects.⁷²⁵
- 9.32 In relation to price, TfL told us that it would not expect the lowest tendered price to necessarily result in the lowest cost to TfL as this may be a result of a supplier not understanding the complexities and technical requirements of the project.⁷²⁶ TfL told us that the 'best and final offer' would likely be largely irrelevant. TfL would be more interested in the fees and rates offered by the supplier, as these factors have more influence on the overall target cost.⁷²⁷

⁷²⁴ TfL response to questionnaire, Q 9(e).

⁷²² Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, paragraph 4.4.

⁷²³ TfL response to RFI dated 22 February 2023, Q 3.

⁷²⁵ TfL response to questionnaire, Q 9(d).

⁷²⁶ Transcript of hearing with TfL, 8 February 2023, pages 28, and 3.

⁷²⁷ Transcript of hearing with TfL, 8 February 2023, pages 31-32.

- 9.33 We also gathered evidence from competitors on what they consider to be the parameters of competition for future TfL resignalling projects.
- 9.34 Both Siemens and Alstom told us that TfL's assessment would consider the technical solution of the supplier. Alstom also told us that TfL would look at whether the supplier can offer the 'same flavour' of CBTC technology required for the project and assess, based on references whether a supplier can 'deliver the migration or the upgrade of the line, without interrupting service'.⁷²⁸
- 9.35 Third-party suppliers also told us that TfL was likely to consider several delivery criteria in its assessment of references, such as:
 - *(a)* Demonstration of a supplier's ability to deliver projects successfully and on time.⁷²⁹
 - *(b)* Having a reference from delivering a project somewhere in the world with similar complexities to the London Underground.⁷³⁰
 - *(c)* Demonstrable approach to health and safety, sustainability and social value.⁷³¹
 - (d) The ability to deliver the upgrade of the line without interrupting service.⁷³²
- 9.36 Alstom told us that TfL would also assess knowledge and knowhow of the local environment and any particular local standards.⁷³³ It told us that having a reference in the country showing the ability to develop an experienced local workforce is a competitive strength.⁷³⁴ Siemens told us that a client (such as TfL) would consider the technical solution, the ability of the bidder to actually deliver the project successfully on time, and the commercial elements associated with that, such as price. Other factors considered by customers were health and safety approach, approach to sustainability, and social value elements.⁷³⁵

DTUP criteria

9.37 In the PQQ of the DTUP tender, TfL assessed bidders by reference to certain 'pass and fail' criteria in relation to the financial standing of the bidders and

⁷²⁸ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 18.

⁷²⁹ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 17.

⁷³⁰ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 17.

⁷³¹ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 17.

⁷³² Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 18.

⁷³³ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 17.

⁷³⁴ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 14.

⁷³⁵ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 17.

several criteria against which TfL assessed the technical capability and experience of the bidder, primarily using case studies. These criteria include: (i) 'customer and business management' (10%); (ii) 'organisation, people and resources' (10%); (iii) 'supply chain/partnership' (5%); (iv) 'relevant experience & system delivery' (30%); (v) 'systems engineering and integration capability' (8%); (vi) 'product & certification' (15%); (vii) 'Quality' (6%); (viii) 'RAM' [reliability, availability & maintainability] (8%); and (ix) 'maintenance' (6%).⁷³⁶ We note that 'relevant experience & system delivery', including 'capability to deliver a CBTC system of similar scope and with the characteristics' required by TfL, was the criterion with the highest weighting.

9.38 Although the tender was cancelled during the ITT stage, TfL prepared a draft set of ITT criteria and issued to pre-qualified suppliers. These criteria were split into two broad categories: 'technical' (weighted 60%) and 'commercial' (weighted 40%). The technical criteria covered; 'design and system solution' (42%), 'delivery – implementation services' (45%) and 'delivery – operational services' (13%). The commercial criteria covered: 'implementation target price – Piccadilly line' (50%), 'implementation target price – all other lines' (25%) and 'operational services' (25%).⁷³⁷

Our assessment

- 9.39 Based on the evidence set out above, our view is that competition for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines will take place across several aspects of suppliers' offerings:
 - (a) Access to technology: suppliers will compete on the basis of their CBTC signalling solutions and ability to meet the technological requirements of the specific project set out by TfL.
 - (b) Experience in undertaking CBTC resignalling projects: suppliers will compete on the basis of their experience and expertise in undertaking CBTC projects on metro systems that have at least some comparable characteristics to the upcoming projects on the London Underground. This will cover various dimensions including, among others, whether the reference projects are greenfield or brownfield; the age of the metro system; the operating hours of the line and passenger throughput; operational factors, such as the ability to avoid disruption (eg line closures); and other parameters of complexity.

 ⁷³⁶ TfL response dated 27 January 2023, 'DTUP PQQ Evaluation Report and Recommendations', paragraph 6.5.
 ⁷³⁷ TfL response dated 1 June 2023, 'IFT Appendix B valuation Questions and Guidance'.

- (c) Local knowledge and capacity: having experience and knowledge of London Underground systems as well as existing capacity in the UK is likely to be advantageous to a bidder's chances of selection. Having an existing relationship with TfL, specifically through supplying signalling but also to a lesser extent through the supply of other services, may confer upon a supplier a competitive advantage. While the Parties submitted that, in practice, a supplier would need references on the London Underground in order to credibly compete for future TfL tenders, based on the evidence from third parties, and in particular evidence from TfL that it would accept references from outside the UK, we do not consider that London Underground references are essential for a bidder.
- (d) **Price**: suppliers will compete on their ability to offer competitive fees and rates, but safety critical and operational factors are expected to be more important.
- 9.40 In our competition assessment, we will consider how closely the Parties and their competitors are expected to compete against these parameters.

Approach to the competition assessment

Approach to evidence and the focus of our assessment

- 9.41 As explained at paragraph 9.6, our competition assessment will focus on future TfL CBTC resignalling projects for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines.
- 9.42 In relation to our approach to the assessment of the evidence, we note the following:
 - (a) Tender and share of supply analysis: We have considered evidence from past tenders for CBTC resignalling projects by TfL and shares of supply in the UK. Given the limited number of tender observations, we have also analysed the evidence from past competitive interactions in Europe and globally such as bidding data, shares, and references. Despite the specific characteristics of the London Underground, we consider that this evidence provides insight into suppliers' technical experience and expertise in delivering CBTC projects and into the likely competitive conditions for future CBTC projects in the UK.
 - (b) Parties' submissions, third-party views, and the Parties' internal documents: We took this evidence into account in assessing Hitachi's incentives to bid for future CBTC projects in the London Underground, whether and the extent to which the incumbent suppliers to the London Underground would have an advantage in future CBTC projects in the

London Underground, and the extent to which Hitachi and other entrants are credible competitors for CBTC projects in these lines, in addition to the incumbents Thales and Siemens (see paragraph 10.30).

9.43 In our assessment of the evidence, we adopted the general principles set out in paragraphs 6.5 to 6.9.

Timeframe of our assessment

- 9.44 As noted above, our assessment focuses on the procurement for the resignalling of the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines which may not take place until as late as 2035. The Parties submitted that the procurement for these projects is both uncertain (being subject to business justification and funding constraints) and distant (being expected to be procured in over a decade's time). The Parties consider that the assessment of any supplier's trajectory over a period of ten years is extremely speculative, and that it is difficult to see how that assessment could meet the relevant threshold for a finding of SLC on the balance of probabilities. The Parties believe that it is not possible to predict based on the evidence available if any of Hitachi, CRSC or other new entrants could become credible competitors for the London Underground in this timeframe.⁷³⁸
- 9.45 With respect to the timing and certainty of the procurement for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines, TfL submitted that these projects are part of TfL's business plan and are expected to commence procurement prior to 2035, although this would be subject to business justification and funding constraints.⁷³⁹ This is consistent with repeated references to the resignalling of the Piccadilly line in TfL's published business plans, including its most recent 2023 business plan.
- 9.46 Since TfL's investment plans depends on the availability of government funding and the funding and timescales for future TfL projects have not yet been decided,⁷⁴⁰ it is not possible to determine the exact timing of procurement.
- 9.47 However, based on TfL's evidence on the estimated remaining useful life of urban signalling systems and its business plans, it is likely that both the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines will require resignalling and that tenders for

⁷³⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, paragraph 5.2.

⁷³⁹ TfL response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 4(a).

⁷⁴⁰ DfT response to RFI of 20 February 2023, Q 4.

those projects will be launched within the next 10–12 years.⁷⁴¹ In particular, TfL told us that the cost of maintaining the legacy signalling system on the Bakerloo line will eventually become uneconomical. TfL told us that while the system would not 'necessarily stop functioning, it just costs you a lot continuing' and that 'actually it may get to a point where we stop running the Bakerloo line because the cost becomes prohibitive'.⁷⁴² TfL also told us that 'in some cases where components have gone well beyond their actual design life, then we have to look very carefully about whether, for example, structurally they can continue to safely operate'.⁷⁴³

- 9.48 The projected timelines for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines [%].⁷⁴⁴
- 9.49 We currently consider, therefore, that the evidence indicates that the procurement of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines is likely to occur within 10–12 years.
- 9.50 A timeframe of up to 12 years inevitably results in some uncertainty as to how competition in the market will develop by the time that these tenders take place. We note that the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines indicates that '[m]erger assessments involve the CMA assessing the likely development of markets several years into the future'.⁷⁴⁵ The Guidelines also state that '[w]hilst the degree of uncertainty will be appropriately weighted in the CMA's assessment of whether the relevant standard of proof is met, uncertainty will not in itself preclude the CMA from concluding that the SLC test is met on the basis of all the available evidence'.⁷⁴⁶
- 9.51 We consider that the main uncertainties relevant to our assessment are around:
 - (a) the design of TfL's tender process for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines, as this may influence the extent of incumbency advantage and barriers to entry; and
 - *(b)* the capabilities of potential suppliers at the time these tenders are likely to be launched, including: (i) which suppliers will have the capabilities to

```
<sup>745</sup> CMA129, paragraph 2.27.
```

```
<sup>746</sup> CMA129, paragraph 2.10.
```

⁷⁴¹ TfL told us that 'Typically, a signalling system has a 40-year life span. Over those 40 years, TfL ensures the system is safe and reliable. Therefore, it has support contracts for components and maintenance.' See, TfL, call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 26. The signalling system in the Piccadilly Line was updated around 1980s and TfL told us that 'trains' in the Bakerloo Line are '50 years old'. See, Transcript of call with TfL, 8 February 2023, page 18; and TfL response to RFI dated 22 February 2023, Q 1.

⁷⁴² Transcript of hearing with TfL 8 February 2023, page 18.

⁷⁴³ Transcript of hearing with TfL 8 February 2023, pages 18-19.

⁷⁴⁴ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, dated 23 March 2023 (**Submission on CBTC signalling projects**), paragraph 6.2.

compete for complex brownfield CBTC projects at the time these projects are tendered; and (ii) whether new CBTC suppliers that currently have no or limited relevant experience in undertaking brownfield CBTC projects would be able to enter and become credible competitors for future London CBTC projects.

- 9.52 We have considered each of these questions in our competitive assessment based on evidence available to us.
- 9.53 We note that the shares of supply and bidding analysis demonstrate that the conditions of competition in Europe and globally have been fairly consistent between 2012 and 2021, with four main suppliers accounting for the vast majority of CBTC signalling projects (see paragraph 10.201). While a small number of suppliers have recently entered or are aiming to enter in the supply of CBTC systems in Europe (eg CAF and Stadler), no new supplier has attained a significant foothold in Europe and globally (see below Table 16 and paragraph 10.199).
- 9.54 We consider that evidence such as shares of supply and bidding analysis can provide information on the nature and extent of competition between the Parties and other suppliers in the recent past and may provide useful insights into the likely extent of competition between them in the future. This is particularly the case in a market which is relatively stable and has high barriers to entry as discussed below. We have also considered evidence from the Parties, the Parties' internal documents, and third parties in order to get as complete a picture as possible of the likely future dynamics of competition, including whether entry and expansion would be timely, likely, and sufficient to prevent an SLC from arising taking into account when future CBTC tenders for the London Underground are likely to occur.
- 9.55 We have assessed whether the evidence, in the round, indicates that the supply of CBTC systems in a complex metro environment is likely to remain highly concentrated, with high barriers to entry and expansion. In such circumstances, the loss of a rival imposing even a limited constraint could result in an SLC.
- 9.56 Accordingly, we have assessed the likely applicable conditions of competition on the basis of all the available evidence, rather than seeking to predict specific outcomes.

10. Supply of CBTC systems

- 10.1 The Parties have in the past competed for the provision of CBTC systems procured by UK transport authorities, [≫] for CBTC systems on the London Underground.
- 10.2 In our assessment below, we have considered how closely the Parties compete with one another and whether the removal of the constraint the Parties place on each other is likely to lead to an SLC in the supply of CBTC signalling systems procured by UK transport authorities. As part of this assessment, we have also considered the competitive constraints placed on the Parties by other CBTC suppliers that may bid for future UK transport authority CBTC signalling contracts.
- 10.3 The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows:
 - (a) Market definition;
 - (b) Competition assessment;
 - (c) Our provisional assessment;
 - (d) Entry and expansion; and
 - (e) Provisional conclusion.

Market definition

Product market

- 10.4 The Parties overlap in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK, which we take as our starting point for determining the relevant product market.
- 10.5 The boundaries of the relevant product market are generally determined primarily by reference to demand-side substitution. However, the CMA may widen the scope of the market where there is evidence that firms routinely use their production assets to supply a range of products and where the conditions of competition for those products are similar.⁷⁴⁷

⁷⁴⁷ CMA129, paragraph 9.8.

Parties' views

- 10.6 As mentioned above in paragraph 8.9, the Parties submitted that the distinction between mainline and urban signalling projects is appropriate.⁷⁴⁸
- 10.7 The Parties submitted that CBTC signalling systems and conventional signalling systems for urban metro rail were distinct. The Parties submitted that CBTC systems were more advanced than conventional urban systems and it was, therefore, unlikely that a customer that already uses CBTC systems would switch back to conventional urban signalling. For instance, CBTC systems are characterised by higher automation than conventional signalling systems for metros, allowing precision stopping at platforms, automatic door operation and automatic turnback at terminals, and in some circumstances the operation of fully driverless trains.⁷⁴⁹ The Parties also submitted that CBTC provides performance benefits where the network requirements justify the additional investment needed to upgrade to CBTC.⁷⁵⁰
- 10.8 The Parties also submitted that, unlike ETCS mainline signalling systems, CBTC signalling systems are generally based on the supplier's bespoke technology that is non-standard and does not easily interoperate with the CBTC signalling technology of other suppliers. The CBTC signalling supplier also customises its solution to meet each customer's requirements and the needs of each specific deployment. Different suppliers therefore offer different CBTC solutions, and it is difficult 'for one CBTC signalling supplier to modify or extend the CBTC system installed by another supplier'.⁷⁵¹

Third-party views

10.9 TfL submitted that it would procure CBTC systems for future London Underground resignalling projects (see section above *Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground*).

Our assessment

10.10 In this case, on the demand-side, transport authorities are unlikely to switch away from their demand for CBTC signalling to other forms of signalling systems, for example, to conventional urban signalling or any type of mainline signalling. We considered the degree of supply side substitution in relation to the supply of CBTC, in the context of the framework set out in paragraph 8.8.

⁷⁴⁸ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraphs 13.4-13.5.

⁷⁴⁹ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 13.11.6.

⁷⁵⁰ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 1.1.

⁷⁵¹ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 2.3.

- 10.11 Based on the evidence from the Parties and previous findings of the European Commission,^{752,753} we consider that there is very limited demandside substitutability between mainline and urban signalling systems, since the projects are used by different customers that have different requirements and the projects use different technologies and apply different standards.
- 10.12 The evidence from the Parties, TfL and previous findings from the European Commission⁷⁵⁴ indicate that CBTC is a new generation of urban signalling and uses different technologies to conventional urban signalling systems, with improved functionalities, improved security and typically higher costs. TfL has used CBTC systems in its most recent resignalling tenders and intends to procure CBTC systems for its future London Underground resignalling projects. On that basis, we consider that substitution of conventional urban signalling systems for CBTC systems is likely to be limited. We therefore consider that CBTC and conventional urban signalling systems are separate product markets.
- 10.13 We considered further possible distinctions within CBTC signalling projects (eg possible segmentations based on the type of CBTC technology, the type of urban rail transport using the CBTC technology (eg Light Railway Trams (LRTs or metro) and the level of complexity of the project). As explained in the Background chapter, all CBTC systems rely on continuous radio-based communication between the train and the tracks to precisely identify the location of a train on the tracks. The evidence indicates, however, that CBTC technology does not follow a standard set of principles and that the technology is bespoke for each metro system, and potentially for different lines within the same metro system (see paragraph 10.49). Transport authorities, therefore, typically have bespoke requirements for their metro system.
- 10.14 We note that the level of complexity of CBTC signalling projects varies on a spectrum and in relation to a number of different dimensions (eg age of the metro system, the tunnel size etc). We therefore currently consider that any differences in the conditions of competition between CBTC signalling projects according to their levels of complexity are better taken into account in the

⁷⁵² FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 1, paragraph 13.2.1 and 13.5. The Parties cited *Siemens/Alstom*, paragraphs 620 and *Alstom/Bombardier* 31 July 2022, paragraphs 755.

⁷⁵³ The Parties cited Alstom/Bombardier, paragraphs 1139.

⁷⁵⁴ The Parties cited *Alstom/Bombardier*, paragraphs 1146 and noted that, in *Alstom/Bombardier*, the European Commission found that the market for CBTC signalling projects for metros was distinct from that for conventional signalling for metros due to factors such as CBTC's additional functionalities, improved energy efficiency, increased security, and higher cost. Nevertheless, the European Commission left the exact delineation of the metro signalling markets open as the Merger did not give rise to competition concerns under any possible market definition. FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, 13.10.

competition assessment, as part of the assessment of CBTC suppliers' experience, than by distinguishing between separate product markets.

10.15 Our competition assessment focuses on assessing which are the most likely, credible competitors for future CBTC signalling tenders in the London Underground, taking into account the characteristics of the projects we expect to be procured.

Provisional conclusion on product market definition

10.16 Based on the above evidence, we have provisionally concluded that the relevant product market is the supply of CBTC signalling systems.

Geographic market

10.17 Similar to the product market definition, in general the boundaries of geographic market definition are determined primarily by reference to demand-side substitution. In certain circumstances, we may aggregate markets based on considerations relating to the response of suppliers to changes in price.⁷⁵⁵ Below, we consider the degree of supply side substitution in the supply of CBTC systems in Europe in more detail, in the context of the framework set out in paragraph 8.8.

Parties' views

- 10.18 The Parties submitted that the geographic market for CBTC signalling projects should be Europe-wide, because suppliers active in European countries would generally be able to compete for projects across the continent, including the UK. The Parties submitted that, while CBTC solutions generally need to be adapted for any given project based on the customers' requirements, there has also been an increase in standardisation of CBTC.⁷⁵⁶
- 10.19 The Parties also submitted that TfL requires staff working on the London Underground to obtain the appropriate qualifications and certifications before undertaking work on CBTC signalling projects, in particular, an IRSE Licence. Obtaining such licences requires a period of training and time and cost.⁷⁵⁷ IRSE licences were also required for working on the [≫] (see *Experience on the London Underground*).⁷⁵⁸

⁷⁵⁵ CMA129, paragraph 9.7.

⁷⁵⁶ FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 13.21.

⁷⁵⁷ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.3(d); and Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 65.

⁷⁵⁸ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 64.

Our assessment

- 10.20 As mentioned above in paragraph 4.26(a), TfL is responsible for procuring signalling systems for the London Underground and each CBTC signalling tender will have bespoke requirements (see paragraph 10.13).⁷⁵⁹
- 10.21 From the demand-side perspective, TfL told us that UK experience is neither 'essential nor preferred' for suppliers to win CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground.⁷⁶⁰ However, the Parties' submissions indicate that UK transport authorities do require staff to be licensed and qualified to operate on UK metro systems.⁷⁶¹
- 10.22 From a supply-side perspective, while there is evidence that suppliers not currently active in the UK may be able to enter and compete for tenders in the UK, those suppliers would need to invest in local capacity to be able to deliver projects in the UK, for example, hire local staff with the appropriate licences and qualifications to operate on UK metro systems. As explained below in paragraph 10.98, the hiring of staff can be costly and time-consuming. Entry into the UK is therefore likely to involve some effort and investment. There is little evidence to suggest that suppliers have been, or would be capable of, routinely shifting capacity from other geographic markets to meet demand in the UK.
- 10.23 Notwithstanding the evidence that there are certain national dynamics of competition and that there are some barriers to entering the UK, in our competitive assessment we have also taken into account the fact that the Parties and their main competitors operate and compete on a global basis, using the same core systems. We consider that some elements of their offerings such as innovation and product development may be determined by competition outside, as well as inside, the UK (see, for example, the evolution of the (CBTC) technology that Hitachi is currently developing, described in paragraph 10.229(a)). We also recognise that suppliers can use CBTC projects outside the UK as references for UK CBTC tenders and that their effectiveness as competitors in the UK may be influenced by their experience both inside and outside the UK.
- 10.24 Given this, we consider the appropriate starting point for our assessment is the UK market. However, we will also consider in our competitive assessment the potential constraint from suppliers outside the UK as well as the impact of broader global competitive dynamics – in particular in relation to innovation

⁷⁶⁰ TfL questionnaire response, Q 9(e).

⁷⁵⁹ See also paragraph 9.6, where we explain that where we explain that the focus of our investigation are future CBTC projects in the London Underground within around the next 10–12 years.

⁷⁶¹ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.3(d).

and product development and the importance of experience from outside the UK – on competition in the UK.

Provisional conclusion on geographic market definition

10.25 For the reasons set out above, we have provisionally concluded that the relevant geographic market is the UK, with some important global aspects of competition which affect the competitive strength of suppliers in future CBTC systems in the UK.

Provisional conclusion on market definition

10.26 We have provisionally concluded that the relevant market is the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK, with some important global aspects of competition which affect the competitive strength of suppliers in future CBTC systems in the UK.

Competition assessment

- 10.27 Thales is the largest supplier of CBTC signalling for the London Underground (see paragraphs 10.70 and 10.195). We have assessed whether Hitachi is a potential challenger for future CBTC signalling contracts. In this chapter, we assess the closeness of competition between the Parties and whether alternative constraints would offset the loss of competition resulting from the Merger.
- 10.28 As described in more detail below, the supply of CBTC systems to the London Underground is highly concentrated and there are currently two suppliers operating on the London Underground that likely benefit from material incumbency advantages. Hitachi [≫] and is an important supplier of CBTC systems globally.
- 10.29 As set out in the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines, where evidence indicates that 'competition mainly takes place among a few firms, any two would normally be regarded as sufficiently close competitors that the elimination of competition between them would raise competition concerns, subject to evidence to the contrary. The smaller the number of significant players, the stronger the *prima facie* expectation that any two firms are close competitors. In such a scenario, we would require persuasive evidence that

the merger firms are not competitors to allay any competition concerns'.⁷⁶² This would appear to be a particularly relevant consideration in this case.

- 10.30 With this context in mind, we have investigated the following three key questions to assess the evidence on the likely effects of the Merger on competition in relation to the supply of CBTC services:
 - (a) Whether future London Underground projects are contestable, given the strong incumbency advantages of existing suppliers (see 'Incumbency on the London Underground');
 - (b) Whether Hitachi would likely bid for complex brownfield CBTC projects in the future. As explained below in the section about 'Hitachi's participation in future London Underground CBTC tenders', Hitachi submitted on 23 March 2023 [≫].⁷⁶³ [≫]⁷⁶⁴ [≫];⁷⁶⁵ and
 - (c) Whether the Parties are close competitors and whether constraints from other CBTC suppliers would offset the potential loss of competition that the Parties would have exercised on each other in future CBTC tenders for the London Underground. To assess CBTC suppliers' actual and potential strengths, we have considered a range of evidence, including shares of supply, bidding analysis, suppliers' access to technology and their management expertise and technical expertise in undertaking CBTC projects (see 'Shares of supply', 'Bidding analysis', 'Suppliers' characteristics' and 'Third-party evidence').

Incumbency on the London Underground

- 10.31 The Parties and their competitors have told us that the London Underground is one of the most complex metro systems in the world.⁷⁶⁶ The Parties told us that incumbent suppliers are considered to have a significant competitive advantage because:
 - *(a)* incumbents have a strong operational knowledge of the network which reduces the delivery risk;

⁷⁶² CMA129, paragraph 4.10.

⁷⁶³ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 8.2.

⁷⁶⁴ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 2.

⁷⁶⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph, 4.14. [%], with further support to the statement that [%].

⁷⁶⁶ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 19; Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, page 10; and Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.2.

- *(b)* incumbents may have a lower cost of familiarisation and potentially a lower cost of technology adaptation; and
- *(c)* London Underground references are required to demonstrate the characteristics required to meet TfL's criteria; these are less common with non-London references.⁷⁶⁷
- 10.32 Thales is the largest supplier on the London Underground; once the 4LM project is complete it will signal approximately 60–70% of TfL's network.⁷⁶⁸ Thales has signalled seven different lines that were awarded through three separate contracts. Siemens is the only other CBTC supplier currently operating on the London Underground and has signalled three different lines that were awarded through three separate contracts.⁷⁶⁹
- 10.33 In this section, we consider whether the incumbency advantages held by Thales and Siemens heighten entry barriers to such an extent that future CBTC resignalling projects on the London Underground would not be contestable for suppliers without previous experience in London. We assess the incumbency advantages against each of the following parameters:
 - (a) Access to technology;
 - (b) Management experience and technical expertise; and
 - (c) Local knowledge and capacity.

Access to technology

10.34 We assess whether existing suppliers have an incumbency advantage with respect to their access to technology. We consider the evidence in relation to any incumbency advantages that may arise from the need to interface with the technology of incumbent suppliers in the 'Local knowledge and capacity' section.

Parties' views

10.35 The Parties submitted that both Thales and Siemens had CBTC systems that were tailored to TfL's bespoke standards.⁷⁷⁰ According to the Parties, this provides scope for [≫]. The Parties cited the efficiencies that Thales had

⁷⁶⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraphs 3.16 and 4.1-4.13.

⁷⁶⁸ TfL, call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 1(b). Thales signals the DLR, Jubilee and Northern lines (JNUP) and Circle, District, Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan lines (4LM).

⁷⁶⁹ Siemens signals the Central line, Victoria line and Elizabeth line. TfL in-house technology is used to signal the Piccadilly, Bakerloo and Waterloo & City lines. TfL response to RFI dated 22 February 2023, Q 1.
⁷⁷⁰ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.3.

generated in project delivery [\gg]. The Parties submitted that [\gg]. The Parties stated that the reduced duration [\gg].⁷⁷¹

- 10.36 The Parties submitted that Hitachi did not have detailed knowledge of TfL's specifications for its CBTC system and that it had not developed any specific CBTC solution for TfL.⁷⁷² The Parties submitted that rather than access to technology, the key distinguishing factor when competing for CBTC projects in London was the supplier's ability to adapt its technology to meet TfL's 'complex specifications'.⁷⁷³ In the Parties' view, such capabilities could only be acquired through experience and conferred incumbents with a significant advantage.⁷⁷⁴
- 10.37 The Parties considered that TfL's assessment that CBTC technology is rapidly changing (see paragraph 10.38 below) was speculative and instead explained that, in their experience, CBTC technology had 'remained fundamentally the same since the 1980s'.⁷⁷⁵

Third-party views

- 10.38 TfL submitted that CBTC systems installed on different lines on the same metro system could be significantly different from each other, even if installed by the same provider. For example, TfL indicated that the Metropolitan line (part of the 4LM project) has a section which runs alongside the Jubilee line but that the lines use two significantly different technologies, even though both lines were signalled by Thales.⁷⁷⁶ Specifically, the Jubilee line system uses inductive cables, whereas the Metropolitan line system is radio based despite both using the same track to reach Neasden depot.⁷⁷⁷ This suggests that there have been changes in technology since the 1980s.
- 10.39 TfL also submitted that the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines use very old legacy systems and that each line was operated separately. TfL did not consider that an incumbent on the London Underground would necessarily have a technological advantage for resignalling either line.⁷⁷⁸

⁷⁷¹ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.4.

⁷⁷² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.4.

⁷⁷³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.5.

⁷⁷⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.6.

⁷⁷⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.6.

⁷⁷⁶ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 14.

⁷⁷⁷ TfL response to RFI dated 23 March 2023, Q 2(a). The Jubilee line was originally upgraded using transmission-based train control (TBTC) and the Metropolitan line using CBTC. See, TfL, call note, 9 August 2022, paragraphs 7-8. CBTC is a technological evolution of transmission-based train control (TBTC), using more modern communications technology in place of cabling to improve reliability and performance, as well as reduce maintenance costs.

⁷⁷⁸ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 12 to page 13.

- 10.40 TfL submitted that the challenge for a bidder was how it would configure and deploy its system to meet TfL's operational and infrastructure requirements.⁷⁷⁹
- 10.41 Alstom told us that most suppliers have competing technical capabilities.⁷⁸⁰ Alstom also noted that there was an 'important difference between an OEM who has already installed the signalling technology, and an OEM who has never installed the signalling technology' in a particular metro network.⁷⁸¹
- 10.42 [%].⁷⁸²
- 10.43 Siemens explained that there would be a 'one-time effort' to 'adapt your existing software to the needs of TfL ... if you did that once, you have all this knowledge already, and you have adapted your software already to the needs of the customer ... some very highly sophisticated customers that have a lot of wishes on functionalities and how they would want a system'.⁷⁸³

DTUP tender evaluation documents

10.44 We reviewed the tender evaluation documents from the 2016 DTUP which was TfL's most recent procurement process in which it assessed suppliers' technology offerings. As explained in paragraph 9.16(b), the DTUP tender was cancelled after PQQ stage and therefore, the available PQQ scores do not reflect a full evaluation of suppliers' capabilities. We also note that [≫]. With regard to the 'Access to technology' parameter, the DTUP tender provides contemporaneous evidence of TfL's assessment [≫]. The core section of TfL's evaluation of suppliers' technological offerings was covered in 'C6: Product and Certification'. Table 14 provides detail of TfL's assessment.

Table 14: Product and Certification scoring for the DTUP PQQ

[≫] Source: [≫]. 10.45 [≫].⁷⁸⁴

10.46 [%].785,786,787

⁷⁸² [%]

⁷⁷⁹ TfL, call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 4.

⁷⁸⁰ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 11.

⁷⁸¹ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 26-27.

⁷⁸³ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 10.

⁷⁸⁴ We note that [%], which we address in the 'Management experience and technical expertise' section.

⁷⁸⁵ TfL response dated 17 April 2023, [^{36]}, page 2. New Tube for London (**NTfL**) is an alternative name for the DTUP.

⁷⁸⁶ TfL response dated 17 April 2023, [≫], page 2.

⁷⁸⁷ TfL response dated 17 April 2023, [≫] pages 19-20.

10.47 [%].788,789

Our provisional assessment

- 10.48 Based on the above evidence, we consider that having an existing technological solution used on the London Underground may confer a competitive advantage as incumbents would have been able to demonstrate their previous ability to meet TfL's requirements. New entrants would likely face challenges in adapting their core product to the specific requirements of TfL and the London Underground including, potentially, higher costs and longer approval and deployment timescales. Incumbents will have an advantage in relation to these challenges and would have the benefit of being able to rely on the learning from previous projects.
- 10.49 TfL indicated that there are different systems on different lines, and that incumbents would not necessarily have a significant advantage from a technological perspective. The evidence from the DTUP PQQ supports this view. $[\aleph]$. We consider that new entrants would likely be able to compete with the incumbent suppliers against the technological parameter of competition in future London Underground tenders.

Management experience and technical expertise

10.50 We assess whether existing suppliers have an incumbency advantage with regard to their management experience and technical expertise.

Parties' view

- 10.51 The London Underground is one of the most complex metro systems in the world. The Parties told us that there is a variety of challenges associated with the signalling on the London Underground that include:
 - (a) the age of the network; it is the oldest metro system in the world at 160 years old;
 - (b) the long operating hours, meaning that suppliers [%] to complete works:790
 - (c) the requirement to interface with legacy systems on other lines;

⁷⁸⁸ [%]. ⁷⁸⁹ [%].

⁷⁹⁰ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.3(b).

- (d) the number of lines;
- (e) the intricate junctions; and
- (f) the narrow tunnels.⁷⁹¹
- 10.52 The Parties submitted that suppliers would need to have London references to compete credibly for resignalling projects on the metro system and that any global references, regardless of comparability in terms of complexity, are unlikely to be as relevant as having London CBTC experience and were 'ineffective in actuality'.⁷⁹²
- 10.53 The Parties submitted that, against the backdrop of Bombardier's failure to deliver the SSR programme, a supplier without a proven track-record, local capabilities and expertise to deliver a project in London was 'highly unlikely' to be a strong competitor for a TfL tender. In the Parties' view, the past experience with Bombardier shows the inherent challenges of delivering a London Underground project and that it could only be addressed by 'very experienced suppliers' that could provide 'mature, flexible solutions tailored to the complex operational and spatial environment found in London'.793
- 10.54 In addition, Hitachi submitted that [12].794,795 The Parties submitted that [**%**].⁷⁹⁶
- 10.55 Hitachi submitted that it '[%]'.797

Third-party views

- 10.56 TfL submitted that previous UK experience was neither 'essential nor preferred' for London Underground signalling projects, and that a supplier would be able to demonstrate its ability to resignal a line on the London Underground by using either domestic or international reference projects.⁷⁹⁸ The ability to 'demonstrate successful implementation of a system in an environment comparable to TfL's would be a very valid reference'.⁷⁹⁹
- 10.57 However, TfL also submitted that any newcomer would need to become familiar with its standards and that and that each of its lines had 'their own

⁷⁹¹ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.2.

⁷⁹² Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 4.3(a).

 ⁷⁹³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 4.5.
 ⁷⁹⁴ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Overview, paragraph 1.6(c); and Section B, paragraphs 3.15(a), and 4.1.

⁷⁹⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 3.15(a).

⁷⁹⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 4.1.

⁷⁹⁷ Parties response to RFI dated 11 July 2022, Q 17.

⁷⁹⁸ TfL questionnaire response, Q 8, and Q 9.

⁷⁹⁹ TfL, call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 15(e).

operating practices'. TfL also described itself as 'quite a difficult client to get to understand'.⁸⁰⁰

- 10.58 [%].801
- 10.59 In the KPMG report commissioned by TfL, KPMG stated that a lower risk procurement option for TfL would be to stick with 'proven' London Underground suppliers in the future but that such an approach would restrict the level of competition and risk poor value for money outcomes.⁸⁰²
- 10.60 Competitors also indicated that having previous experience was beneficial in competing for projects on the London Underground and that suppliers that did not have experience were likely to be at a disadvantage. In particular:
 - *(a)* Alstom told us that the history and experience that sits with Thales and Siemens from work in previous projects with the London Underground means that they were better positioned for future projects in the London Underground.⁸⁰³
 - (b) Siemens told us that the London Underground was 'one of the most complex metros you could think of' because it operated 'in a very old environment'. It requires 'experienced people to understand the situation, and then also to adapt your existing software to the needs of TfL', which represents 'quite a one-time effort' (see paragraph 10.42). Siemens stated that, as a result, [≫] in the London Underground and understands the customer requirements.⁸⁰⁴
 - *(c)* Stadler told us that Thales 'will always have the advantage' in projects in the London Underground because Thales 'would know the existing system', the customer and its operational needs.⁸⁰⁵
- 10.61 We also received evidence that some of the smaller CBTC suppliers may be less well-placed to compete for the London Underground because they lack experience on the London Underground and in undertaking CBTC projects in general:
 - (a) Stadler told us that, if TfL's requirements were not strict with respect to references, or if TfL was 'more focused on the technology', it would participate in tenders for the London Underground, but if TfL 'closes the

⁸⁰⁰ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 24-25.

^{801 [%].}

⁸⁰² 'Sub-Surface Upgrade Programme Automatic Train Control – Lessons Learnt', slide 11.

⁸⁰³ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 25.

⁸⁰⁴ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 10.

⁸⁰⁵ Stadler, call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 9.

door because of references and other things', Stadler would not be able to compete.⁸⁰⁶ Stadler told us that it did not have the required experience to compete for the London Underground based on supplying one CBTC contract (Basel), and that it would require different references to be able to compete for the London Underground.⁸⁰⁷

- (b) Mitsubishi told us that it was planning to enter the European market in the next ten years. It also submitted that while it was 'very interested in entering in the London Underground', this would depend on the scope of the tender.⁸⁰⁸ A Mitsubishi CBTC 'roadmap' document from April 2023 indicates that it would not be in a position to win its first project in Europe before 2030 and before the 'establishment or approval of GoA4⁸⁰⁹ operation' in 2028.⁸¹⁰ In this scenario, we do not expect Mitsubishi to be able to compete credibly for the London Underground shortly after entering into Europe. Mitsubishi also submitted that it currently needs to partner with other companies to provide a complete signalling solution.811 Mitsubishi submitted that Hitachi, Thales, Siemens and Alstom all have the capability to supply a total CBTC system package.⁸¹² Despite only having won CBTC tenders in Japan before,⁸¹³ Mitsubishi was recently awarded one project to supply CBTC systems in New York (in which it subcontracted some services to a third party) (see paragraph 10.226 about Mitsubishi's CBTC project in New York).
- (c) Chinese suppliers CRSC and CRRC have not responded to our questionnaire. We note, however, that neither CRSC nor CRRC have won any CBTC projects in Europe in the past ten years (based on the Parties' market share data). The San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) told us that [≫].⁸¹⁴ This suggests that neither supplier may be well placed to compete for the London Underground in the near future.
- *(d)* CAF submitted that it was not active in the supply of CBTC solutions and did not have commercial references for CBTC projects.⁸¹⁵ CAF submitted

⁸⁰⁶ Stadler, call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 17.

⁸⁰⁷ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 17.

⁸⁰⁸ Mitsubishi response to RFI dated 9 May 2023, Q 7.

⁸⁰⁹ GoA4 stands for the highest level of railway automation is known as Grade of Automation Level 4. No driver or on-board attendant is required. See 'All systems go for driverless metros | Thales Group', last accessed on 4 June 2023.

⁸¹⁰ Mitsubishi Internal Document, 'GoA4 development road map for discussion 20230417', slide 3; and Mitsubishi response to RFI dated 9 May 2023, Q 7 and Q 9.

⁸¹¹ Mitsubishi response to RFI dated 9 May 2023, Q 7.

⁸¹² Mitsubishi response to RFI dated 9 May 2023, Q 9; and Mitsubishi Internal Document, 'GoA4 development road map for discussion 20230417', slide 2.

⁸¹³ 'Mitsubishi to supply CBTC equipment to New York City Transit', last accessed 5 June 2023.

⁸¹⁴ SFMTA call transcript, 4 May 2023, pages 24-25.

⁸¹⁵ CAF questionnaire response dated 13 January 2023, Q 3.

 $[\gg]^{816}$ $[\gg]^{.817}$ CAF explained that the only option available for CAF to take part in CBTC projects was by partnering with CBTC suppliers (such as Thales) in bundled contracts, in which it would provide the rolling stock component of the tender.⁸¹⁸ It described the entry barriers for the CBTC market as 'very high' because of the need to provide commercial references to win signalling contracts. For highly complex systems like the London Underground, the requirement to demonstrate experience of signalling metro systems with similarly complex characteristics is a further barrier that requires a new entrant to build its portfolio of references over time.⁸¹⁹

TfL's assessment of bidders in previous tenders

- 10.62 The three previous completed competitive tenders on the London Underground have been awarded to three different suppliers: 4LM (Thales, 2015), Elizabeth line (Siemens, 2012) and SSR (Bombardier, 2011). Notably, in 2011, Bombardier (subsequently acquired by Alstom) was awarded the SSR project, a tender that it won in competition with Siemens, despite having no previous experience on the London Underground.⁸²⁰ TfL cancelled the contract, after having concerns regarding Alstom's ability to deliver the objectives set out in the contract. As set out in more detail in paragraph 9.17, KPMG undertook a review of TfL's procurement process and in respect of SSR recommended that TfL should conduct a more rigorous technical assessment and allocate a higher weighting to suppliers' technical and delivery capabilities rather than pricing and commercial criteria. While we note the Parties' submissions in relation to the SSR in paragraph 10.53, and while we expect TfL to conduct a more thorough technical assessment in the future, this evidence does not indicate that TfL was misquided in introducing a new supplier but that future assessments should place greater weight on the technical capabilities of a supplier than on price.
- 10.63 TfL's most recent procurement process shows that a new entrant in the supply of CBTC systems to the London Underground scored highly without London references. TfL started the procurement process for the DTUP in

⁸¹⁶ CAF questionnaire response dated 13 January 2023, Q 6.

⁸¹⁷ CAF questionnaire response dated 13 January 2023, Q 3.

⁸¹⁸ CAF questionnaire response dated 13 January 2023, Q 7.

⁸¹⁹ CAF questionnaire response dated 13 January 2023, Q 6.

⁸²⁰ The SRR is expected to be a more complex project than the Piccadilly or Bakerloo lines. The 4LM has been described as the most complex brownfield signalling project in the world as it covers four highly interconnected lines, the 4LM was a scoped down version of the SSR. By contrast, the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines are single line tenders.

2016 but cancelled the tender at PQQ stage because of a lack of funding.821 We reviewed TfL's PQQ feedback and found:

- *(a)* [≫].
- (b) [**%**].⁸²²
- (C) [%].⁸²³
- 10.64 As set out in paragraph 10.44, the DTUP tender was cancelled after PQQ stage and therefore, the available PQQ scores do not reflect a full evaluation of suppliers' capabilities. Notwithstanding this, we consider that the evidence from the DTUP PQQ evaluation provides insight on how TfL and suppliers took into account the importance of London Underground references. The evidence indicates that a new entrant scored well against TfL's evaluation criteria without having any references in the London Underground and was able to outscore one of the two incumbent suppliers. This evidence suggests while new entrants may have been disadvantaged by not having London Underground references, that disadvantage was not so severe that new entrants could not be competitive.
- 10.65 Regarding the performance of incumbent suppliers in delivering CBTC systems for TfL, KPMG's recommendations to TfL state that recent delivery of signalling systems on the London Underground 'has not been good ... delivery has been late, there has been cost escalation, and there have been numerous operational problems and in-service failures'. KPMG provided examples of these performance issues on the DLR and Jubilee lines (both Thales) and the Victoria line (Siemens).⁸²⁴

Internal documents

- 10.66 One presentation from the Thales UK TfL account manager to the urban signalling Business Line Executive Committee [12]825 [12].826
- 10.67 Another Thales presentation from the UK Vice President of Thales GTS to the UK Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer in June 2021,

⁸²¹ The DTUP was launched after KPMGs recommendations.

^{822 [%].}

⁸²³ [×].

⁸²⁴ See Sub-Surface Upgrade Programme Automatic Train Control, slide 7.

⁸²⁵ We note that Thales has not contested our interpretation of this document in relation to the statement that [&]. See, Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex D. [&]. ⁸²⁶ Thales, [&].

provides an overview of UK urban signalling activity and performance. It stated that [\gg].⁸²⁷

- 10.68 It is also relevant for our assessment of the extent of any incumbency advantages to understand which suppliers Thales has viewed as possible competitors for future CBTC tenders in the London Underground.
- 10.69 There are only a limited number of documents that discuss specifically the possible competitors for future CBTC projects in the London Underground. One presentation prepared [≫]. [≫].⁸²⁸
- 10.70 In relation to Thales' capabilities, this presentation noted that [%].⁸²⁹ This document also noted that [%].
- 10.71 Another presentation prepared by the Vice President of Thales UK commercial to provide the CEO and COO an introductory overview of the UK business' activity and performance, [≫]. This document [≫].⁸³⁰
- 10.72 Thales submitted [\gg]. Thales also noted that [\gg].⁸³¹
- 10.73 We note that the above documents relate to a CBTC project that is several years away. Even if these presentations do not include an assessment of potential competitors for the resignalling of the Piccadilly line, they do show that, despite the incumbency advantages identified in these presentations, Thales anticipated that it would face competition beyond Siemens, identifying [≫] as potential competitors. We have assessed these documents taking into account the context in which they were produced and alongside other evidence (see section about *Suppliers' characteristics*).

Our provisional assessment

- 10.74 We have considered whether suppliers that have not supplied CBTC systems to the London Underground are likely to be able to compete credibly for future CBTC projects. The starting point for our assessment is that TfL is required to issue a competitive tender for the future Piccadilly and Bakerloo line projects (see paragraph 9.12).
- 10.75 In response to the Parties' submission that London Underground is uniquely complex, we first note that the future tenders relate to the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines, and not to the whole London Underground system. As we set

⁸²⁷ Thales, [≫]. ⁸²⁸ Thales, [≫] ⁸²⁹ [%] ⁸³⁰ [%] ⁸³¹ [≫] out in more detail in the *Suppliers' characteristics* section below, other metro systems have been considered as 'comparable' to the London Underground, and other brownfield projects that Hitachi has undertaken share some of the characteristics that make the Piccadilly and Bakerloo line projects particularly challenging. The complexity factors are not unique to London and suppliers such as Hitachi and Alstom without experience in London have undertaken brownfield projects that give them relevant experience. While there may be some unique combinations of these factors in London, TfL has told us that demonstrating implementation of a CBTC system in London is not a requirement to compete for London tenders (see paragraph 10.56). To the contrary, the Parties' contention is linked closely to their second submission – only London Underground references are credible – which we consider below.

- 10.76 We consider that incumbent suppliers are likely to benefit from a competitive advantage when bidding for future London Underground tenders. The relevant question, however, is whether other suppliers could compete credibly and exercise a competitive constraint on the incumbent suppliers. Based on the above evidence, we consider that suppliers that have established track records and capabilities in delivering other CBTC projects with relevant characteristics (we discuss these features in the *Suppliers' Characteristics* section) could demonstrate the management experience and technical expertise required to compete for future CBTC contracts on the London Underground. We note that suppliers without previous experience in London [∞] and have scored well in previous tenders; additionally, TfL has not indicated a preference to rely solely on existing suppliers.
- 10.77 We also note that our bidding analysis shows that new entrants have been able to win CBTC contracts in metro systems outside of London (see Table 19 in the Bidding analysis section). While we note that the London Underground is complex and few brownfield projects share all its complex characteristics, the bidding analysis evidence suggests that it is relatively common for suppliers to win brownfield contracts on metro systems in which they have no previous experience. For example, the following brownfield CBTC projects were won by new entrants, without prior experience with the respective customer: (i) Hitachi won CBTC contracts in Brussels (2016) and San Francisco (BART) (2020); (ii) Siemens won the CBTC contract for the Milan metro; and (iii) Thales won CBTC contracts in Toronto (2021); and Singapore (2012).
- 10.78 [≫].
- 10.79 Smaller CBTC suppliers such as Stadler, Mitsubishi, CAF, CRSC and CRRC, with limited relevant experience in undertaking brownfield CBTC projects globally or in Europe, are likely to be significantly less well-placed to compete

for projects on the London Underground; neither is it likely that they will develop the track record or capabilities by the time the Piccadilly or Bakerloo lines are tendered, as they are significantly behind the Parties, Siemens and Alstom (see the *'Management experience and technical expertise'* section).

Local knowledge and capacity

10.80 In this section, we assess whether existing suppliers benefit from incumbency advantages arising out their existing capacity and knowledge of the customer and the London Underground infrastructure, including any related interfacing risks in the future Piccadilly and Bakerloo line tenders.

Parties' views

- 10.81 The Parties submitted that in order to compete credibly for CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground, a supplier must demonstrate that it has suitable logistical capacity and appropriate local deployment and commissioning resources. In the Parties' view, Hitachi does not have such capacity and resources.⁸³²
- 10.82 The Parties argued that Thales and Siemens were better placed than nonincumbents to compete for future CBTC signalling contracts because of their existing workforce and capacity. The Parties submitted that [≫].⁸³³
- 10.83 Thales also submitted that [%],⁸³⁴ indicating that [%]
- 10.84 The Parties submitted that it was more difficult for suppliers without an established local presence to recruit experienced staff:
 - *(a)* TfL requires personnel working on the London Underground to have an IRSE licence, which can take a large amount of time to obtain.⁸³⁵
 - *(b)* Thales and Siemens were better positioned to attract additional staff than non-incumbent suppliers because of their track record in London.⁸³⁶
- 10.85 The Parties also told us that the Piccadilly line shares some infrastructure with the Metropolitan line, currently being resignalled by Thales as part of the 4LM project. In the Parties' view, it would be difficult, if not impossible, for one supplier to modify or extend the CBTC system installed by another supplier

⁸³² Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraphs 3.7-3.8.

⁸³³ The Parties submitted that Thales UK has [^{83]}. Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraphs 3.13-3.14.

⁸³⁴ Transcript of Main Party Hearing with Thales, page 71.

⁸³⁵ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.14 (a).

⁸³⁶ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.13.

because CBTC signalling systems deploy a supplier's bespoke technology. The Parties submitted that these [\approx].⁸³⁷ As mentioned above in paragraph 10.35, [\approx].

Third-party views

- 10.86 We asked competitors how challenging it would be to establish personnel with relevant expertise and the appropriate infrastructure for a metro system in which it had no prior experience.
- 10.87 In relation to establishing a local workforce with the necessary expertise, Alstom submitted that this would not be a challenging aspect of undertaking brownfield resignalling projects [≫].⁸³⁸ Alstom also told us that it had [≫] in the UK and that, in general, its availability of workforce was one of the factors that is weighted in the decision to bid for a certain project.⁸³⁹
- 10.88 Siemens submitted that in complex projects such as those in the London Underground a supplier could 'only be successful' if it had 'the best-qualified people on the ground sitting with the customer', noting that it would be 'helpful to have people close to the customer'.⁸⁴⁰ Siemens also noted that finding the appropriate personnel and infrastructure can be 'somewhat challenging' but submitted that this was a common challenge across the industry.⁸⁴¹ Siemens also noted that the requirement to [≫].⁸⁴² Siemens also suggested that, when assessing whether to bid for the DTUP, [≫].⁸⁴³
- 10.89 In relation to having the necessary knowledge of the London Underground infrastructure, Alstom noted that the Piccadilly line runs alongside Metropolitan line infrastructure (being signalled by Thales), which created an entry barrier for new entrants to resignal the line.⁸⁴⁴ Alstom told us that, [»]. Alstom also told us that 'whenever TfL is issuing an RFP to an existing line', it would assess, in detail, what are the technical difficulties that it might face in interfacing whatever solution it proposes with the existing system. Alstom's decision on whether it would bid for future CBTC projects in the London Underground 'would depend on the condition and the outcome of the

⁸³⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.11.

⁸³⁸ Alstom response dated 16 February 2023, Q 2.

⁸³⁹ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 7.

⁸⁴⁰ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 13.

⁸⁴¹ Siemens response dated 28 February 2023, Q 3.

⁸⁴² Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 15.

⁸⁴³ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, page 12.

⁸⁴⁴ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 8-9.

assessment it would undertake based on an understanding of the project issued by TfL'. $^{\rm 845}$

- 10.90 Siemens explained that the Piccadilly line is brownfield and raised 'complexity and interface challenges' (although it did not refer specifically to the interfacing with the Metropolitan line); it also told us that it would [\gg].⁸⁴⁶
- 10.91 Stadler told us that it would be 'a bit more complicated' for a new entrant to interface with Thales' CBTC system in the Piccadilly line, which would give Thales an advantage when competing for that line. Stadler told us that it had developed interfaces with CBTC systems from other suppliers for other customers, but the interface developed in one project was not scalable to other projects.⁸⁴⁷
- 10.92 CAF told us that, in general, one source of incumbency on urban signalling was the fact that there were no standard interfaces. CAF did not comment specifically on the interfacing required in the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines.⁸⁴⁸
- 10.93 As mentioned above, TfL told us that, despite any advantages that existing suppliers may have, suppliers that have a product that can assure 'safety, reliability and operability and maintainability' would not be precluded from entering into TfL's network.⁸⁴⁹ In particular, TfL indicated that the Piccadilly line was part of the DTUP procurement, and that that tender was structured such that any supplier would be able to interface with the incumbent supplier. TfL's procurement of the Piccadilly line would be prepared in such a way to ensure equal opportunity for the market.⁸⁵⁰ TfL also submitted that the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines use very old legacy systems and since each line is operated separately, it did not consider that an incumbent on the London Underground would necessarily have a technological advantage for the resignalling of either line.⁸⁵¹

Internal documents

10.94 One presentation prepared by Thales' TfL account manager to the urban signalling Executive Committee [≫], stated that it considered that one of Thales' strengths [≫].⁸⁵²

⁸⁴⁵ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 8.

⁸⁴⁶ Siemens call transcript, 16 February 2023, pages 12 and 20.

⁸⁴⁷ Stadler, call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 24.

⁸⁴⁸ CAF, call transcript, 30 January 2023, page 13.

⁸⁴⁹ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 13.

⁸⁵⁰ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 14; and TfL response to RFI dated 15 March 2023, question 1(b).

⁸⁵¹ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 12-13.

^{852 [%].}

- 10.95 In March 2022 (ie after the announcement of the Merger), Thales' Technical & Assurance Director in the UK carried out a review of both Thales' and Hitachi's solutions (including in CBTC) [≫]. The review stated that, [≫].⁸⁵³ This statement suggests that the interfacing between Piccadilly and the Bakerloo lines and the rest of the London Underground network would not be an unsurmountable barrier. This document also [≫]. This suggests that Thales considers that TfL may not necessarily use the approved CBTC technology of the incumbent suppliers in future CBTC projects.^{854,855}
- 10.96 This document is consistent with Thales' statement that 'through the 4LM project, TfL have been very deliberate in making sure that the [≫].⁸⁵⁶

Our provisional assessment

- 10.97 The evidence set out above indicates that the knowledge that Thales and Siemens have gained through a close relationship with TfL, and the experience they have developed in relation to the London Underground through the different CBTC projects they have implemented, represent important advantages that are difficult, but potentially possible, for new entrants with the relevant experience and capabilities to overcome.
- 10.98 In relation to the Parties' submissions about workforce capacity, the evidence from competitors indicated that it would be important to recruit staff that had experience of working on the London Underground and to build a relationship with the customer, TfL. The evidence indicates that having a core competence of locally experienced and trusted staff is likely to be valued by TfL and confer a competitive advantage to Thales and Siemens, who have each built up considerable London Underground experience.
- 10.99 Nonetheless, if there is a significant gap between the expected completion dates of current projects and the start dates of future tenders on the London Underground, then any winner, be it an existing supplier or a new entrant, would likely need to identify and scale its capacity to deliver the project. Suppliers may be able to contract or hire employees that have experience of working on the London Underground. It is not clear that incumbent suppliers will continue to enjoy the scale of advantage they currently have over potential

⁸⁵³ [≫].

⁸⁵⁴ [%].

⁸⁵⁵ Thales does not contest our interpretation of this document in relation to our assessment of Thales' incumbency advantage. Thales notes, however, if the next TfL tender takes place as late as 2035, it is not possible to predict based on the evidence available if any of Hitachi, Mitsubishi or the other new entrants could become credible competitors for the London Underground. See, Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Annex D. We consider the extent to which new entrants, other than Hitachi and Thales, can credibly compete for future projects in the London Underground in the section about 'Suppliers' Characteristics'. ⁸⁵⁶ Transcript of Thales Main Party Hearing, 2 May 2023, page 70.

rivals in terms of the workforce and capacity that would be required to resignal the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines.

- 10.100 In relation to the specific interfacing issue on the Piccadilly line, the evidence from competitors indicated that there would likely be interfacing challenges for new entrants. The extent of those challenges would depend on how TfL ultimately scopes the project.
- 10.101 Based on evidence from TfL and the Parties' internal documents, we understand that the Piccadilly line can be competitively tendered despite the interfacing requirements. While Thales is likely to enjoy some advantage from its own technology being deployed on a small section of the line, we do not expect the advantage to be substantial enough to prevent other suppliers bidding for this project. The Bakerloo line project appears to have fewer interfacing issues, as it is largely disconnected from the other lines on the London Underground, in the light of TfL's statements.

Provisional conclusion on experience on the London Underground

- 10.102 Based on the above evidence, there are likely to be high entry barriers for new suppliers of resignalling projects on existing lines on the London Underground and, as a result, incumbent suppliers are likely to benefit from a competitive advantage, potentially a significant one.
- 10.103 However, we do not consider that this would mean that new entrants with the necessary experience and capability would be unable or unwilling to compete for future CBTC contracts.
 - (a) Both new and existing suppliers would likely need to adapt and develop their CBTC technology to meet TfL's requirements. Entrants that can demonstrate an ability to adapt their technological provision scored well in relation to this criterion at PQQ in the DTUP. However, such new entrants are likely to incur costs and other challenges in adapting their technology that will be higher than the costs faced by incumbent suppliers. This suggests that there are some technological entry barriers such that incumbents will likely have a competitive advantage.
 - (b) TfL has told us expressly that previous UK experience is neither preferred nor required. Past competitive interactions for resignalling on the London Underground, albeit limited in number, have indicated that a supplier ([≫]) without any prior experience won a competitive tender (albeit did not successfully deliver the project) and scored well [≫] at PQQ stage in the most recent DTUP procurement process.

- (c) The evidence set out above indicates that the knowledge that Thales and Siemens have, the close relationship with TfL and the experience they have developed of the London Underground through the different CBTC projects they implemented gives them an important advantage. Workforce capabilities also may confer some competitive advantage on the incumbent suppliers. While it is likely most suppliers, including existing suppliers, would need to address capacity gaps by the time the two tenders are issued, incumbent suppliers appear likely to retain a core capability which would potentially give them some advantage. TfL told us, however, that any advantages that existing suppliers may have 'wouldn't preclude [new entrants] from entering into the market and winning the work', as long as these suppliers can provide assurance on key factors such as the 'safety, reliability and operability and maintainability' of their CBTC offerings.⁸⁵⁷
- 10.104 Overall, we consider the evidence demonstrates that entry barriers in the supply of CBTC projects in the London Underground are high. However, based on the evidence we currently have, they appear likely to be surmountable for entrants that can demonstrate the requisite skills, experience and track record on complex brownfield projects and the relevant capabilities and resources to complete projects in London.
- 10.105 Nonetheless, given the effect of the remaining entry barriers, the demanding credentials that any new entrants would need to demonstrate, and the concentrated nature of the industry globally, it is expected that only a small number of major suppliers are likely to consider bidding for the resignalling of either Bakerloo or Piccadilly lines along with the current incumbent suppliers.

Hitachi's participation in future London Underground CBTC tenders

Overview

- 10.106 Hitachi submitted that [%].858
- 10.107 Hitachi told us that [×].859
- 10.108 Hitachi submitted that [%].860

⁸⁵⁷ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 13.

⁸⁵⁸ Parties, Submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, paragraph 8.2; and Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023.

⁸⁵⁹ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023; and Parties' response to AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 2.1.

⁸⁶⁰ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023; and Parties' response to AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 2.5.

- 10.109 We provide further detail on Hitachi's submissions in the following section. In order to evaluate Hitachi's submissions, we examine its internal assessments of recent CBTC opportunities. Our review of its internal documents informs an understanding of Hitachi's bidding strategy in relation to brownfield CBTC opportunities and whether it would likely bid for complex brownfield CBTC projects in the future.
- 10.110 Given Hitachi's competitive capabilities, past tendering behaviour ([≫]) and increasing experience in brownfield CBTC projects (see section on 'Suppliers characteristics' below), our starting point is that (absent evidence to the contrary) Hitachi would likely continue to bid for brownfield CBTC projects and be perceived as a potential, and credible, competitor for future CBTC tenders in the London Underground, absent the Merger.

Hitachi's submissions

Hitachi's corporate strategy

- 10.111 Hitachi told us that its evaluation of CBTC projects takes account of the following priorities:⁸⁶¹
 - (a) **Priority 1**: [**%**].
 - (b) Priority 2: [%]
 - (c) **Priority 3**: [**%**].⁸⁶²
- 10.112 Hitachi told us that it assesses each project [\gg].⁸⁶³ It told us that [\gg].
- 10.113 Hitachi submitted that, [%].864

Hitachi's profitability requirements and financial performance in past brownfield projects

- 10.114 Hitachi told us that its overriding financial objective [%].865
- 10.115 As supporting evidence of its recent focus on profitability, Hitachi provided a 2022 email from its Chief Financial Officer (CFO), in which guidance was provided on financial thresholds to be considered when bidding for projects.

⁸⁶¹ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 2.

⁸⁶² Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023; and Parties' response to AIS and WP, paragraph 2.2.

⁸⁶³ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 2.3.

⁸⁶⁴ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023.

⁸⁶⁵ [³] Parties' response to AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 2.4.

We note that the same email also stated that these financial thresholds should be considered [\gg].⁸⁶⁶

- 10.116 Hitachi submitted that its bidding approach was nonetheless heavily influenced [≫]:
 - (**a**) [**%**].⁸⁶⁷
 - (b) [×].⁸⁶⁸
- 10.117 Hitachi told us that [%].869

Recent 'no bids' in brownfield CBTC opportunities

- 10.118 Hitachi told us that [%].870
- 10.119 Hitachi told us that it had declined to bid for projects [%].871
- 10.120 Similarly, Hitachi told us that it declined to participate in a tender for the [≫]. It told us that [≫].⁸⁷² Hitachi also provided [≫].⁸⁷³
- 10.121 Hitachi also told us that it had declined to bid for [\gg]. Hitachi told us [\approx].⁸⁷⁴

Hitachi's internal documents

- 10.122 In view of Hitachi's submissions that it lacked the incentive and intention to bid for complex brownfield CBTC projects (following recent negative experiences), we have reviewed internal Hitachi documents related to past CBTC tenders.
- 10.123 Our review of Hitachi's internal documents is structured as follows:
 - (a) First, we discuss internal documents that summarise upcoming CBTC opportunities and discuss Hitachi's CBTC strategy. These documents provide insight into Hitachi's approach to CBTC resignalling projects.

⁸⁶⁶ Hitachi, Annex HRL0020242, 16 June 2022.

⁸⁶⁷ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 4.12; Parties response to RFI dated 27 April 2023, Q 3' Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 3; and Annex CBTC H.WP.011.

⁸⁶⁸ Parties' response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 4.12; Parties response to RFI dated 27 April 2023, Q3, Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 3; and Annex CBTC H.WP.007.

⁸⁶⁹ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023.

⁸⁷⁰ Hitachi's response to the AIS and WP, Section B, paragraphs 2.5, and 4.14.

⁸⁷¹ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 4.

⁸⁷² Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 4.

^{873 [%].}

⁸⁷⁴ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 5.

- (b) Second, we discuss internal documents that review Hitachi's performance
 [≫]. These documents inform our understanding of the issues faced by Hitachi in delivering these projects and its internal response.
- (c) Third, we discuss internal documents that outline 'no bid' decisions taken by Hitachi [≫] (ie in the period during which Hitachi told us it had tightened its bid selection process). These documents inform our understanding of the development of Hitachi's strategy in brownfield CBTC projects.
- (*d*) Fourth, we discuss internal documents that relate to brownfield CBTC bids that Hitachi has pursued [≫]. These documents similarly inform our understanding of its strategy in CBTC.
- *(e)* Fifth, we discuss internal documents that refer specifically to London Underground projects.

Hitachi's corporate strategy documents

- 10.124 We requested that Hitachi provide documents that reflect its strategy in the supply of CBTC systems.
- 10.125 In response, Hitachi told us that it did [\gg].⁸⁷⁵
- 10.126 Nevertheless, Hitachi provided a number of documents which it told us 'provide[d] an insight into its global CBTC strategy'.⁸⁷⁶ We summarise the key documents provided by Hitachi in this section.
- 10.127 In October 2021, Hitachi's Head of Market Strategy prepared a White Paper for discussion with members of the Hitachi Executive Team. The White Paper included an overview of signalling opportunities in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (**EMEA**) for the years [[≫]]:
 - (**a**) [**%**].⁸⁷⁷
 - (b) [%].⁸⁷⁸
- 10.128 The document stated that [\gg].⁸⁷⁹ We note that this document appears to support Hitachi's submissions regarding its [\gg].

⁸⁷⁷ Hitachi, [%].

⁸⁷⁵ Hitachi response to RFI dated 29 March 2023, paragraph 2.

⁸⁷⁶ Hitachi response to RFI dated 29 March 2023, paragraph 3.

⁸⁷⁸ Hitachi, [%].

⁸⁷⁹ Hiatchi, Annex H.Q10.012.

- 10.129 Hitachi also produced similar White Papers which covered opportunities in Asia (prepared in April 2022) and in North America (prepared in February 2021).
- 10.130 As regards its strategy in Asia, Hitachi told us that [³].⁸⁸⁰ We note, however, that the document states that Hitachi's analysis [³].⁸⁸¹
- 10.131 As regards North America, Hitachi's White Paper assessed opportunities for [≫].^{882,883} [≫].⁸⁸⁴ [≫].⁸⁸⁵
- 10.132 In addition to its White Papers, Hitachi also provided a 'strategic business overview', dated September 2019, and a 'strategic business plan' dated August 2021. While neither of these documents focuses specifically on Hitachi's strategy in CBTC, we note that they each identify a range of CBTC opportunities (including brownfield projects) across various geographies.⁸⁸⁶
- 10.133 We also note that Hitachi produced a 'Mid-Term Management Plan' in March 2023, which discussed performance across the business. [≫].^{887,888} [≫].⁸⁸⁹
 [≫].⁸⁹⁰
 - Summary
- 10.134 Hitachi has provided a limited set of documents that inform an understanding of its strategy in CBTC. While some of the documents provided indicate a [≫], they do not indicate that Hitachi has [≫].
- 10.135 Hitachi's EMEA White Paper shows that it [≫]. [≫] shows that it is applying lessons from legacy brownfield projects to future bidding opportunities.

[%]

10.136 As above, Hitachi told us that it had incurred [≫] in undertaking brownfield [≫] and had adopted [≫].

⁸⁸⁸ Hitachi, Annex H.RFI8.001, slide 21.

⁸⁸⁰ Hitachi response to RFI dated 29 March 2023, paragraph 10.

⁸⁸¹ Hitachi, [**※**].

⁸⁸² Hitachi, [**※**].

⁸⁸³ Hitachi, [×].

⁸⁸⁴ Hitachi, [**%**].

⁸⁸⁵ Hitachi response to RFI dated 29 March 2023, paragraph 11.

⁸⁸⁶ Hitachi's September 2019 Strategic Business Overview [≫]. Hitachi Strategic Business Overview (Annex CO S.5.4.A.29), slides 9 and 10. [≫]. Hitachi Strategic Business Plan (Annex H.Strategy.04), slide 12.

⁸⁸⁷ We consider that this statement means that the [\approx], page 3.

⁸⁸⁹ Hitachi, Annex H.RFI8.005, page 4.

⁸⁹⁰ Hiachi, Annex H.RFI8.001, slide 11. In terms of investment in products, Hitachi's Mid-Term Management Plan stated [³].

- 10.137 In this section, we set out evidence from Hitachi's internal documents which discuss the [≫] projects and the issues faced by Hitachi.
- 10.138 In June 2021, Hitachi carried out an internal audit in which it assessed various projects [≫].⁸⁹¹
- 10.139 Subsequently, in September 2021, Hitachi's Risk Management Unit carried out 'deep dive reviews' of its performance in [∞]. These documents were presented to Hitachi's Audit and Risk Committee. [∞].⁸⁹² In relation to the [∞], Hitachi identified that projected costs had [∞]. [∞]⁸⁹³ [∞].⁸⁹⁴ [∞]:
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - *(b)* [≫];
 - *(c)* [≫]; and
 - (d) [%].⁸⁹⁵
- 10.140 With respect to each of the issues above, Hitachi sought to identify lessons learned for future projects to mitigate these risks. [≫]:
 - *(a)* [≫].
 - *(b)* [≫].
 - (C) [X].⁸⁹⁶
- 10.141 In its review of the [»], Hitachi similarly identified that cost expectations [»].⁸⁹⁷ [»]:
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - *(b)* [≫]; and
 - (C) [%].⁸⁹⁸
- 10.142 Hitachi accordingly identified a similar set of lessons learned from its experience $[\aleph]$. It stated that:

⁸⁹² [%]

⁸⁹⁵ [%].

⁸⁹⁸ [%].

⁸⁹¹ Thales response to s109 Notice dated 23 December 2023, Annex HRL0003388, page 13; and Parties' response to AIS and WP, page 46-47.

⁸⁹³ Hitachi separately submitted that [\gg].

⁸⁹⁴ Hitachi notes that [%].

⁸⁹⁶ [%]. ⁸⁹⁷ [%].

- *(a)* [≫];
- *(b)* [≫];
- *(c)* [≫]; and
- (d) [%].⁸⁹⁹
- Summary
- 10.143 The above documents demonstrate that Hitachi faced considerable [≫]in carrying out the [≫] CBTC projects.
- 10.144 While this is the case, Hitachi's 'deep dive reviews' also show that it has evaluated its performance of these contracts in detail and sought to identify lessons from its experiences in [≫] that can be applied to future projects.

'No bid' decisions [%]

- 10.145 As above, Hitachi told us that it had sought to adhere more closely to its project prioritisation policy [≫] following [≫]⁹⁰⁰ and [≫]. [≫].⁹⁰¹
- 10.146 In this section, we set out evidence from Hitachi's internal documents which discuss its reasons for deciding not to bid in each of these tenders.
 - [%]
- 10.147 Hitachi provided minutes from its 'bid/no-bid' decision meeting in relation to a CBTC opportunity [≫].⁹⁰² The minutes [≫].⁹⁰³
- 10.148 As regards subsequent project opportunities in [≫], Hitachi provided internal correspondence from its Head of Sales for Central, Eastern and Southern Europe which discussed a potential project in 2021. Its internal correspondence indicated that [≫].⁹⁰⁴

⁸⁹⁹ [≫].

⁹⁰⁰ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 2.

⁹⁰¹ Parties' response to AIS and WP, Section B, paragraph 2.2 and 2.5.

⁹⁰² Hitachi was unable to identify the exact author, but it expects that the document was prepared by a member of the Phase Gate secretariat.

⁹⁰³ Annex CBTC H.WP.003.

⁹⁰⁴ Annex H.RFI8.009.

- [%]
- 10.149 Hitachi provided internal correspondence between Hitachi's sales team and the bidding technical team which detailed its decision not to respond to the PQQ for a CBTC opportunity [≫]. Its internal correspondence [≫].⁹⁰⁵
- 10.150 Hitachi highlighted that the customer was procuring an interlocking system and CBTC in separate tenders [\gg]. Hitachi stated that [\gg].⁹⁰⁶
- 10.151 [**※**].⁹⁰⁷
 - [%]
- 10.152 As regards its recent decision not to bid for CBTC upgrade work in [\gg].
- 10.153 The record of Hitachi's discussion shows that it considered [8]908
- 10.154 [🔀]⁹⁰⁹ [送].⁹¹⁰
 - Summary
- 10.155 Consistent with Hitachi's submissions, we consider that the documents we have reviewed in relation to its decisions not to bid in [≫] indicate that Hitachi applies a rigorous approach in determining which brownfield CBTC projects to pursue.
- 10.156 In our view, these documents demonstrate that Hitachi has [≫] applied robust internal governance to its bidding processes but that it continues to assess a range of CBTC opportunities, including potentially complex projects. The above documents show that Hitachi faced specific issues in respect of each of these projects which contributed for the decision not to pursue potential bids [≫].
- 10.157 In the next section, we discuss those recent brownfield CBTC opportunities which Hitachi decided to pursue.

⁹⁰⁵ Annex CBTC H.WP.004.

⁹⁰⁶ Annex CBTC H.WP.004 and Annex CBTC H.WP.005.

⁹⁰⁷ Annex CBTC H.WP.004.

⁹⁰⁸ Annex CBTC H.WP.001.

⁹⁰⁹ Annex CBTC H.WP.001.

⁹¹⁰ Annex CBTC H.WP.001.

Brownfield CBTC opportunities pursued by Hitachi [%]

- 10.158 As above, Hitachi told us that it had sought to adhere more strictly to its project prioritisation policy [≫].⁹¹¹ [≫], Hitachi has been awarded brownfield CBTC contracts in Paris (2018)⁹¹² and for the San Francisco BART network (2020). [≫].⁹¹³
- 10.159 We set out evidence from Hitachi's internal documents below, in which it set out its rationale for pursuing these opportunities.
 - Paris (2018)
- 10.160 Hitachi's bid evaluation documents from November 2017⁹¹⁴ in relation to CBTC work in Paris (Line 6) indicate that it anticipated the [\gg].⁹¹⁵ \gg].⁹¹⁶
- 10.161 We note also that Hitachi told us that it had experience in Paris, having previously delivered its CBTC solution on the Paris metro (Line 3), and that its contract was a [≫], Hitachi told us that [≫].⁹¹⁷
 - BART (2020)
- 10.162 In 2020, Hitachi was selected to supply CBTC on the BART transport system. [%].
- 10.163 Hitachi's bid evaluation document, prepared in February 2019, for consideration by Hitachi's Senior Executive Committee,⁹¹⁸ [\gg]:
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - *(b)* [≫]; and
 - (C) [≫].⁹¹⁹
- 10.164 Hitachi's view of the BART project as a [≫] a valuable reference [≫], was also evident from its financial consideration of the project and in its bidding strategy. Hitachi stated that [≫].⁹²⁰

⁹¹¹ Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 2.

⁹¹² See Hitachi's response to question 21 of the s109 Notice of 23 December 2022.

⁹¹³ See Hitachi's response to RFI 9, question 7.

⁹¹⁴ We note that these documents were prepared by the bid manager for the project and approved by various senior executives within Hitachi.

⁹¹⁵ [※].

⁹¹⁶ [※].

⁹¹⁷ [×].

⁹¹⁸ [≫].

⁹¹⁹ HRL0004736, page 2. ⁹²⁰ HRL0004736, page 2.

- 10.165 We note also that Hitachi told us that the BART project would be considered a [%]. It told us that [%]. Our own assessment [%].
 - [%]
- 10.166 [%]:922,923
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - *(b)* [≫]; and
 - (C) [≫].⁹²⁴
- 10.167 In a presentation dated [≫], prepared for initial assessment of the opportunity to bid for [≫], we note that Hitachi stated [≫].⁹²⁵
- 10.168 We also note that Hitachi's consideration of the [≫] cautioned that 'mass transit brownfield markets for signalling are particularly difficult and challenging in terms of profitability' but that the brownfield market was expected to grow in the coming years. The document shows that Hitachi intended to assess its capacity to enter (or not to enter) this part of the rail market and to verify its competitiveness.⁹²⁶
- 10.169 Similar to the BART project, Hitachi told us that it considered [≫] to be a [≫]' project, representing a brownfield opportunity [≫]. It told us that [≫] when identifying potential costs and considering contingencies, [≫].⁹²⁷
 - Summary
- 10.170 Our review of internal documents related to the Paris, BART and [≫] tenders indicates that, while Hitachi is selective in deciding which CBTC opportunities to pursue ([≫]), it undertakes careful strategic analysis of the opportunities available, including the extent to [≫].
- 10.171 We note also that Hitachi's pursuit of opportunities in Paris and BART is reflective of the approach outlined by its CFO in 2022 (see paragraph 10.115):
 [≫]. Hitachi's pursuit of the Paris and BART projects demonstrates that it

⁹²¹ Hitachi response to RFI8, Annex Q7, page 4. See paragraph further details about the BART project.

⁹²² [%]. ⁹²³ [%].

⁹²⁴ Annex H.109(2).Q24.023, page 3.

⁹²⁵ Annex H.109(2).Q26.058, page 13.

⁹²⁶ Annex H.109(2).Q24.023, page 5.

⁹²⁷ Hitachi response to RFI8, Annex Q7, page 5.

considers the overall strategic value of projects before deciding whether to bid, including for projects [\gg].

Documents that refer to London Underground projects

- 10.172 In this section, we describe internal documents produced by Hitachi that referred specifically to London Underground projects. While our review identified only a very limited number of relevant documents, we consider this is not unexpected, given that tenders for resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines are still some years away in the future.
- 10.173 Notwithstanding the above, we note that internal email exchanges between Hitachi's UK Head of Sales (Signalling and Turnkey) [[∞]].⁹²⁸
- 10.174 [≫].929
- 10.175 While we understand from the context of this email that these estimates tried to convey an optimistic view of the addressable market, we consider that this document indicates that the resignalling [≫] remains on Hitachi's radar as a potential project for which Hitachi can compete.⁹³⁰

Provisional conclusion on Hitachi's likelihood of bidding for future projects in the London Underground

- 10.176 As set out above, Hitachi submitted that London Underground CBTC projects did not fit with its corporate strategy and that, [\gg].
- 10.177 As set out above in more detail, Hitachi made three key arguments in support of its submission:
 - *(a)* [≫]. [≫] CBTC projects.
 - (b) Previous difficulties in brownfield CBTC projects ([≫]) had motivated Hitachi [≫], and recent 'no bid' decisions provided evidence of its approach.
 - (c) Its decision making on potential bids was driven by an overall financial target [\gg].

⁹²⁸ Annex HRL0021639.

⁹²⁹ Annex HRL0021639.

⁹³⁰ We also note that this email chain is broadly consistent with a presentation prepared by Hitachi's Head of Sales (Signalling) UK and Ireland in June 2022, which discussed current projects and expected order intake (pipeline) for Hitachi's signalling business. This presentation stated: '[\approx]' (see HRL0001472, slide 13).

- 10.178 In order to assess Hitachi's potential to bid for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo line projects, we have examined Hitachi's internal appraisals of recent brownfield CBTC opportunities, both for projects which it has rejected and those which it has pursued. We consider that the internal documentary evidence does not provide a clear picture as to whether Hitachi is likely to participate in future CBTC opportunities on the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines. The evidence neither demonstrates a clear policy [≫], nor identifies a plan to bid for London Underground projects in the future (although this is not unexpected, given these tenders are expected to be initiated many years in the future). Rather, the evidence shows only that Hitachi reviews opportunities on a case-by-case basis and its reasons for rejecting and pursuing different opportunities are many and varied.
- 10.179 As to Hitachi's submissions that it faced [≫] in delivering previous brownfield CBTC projects [≫], we note that its submissions are supported by our review of its internal documents. However, its internal documents evidence that Hitachi has sought to learn (and apply) lessons from these past experiences, rather than determining not to pursue similar opportunities in the future. Its recent 'no bid' decisions demonstrate careful consideration of a range of brownfield opportunities and while [≫] each had specific challenges, the evidence from Hitachi's internal documents does not suggest Hitachi has taken a strategic decision [≫], nor indicate that Hitachi would not consider future resignalling opportunities on the London Underground specifically.
- 10.180 As to Hitachi's submissions on the interaction between the overall financial targets [≫] and its bidding strategy, we note that Hitachi pursued opportunities in Paris and BART [≫]. Further, Hitachi's CFO has stated that its financial thresholds for bidding opportunities [≫]. Hitachi's financial targets are not [≫] determinative of an intention to bid. We also note that Hitachi has [≫] financial target as relevant to its bidding strategy, although tenders for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines will not materialise for a number of years to come. The extent to which any potential bid for these projects might be affected by financial targets set by Hitachi's parent company is therefore unclear.
- 10.181 Based on the above, we find that there is insufficient evidence to provisionally conclude that, in the absence of the Merger, and despite Hitachi's capabilities and the experience acquired from previous complex brownfield CBTC projects, [%].
- 10.182 While we cannot predict with certainty whether, absent the Merger, Hitachi will bid for future CBTC tenders for the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines, such

uncertainty is an inherent part of the forward-looking assessment that we must conduct.⁹³¹

10.183 Given Hitachi's competitive capabilities and increasing experience in brownfield CBTC projects (see section on *Suppliers' characteristics* below), we consider that Hitachi would likely continue to bid for brownfield CBTC projects on a case-by-case basis and, absent evidence to the contrary, is likely to be a credible bidder for future CBTC tenders in the London Underground.

Shares of supply

10.184 In assessing the effect of the Merger, we sought to estimate shares of supply to understand the relative strengths of CBTC suppliers. We consider that shares of supply within and outside of the UK will provide insight on suppliers' strengths and their ability to compete for London Underground CBTC contracts, as TfL considers suppliers' references from outside of the UK are relevant (paragraph 10.56).

Parties' views

- 10.185 The Parties submitted that it was not possible to draw reliable conclusions from the UK shares of supply because they are based on a very small number of tenders.⁹³² The Parties also submitted that shares of supply are distorted by the inclusion of a very large tender that Thales won in 2015, the 4LM project, which was valued at £[³≪]million.⁹³³ The Parties made the same argument with regards to shares of supply across Europe over the same ten year period (ie that these were also skewed by the inclusion of the 4LM project).⁹³⁴
- 10.186 In the Parties' view, Thales' success in winning the 4LM contract was not indicative of Thales' market position more broadly because Thales was not the original first choice supplier for the project when originally tendered as the SSR project.⁹³⁵

Evidential value of shares of supply

10.187 We note that this market is characterised by large, infrequent tenders and is one where the suppliers' offerings are differentiated. We concur with the

⁹³¹ CMA129, paragraph 3.14.

⁹³² Parties, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 14.18.

⁹³³ Parties, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 14.10.

⁹³⁴ Parties, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraphs 14.11-14.12.

⁹³⁵ Parties, FMN, 13 October 2022, Chapter 2, paragraph 14.12.

Parties' view that the UK share of supply estimates (both by reference to five and ten year periods) include very few tenders and that Thales' 4LM contract win potentially overstates Thales' competitive position. Nevertheless, the evidence considered in the section about *Incumbency on the London Underground* shows that Thales and Siemens are the only CBTC suppliers on the London Underground.

10.188 Notwithstanding the issues relating to the small number of observations in the UK shares of supply, we consider that shares of supply can provide useful information on the underlying market structure, and in markets such as CBTC resignalling where experience matters, shares can be a relevant indicator of strength and ability to win future contracts. As set out at paragraph 10.24, given there are likely to be broader global competitive dynamics – in particular in relation to innovation and product development and the importance of experience from outside the UK, we consider that European and global shares of supply can provide relevant information on suppliers' capabilities. Further, the shares of supply from Europe and the rest of the world include more observations and are, therefore, less influenced by single contract wins than the UK shares of supply. Given this, we therefore consider that the shares of supply at European level, taken over the ten year period, and global shares of supply, are likely to provide more probative evidence of suppliers' strengths than the UK and five year estimates.

Shares of supply estimates

- 10.189 The Parties submitted shares of supply estimates based on total contract value of CBTC signalling projects won in the UK and Europe (including the UK) over a ten and five year period (2012-2021 and 2017-2021 respectively), including details of the underlying contracts that were used for these estimates.⁹³⁶ We also collected data from Siemens, Alstom, CAF, Stadler and Mitsubishi on contracts won during the period 2017-2021.⁹³⁷
- 10.190 Using information from the Parties' contract list and values for the period 2012-2016 and our own dataset collected from suppliers for the period 2017-

⁹³⁶ Parties' analysis of the consolidated database based on Thales' and Hitachi Rail's project lists. Shares of supply based on total value of order intake.

⁹³⁷ CMA dataset compiled from the following RFIs: Hitachi response to RFI 3, Q34 and Q35; Thales response to RFI 3, Q37; Siemens response dated 28 February 2023, urban Q5 and Q6; Alstom response dated 3 March 2023, urban Q5 and Q6; CAF response dated 18 January 2023, Q1 and Q2, Stadler response dated 31 May 2023, and Mitsubishi questionnaire response dated 9 May 2023, Q1 and Q2. CAF and Mitsubishi have not won any CBTC signalling projects in Europe. The evidence from third-party suppliers, the Parties' own share of supply estimates and the Parties' internal documents in which they provide estimates of global shares of supply indicate that there are mainly four suppliers (the Parties, Siemens and Alstom) that supply all or most of the CBTC signalling systems in the UK and Europe. On this basis, we consider our share of supply estimates for the UK and Europe are likely to be complete and is unlikely to misrepresent the competitive strengths of the suppliers included in our analysis to a material extent.

2021, we have calculated five and ten year shares of supply estimates for the UK and Europe (see Table 15 and Table 16). 938

- 10.191 Our review of the Parties' internal documents also identified global shares of supply estimates prepared by Thales for the period 2015-2020.
- 10.192 We present each of these share estimates below.

Our shares of supply estimates (based on the Parties' and suppliers' data)

10.193 Table 15 and Table 16 present our shares of supply estimates for the UK and Europe for the period 2017-2021 and 2012-2021.⁹³⁹

⁹³⁸ When comparing the contract lists submitted by competitors with those submitted by the Parties, we found that the Parties' shares of supply estimates overstated the Parties' share of supply and understated Siemens' and Alstom's. This is because the Parties' estimates did not include a small number of rivals' contracts and underestimated the value of some of their rivals' other contract values. Although we were not able to verify the Parties' ten year share of supply estimates covering the period 2012-21, it is likely that those estimates would likely overstate the Parties' shares of supply and understate those of their rivals. As a result, we have a greater degree of confidence in the accuracy of the shares for the period 2017-2021 than the period 2012-2016. ⁹³⁹ In these market shares and through this paper, a reference to Hitachi and the project it has won in some instances will reflect the projects of Ansaldo. Hitachi Rail acquired control over Ansaldo (active in the design and production of signalling systems and products, for both urban and mainline signalling) and AnsaldoBreda (active in the manufacture and supply of rolling stock, including high-speed, mainline and urban rolling stock) in 2015, with outstanding shares in Ansaldo subsequently acquired overtime, concluding in 2019. See Parties' response to RFI dated 6 September 2022, Q4.

Table 15: CBTC shares of supply by total contract value, in the UK

	2012	-2021	2017-2021		
Supplier	Value (£m)	%	Value (£m)	%	
Hitachi	[≫]	[0-5]	[%]	[0–5]	
Thales	[≫]	[90–100]	[≫]	[70-80]	
Combined	[≫]	[90–100]	[≫]	[70–80]	
Siemens	[≫]	[0–5]	[≫]	[0–5]	
Alstom-Bombardier	[≫]	[0–5]	[≫]	[20-30]	
Total	[≫]	100	[≫]	100	

Source: The Parties' analysis of the consolidated database based on Thales' and Hitachi's project lists for the period 2012-2016. CMA analysis of contract data provided by the Parties and their rivals for the period 2017-2021. Shares of supply based on total value of order intake.

Table 16: CBTC shares of supply by total contract value, in Europe

	2012-2	2021	2017-2021		
Supplier	Value (£m)	%	Value (£m)	%	
Hitachi Thales Combined Siemens Alstom-Bombardier ASELSAN Stadler	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]	[0–5] [20–30] [30–40] [30–40] [20–30] [0–5] [0–5]	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]	[0–5] [0–5] [5–10] [50–60] [20–50] [0–5] [0–5]	
Total	[≫]	100	[≫]	100	

Source: Due to rounding, shares do not sum to 100%. The Parties' analysis of the consolidated database based on Thales' and Hitachi's project lists for the period 2012-2016. CMA analysis of contract data provided by the Parties and their rivals for the period 2017-2021. Shares of supply based on total value of order intake.

- 10.194 Table 15 and Table 16 indicate that the Parties are two of a small number of suppliers that have won CBTC signalling contracts for metros in the past 10 years in the UK and Europe, based on our dataset. This is consistent with other evidence gathered from the Parties and third parties which suggests that these are the only four significant players in Europe. While both the Parties have relatively small shares of supply in Europe during the time period shown, evidence presented in the *Bidding analysis* section shows that their global experience is more substantial.
- 10.195 In the UK, the Parties have a very high combined share of [90–100%] across all tenders for the period 2012-2021, with an increment of [0–5%]. For the reasons set out in paragraph 10.187, the UK shares of supply may be a less reliable indicator of suppliers' ability to win CBTC contracts as the estimates are based on relatively few tenders including Thales' very large 4LM contract win. We believe that the UK shares of supply estimates are indicative of the market structure in the supply of CBTC in the London Underground, as London Underground represents the vast majority of the supply of CBTC in

the UK. TfL told us that Thales has a share of 60–70% in the London Underground.⁹⁴⁰

- 10.196 The Parties have a combined share by total contract value of [30–40%], with an increment of [5–10%] when considered over a ten year period for contracts won across Europe. The only four other suppliers to have won CBTC contracts during the period were Siemens ([30–40%]), Alstom ([20–30%]), ASELSAN ([0–5%]) and Stadler ([0–5%]).
- 10.197 For the 2017-2021 period, the Parties have a lower combined share of supply by total contract value of [5–10%]. Siemens has the largest share at [50–60%], and Alstom the second largest at [40–50%]. The significant drop in the shares for the five year estimates was because Thales' 4LM contract win was not part of this estimate, as it won the contract in 2016.⁹⁴¹

Internal documents on global shares of supply

- 10.198 Our review of internal documents also found shares of supply estimates calculated by Thales over recent periods. While these internal documents give a strong indication of the global presence of different suppliers (outside of China), these share estimates are from Thales' internal documents and may not be fully accurate:
 - (a) A 2020 review of Thales' global strategy for urban rail signalling presented by the urban rail signalling Business Line Vice President of strategy, marketing and communications to Thales' GBU Executive Committee shows global CBTC market shares (excluding China) for the period 2014 to 2019. It shows that Thales [≫].⁹⁴² [≫].
 - (b) A subsequent review of the global market for urban rail signalling (excluding China) in 2021 by Thales' urban rail signalling Business Line Vice President of strategy, marketing and communications found that over the period 2015 to 2020, [≫].⁹⁴³ [≫].
 - (c) A 2022 Thales review of the global market for urban rail signalling (excluding China) states that Thales' market share had decreased over the years. It shows that over, the period 2016 to 2021, [%].⁹⁴⁴

⁹⁴⁰ Note of call with a TfL dated 9 August 2022, paragraph 1b.

⁹⁴¹ Thales may also have had capacity constraints during this period. For example, it submitted that [‰], Thales' response to RFI dated 23 December 2022, Q33.

⁹⁴² [≫], slide 7.

⁹⁴³ Thales, [**※**], 15 March 2021, slide 18.

⁹⁴⁴ Thales, [҄≫], 2023, page 23.

- 10.199 Thales' shares of supply estimates for 'brownfield projects' indicate that, based on order intake, Hitachi has a stronger position in the global market than the UK and European shares of supply suggest. These shares of supply also show that the global market is highly concentrated with only four major CBTC suppliers supplying around [90–100%] of the order intake across the globe.
- 10.200 In relation to the relevance of the global shares estimates in these documents, Thales submitted that London is a uniquely complex brownfield signalling environment such that global market shares or any potential ability to compete for other projects do not equate to an ability to credibly compete for a London tender.⁹⁴⁵ We consider, however, that these documents provide insight into suppliers' technical experience and expertise in delivering CBTC projects and into the competitive conditions for future CBTC projects in the UK. As explained above in paragraphs 9.39(b), suppliers' experience and expertise are important factors to understand whether these suppliers can be credible competitors for future projects in the London Underground.

Provisional conclusion on shares of supply

- 10.201 The UK, European and global shares of supply show that the market for CBTC contracts is highly concentrated. The Merger involves the largest competitor (Thales) in the UK and one of only three other main CBTC suppliers that operate globally. We currently consider that the Parties' shares of supply across Europe and the rest of the world indicate their strength and technical capabilities as CBTC suppliers.
- 10.202 We currently consider that the Parties are two of very few suppliers of CBTC systems globally. This indicates that the Parties are likely to be close competitors to one another. In addition to the evidence from shares of supply, we consider other evidence to assess closeness, in particular with regard to the likely requirements of the London Underground.

Bidding analysis

10.203 We consider that suppliers' experience within and outside the UK will provide insight on suppliers' strengths and their ability to compete for future London Underground CBTC contracts (see paragraph 9.42(a)). It provides useful information in assessing the closeness of competition between the Parties and on suppliers' past bidding strategies.

⁹⁴⁵ Annex D of the Parties' response to the AIS and WP.

10.204 The Parties provided data on all global CBTC tenders they competed for in the period 2017 to 2022.⁹⁴⁶ Siemens, Alstom, Stadler, CAF and Mitsubishi also provided data on all CBTC tenders that they competed for in Europe (including the UK) and the five largest tenders outside of Europe for the period 2017 to 2022.⁹⁴⁷ The suppliers submitted information on the scope of the services (including whether the project was greenfield or brownfield), whether the supplier had previous signalling experience with the customer, the selection process, the value of the contract, which competitors they believed bid for each tender and the winner of the contract. Where the contract included other services, such as rolling stock, the suppliers provided the value of the signalling component of the contract. Our bidding analysis only includes tenders that have undergone a competitive process.⁹⁴⁸

Parties' view

- 10.205 The Parties submitted that the tender analysis showed that Hitachi and Thales did not compete against each other for the same tenders, which is borne out [≫]. The Parties submitted that this evidence shows that the Parties did not exercise a significant competitive constraint on each other.⁹⁴⁹
- 10.206 The Parties also submitted that neither Party was in the 'same league' as the two largest suppliers, Siemens and Alstom, given that Siemens and Alstom compete for, and win a larger proportion of contracts they bid on than either Party.⁹⁵⁰

Our analysis of bidding data

10.207 In paragraph 10.207, we explained that we received bid data from suppliers on all European tenders that they competed for and partial information from Siemens and Alstom for their rest of the world bids. Since global projects can be used to evidence suppliers' experience against TfL's criteria, the analysis below is based on the global bid data. Given the global dataset may not include some tenders where Siemens and Alstom bid but the Parties did not (as Siemens and Alstom only provided details of their largest five tenders outside of Europe), the Parties' participation rates may be overstated, and

⁹⁴⁶ Hitachi response to RFI 7, Q3; Thales response to RFI 7 Q2

⁹⁴⁷ Siemens response dated 28 February 2023, Q6; Alstom response dated 3 March 2023, urban 6; CAF response dated 18 January 2023, Q2, Stadler response dated 23 January 2023, Q2 and Mitsubishi questionnaire response dated 9 May 2023, Q2. CAF, Stadler and Mitsubishi, either have not delivered any CBTC signalling projects, or have not provided a full response (ie project value is missing), therefore these have not been included in our bidding analysis.

⁹⁴⁸ We have not included as part of our bidding analysis tenders awarded through 'mutual agreement', 'framework agreement', 'private negotiation', 'option', 'contract negotiation' or 'variation'.

⁹⁴⁹ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.21.

⁹⁵⁰ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.20.

Siemens and Alstom understated. In the following sections, we set out the tender analysis on the following bases:

- *(a)* First, we set out an overview of the tenders in which suppliers bid and win;
- *(b)* Second, we assess the participation and win rates of suppliers for the tenders in which each of the Parties bid; and
- *(c)* Third, we assess participation and win rates for tenders in which the participant does not have previous signalling experience with the customer.

Overview of tenders contested and won

10.208 Figure 4 and Figure 5 below show the total number and value of tenders which the Parties and their rivals contested and won during the period 2017-2022, based on the data collected from the Parties and their competitors by the CMA.

Figure 4: Number of global tenders contested and won (2017-2022)

[※]

Source: CMA analysis of data provided by the Parties, Siemens and Alstom. Note: $[\ensuremath{\mathbb{M}}]$

Figure 5: Value of global tenders contested and won (2017-2022)

[%]

Source: CMA analysis of data provided by the Parties, Siemens and Alstom. Note: $[\ensuremath{\mathbb{K}}].$

- 10.209 Between 2017 and 2022, Siemens and Alstom were the two largest suppliers globally, followed by Hitachi in third and Thales in fourth place, both by the number and total value of tenders contested and won.
- 10.210 In addition, [\gg]. We also understand that [\gg].⁹⁵¹
- 10.211 The four major suppliers have all won both brownfield and greenfield projects. By contract value, all four major suppliers have won a higher proportion of brownfield than greenfield projects, Hitachi won the highest proportion of brownfield projects ([≫]%), followed by Thales in second ([≫]%), Alstom in third ([≫]%) and Siemens winning the lowest proportion of brownfield projects ([≫]%). Both Parties were most successful in North America, winning [≫] projects each; Thales has won [≫] projects in any other continent during the

⁹⁵¹ Mitsubishi questionnaire response dated 9 May 2023, Q1.

period although it has contested a total of [\gg] contracts outside of North America during the period 2017-2022. Hitachi has won [\gg] projects in each of Europe and Asia, and [\gg] in South America during the period.

10.212 At a European level, during the same period, Siemens and Alstom were again the largest two suppliers, with Siemens winning [≫] tenders worth a total of £[≫] million, and Alstom [≫] tenders worth a total of £[≫] million.⁹⁵² The Parties competed for and won [≫] tenders: Hitachi won [≫] tenders worth a total of £[≫] million; and Thales had [≫] wins. Combined, the Parties competed for contracts worth in excess of £1 billion.⁹⁵³

Participation and win analysis of the Parties' tender data

10.213 We conducted both a participation and win analysis on Hitachi's and Thales' tender data (see Table 17 and Table 18).

Table 17: Suppliers' global participation and win rates for tenders in which Hitachi bid (2017-2022)

Supplier	Participation number	Participation rate (%)	Win Number	Win rate (%)
Hitachi	[%]	[≫]	[≫]	[≫]
Thales	[≫]	[≫]	[※]	[※]
Siemens	[≫]	[≫]	[≫]	[≫]
Alstom	[≫]	[≫]	[≫]	[≫]
Other	[%]	[%]	[≫]	[%]

 Table 18: Suppliers' global participation and win rates for tenders in which Thales bid (2017-2022)

Supplier	Participation number	Participation rate (%)	Win Number	Win rate (%)
Thales Hitachi Siemens Alstom Other	[%] [%] [%] [%]	[%] [%] [%] [%]	[%] [%] [%] [%]	[%] [%] [%] [%]

Source: CMA analysis of data provided by the Parties, Siemens and Alstom.

Note: 'Other' covers CAF, Mitsubishi, Nippon Signal, ASELSAN, CRRC, GCF, INEO, Kyosan, and Daido. These tables only include tenders that have undergone a competitive process.

10.214 Table 17 shows that Thales participated in [≫]% ([≫]) of the tenders in which Hitachi bid and won [≫]% ([≫]) of those tenders. Table 18 shows that Hitachi participated in [≫]% ([≫]) of all tenders in which Thales bid, and also won [≫]% ([≫]) of those tenders. Siemens and Alstom were the Parties' most-faced competitors, each meeting Hitachi in [≫]% of the tenders in which Hitachi bid, and Thales [≫]% and [≫]% respectively. Overall, the Parties' bid

⁹⁵² In this context, we define 'Europe' as the EEA and the UK.

⁹⁵³ European bidding analysis excludes tenders which were awarded through mutual agreement, framework agreements, variation order or contract option. As a result, the tenders used in this analysis differ somewhat to those presented in the market shares section.

data indicates that Alstom and Siemens are each of the Parties' closest competitors globally and the Parties are each other's third closest competitor.

Previous experience with the customer

10.215 We conducted an analysis on the global bid data to assess the proportion of brownfield contracts that suppliers have competed on in which they had no previous signalling experience with the supplier, and how many of those contracts they won as non-incumbents.

Table 19: Suppliers global win and participation rates on brownfield projects, by previousexperience with the customer (2017-2022)

	Previous ex	perience with th	No previous experience with the customer			
Supplier	Number of tenders	Number of tenders won	Win rate (%)	Number of tenders	Number of tenders won	Win rate (%)
Hitachi Thales Siemens Alstom Other	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]	[≫] [≫] [≫] [≫]	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]	[≫] [≫] [≫] [≫]	[%] [%] [%] [%] [%]

Source: CMA analysis of data provided by the Parties, Siemens and Alstom. Note: Does not contain all global tenders in which competitors bid. This table only includes tenders that have undergone a competitive process.

- 10.216 Table 19 shows that all major suppliers other than Thales have demonstrated an ability to win brownfield contracts on metro systems where they have no previous experience with the customer. Notably, [≫] of the [≫] brownfield projects that Hitachi won were those in which it had [≫]previous experience with the customer.
- 10.217 Suppliers participate in a higher proportion of tenders where they have previous experience with the customer. All suppliers other than Hitachi also have higher win rates where they have previous experience with the customer. However, we note that this analysis was based on a limited number of observations and do not attempt to draw strong conclusions based on this evidence, other than to note that non-incumbents participate in and win brownfield tenders when they have not had previous experience with the customer.

Provisional conclusion on the bidding analysis

10.218 The bidding data supports the other evidence which shows that there are four major global suppliers. The Parties' tender data shows that Hitachi and Thales bid against each other relatively frequently albeit they have not won many contracts when competing against one other (one contract in each case). Siemens and Alstom are the Parties' most-faced competitors; both Siemens and Alstom also won a large proportion of those contracts in which they

competed with either of the Parties. The bidding analysis evidence indicates that Siemens and Alstom are the Parties' closest competitors. The Parties, Siemens and Alstom form a very small set of suppliers that compete for CBTC contracts globally. The bidding data also shows that, globally, it is common for suppliers to win brownfield tenders with customers with which they have no previous experience.

Suppliers' characteristics

10.219 In this section, we consider in more detail the evidence on the suppliers' characteristics and, in particular, the extent to which the Parties and their rivals have assets or underlying capabilities that may make it more or less likely that they will be able to compete on terms attractive to TfL (based on our consideration of TfL's assessment criteria). In particular, we consider suppliers' underlying strengths in relation to their access to technology, management and technical expertise, local knowledge and capacity and as well as their commercial offering (price).

Access to technology

10.220 As explained above, access to technology is a key parameter of competition in the CBTC signalling market (see paragraph 9.34 and 9.39(a)). We have considered below the Parties' and other suppliers' capabilities to adapt their CBTC technology for the London Underground.

Parties' views

- 10.221 The Parties submitted that all suppliers of CBTC signalling solutions could meet the technical requirements for a London Underground CBTC contract, with a greater or lesser degree of adaptation required, including suppliers such as Alstom, CAF, CRSC, Stadler, Nippon Signal, Hyundai Rotem, Kyosan and Mitsubishi.⁹⁵⁴
- 10.222 The Parties submitted that brownfield projects involve a degree of customisation to account for the metro system already in operation, meaning that a supplier's solution needs to be bespoke to each environment. In the Parties' view, it would be more difficult, unpredictable, time-consuming and expensive for non-incumbents to compete for CBTC signalling projects in a

⁹⁵⁴ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.3.

brownfield environment like the upcoming projects on the London Underground.⁹⁵⁵

Third-party views

- 10.223 We refer to paragraph 6.8 in relation to the factors we consider when weighting submissions from third parties.
- 10.224 Siemens told us that [≫] a CBTC solution that it has deployed [≫].⁹⁵⁶ Siemens stated that [≫].⁹⁵⁷ Alstom told us that 'from a technical performance capability aspect... pretty much most suppliers have competing capabilities'.⁹⁵⁸
- 10.225 Stadler submitted that [≫].⁹⁵⁹ It told us it could bring 'state of the art technology' to the London Underground⁹⁶⁰ and that their concept and solution has the capability for 60-90 second headway.⁹⁶¹ However, it also told us that it did not have the experience to signal the London Underground.⁹⁶²
- 10.226 Mitsubishi submitted that its CBTC equipment was certified for use on the New York Subway. Mitsubishi also submitted that the 'essential functions' may have applicability for the London Underground but indicated that it would need to develop the appropriate functions for the London Underground, as it has 'unique and distinctive definitions'.⁹⁶³ We note that Mitsubishi told us that there were differences in the CBTC technology at New York subway and European metro systems. In one of Mitsubishi's internal documents, it stated that, in order to enter Europe, its CBTC system would need 'to achieve GoA4⁹⁶⁴ operation', as that was a requirement in recent European metro projects.⁹⁶⁵ The Parties, Siemens and Alstom have access to GoA4 technology.⁹⁶⁶

⁹⁵⁵ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, 23 March 2023, paragraphs 3.1 and 3.3.

⁹⁵⁶ Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, page 5.

⁹⁵⁷ Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, page 19.

⁹⁵⁸ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, page 11.

⁹⁵⁹ Stadler questionnaire response, Q6 and Q7.

⁹⁶⁰ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 10.

⁹⁶¹ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 4.

⁹⁶² Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 17.

⁹⁶³ Mitsubishi questionnaire response dated 9 May 2023, Q5.

⁹⁶⁴ GoA4 stands for the highest level of railway automation is known as Grade of Automation Level 4. No driver or on-board attendant is required. See All systems go for driverless metros | Thales Group.

⁹⁶⁵ Mitsubishi questionnaire response dated 9 May 2023, annex 'GoA4 development road map for discussion 20230417', received 9 May 2023 slides 2-3.

⁹⁶⁶ https://www.railtarget.eu/technologies-and-infrastructure/hitachi-rail-is-to-modernize-the-chennai-metro-4925.html; All systems go for driverless metros | Thales Group; https://railway-news.com/taiwan-siemens-toprovide-cbtc-signalling-for-kaohsiungs-first-driverless-metro-system/; and https://www.alstom.com/autonomousmobility-future-rail-automated.

- 10.227 CAF submitted that [\gg].⁹⁶⁷ [\gg].⁹⁶⁸ [\gg].
- 10.228 While we have not received evidence regarding the technological offerings of CRSC, Nippon Signal, or Hyundai Rotem Kyosan, we note that based on our bidding analysis Nippon Signal has deployed CBTC on underground metro systems and would likely have access to a core CBTC solution. SFMTA told us that [≫].⁹⁶⁹

Parties' internal documents

- 10.229 The Parties' internal documents indicate that Hitachi [≫], including on more complex brownfield lines.
 - (a) Hitachi's annual financial report of March 2020 identified the Core CBTC Dragon as a one of the 'strategic projects for the future development of the company' and describes it as a 'program, called DRAGON, on the evolution of the Communication based Train Control (CBTC) product that pursues the objectives of optimizing transport capacity, managing more complex lines, improving the operational flexibility of urban and brownfield metro lines (existing lines already in public operation with increased constraints) and to improve energy efficiency'.⁹⁷⁰
 - (b) A presentation prepared by Hitachi's Vice President and Executive Officer for the FY2023 Business Plan Review Meeting on 14 March 2023 stated that, in relation to the Railway Systems business unit, it is a priority for Hitachi [≫]. It stated that [≫].⁹⁷¹
 - (c) A presentation prepared by Thales in March 2022, in the context of the Merger, reviews different aspects of Hitachi's and Thales' capabilities, [≫]. In this document, [≫].⁹⁷²

Provisional conclusion on access to technology

10.230 Based on our assessment of access to technology, the Parties both have access to a core CBTC product and have deployed it across a wide portfolio of projects. As set out in the section about *Incumbency on the London Underground*, Thales is likely to benefit from a degree of competitive advantage over Hitachi when competing for London Underground contracts,

⁹⁶⁷ CAF questionnaire response dated, 13 January 2023, Q4.

⁹⁶⁸ CAF questionnaire response dated, 13 January 2023, Q6.

⁹⁶⁹ Call with SFMTA dated 4 May 2023, 20:06-20:56.

⁹⁷⁰ Hitachi, HRL0014928_T, page 40.

⁹⁷¹ Hitachi, Annex H.RFI8.001, page 11.

⁹⁷² Thales, THALES-CMA-00207002, page 38.

given its experience in deploying its technology and having obtained certification for its CBTC solution on the London Underground. A number of other CBTC suppliers such as Siemens, Alstom and Stadler also have access to a core solution (although the solutions of Siemens and Alstom have been widely deployed, whereas Stadler's has [\gg]). Mitsubishi appears to have developed its CBTC technology for the New York metro system but has not developed all applicable functionality, including the technology for the highest level of automation – GoA4 – which is in demand for European tenders and most likely for future Piccadilly and Bakerloo line projects. CAF, [\gg], is currently unable to compete for CBTC projects [\gg]. We have received less information on the other CBTC suppliers identified by the Parties but note that Nippon Signal appears to have bid for and won CBTC contracts in Asia and potentially has access to a core CBTC product.

Management experience and technical expertise

- 10.231 In this section, we assess the management experience and technical expertise of CBTC signalling suppliers. Management experience and technical expertise is a phrase we have used to describe a supplier's experience in undertaking CBTC projects and in particular, experience in projects that may be suitable references for the London Underground.
- 10.232 In the remainder of this section, we assess:
 - (a) Suppliers' capabilities and experience in undertaking CBTC projects;
 - *(b)* Hitachi's brownfield CBTC projects and how they compare with the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines; and
 - (c) Customer feedback on Hitachi.

Suppliers' capabilities and experience in undertaking CBTC projects

- 10.233 In this subsection, we assess the Parties' and other suppliers' global capabilities in delivering CBTC projects.
 - Parties' view
- 10.234 Hitachi told us that it was 'indisputably a leader... in the CBTC market at a global level'.⁹⁷³

⁹⁷³ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 10.

- 10.235 The Parties also submitted that while it may be possible for suppliers to demonstrate relevant capabilities using international references, any global reference, regardless of its comparability in terms of complexity, was unlikely to be as relevant as having London CBTC experience.⁹⁷⁴
- 10.236 The Parties submitted that Hitachi did not have global references that would be comparable to the future Piccadilly and Bakerloo line projects.⁹⁷⁵
 - Third-party views
- 10.237 Third-party evidence indicates that Hitachi's experience in CBTC projects and the references that it could rely on may be relevant for the London Underground.
- 10.238 Siemens told us that Hitachi was a credible CBTC supplier globally. Siemens noted that, Hitachi's experience in urban signalling in the UK 'is limited', with only one reference which is Glasgow, 'despite them obviously, from global perspective, being very experienced'. Siemens stated that, as a result, Hitachi would need to use references from outside the UK.⁹⁷⁶ Siemens also stated that Hitachi was 'present in only certain markets unlike global players such as Alstom, Thales or Siemens.⁹⁷⁷ At the same time, Siemens indicated [³≪].⁹⁷⁸ Siemens told us that the BART and Toronto projects (see paragraph 10.77) that Hitachi had recently won could potentially be used as references, although Siemens indicated that it was ultimately up to the customer to decide which references were suitable.⁹⁷⁹
- 10.239 Alstom told us that [≫]. Alstom added, however, that [≫]. Alstom explained that [≫].⁹⁸⁰ Alstom also told us that [≫].⁹⁸¹
- 10.240 CAF also told us that [\gg]. In CAF's view, [\gg].⁹⁸²
- 10.241 Stadler told us that Hitachi had enough references, such as Brussels, Copenhagen, Paris, San Francisco (BART) and Taipei to be a competitor for a CBTC project for the Piccadilly line.⁹⁸³

⁹⁷⁴ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.16.

⁹⁷⁵ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 3.17.

⁹⁷⁶ Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, pages 6, 7, 8.

⁹⁷⁷ Siemens response to the CMA's questionnaire, Q8.

⁹⁷⁸ Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, page 19.

⁹⁷⁹ Siemens call transcript, 6 March 2023, page 19.

⁹⁸⁰ Alstom, call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 12-13.

⁹⁸¹ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 20-21.

⁹⁸² CAF call transcript, 30 January 2023, page 9.

⁹⁸³ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 16.

- 10.242 TfL told us that [%].⁹⁸⁴ TfL also stated that [%].⁹⁸⁵
- 10.243 TfL also told us that [%].986 TfL told us that [%].987
- 10.244 However, TfL submitted that it would not be able to make any assumptions on which suppliers were strongest. TfL told us that the choice of supplier would depend on several factors, including which London Underground line was being procured, the technical solution it was seeking and whether there were interfaces with other assets on the railway. TfL submitted that Siemens, Alstom, Thales and Hitachi could reference sites globally where they have successfully deployed those systems and all of them could demonstrate effective workable signalling solutions in a rail environment. TfL would test their capability and solution through its procurement. The market has also seen consolidation with a number of the above players getting stronger.988
 - Parties' internal documents
- 10.245 Hitachi's documentation prepared for tenders outside the UK also suggests that Hitachi has significant global experience in the supply of CBTC systems, including on complex metro systems:
 - (a) In 2017, Hitachi's Paris Line 6 bid team prepared the 'technical and functional file' for its bid to supply CTBC solutions for the Paris metro. In that document, [36].989,990
 - (b) In 2019, Hitachi's BART bid team prepared the 'technical package' which was a response to a request from the BART customer (see below paragraph see Table 20 and paragraph 10.163 for more detail on the BART system). [36].^{991,992}
- 10.246 Thales' internal documents also indicated that it considered Hitachi as a significant competitor for the supply of CBTC systems, including on complex metro systems:

⁹⁸⁴ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 21.

⁹⁸⁵ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 35.

⁹⁸⁶ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 21.

⁹⁸⁷ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 35.

⁹⁸⁸ Note of call with TfL, 9 August 2022, paragraph 14.

⁹⁸⁹ Hitachi, FSL1_SL1_v2.pdf, 12 September 2017, page 6. ⁹⁹⁰ Hitachi submitted that [\gg]. Hitachi noted that [\gg]. We have assessed this internal document taking into account the context in which it was produced and alongside other pieces of evidence.

⁹⁹¹ Hitachi, 06_Technical Package.pdf, 22 October 2019, page 1.

⁹⁹² Hitachi submitted that, as a document was produced in response to a request for proposal, it will put 'a positive spin' on Hitachi capabilities. Hitachi also noted that this is a [X]. Hitachi also notes that [X] (see Annex C of the Parties' response to the AIS and WP). We have assessed this [%]. We also that, in another submission, Hitachi told us that [%] (see Hitachi letter to CMA, dated 3 May 2023, page 2).

- (a) A 2020 review of Thales' global strategy, mentioned above in paragraph 10.198(a), includes an assessment of the market position of its competitors worldwide ([≫]). In this document, [≫].^{993,994}
- (b) Thales' Vice President for strategy, marketing and communications in the urban signalling unit prepared a strategic document in March 2021 for the GBU Executive Committee which stated that [≫].⁹⁹⁵
- (c) Thales' Vice President for strategy, marketing and communications in the urban signalling unit also prepared a strategic document in May 2021 in the context of the Merger for Thales GBU Executive Committee, which sets out the global competitive landscape in urban signalling.⁹⁹⁶ This document, described the [≫].
- 10.247 Overall, the documents considered in this section indicate that Hitachi is among the main four suppliers of CBTC, alongside Thales, Siemens and Alstom and that it has been acquiring experience in delivering brownfield CBTC projects, among which the award of the BART CBTC is considered particularly significant by its main competitors.
 - Analysis of Parties' CBTC projects
- 10.248 Figure 6 below presents an overview of the Parties' relevant CBTC signalling experience during the period 2000 to 2023, showing the Parties' global CBTC signalling contracts won by contract start date and value of signalling component, and whether the project was greenfield or brownfield.

Figure 6: The Parties' global CBTC signalling contracts

[※]

Source: CMA analysis of data provided by the Parties.

10.249 Regarding the experience of the Parties, we observe that:

(a) Both Hitachi and Thales have [≫]. Most of these projects were [≫], but both have also [≫].

⁹⁹³ Annex PNRFI2_Q18.4, slide 7.

⁹⁹⁴ Thales notes that this document [\ll] (see Annex D of the Parties' response to the AIS and WP). We consider, however, that this document by referring to Hitachi's global position provides insight into technical experience and expertise in delivering CBTC projects and into the competitive conditions for future CBTC projects in the UK. As explained above in paragraphs 9.39(b) and 9.42(a), suppliers' experience and expertise are important factors to understand whether these suppliers can be credible competitors for future projects in the London Underground. ⁹⁹⁵ Thales, Annex T.Q10.084, slide 6.

⁹⁹⁶ Thales, Annex T.Q9.016, 6 February 2023.

- (b) Thales has won [≫] projects, [≫] of which were brownfield. Hitachi has won [≫] projects, [≫] of which were brownfield.
- (c) Since the DTUP tender (2016), Hitachi has won more projects than Thales; Thales has won [≫] projects, of which [≫] were brownfield, whereas Hitachi has won [≫] projects of which [≫] were brownfield. Although the chart focuses on the Parties, both Siemens and Alstom have won more total projects and more brownfield projects during the same period. Siemens won [≫] projects, of which [≫] were brownfield, and Alstom won [≫] projects, of which [≫] were brownfield.
- (d) Thales has won the [≫] project (4LM) of which we are aware and Hitachi the [≫] (BART), which was awarded in 2020 after the DTUP tender and Hitachi's acquisition of Ansaldo.
- 10.250 Since the DTUP, Hitachi has increased its pool of CBTC brownfield references. By 2028,⁹⁹⁷ Hitachi is expected to have completed the following brownfield projects that it had not delivered at the time of the DTUP tender:⁹⁹⁸ Ankara, ([%], £[%]), Philadelphia ([%], £[%]), Glasgow ([%], £[%]), Brussels ([%], £[%]), Baltimore ([%], £[%]), Paris ([%], £[%]) and BART ([%], £[%]).⁹⁹⁹
- 10.251 Hitachi also won the most recently awarded CBTC tender in the UK, the Glasgow Subway project in 2016. [≫].¹⁰⁰⁰
 - Analysis of other suppliers' CBTC projects
- 10.252 As set out in the 'Shares of supply' and 'Bidding analysis' sections, Siemens and Alstom are the two largest CBTC suppliers both in Europe and globally.
- 10.253 While the Parties, Siemens and Alstom are the four largest global suppliers by a significant margin, there are also some smaller suppliers that compete for and win CBTC contracts globally. Based on our dataset, Nippon Signal, ASELAN and Mitsubishi [≫].¹⁰⁰¹ Mitsubishi submitted that it would not be able

⁹⁹⁷ The last end date of Hitachi's current live projects.

⁹⁹⁸ [※]

⁹⁹⁹ Hitachi response to RFI 3 of 23 February 2023, Q 21 and 23 (Annex Q34_35); Thales' response to RFI 3 of 23 February 2023 (Annex T.Q37.001 and updated T.Q21_23_25_30).

¹⁰⁰⁰ Email from SPT, dated 16 February 2023. As a bundled tender, a large part of the scoring was for the rolling stock element, we have been unable to differentiate the scoring of the signalling aspects of the tender with that of the rolling stock element.

to win a CBTC project in Europe until at least 2030, mainly because of the need to develop its GoA4 technology.¹⁰⁰²

- 10.254 Stadler was also awarded a CBTC signalling project in Basel started in 2019.
 It told us that the Basel tram is a simple line with higher head way.¹⁰⁰³
 Additionally, Basel is a 'Greenfield' project. Stadler also told us that [≫].¹⁰⁰⁴
- 10.255 CAF has not won any CBTC signalling projects. All these suppliers have substantially less management experience than the four largest suppliers and generally have a narrower geographic focus.
- 10.256 While these smaller suppliers (like the Parties, Siemens and Alstom) may also gain further experience before the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines tenders, the evidence indicates that these suppliers have considerably less experience and are further down the learning curve than Hitachi and the other three major CBTC suppliers.
 - Our provisional assessment
- 10.257 Based on the above evidence, Hitachi has won and delivered (i) a large number of contracts, (ii) high-value contracts and (iii) a significant number of brownfield contracts. The experience of Hitachi in delivering CBTC projects appears to be similar to that of Thales and, in recent years, Hitachi has won more global CBTC projects of a greater value than Thales. Hitachi recognises itself as a global CBTC supplier and Thales and competitors also consider Hitachi as a credible competitor for CBTC projects, including on brownfield projects. Based on their global experience and/or their experience signalling on the London Underground, Hitachi, Thales, Siemens and Alstom all appear to have the relevant management experience to compete for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines.
- 10.258 The smaller CBTC suppliers have significantly less experience than the Parties, Siemens and Alstom and currently have narrow geographic focus with no supplier, other than Stadler, having won a project in Europe. Stadler's single contract was to deploy CBTC technology on a tram in Basel, which is a relatively simple line and not for an underground metro system.

¹⁰⁰² Mitsubishi response to CMA RFI of 27 April 2023, GoA4 development road map for discussion 20230417.pdf slide 3.

¹⁰⁰³ Stadler questionnaire response, Q6 and Q7.

¹⁰⁰⁴ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 17.

Hitachi's brownfield CBTC projects

- 10.259 In this section, we assess the characteristics of Hitachi's CBTC brownfield projects in more detail and to what extent the experience acquired in these projects would be relevant for the future Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines projects.
 - Parties' views
- 10.260 The Parties submitted that, even disregarding the requirement for local experience (see paragraphs 10.81 to 10.85), Hitachi did not have suitable references that demonstrate the necessary experience and technical expertise to deliver complex brownfield projects comparable to the London Underground.¹⁰⁰⁵ The Parties told us that Hitachi's CBTC references were not comparable to London in terms of size, complexity or installation constraints. The Parties submitted an assessment for a number of Hitachi's references and concluded that none was comparable to the London Underground:¹⁰⁰⁶
 - (a) Copenhagen metro. Significantly less extensive than the London metro, the Copenhagen metro has only four lines and 39 stations. Its footfall is also considerably less than London: only 50 million passengers annually. Additionally, Hitachi's input on the Copenhagen metro has involved greenfield projects only.
 - (b) Brussels metro. The Brussels metro is less extensive than the London metro and comprises only six lines and 61 stations. The Brussels metro also has longer headways of 6–10 minutes between trains. Hitachi submitted that this project involved significant risks.¹⁰⁰⁷
 - (c) **Paris Metro**. Operational since 1900, Paris has a similar number of metro stations to London (309 vs 272) and comparable ridership (over a billion annually). However, the lines in the London metro are deeply interconnected and share the same signalling infrastructure, such that any CBTC application needs to be integrated with the rest of the network. By contrast, the lines in Paris are generally more disconnected, allowing the possibility of 'standalone' CBTC applications from the rest of the network.
 - (*d*) **Thessaloniki metro**. The Thessaloniki metro consists of only two lines and 13 stations and is a greenfield project.

¹⁰⁰⁵ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraphs 4.8 and 4.11.

¹⁰⁰⁶ The Parties submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros, paragraph 7.5. We understand that these projects were chosen as they were mentioned in the CMA's decision at Phase 1. We have not assessed whether these are the most relevant or complex of Hitachi's CBTC projects.

¹⁰⁰⁷ Parties' response to RFI 8 - Annex Q7.

- (e) Ho Chi Minh City metro. Construction of the Ho Chi Minh metro remains ongoing, but the project to date comprises only one line spanning 19.7km. There are 14 stations, only three of which are underground. Ho Chi Minh City metro is a greenfield project.
- (f) Taipei City metro. The Taipei City metro comprises six lines and 131 stations over 131km. Annual ridership is also considerably lower than London: around 765 million. Hitachi provided the signalling system for the Circular Line, which was a greenfield project.
- (g) **BART** was not an effective reference for a London project for five main reasons: BART is not a complex system; it has short traffic headways, it is closed at night, it has a low ridership compared to London and it is not yet complete.
- 10.261 In relation to the CMA's proposition that individual characteristics of some of Hitachi's projects taken together might show Hitachi as having the relevant experience for a London tender, the Parties submitted that TfL sets a limit on the number of references that could be used (three for the DTUP), meaning Hitachi would not be permitted to use a large number of references to evidence the relevant criteria.¹⁰⁰⁸
- 10.262 The Parties also submitted that, while not strictly comparable, there were only a few metros that were closer the London Underground in terms of complexity. These were the New York City subway, Madrid metro and Seoul metro.¹⁰⁰⁹ Thales has experience providing signalling services on all of these metro systems, while Hitachi has not provided signalling services on any.¹⁰¹⁰
 - Assessment of the characteristics of Hitachi's brownfield CBTC projects
- 10.263 Our current view is that the Parties' analysis of the characteristics of Hitachi's projects is based on two assumptions that we consider to be inappropriate or not supported by the evidence:
 - (a) First, that each of Hitachi's references would need to display most or all the characteristics of the London Underground. In practice, a supplier can use up to three case studies to demonstrate its capabilities to the criteria

¹⁰⁰⁸ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 4.9.

¹⁰⁰⁹ The Parties submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, paragraph 7.4.

¹⁰¹⁰ Thales response to RFI 3, Q 37, Thales Rail Signalling, last accessed on 2 May 2023.

being assessed, meaning that no single case study is needed to display all the characteristics required for a particular project.^{1011,1012}

- *(b)* Second, the Parties' analysis compares Hitachi's CBTC projects against the London Underground in its entirety (eg total ridership on the London Underground etc), whereas we expect TfL to assess suppliers based on the characteristics of the specific lines being tendered.
- 10.264 Nonetheless, we agree with the Parties that suppliers would need to have experience in undertaking CBTC projects that display some of the characteristics of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines to be a credible competitor for those projects. Table 20 summarises the analysis of the Parties in which they assessed eight characteristics (and by implication, factors that they considered would be important to TfL's assessment): length of the line, length of the section that is underground, headway (tph), number of stations, age, operational hours, number of junctions and ridership.
- 10.265 Table 20 below compares some of some of Hitachi's more complex CBTC projects with the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines against the characteristics identified by the Parties (see paragraph 10.260).

1011 [%].

¹⁰¹² Thales' response to case study RFI dated 21 March, 'Case ME_6971_21 - Thales Response to CMA Request for Case Study Information (21 March 2023)'. Hitachi's response to case study RFI dated 20 March 2023, 'CASE ME_6971_21 - CBTC Reference RFI 15 March 2023 - CONFIDENTIAL(10254937224.3)'.

Metro System	Length of line in km	Length of the section of line that is underground (km)	Peak time headway (minute)	Number of stations	First commissioning of the line	Weekday operational hours	Number of junctions (estimates)	Annual ridership by line (million)
London Piccadilly line	148	estimate: 70-75	2.5	53	1906	05:09 – 01:13 (Mon - Thurs)*	20	220
London Bakerloo Line	46	estimate: 8	2	25	1906	05:39 – 00:42 (Mon – Fri)†	8	111
Brussels metro Line 5	17		1.5	28	1976	00:03 – 23:53	12	
Brussels metro Line 6	16		6-10	26	1988	00:09 – 23:59	18	
Paris line 3	12		2-7	25	1904	05:30 – 00:45	10	100
Paris line 6	14	6	2	28	1909	00:04 – 23:59	12	101
Thessaloniki metro line 1	10	[≫]	[≫]	13	2023		11	
BART Yellow line	88	[≫]	15	28	1973	04:40 – 23:52	17	
BART Red line	59	[≫]	15	24	1976	06:03 – 20:11	23	
Glasgow Subway	11	11	1.5	15	1896	06:30 – 23:40	0	8
Copenhagen Cityringen	23	16	[%]	24	2019	24 hours	7	100

Table 20: The characteristics of Hitachi's CBTC projects

Source: The Parties' response to the AIS and Working Papers, 2 May 2023, Annex E – Metro System Comparison. Note: All lines listed are brownfield projects, other than Copenhagen Cityringen and Thessaloniki line 1 which are greenfield. Where a cell is blank it is because the Parties did not provide a response.

* These times correspond to the first departure from Cockfosters, and the latest arrival at Heathrow Airport Terminal 5, Monday to Thursday. Times may vary for other stations.

† These times correspond to the first departure from Harrow & Wealdstone, and the latest arrival at Elephant & Castle, Monday to Friday. Times may vary for other stations.

- 10.266 Table 20 shows that Hitachi has references that have been either completed or are currently in progress that reflect one or more of the characteristics of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines. For example, the Paris Line 3 and Paris Line 6 are of a similar age to the Bakerloo line and have similar peak time headway, operational hours, number of junctions and ridership; the BART lines are of a similar length, number of stations and number of junctions.
- 10.267 In terms of the specified characteristics, we also note that all the characteristics listed in the table are met by at least one of Hitachi's listed projects. For example: BART lines display similar line length; Brussels and Paris display similar headways;¹⁰¹³ Paris and Glasgow are of a similar age;

¹⁰¹³ Hitachi told us that the Brussels metro had longer headways (Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 7.5b), but data they submitted suggests that is not correct at least for lines 1 and 5, which have headways of 90 seconds.

almost all lines have not dissimilar operating hours; BART and Brussels have a similar number of junctions; and Paris and Copenhagen have a similar ridership.

• Third-party views

- 10.268 As noted at paragraph 10.260(g), the Parties submitted that the BART project was not complex. The SFMTA the transport authority responsible for BART told us that the BART project was 'extremely complex'. For example, SFMTA told us that BART has different source codes for track circuits and different suppliers in different segments, and it was going to be 'quite a feat to migrate the whole system over'. In addition, SFMTA told us that [≫].¹⁰¹⁴ SFMTA also told us that [≫].¹⁰¹⁵
- 10.269 TfL told us that to its knowledge the metro systems in New York, Vancouver, Madrid, Paris (in relation to the line signalled by Thales), Toronto, Singapore and Hong Kong (although most projects in Singapore and Hong Kong tend to be more greenfield) all have similarities to the characteristics of the London Underground. TfL noted that it could not say whether Hitachi's CBTC projects in BART, Glasgow and Paris (line 6) would be a useful reference point in future TfL CBTC tenders, as TfL would have to investigate whether Hitachi's CBTC projects are similar in terms of size and complexity.¹⁰¹⁶
- 10.270 Alstom told us that [%].¹⁰¹⁷ In relation to [%], Alstom stated that [%].¹⁰¹⁸
- 10.271 Stadler stated that Thales, Alstom and Siemens were much stronger on the London Underground,¹⁰¹⁹ but considered that Glasgow was 'a very good reference for Hitachi' because it is a brownfield resignalling project, in which the supplier has to deploy the new signalling solution, while keeping the metro in operation, as well.¹⁰²⁰ Stadler also noted that the BART project was a 'very complex, brownfield project'.¹⁰²¹
- 10.272 CAF told us that the Glasgow CBTC project was especially complex from the point of view of automation and that, as a result of its involvement and the adaptations it made for the UK market, Hitachi was in a better position to bid for future CBTC projects in the London Underground.¹⁰²²

¹⁰¹⁴ Transcript of Call with SFMTA dated 4 May 2023.

¹⁰¹⁵ Transcript of Call with SFMTA dated 4 May 2023.

¹⁰¹⁶ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, pages 22-23.

¹⁰¹⁷ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023.

¹⁰¹⁸ Alstom call transcript, 26 January 2023, pages 20-21.

¹⁰¹⁹ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 8 and 13.

¹⁰²⁰ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 13.

¹⁰²¹ Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 16.

¹⁰²² CAF call transcript, 30 January 2023, pages 9-10.

- Parties' internal documents
- 10.273 The internal documents discussed above in paragraphs 10.163 and 10.245(b) suggest that Hitachi's experience in CBTC projects such as BART is relevant and that the experience that Hitachi is gaining delivering the BART project can be leveraged for its global growth in CBTC.
- 10.274 When considering the opportunity to bid for [≫], Hitachi considered that BART and some of its other projects would be relevant references. Thales, when assessing the competitive set [≫], also highlighted the BART reference as one of Hitachi's strengths:
 - (a) In a Thales' presentation prepared in 2021 by the capture leader for the GBU Executive Committee to review the opportunity to bid [≫]. [≫].
 [≫].¹⁰²³
 - (b) As we identified in paragraph 10.167, Hitachi stated in an initial assessment of [≫] that it intended to leverage lessons learned from its past and ongoing brownfield projects [≫]. [≫].¹⁰²⁴
- 10.275 [≫], these documents suggest that, in principle, Hitachi's experience in CBTC projects such as BART could be [≫] relevant references (see also paragraphs 10.287 and 10.288 about the feedback from [≫], the infrastructure manager for the [≫] metro).
- 10.276 We note that Hitachi's internal documents also describe Hitachi as being on a [≫] (see paragraph 10.179). These documents suggest that Hitachi is looking to learn from its [≫] experiences in [≫] to be a more capable supplier for complex brownfield projects in the future.
 - Our provisional assessment
- 10.277 Based on our assessment of the characteristics of Hitachi's brownfield CBTC projects, we consider that Hitachi has a portfolio of brownfield projects that share one or more characteristics with future CBTC projects in the London Underground. Third parties have also indicated that some of Hitachi's portfolio of projects would be considered as comparable to the London Underground and the Parties' internal documents suggest that BART may also be an important reference for future CBTC brownfield projects.
- 10.278 While our assessment is not aimed at identifying the most appropriate case study references for future TfL tenders, the evidence above indicates that the

¹⁰²³ Thales, Oslo GBU Gate 2 exec summary-v05.pdf, 11 January 2021.

¹⁰²⁴ [%] – Hitachi response to RFI of 15 March 2023.

Parties' assessment understates the potential value of Hitachi's portfolio, and that Hitachi could draw on one or more of these projects to demonstrate its capability in undertaking brownfield CBTC projects that have characteristics similar to those of the London Underground. Our assessment also shows that Hitachi's experience of resignalling in brownfield environments appears now to be materially stronger than it was at the time of the DTUP tender.

Customer feedback on Hitachi

- Parties' views
- 10.279 The Parties submitted that since the DTUP, Hitachi's recent experience providing brownfield CBTC signalling projects [≫].¹⁰²⁵ The Parties also described that Hitachi's [≫] projects were [≫] (see paragraphs 10.136 to 10.142). The Parties submitted that Hitachi's performance in the [≫] projects [≫].¹⁰²⁶
- 10.280 The Parties also submitted that recent customer feedback indicated that Hitachi remained a weak contender for complex brownfield projects.¹⁰²⁷ The Parties submitted [≫]. [≫].¹⁰²⁸ The Parties stated that [≫].¹⁰²⁹
 - Customer views on projects Hitachi has delivered since the DTUP tender
- 10.281 We sought feedback from Hitachi's customers in relation to Hitachi's performance on their projects. We sent questionnaires out to several customers, including (but not limited to) STIB and SPT (the transport authorities responsible for the Brussels metro and Glasgow Subway) given the Parties' submissions on Hitachi's [≫] in both of these projects. In addition to STIB and SPT, of other customers that we contacted, only SFMTA, the customer for the BART project responded to our questionnaire. We set out these customers' views below.
- 10.282 STIB provided [≫] feedback on Hitachi's performance. It told us that Hitachi has 'a strong culture of railway expertise' and that it had 'senior technical staff with brilliant minds' and that its technology performance was as expected. However, STIB also indicated that [≫].¹⁰³⁰ In its feedback to Hitachi's tender submission for the Brussels metro, STIB stated that Hitachi presented 'a

¹⁰²⁸ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, 23 March 2023, paragraph 8.4

 $^{^{1025}}$ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 4.12

¹⁰²⁶ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Overview, paragraph 1.6b

¹⁰²⁷ Parties, response to the AIS and WP, 2 May 2023, Section B, paragraph 4.13 and Parties' submission dated 23 March 2023, paragraph 8.4.

¹⁰²⁹ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects for metros in the UK, 23 March 2023, paragraph 8.5 ¹⁰³⁰ STIR amail to the CMA, doted 29 April 2023

 $^{^{1030}}$ STIB email to the CMA, dated 28 April 2023.

proven and robust solution to achieve STIB-MIVB's long-term' performance objectives, without compromising deadlines or commercial operation during all phases of system deployment'.¹⁰³¹

- 10.283 SPT submitted that [%].1032
- 10.284 SFMTA, the customer for the BART project, which is the second largest brownfield resignalling project in the world,¹⁰³³ told us that, although the project was still at relatively early stages, it considered that Hitachi had 'started very well' and at this point of the project, was 'doing a very good job (8 or 9 out of 10)'. BART's infrastructure manager highlighted the complexity of this project. As noted earlier (paragraph 10.268), SFMTA also stated that this brownfield CBTC project is 'extremely complex', with different source code for track and various suppliers in different segments. SFMTA stated that it will 'be quite the feat to migrate the whole system' to the new CBTC system, including schedule constraints to conduct the migration works.¹⁰³⁴
 - Customer feedback from Hitachi's performance [%] tender
- 10.285 In the light of the Parties' submissions in relation to [≫] tender, we have also considered the evidence [≫] to understand whether the Hitachi loss on [≫] suggests that it would not be a credible competitor for brownfield CBTC projects in the future.
- 10.286 The [≫] was the [≫], [≫].¹⁰³⁵ The main tender requirements for the [≫] project, as described by the Parties, suggest that this project involved some level of complexity.¹⁰³⁶ Suppliers had to demonstrate:
 - (a) the ability to accommodate capacity of up to 40 trains per hour;
 - *(b)* the ability to provide a long-term evolution (LTE) telecommunications solution; and
 - (c) proven level of maturity with respect to ability to minimise the impact on existing system/network during migration to the new signalling system, and ability to ensure fewer service interruptions under the new system.

¹⁰³¹ HRL0020929.pdf, page 12.

¹⁰³² SPT email to the CMA, dated 28 April 2023.

¹⁰³³ HRL0004699, page 9. Hitachi describes BART as 'the second largest brownfield resignaling project worldwide today'.

¹⁰³⁴ Transcript of call with SFMTA, of 4 May 2023, pages 24 and 26.

¹⁰³⁵ Siemens response to RFI dated 28 February 2023, Q5.

¹⁰³⁶ Thales references – Thales response to RFI of 15 March 2023.

- 10.287 Hitachi was eliminated from the [≫] tender at the first round of the ITT stage before the other three major competitors. [≫] feedback on Hitachi shows that it eliminated Hitachi for 'technical and commercial reasons' and that Hitachi provided only one example of a brownfield project that had been in operation and that project was only for one line and not comparable with the requirements of the [≫] tender in terms of 'scale, complexity or environment'.¹⁰³⁷ [≫] noted that '[≫]'. [≫] also stated that Hitachi's tender was viewed as '[≫]'.¹⁰³⁸
- 10.288 [≫] noted, however, that all four suppliers that bid ([≫], [≫], [≫] and [≫]) would have been able 'to meet its requirements' from a technological perspective.¹⁰³⁹ It also noted that Hitachi was 'undoubtedly a highly reputable company, with a long track record of successfully delivering railway systems around the globe'.¹⁰⁴⁰
- 10.289 [≫] feedback suggests that Hitachi's references at the date of the tender were not sufficient for Hitachi to demonstrate the required experience for [≫] metro CBTC project. We note, however, that the BART project was at a very early stage, which may have affected the weight that [≫] placed on this reference. One Thales' internal document discussing the [≫] metro tender from January 2020, indicates that [≫].¹⁰⁴¹ This may have, in some way, affected Hitachi's performance in this tender.¹⁰⁴² We note that [≫] acknowledges Hitachi's track record of successfully delivering railway systems around the globe and its technical capability.
 - Our provisional assessment
- 10.290 Regarding the Parties' submissions on Hitachi's performances on brownfield projects since the DTUP tender, Hitachi has faced [≫] CBTC projects which led to [≫] (see paragraphs 10.115 and 10.135 to 10.144). [≫], the feedback from those customers on Hitachi's performance has been broadly positive.
- 10.291 The feedback from SFMTA, Hitachi's largest customer by [≫], was also broadly positive and indicates that Hitachi is performing well on a project that

^{1037 [%]} RFI response.

¹⁰³⁸ HRL0021634.pdf, slides 10, 19.

^{1039 [%]} RFI response.

¹⁰⁴⁰ HRL0021634.pdf, slide 42.

¹⁰⁴¹ Thales, [≫], 11 January 2021.

¹⁰⁴² We note that, as part of their learning curve, CBTC supplier may run into issues on particular projects that may affect their reputation. While these issues in specific projects may harm the reputation of these suppliers, in particular in relation to the same customers, these suppliers can still rely on the overall experience and track record in subsequent tenders and demonstrate how they intend to deal with the problems they faced in previous projects, as part of their learning curve.

the customer considers as complex. Although the project is still ongoing, the evidence does not indicate Hitachi's reputation [\gg].

- 10.292 In relation to the [≫] tender, Hitachi performed less well than the other three bidders ([≫], [≫]) and the customer considered that Hitachi's references at the date of the tender were not sufficient to demonstrate the requisite experience. As explained in paragraphs 10.259 to 10.278, Hitachi is widening its portfolio of brownfield projects and would be able to provide more references than it was at the time of the [≫] tender to demonstrate its overarching capabilities in undertaking higher risk brownfield projects.
- 10.293 Overall, we consider that the evidence from Hitachi's customer feedback in previous brownfield CBTC projects indicates that Hitachi has experience in complex brownfield CBTC projects on which it will be able to demonstrate its capability in bidding for future complex CBTC projects. Based on this evidence, and notwithstanding [≫], Hitachi's [≫] does not seem to have been impacted in the way that the Parties have suggested. The feedback from infrastructure managers does not suggest that its [≫] with respect to these brownfield CBTC projects at this stage would prevent it from using these projects as references. While some of the brownfield CBTC projects are ongoing, Hitachi will have completed the projects by the time of the future tenders for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines.

Provisional conclusion on management experience and technical expertise

- 10.294 The evidence above indicates that Hitachi is an experienced supplier that has an established track record of undertaking high-value brownfield projects, including BART, which was described by a Hitachi Senior Vice President as the second largest brownfield resignalling project in the world. [\gg], our assessment has found that Hitachi has since expanded its portfolio of brownfield projects and its pool of CBTC brownfield references. Before the next London Underground tender, Hitachi is expected to have completed the contracts for the following brownfield references that it had not delivered at the time of the DTUP: Ankara (\pounds [\gg], [\gg]), Philadelphia ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]), Glasgow ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]), Brussels ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]), Baltimore ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]), Paris ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]) and BART ([\gg], \pounds [\gg]).
- 10.295 Hitachi's current portfolio consists of CBTC projects that appear to meet some or most of the characteristics that contribute to the complexity of a metro system. Given that suppliers can typically use multiple case studies to demonstrate they meet the criteria set out by transport authorities, Hitachi may be able to use some of these projects as references to display its competence in future tenders. We also spoke to international transport authorities that hold key contracts with Hitachi. Feedback from customers on

Hitachi's performance was largely positive, including on projects where the Parties have told us that Hitachi has [%]. Hitachi appears to be using the lessons learned from these experiences in its bid selection and for operational efficiencies.

- 10.296 Based on the evidence above, we consider that Hitachi has the relevant management experience and technical expertise to undertake complex brownfield projects and be a credible competitor for future London Underground contracts.
- 10.297 Thales, Siemens and Alstom are also established CBTC suppliers with a track record of undertaking CBTC projects. Their track record and success in winning CBTC projects indicate that they are likely to compete strongly in relation to this parameter of competition.
- 10.298 Other smaller CBTC suppliers have won some projects, but each supplier individually has limited experience in undertaking CBTC projects or has a relatively limited focus, either geographically or on type of project (greenfield rather than brownfield). The evidence suggests none of these suppliers have the level of management experience and technical expertise to compete strongly with the Parties.

Local knowledge and capacity

- 10.299 In the 'Incumbency on the London Underground' section, we described the likely conditions of competition given the complexity of the London Underground and the likely high entry barriers.
- 10.300 Given that Thales and Siemens are the only two suppliers with experience of completing CBTC signalling projects on the network, we expect that both suppliers are likely to be strong competitors and will likely benefit from a competitive advantage when bidding for future London Underground tenders. These incumbency advantages may be realised through each supplier's:
 - (a) existing bespoke solution that is already in service on the London Underground and already meets TfL's requirements (see 'Access to technology');
 - (b) reference projects from the London Underground that are more likely than non-London references to have the characteristics TfL will require during its tender evaluation processes (see 'Management experience and technical expertise'); and

- *(c)* access to at least some existing workforce that has experience delivering projects on the London Underground and an established relationship with TfL (see 'Local knowledge and capacity').
- 10.301 However, based on the evidence set out in these sections, we considered that while incumbents would benefit from a competitive advantage, the entry barriers would not necessarily be insurmountable for experienced CBTC suppliers that did not have prior experience on the London Underground.
- 10.302 The evidence set out in our competition assessment shows that both Hitachi and Alstom are expected to have the relevant track record and capabilities to be credible competitors for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines tenders. The evidence and our analysis also suggest that other, less experienced suppliers active in the global CBTC market are unlikely to have the relevant experience to overcome these entry barriers and compete strongly against the more established suppliers.

Price

- 10.303 TfL told us that [\gg]. It indicated that [\gg].¹⁰⁴³ For the 4LM tender, price accounted for only 30% of the ITT criteria.
- 10.304 Given the lack of evidence on suppliers' relative pricing strategies and assuming a continuation of the lower weighting of price to TfL's assessment, we have not considered suppliers' relative pricing strategies in detail.
- 10.305 As discussed in earlier sections, we understand that new entrants to the London Underground may find it more difficult, unpredictable, time-consuming and expensive to compete for CBTC signalling projects in a brownfield environment.¹⁰⁴⁴ This indicates that new entrants may face higher costs that could potentially impact price, although we do not expect this to be the only factor that would influence the price, as prices are also influenced by other factors such as competition. We note that in a highly concentrated market with substantial incumbency advantage, prices may already be above the competitive level such that new entrants may be able to compete effectively despite facing some investment costs associated with entry.
- 10.306 We currently, therefore, have not differentiated between different suppliers on their pricing.

¹⁰⁴³ TfL call transcript, 8 February 2023, page 28.

¹⁰⁴⁴ Parties, submission on CBTC signalling projects, paragraph 3.3.

Third-party evidence

- 10.307 This section considers evidence from third parties on the competitive strength of CBTC signalling suppliers and the effect of the Merger on competition. Third-party qualitative views on the strength of each CBTC system supplier are included in our assessment of the suppliers' characteristics.
- 10.308 For the same reasons set out in paragraph 8.377, we consider the evidence from third parties in the round and recognise that some third parties may have an interest in the outcome of the Merger inquiry. Therefore, when using thirdparty views as evidence, we have given due regard to a range of factors including: (i) the incentives of the party giving that view; and (ii) the extent to which the view was corroborated by other evidence available to us.

Competitor scores on suppliers' strengths

- 10.309 We asked competitors to list the suppliers that they would consider credible to compete for TfL CBTC contracts and to indicate the strength of each supplier on a scale from 1–5 (where 1 is not very strong and 5 is very strong). We received responses from five suppliers (Siemens, Alstom, Stadler, CAF and Mitsubishi).
- 10.310 We place limited weight on these supplier scores in our assessment because of the small sample size and scores potentially being skewed by suppliers not active in the market with limited knowledge of the competitive conditions (Stadler and CAF). We also note that, [≫].¹⁰⁴⁵ Overall, we have interpreted these scores in light of the qualitative submissions from the different CBTC suppliers about Hitachi's experience and references set out above in the section about 'Management experience and technical expertise'.
- 10.311 The results show that all five respondents identified Thales as a competitor, and it was given an average score of 4.8. Siemens and Hitachi were each identified four times and given average scores of 3.25 and 2.5 respectively. Alstom was identified three times and given an average score of 2. Both Stadler and CRSC we identified once and were each given a score of less than one.
- 10.312 Overall, the results provide a further indication that there are likely to be only four credible suppliers able to compete for London Underground projects and that Thales is the strongest supplier for such projects. As previously mentioned, we place limited weight on the supplier scores.

¹⁰⁴⁵ [≫].

Third-party views on the Merger

- 10.313 The general observations we made about the weight we can place on thirdparty views in paragraph 6.8 apply to our interpretation of third-party views on the Merger.
- 10.314 TfL submitted that [≫].¹⁰⁴⁶ TfL [≫] and it told us that [≫]. [≫]. TfL has told us that [≫]. [≫].¹⁰⁴⁷
- 10.315 [%].¹⁰⁴⁸
- 10.316 Siemens submitted that [\gg]. It believes that [\gg].¹⁰⁴⁹
- 10.317 Alstom submitted that [%]. [%].¹⁰⁵⁰
- 10.318 Stadler submitted that [%].1051
- 10.319 CAF submitted that [%]:
 - *(a)* [≫];
 - (b) [**%**]; and
 - (C) [≫].¹⁰⁵²
- 10.320 Third-party suppliers provide different views on the Merger, with all bar Siemens expressing some form of concern regarding market concentration, barriers to entry or harm to innovation. We have considered third-party views in the context of the overall evidence considered above.

Provisional competition assessment

10.321 TfL is expected to tender for the resignalling of the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines on the London Underground by around 2035 (see section on *Upcoming CBTC resignalling tenders on the London Underground*). We have not taken into account in our current assessment potential CBTC tenders for other lines that may occur well after 2035 because of the uncertainty associated with predicting competitive conditions in this market so far into the future. While there are uncertainties in relation to the design of TfL's future CBTC tenders

1048 [%].

¹⁰⁴⁶ TfL call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 29.

¹⁰⁴⁷ TfL call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 30.

¹⁰⁴⁹ Siemens questionnaire response dated, 17 January 2023, Q9.

¹⁰⁵⁰ Alstom questionnaire response, Q9.

¹⁰⁵¹ Stadler questionnaire response, Q9.

¹⁰⁵² CAF response to RFI dated 18 January 2023, Q9.

for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines and the capabilities of suppliers at the time of these tenders, we do not have to predict the specific outcomes but rather assess the likely applicable conditions of competition on the basis of all the available evidence.

- 10.322 We have, therefore, focused our assessment on the competition for the supply of CBTC systems for the Piccadilly and Bakerloo lines, in order to establish whether the Merger is likely to result in the removal of competition between the Parties for those projects and whether that loss of competition would likely lead to an SLC in the supply of CBTC signalling systems in the UK.
- 10.323 One of the defining features of the competition for the future CBTC tenders for the London Underground is the specialised nature of CBTC projects. Metro systems that are more complex bring greater delivery risks and experienced suppliers are generally better placed for such an undertaking. Complexity is not a defined concept and exists on a spectrum. The London Underground is regarded as being towards the more complex end of this spectrum, owing to the sprawling nature of an aged network that has been in existence for over a century with multiple lines, intersections, junctions, and narrow deep tube tunnels. The network is used by hundreds of millions of passengers each year with trains operating at speed and high frequency matched by few other networks, on all days of the week and for almost all hours of the day.
- 10.324 Because of this complexity, existing suppliers are expected to benefit from a competitive advantage, potentially a significant one, when the future London Underground resignalling contracts come up for tender. They have deployed their technology on the network and have well established relationships with the customer, TfL. They may also have the benefit of accessing workforce and facilities for future projects without the need for considerable further investment. Overall, incumbents' previous experience would likely lower the costs of familiarisation with the network, the customer and the technologies and, potentially, provide those suppliers with the ability to deploy their solutions more rapidly (compared to new entrants). All of these factors indicate that barriers to entry on the London Underground are high.
- 10.325 At present, there are only two suppliers that have successfully delivered CBTC signalling projects on the London Underground: Thales and Siemens. Thales is the more experienced of the two incumbents in London and will have signalled 60–70% of the London Underground at the conclusion of the 4LM project. Hitachi, the other Merger party, is one of the very few other CBTC suppliers that could potentially credibly compete for the London Underground by the time of the next tender.

- 10.326 Our assessment has, therefore, sought to answer three key questions: (i) first, in the light of the high entry barriers and resultant competitive advantages held by incumbents, whether the tender for future CBTC resignalling projects would be contestable by new entrants; (ii) second, whether Hitachi would likely bid for complex brownfield CBTC projects in the future, [≫]; and (iii) third, whether the Parties are close competitors and whether constraints from other CBTC suppliers would offset the potential loss of competition that the Parties would have exercised on each other in future CBTC tenders for the London Underground.
- 10.327 To the question of whether the London Underground tenders will be contestable for suppliers without previous experience, our starting point is that future London Underground major resignalling projects will be open to competitive tenders. Competition remains one of the most important tools at TfL's disposal to restrain the market power of its incumbent suppliers and to discipline those suppliers' performance levels. The fact that there are only two suppliers currently operating on the London Underground does not necessarily imply that competition is not important or necessary in this market.
- 10.328 Although there have been very few recent tenders, TfL in a previous tender awarded a CBTC contract to a supplier ([≫]) with no prior experience of the London Underground. While that procurement was ultimately unsuccessful as the supplier was assessed as being unable to reliably deliver the project,¹⁰⁵³ it has shown that TfL has considered suppliers other than its current providers. [≫]. TfL told us expressly that previous London Underground experience was neither 'essential nor preferred'.
- 10.329 While we acknowledge the likely presence of material incumbency advantages, overall, we consider that the evidence received to date indicates that future CBTC tenders for the London Underground will be open to competition and that new entrants appear likely be able to compete and act as a constraint on incumbent suppliers, depending on their global experience and overall capabilities as a CBTC supplier.
- 10.330 For the reasons explained at paragraphs 10.102 to 10.105, only experienced suppliers are likely to be capable of competing for future CBTC tender for the London Underground. Given this, we considered whether Hitachi could be a credible competitor by assessing its overall capabilities as a CBTC supplier, including its experience and technical capability, by reference to its position outside the UK.

¹⁰⁵³ See https://content.tfl.gov.uk/fpc-20140717-part-1-item10-sup-atc-lessons-learnt.pdf, slide 6, paragraph 5.5, accessed on 6 June 2023.

- 10.331 As part of our assessment of whether Hitachi will be a credible competitor for future London Underground tenders, we started by considering the Parties' submissions and other evidence on Hitachi's future plans, in particular [≫] and its stated position [≫].
- 10.332 While we cannot predict with certainty whether, absent the Merger, Hitachi will bid for future CBTC tenders for the Bakerloo and Piccadilly lines, such uncertainty is an inherent part of the forward looking assessment that we must conduct.¹⁰⁵⁴
- 10.333 As described in more detail below, Hitachi has strong competitive capabilities and is increasing its experience in brownfield CBTC projects. Therefore, our starting point is that, subject to evidence to the contrary, Hitachi would likely continue to bid for brownfield CBTC projects on a case-by-case basis and would be considered by rivals as a potential and credible competitor for future CBTC tenders in the London Underground, absent the Merger.
 - 10.334 We currently consider that the evidence we have received to date is not sufficient to provisionally conclude that, in the absence of the Merger, and despite Hitachi's capabilities and the experience acquired from previous complex brownfield CBTC projects, [[≫]].
 - 10.335 Accordingly, we then assessed whether Hitachi has the capabilities to be a credible competitor for future CBTC tenders for the London Underground. The UK, European and global shares of supply show that the market for CBTC contracts is highly concentrated. The Merger involves the largest competitor (Thales) in the UK and one of only three other CBTC suppliers that operate globally. We currently consider that the Parties' shares of supply across Europe and the rest of the world indicate their strength and technical capabilities as CBTC suppliers. We currently consider that the Parties suppliers, which indicates they are likely to be close competitors to one another.
 - 10.336 The Parties' tender data shows that Hitachi and Thales bid against each other relatively frequently albeit they have not won many contracts when competing against one other ([≫]). Siemens and Alstom are the Parties' most-faced competitors, and both won a large proportion of those contracts. The Parties, Siemens and Alstom form a very small set of suppliers that compete for CBTC contracts globally.
 - 10.337 From a technological perspective, both Parties have access to a core CBTC product and have deployed it across a wide portfolio of projects. Thales is

¹⁰⁵⁴ CMA129, paragraph 3.14.

likely to benefit from a degree of competitive advantage over Hitachi when competing for London Underground contracts, given its experience in deploying its technology and having obtained a certified solution on the London Underground.

- 10.338 Our assessment of Hitachi's management experience and technical expertise found that Hitachi is an experienced supplier that has undertaken a number of high-value brownfield projects, including BART, which Hitachi has described as the second largest brownfield CBTC project in the world.¹⁰⁵⁵ [\gg], our review has found that Hitachi has since expanded its portfolio of brownfield projects and therefore its pool of CBTC brownfield references. By the time of the next London Underground tender, Hitachi is expected to have completed (or near completed) the following brownfield references: Ankara ([\gg], £[\gg]), Philadelphia ([\gg], £[\gg]), Glasgow ([\gg], £[\gg]), Brussels ([\gg], £[\gg]),
- 10.339 Our assessment also found Hitachi's current portfolio consists of CBTC projects that meet some or most of the characteristics that contribute to the complexity of a metro system. Given that suppliers can use several case studies to display the criteria set out by transport authorities, Hitachi may be able to use some of these projects as references to display its competence in future tenders. We also spoke to international transport authorities that hold key contracts with Hitachi. Feedback from customers on Hitachi's performance was largely positive, including on projects where the Parties have told us that [≫].
- 10.340 Based on the evidence above, we consider that Hitachi has the relevant management experience and technical expertise to undertake complex brownfield projects and be a credible competitor for future London Underground CBTC contracts.
- 10.341 We have also considered other rivals' capabilities to assess whether there were any alternative constraints that would offset the potential loss of constraint that the Parties would have exercised on each other in future London Underground tenders. The evidence shows that Siemens is at least as strong as Thales against each of the assessed competition parameters, and stronger than Hitachi. Alstom, although it has not successfully delivered a CBTC signalling project on the London Underground, is a strong global CBTC supplier with considerable experience and technical capabilities. Siemens, and to a lesser extent Alstom, will likely be strong competitors for future

¹⁰⁵⁵ HRL0004699, page 9.

London Underground tenders and exercise a strong competitive constraint on the Parties.

- 10.342 Other CBTC suppliers such as Stadler and Mitsubishi have only recently developed or are developing the full functionality for their CBTC technologies and are significantly further behind than the Parties. These suppliers also have limited track record or experience in undertaking brownfield projects and therefore are likely to exercise only a weak or very weak constraint on the Parties.
- 10.343 Overall, our provisional view is that, taking all of the evidence in the round across the set of competitive parameters, the Parties are likely to be close competitors for the supply of CBTC systems on the London Underground. The market is highly concentrated, and the Parties are two of a small number of suppliers that could conceivably bid for future London Underground contracts.¹⁰⁵⁶ Hitachi's lack of previous experience on the London Underground will mean that it may not be the closest competitor to Thales but would exercise a credible constraint on Thales in the next London Underground tenders.
- 10.344 We consider that the Merger could lead to adverse effects in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK through higher prices, worse terms, reduction of innovation and/or worse service levels relative to the situation absent the Merger.

Entry and expansion

- 10.345 We refer to paragraphs 8.431 to 8.433 above, in which we set out the framework for our assessment of entry and expansion, as outlined in the CMA's Merger Assessment Guidelines.
- 10.346 We assess below whether entry and expansion is timely, likely, and sufficient to prevent an SLC from arising in relation to the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.¹⁰⁵⁷

Parties' views

10.347 The Parties submitted that there are a range of competitors, such as CAF, Stadler, as well as potential competitors CRSC and CRRC that would be able to enter outside of London in the future. The Parties also submitted that

¹⁰⁵⁶ CMA129, paragraph 4.10.

¹⁰⁵⁷ CMA129, paragraph 8.30.

smaller UK metro systems do not have the same barriers to entry as the London Underground.¹⁰⁵⁸

Our assessment

- 10.348 In the competition assessment above, we considered the possible constraint on the Merged Entity arising from entry or expansion which would have occurred irrespective of the Merger.¹⁰⁵⁹ The evidence set out in the competitive assessment indicates that the entry barriers in the CBTC market are high, due to the considerable time and cost associated with developing a CBTC solution (eg $[\aleph]^{1060}$ and $[\aleph]^{1061}$) and, $[\aleph]^{.1062}$ These entry barriers are exacerbated for more complex metro systems, like the London Underground, due to the additional requirement of references that display similarly complex characteristics (see section above *Incumbency on the London Underground*). The evidence considered in our competition assessment does not indicate that entry by CAF, Stadler, Mitsubishi, Nippon Signal, and CRSC in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK would be timely, likely, and sufficient to prevent an SLC from arising. While these potential entrants may build their experience by winning smaller CBTC projects over the next few years, it is likely that the Parties, Siemens and Alstom would also continue to build on their already strong portfolio of suitable references for the London Underground, and further increase entry barriers for the London Underground.
- 10.349 We also note that we have not received evidence indicating that entry or expansion is likely to occur as a result of the Merger. The evidence we gathered from third parties also does not support that any firms, including Mitsubishi, CAF, Stadler, would have the necessary capabilities or intention to enter or expand in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK (see paragraph 10.61 and 10.252 to 10.256) as a result of the Merger in a manner that would be timely, likely and sufficient to prevent the SLCs identified.
- 10.350 We, therefore, do not consider that entry of other CBTC suppliers will be timely, likely or sufficient to offset the provisional SLC arising in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK as a result of this Merger.

¹⁰⁵⁸ Response to issues letter, paragraph 11.22.

¹⁰⁵⁹ CMA129, paragraph 4.16.

^{1060 [%]}

¹⁰⁶¹ [%].

¹⁰⁶² Stadler told us that it does not have the required experience to compete for the London Underground based on supplying the Basel contract, and that it would require different references to be able to compete for the London Underground (Stadler call transcript, 23 February 2023, page 17).

Provisional conclusion

10.351 For the reasons set out in this chapter, our provisional conclusion is that the Merger is likely to result in a SLC in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.

11. Countervailing factors: efficiencies

Introduction

- 11.1 The CMA's MAGs state that, in some instances, there may be countervailing factors that prevent or mitigate any SLC arising from a merger.¹⁰⁶³
- 11.2 There are two main ways in which this could happen:
 - *(a)* **Merger efficiencies**: rivalry-enhancing efficiencies that is, efficiencies that change the incentives of the merger firms and induce them to act as stronger competitors to their rivals may prevent an SLC by offsetting any anticompetitive effects of a merger.¹⁰⁶⁴
 - *(b)* **Entry and expansion**: the effect of a merger may be mitigated if effective entry and/or expansion by third parties occurs in reaction to the effects of a merger (eg a price rise).¹⁰⁶⁵
- 11.3 We addressed entry and expansion as a countervailing factor in the respective chapters on the competitive effects of the Merger (see paragraphs 8.431 to 8.447 in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB and paragraphs 10.345 to 10.350 in relation to the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.
- 11.4 In this chapter, we consider merger efficiencies as a countervailing factor in relation to the SLCs that we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in GB and in the supply CBTC systems in the UK.

Merger efficiencies

Framework for assessment

- 11.5 Efficiencies arising from a merger can enhance rivalry with the result that a merger does not give rise to an SLC. In order for us to take efficiencies into account, efficiencies must:
 - (a) enhance rivalry in the supply of those products where an SLC may otherwise arise;
 - (b) be timely, likely and sufficient to prevent an SLC from arising;

¹⁰⁶³ CMA129, paragraph 8.1.

¹⁰⁶⁴ CMA129, paragraphs 8.3-8.4.

¹⁰⁶⁵ CMA129, paragraph 8.28.

- (c) be merger-specific; and
- (d) benefit customers in the UK.¹⁰⁶⁶
- 11.6 The MAGs make it clear that merger firms who wish to make efficiency claims are encouraged to provide verifiable evidence to support their claims in line with the CMA's framework.¹⁰⁶⁷ The MAGs note that it is for the merger firms to demonstrate that the merger will result in efficiencies.¹⁰⁶⁸
- 11.7 The Parties submitted that the Merger would give rise to a range of rivalryenhancing efficiencies. The Parties' arguments can be categorised as follows:
 - (a) efficiencies that apply in digital mainline signalling;
 - (b) efficiencies that apply in CBTC systems; and
 - *(c)* overarching efficiencies that apply to both digital mainline signalling and CBTC systems.
- 11.8 In the following sections, we set out the Parties' submissions in detail and assess the evidence provided in support of rivalry-enhancing efficiencies. In doing so, we follow the structure outlined in paragraph 11.7 above.

Digital mainline signalling

Parties' submissions

- 11.9 The Parties submitted that the combined skills, knowledge, resources and experience of Hitachi and Thales would create a stronger competitor to Siemens and Alstom globally and in the UK.¹⁰⁶⁹
- 11.10 The Parties told us that the merged entity would offer a broader portfolio of products and would benefit from a stronger combined supply chain, project portfolio and commercial infrastructure.¹⁰⁷⁰ In the UK specifically, the Parties told us that the merged entity would be able to compete more credibly for the digital element of the TCSF, and in subsequent mini-competitions.¹⁰⁷¹
- 11.11 The Parties told us that, [≫], the merged entity would be a stronger competitor than either Party individually, as it would be able to 'draw on the

¹⁰⁶⁶ CMA129, paragraph 8.8.

¹⁰⁶⁷ CMA129, paragraph 8.7.

¹⁰⁶⁸ CMA129, paragraph 8.15.

¹⁰⁶⁹ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 1.1-1.2.¹⁰⁷⁰ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 1.3.

¹⁰⁷¹ Parties' response to AIS and working papers, paragraphs 7.3-7.4.

best skills, knowledge and experiences of both Parties'.¹⁰⁷² The Parties submitted that as a consequence 'the merged entity will be better placed than Hitachi alone to bid effectively against Siemens and Alstom'.¹⁰⁷³

- 11.12 The Parties told us that any increased tension in competing for the top two positions within the TCSF would have a 'very significant, positive effect' on competition, for two reasons:¹⁰⁷⁴
 - (a) First, the incumbents (Siemens and Alstom) would face increased uncertainty in bidding against the merged entity and this should cause them to bid more competitively, resulting in better value for money for Network Rail. The Parties noted the ORR market study which found that the cost of signalling had increased between CP4 and CP5 and told us that an increase in competitive pressure on Siemens and Alstom would make these higher prices harder to sustain.¹⁰⁷⁵
 - (b) Second, as the TCSF guaranteed more work for higher-placed bidders, the Parties told us that 'rivalry for larger slots is worth more (in terms of pro-competitive effects) than any hypothesised reduced rivalry for smaller slots'.¹⁰⁷⁶ The Parties submitted that it was 'hard to model such increased rivalry explicitly' but that 'neck-and-neck competition between the suppliers that will end up second and third [was] a realistic possibility'. The Parties told us that this same competitive tension would also increase pressure for the first place slot and in respect of mini-competitions.¹⁰⁷⁷
- 11.13 As to specific factors which would make the merged entity a stronger competitor for the TCSF, the Parties submitted that the merged entity would have greater UK-based resources, as it would benefit from the addition of Thales' UK employees.¹⁰⁷⁸
- 11.14 The Parties told us that, to the extent Thales' urban signalling employees agreed, [≫].¹⁰⁷⁹ We were told that [≫][≫].¹⁰⁸⁰ The Parties added that, [≫].¹⁰⁸¹

¹⁰⁷² Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.11 and Parties' response to AIS and working papers, paragraph 7.4.

¹⁰⁷³ Submission on competitive effects, paragraph 3.52.

¹⁰⁷⁴ Submission on competitive effects, paragraphs 3.53-3.57. See also Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.12 and Parties' response to AIS and working papers, paragraph 7.6.

 ¹⁰⁷⁵ Submission on competitive effects, paragraphs 3.53-3.55.
 ¹⁰⁷⁶ Submission on competitive effects, paragraph 3.56.

¹⁰⁷⁷ Submission on competitive effects, paragraphs 3.56-3.57 and Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.13.

¹⁰⁷⁸ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.4.

¹⁰⁷⁹ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 2.6-2.8.

¹⁰⁸⁰ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.7. [³]. Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.8.

¹⁰⁸¹ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.9.

11.15 The Parties told us that this increased local presence in the UK would result in reduced costs (as the merged entity would be less reliant on support from non-UK teams) and greater levels of customer service and improved project management in the UK.¹⁰⁸² The Parties told us this would allow the merged entity to [≫] and to provide more competitive pricing and services.¹⁰⁸³

Third party submissions

11.16 In addition to the Parties, ORR, Network Rail and three competitors provided views relevant to our assessment of potential rivalry-enhancing effects of the Merger in mainline signalling.

ORR's views

- 11.17 ORR made a voluntary submission on key points for consideration as part of our investigation. In its submission, ORR provided views on the degree of complementarity between the Parties' offerings.
- 11.18 In terms of the Parties' products, ORR submitted that it was not aware of any strong evidence of product-related synergies arising from the Merger as:
 - (a) The Parties were likely to be self-sufficient across all key signalling products at the European level.
 - (b) While it may be the case that Hitachi's historic success on the GB mainline gives it an advantage over Thales when bidding for UK mainline signalling work, it is not clear that the merged entity would be stronger than a standalone Hitachi from this perspective.
 - *(c)* The cross-selling of non-bottleneck products¹⁰⁸⁴ does not have significant implications for the impact of the Merger and ORR is not aware of any historic instances where access to these products has been a key driver of signalling suppliers' project wins or losses.¹⁰⁸⁵
- 11.19 In addition to assessing potential complementarity in the Parties' product range, ORR considered the skills and competencies of the Parties. It reviewed Network Rail's scoring of the Parties' bids for previous CP framework contracts to inform an understanding of the potential effect of combining the Parties' expertise.

¹⁰⁸² Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.10.

¹⁰⁸³ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 1.3 and Parties' response to AIS and working papers, paragraph 7.3.

¹⁰⁸⁴ Such as Hitachi's [**※**] for GB mainline products.

¹⁰⁸⁵ ORR phase 2 submission, paragraphs 39-42.

- 11.20 ORR explained that it had carried out a 'simple backward-looking analysis' in which it awarded the higher of each of the Parties' scores across any price and non-price criterion [[≫]]. ORR found that [[≫]].¹⁰⁸⁶
- 11.21 We note that in its November 2022 response to our invitation to comment, ORR similarly stated that:
 - (a) based on its [\gg]; and
 - (b) based on its review of Network's Rail's CP6 framework scoring, ORR found [≫].¹⁰⁸⁷
- 11.22 Notwithstanding the above, ORR also submitted that, given the evidence from its review of the different scores obtained by the Parties in previous CP tenders (which reduced the margin of loss to Siemens and Alstom), there was a 'plausible suggestion of some degree of complementarity' in the Parties' respective competencies. It further submitted that, while further consideration was needed, it may be the case that the merged entity 'will be in a stronger position to compete against Siemens and Alstom for some TCSF volumes than would be the case for either Hitachi or Thales individually', with the 'clearest example of such volumes' being 'the second largest framework lot'.¹⁰⁸⁸

Network Rail's views

- 11.23 Network Rail did not make a specific submission on the benefits of the Merger but as noted in paragraph 8.393, Network Rail [≫].¹⁰⁸⁹
- 11.24 We refer to our considerations around Network Rail's views (see paragraphs 8.399 and 8.400) and note that Network Rail had no access to data relating to potential synergies and/or cost reductions resulting from the Merger, nor information to assess whether any of these synergies are mergerspecific.

Other competitors' views

11.25 We also noted in paragraph 8.396 that a number of competitors submitted that the Merger would benefit the delivery of digital mainline signalling in the UK or that the Merger would result in synergies. Specifically:

¹⁰⁸⁶ ORR phase 2 submission, paragraphs 43-47.

¹⁰⁸⁷ ORR response to invitation to comment, page 11.

¹⁰⁸⁸ ORR phase 2 submission, paragraph 55.

¹⁰⁸⁹ Network Rail questionnaire response, question 34.

- *(a)* VolkerRail told us that combining the Parties' respective technologies would 'make both companies stronger... and enable them to compete more directly with... Siemens and Alstom'.¹⁰⁹⁰
- *(b)* Stadler told us that the Parties 'are likely to benefit from synergies' and that the merged entity would 'benefit from a stronger position combining conventional and digital solutions'.¹⁰⁹¹
- *(c)* Mipro submitted that the merged entity would be a closer competitor to Siemens and Alstom and that competition for 'major tenders' could intensify.¹⁰⁹²
- 11.26 Overall, third parties did not comment beyond the above statements regarding the timeliness, likelihood or sufficiency of any Merger benefits offsetting an SLC or of benefits to UK customers of the Merger.

Our assessment

11.27 In this section, we consider the Parties' claimed rivalry-enhancing efficiencies in relation to the factors set out in paragraph 11.5.¹⁰⁹³

Merger specificity

- 11.28 In line with our guidance, we consider here whether the claimed efficiency is reliant on the Merger, or whether it would be brought about by other means.¹⁰⁹⁴ We also consider whether the Merged Entity has a greater incentive to achieve the same improvements absent the Merger than as a result of the Merger.¹⁰⁹⁵
- 11.29 In Chapter 8, we found that the Parties are established digital mainline signalling providers and have each independently developed a full portfolio of technical solutions and have each gained considerable management experience and delivery capability over time. ORR expressed scepticism about the extent of complementarity between the Parties' product offerings¹⁰⁹⁶ and the Parties themselves have described rivalry-enhancing efficiencies from the Merger in very general terms only. The Parties did not provide specific details nor supporting evidence as to the types of product improvements that could be made as a result of the Merger, the timing of such improvements, the

¹⁰⁹⁰ VolkerRail's response to questionnaire, Q27.

¹⁰⁹¹ Stadler's response to questionnaire, Q34.

¹⁰⁹² Mipro's submission of 16 January 2023.

¹⁰⁹³ See also CMA129, paragraph 8.8.

¹⁰⁹⁴ CMA129, paragraph 8.16.

¹⁰⁹⁵ CMA129, paragraph 8.17.

¹⁰⁹⁶ See paragraphs 11.18 to 11.21.

likelihood of their success, nor the significance of the benefits to be expected. We therefore consider that the scope for complementarity and product-related synergies between the Parties as a result of the Merger is potentially limited.

- 11.30 The Parties' submissions on the creation of a stronger competitor in the UK (and specifically a stronger competitor to Siemens and Alstom for the TCSF) focus on the UK-based resources of the Merged Entity.
- 11.31 While both Parties may have a limited presence in the UK in mainline signalling and certain gaps in terms of local resources (see paragraph 8.412), it is not clear that the Merger would fill these gaps in a timely manner (see paragraph 11.37). In any event, we consider that the Parties would be able to fill these gaps through means other than the Merger; for example by partnering with a UK-based integrator. Accordingly, any efficiencies arising from an increase in UK-based resources are not merger-specific.
- 11.32 Further, we consider that the increased size and scale of the Merged Entity will not of itself lead to an increased incentive to innovate and to invest in developing new technology relevant for the competitiveness of the Merged Entity in the UK. This is particularly the case when competition between the Parties is reduced, and we have provisionally found that the remaining constraints post-Merger are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss brought about by the Merger.¹⁰⁹⁷
- 11.33 For these reasons, we consider that the Parties have not provided evidence that the claimed efficiencies are merger-specific, nor that the Merged Entity has a greater incentive to innovate and invest to compete against Siemens and Alstom than the Parties individually, absent the Merger.

Timeliness, likelihood and sufficiency

- 11.34 While we consider that the claimed efficiencies are not merger-specific, we nevertheless assessed the Parties' submissions in terms of timeliness, likelihood and sufficiency for completeness.
- 11.35 Our guidance includes that we will assess whether claimed efficiencies are to be realised within the same timeframe as the rest of our analysis and that efficiencies must be likely to be realised (ie that verifiable evidence is needed in support of efficiency claims), as well as sufficient to prevent an SLC (the greater the adverse effect, the greater the efficiencies must be).¹⁰⁹⁸

¹⁰⁹⁷ See Chapter 8.

¹⁰⁹⁸ CMA129, paragraphs 8.12-8.14.

- 11.36 As to the matter of timeliness, the Parties have submitted that the Merged Entity would be better placed to bid against Siemens and Alstom for the top two positions within the TCSF. However, we note that internal documents prepared in anticipation of the Merger, in which the Parties planned for the carve out of Thales from Thales Group and its integration within Hitachi, stated that [≫].¹⁰⁹⁹
- 11.37 [≫].¹¹⁰⁰ It is therefore unclear whether and when any significant competitive improvements from combining the Parties' capabilities could be expected following the closing of the Merger. While there may be some benefits that could be achieved in relation to TCSF mini-competitions, the extent to which any purported benefits could provide a basis on which to compete more effectively for the guaranteed workbank within the TCSF (for which the ITT is expected to be initiated in July 2023, with responses due in September 2023) is more uncertain.
- 11.38 In this context, we note that Thales appeared to acknowledge uncertainties as to the impact of the Merger on competition for the TCSF at its main party hearing, stating that the Merger [≫].¹¹⁰¹
- 11.39 We also consider there to be material uncertainties regarding the Parties' submissions that the Merged Entity would [≫]. The Parties themselves have acknowledged [≫].¹¹⁰² As such, we consider there to be considerable uncertainty as to whether the addition of Thales' employees to Hitachi's UK-based workforce is likely to result in rivalry-enhancing benefits in digital mainline signalling.
- 11.40 The Parties' submissions did not include verifiable evidence of the claimed efficiencies, which prevents a proper analysis of their timeliness, likelihood or sufficiency.
- 11.41 For these reasons, we consider that the Parties have not provided sufficient evidence to show that the criteria in paragraph 11.5 are met.

Provisional conclusion

11.42 Taking into account the available evidence and the considerations set out above, our provisional view is that the Parties have not demonstrated that merger-specific efficiencies (which would enable the Merged Entity to

¹⁰⁹⁹ Annex T.Q9.034, slide 44.

¹¹⁰⁰ Annex T.Q9.034, slide 71.

¹¹⁰¹ Thales, Main Party Hearing transcript, 2 May 2023, page 81.

¹¹⁰² Specifically, the Parties told us that CBTC projects may be viewed [**%**]. Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, page 3, footnote 5.

compete more strongly with Siemens and Alstom) are likely to arise in a timely manner and be sufficient to prevent or mitigate the SLC we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling in the UK, or benefit UK consumers.

CBTC systems

Parties' submissions

- 11.43 The Parties told us that Hitachi is a vertically integrated supplier of rolling stock and CBTC solutions but [≫].¹¹⁰³
- 11.44 In contrast, the Parties told us that Thales had experience of delivering complex brownfield CBTC signalling solutions, including in London, but is not vertically integrated.¹¹⁰⁴
- 11.45 The Parties submitted that the main efficiency of the Merger for urban signalling was the creation of a vertically integrated entity better able to compete with Siemens and Alstom ie the only two vertically integrated suppliers able to deliver complex brownfield CBTC signalling projects together with rolling stock in Europe and the UK.¹¹⁰⁵ The Parties acknowledged this was not relevant in the UK as TfL has a practice of tendering separately for rolling stock and signalling.¹¹⁰⁶ However, elsewhere in the world, the Merged Entity would be able to compete at a similar level to Siemens and Alstom and increase competition for the benefit of urban rail customers.¹¹⁰⁷

Third-party submissions

- 11.46 In addition to the Parties, TfL also commented on the [\gg].
- 11.47 In paragraph 10.314, we noted that TfL stated that it [\gg].¹¹⁰⁸
- 11.48 We note that TfL had no access to data relating to potential synergies and/or cost reductions resulting from the Merger, nor information to assess whether any of these synergies are merger-specific.

¹¹⁰³ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.16.

¹¹⁰⁴ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.16.

¹¹⁰⁵ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.17.

¹¹⁰⁶ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.17

¹¹⁰⁷ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 2.17.

¹¹⁰⁸ TfL call note, 9 August 2022, paragraph 29.

Our assessment

- 11.49 In this section, we consider the Parties' claimed rivalry-enhancing efficiencies in CBTC systems by reference to those factors set out in paragraph 11.5, in line with our published guidance. We note that the efficiency claimed by the Parties relates to the creation of a vertically integrated entity better able to compete in tenders for bundled complex brownfield signalling projects and rolling stock.
- 11.50 For completeness, we note that in paragraphs 10.335 to 10.340, we have provisionally found that Hitachi is likely to have the relevant management experience and technical expertise to undertake complex brownfield projects and to be a credible competitor for future London Underground contracts.
- 11.51 Our guidance states that merger efficiencies must benefit customers in the UK.¹¹⁰⁹ As the Parties recognised, TfL has an established practice of tendering separately for rolling stock and signalling. Given that future CBTC tenders in the UK are expected to be in London,¹¹¹⁰ benefits to UK customers from bringing together Hitachi's rolling stock business and Thales' CBTC business are likely to be, at best, very limited and considerably less significant in magnitude than the adverse effects in the UK arising from the Merger.

Provisional conclusion

11.52 For the reasons above, we consider that it is not likely that any efficiencies arising from the combination of the Parties' urban signalling and rolling stock operations will be of sufficient magnitude and benefit to UK consumers to prevent the SLC we have provisionally found in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK.

Overarching efficiency submissions

Parties' submissions

- 11.53 In addition to the above, the Parties' submissions included a range of efficiency claims which are applicable to both digital mainline signalling and CBTC systems.
- 11.54 Specifically, the Parties told us that:

¹¹⁰⁹ CMA129, page 68.

¹¹¹⁰ See paragraphs 9.44 to 9.49.

- (a) As a larger rail-focused company, the Merged Entity would be incentivised to:
 - (i) compete in tenders that neither Party would otherwise have considered (as it would have a higher confidence of winning);¹¹¹¹ and
 - (ii) invest more in R&D, in order to compete more strongly with Siemens and Alstom at the global level.¹¹¹²
- (b) [≫] ([≫]) would result in reduced costs for the merged entity, which in turn would lead to better terms for customers, including in the UK.¹¹¹³
- 11.55 In addition, the Parties also told us that the Merged Entity would be able to deliver a wider range of digital solutions for the rail sector, including [%].¹¹¹⁴ The Parties told us that demand for MaaS – which would enable passenger journeys to be managed end-to-end through digital technology – [%].¹¹¹⁵
- 11.56 At its main party hearing, Hitachi told us that it had piloted MaaS-related ticketing and crowd management technology in Genoa [≫]. Hitachi submitted that [≫] [≫].¹¹¹⁶
- 11.57 In the following section, we set out our assessment of the Parties' claimed efficiencies as outlined above.

Our assessment

- 11.58 The Parties' submissions include that the merged entity will be incentivised to compete in tenders that neither Party would contest individually and to invest more in R&D.
- 11.59 We first note that the Parties' claimed efficiency regarding bidding incentives appears to be predicated on the assumption that [≫]. Indeed the Parties told us that its submissions on this point were 'particularly relevant for the UK', given [≫] and the positions of Siemens and Alstom in the UK market.¹¹¹⁷
- 11.60 In our competitive assessment (Chapter 8 and Chapter 10 above), however, we found that:

¹¹¹¹ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 3.1-3.5.

¹¹¹² Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 3.6-3.8.

¹¹¹³ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 3.1-3.8 and 5.1-5.5.

¹¹¹⁴ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 4.2.

¹¹¹⁵ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 4.1-4.4.

¹¹¹⁶ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 78.

¹¹¹⁷ Parties' submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraph 3.5.

- *(a)* in relation to the supply of digital mainline signalling, the Parties (individually) have strong incentives to compete for digital mainline signalling projects in the UK; and
- *(b)* in relation to the supply of CBTCs systems, Thales is already a strong supplier of CBTC in the UK and Hitachi is well placed to compete for future CBTC projects in London.
- 11.61 The SLCs that we have provisionally identified arise precisely because the Parties are expected to be credible competitors for major digital mainline and CBTC projects in the UK. We do not consider, therefore, that the Merged Entity is likely to compete in UK tenders that the Parties would not be able to credibly contest individually. Accordingly, our view is that the Merger could lead to adverse effects on competition (in both digital mainline signalling and CBTC systems in the UK), rather than producing rivalry-enhancing bidding incentives.
- 11.62 As to the incentives of the Merged Entity to invest in R&D, we explained in paragraph 11.32 above that the increased size and scale of the merged entity will not necessarily lead to an increased incentive to innovate and to invest in developing new technology relevant to its competitiveness in the UK. This is particularly the case when competition between the Parties is reduced, and we have found that the remaining constraints post-Merger are not likely to be sufficient to offset the loss brought about by the Merger. Further, the Parties have provided no verifiable evidence of the type and scale of product improvements that might be pursued as a result of the Merger. On this basis, we consider that the Parties' claimed efficiencies from greater R&D investment are not supported by sufficient evidence to satisfy the criteria set out in our guidance.
- 11.63 Regarding the Parties' submissions on procurement and supply chain efficiencies, we note that the Parties' submissions set out various cost reductions including in relation to: [≫].¹¹¹⁸ As set out in our guidance, we generally consider reductions in the merger firms' marginal or variable costs as being more likely to result in an incentive to reduce prices (or make short-run improvements in quality) than reductions in fixed costs.¹¹¹⁹ We also note that ORR stated that in-sourcing of products is not likely to have a significant impact on the merged entity, nor has ORR identified any historic instances where access to such products has been a key driver of the competitiveness of a signalling supplier. Given this, and in the absence of verifiable supporting evidence from the Parties, we do not consider that efficiencies deriving from

¹¹¹⁸ Parties, Submission on the benefits of the merger, paragraphs 5.2-5.3.

¹¹¹⁹ CMA129, paragraph 8.10.

procurement and supply chain synergies are likely to be of sufficient magnitude and benefit to UK consumers to satisfy the criteria outlined in paragraph 11.5.

11.64 Finally, as to the Parties' submissions regarding the development of MaaS, we note that Hitachi has described MaaS as a [≫].¹¹²⁰ Given these uncertainties, it remains unclear how any efficiencies may be realised as a result of combining the digital capabilities of Hitachi and Thales and how great (or otherwise) the scale of any such benefits might be. Moreover, we note that Hitachi has been developing its MaaS technology for a number of years, has publicly discussed a plan to accelerate digitisation within the rail sector (independent of the Merger)¹¹²¹ and appears to consider that Hitachi Group capabilities can be leveraged in designing MaaS solutions.¹¹²² It also recognised at its main party hearing that [≫].¹¹²³ Hitachi is not therefore reliant on the Merger to progress development of its MaaS solutions. For these reasons, we consider that the Parties' claimed efficiencies in this regard do not meet the criteria for assessing efficiencies outlined in our guidance.

Provisional conclusion

11.65 Taking into account the available evidence and the considerations set out above, our provisional view is that merger efficiencies claimed by the Parties are not likely to prevent or mitigate the SLCs that we have provisionally found in the supply of digital mainline signalling and CBTC systems in the UK.

¹¹²⁰ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, pages 76-77.

¹¹²¹ Hitachi investor day presentation 2022: 'Green Energy and Mobility Sector', slide 32.

 ¹¹²² Hitachi's website: Rail Innovation, accessed 24 May 2023, states: 'Through the analysis of customer experience, we are studying and designing Mobility as a Service (MaaS) solutions to support the expansion of the passenger experience market, again taking advantage of Hitachi group capabilities'.
 ¹¹²³ Hitachi, Main Party Hearing transcript, 26 April 2023, page 80.

12. Provisional conclusions

- 12.1 As a result of our assessment, we have provisionally concluded that the anticipated acquisition of Thales by Hitachi constitutes arrangements in progress or in contemplation, which if carried into effect, will result in creation of RMS.
- 12.2 We have also provisionally concluded that the creation of that situation may be expected to result in SLC in the supply of digital mainline signalling systems in the GB and in the supply of CBTC systems in the UK, in each case due to horizontal unilateral effects.